
Merton Council 

Planning Applications Committee  
Membership 

Councillors 

Philip Jones (Chair) 

John Bowcott (Vice-Chair) 

David Dean 

John Dehaney 

Richard Hilton 

Ian Munn BSc, MRTPI(Rtd) 

Peter Southgate 

Geraldine Stanford 

Gregory Patrick Udeh 

Simon Withey 

Substitute Members: 

Agatha Mary Akyigyina 

Karin Forbes 

Maurice Groves 

Janice Howard 

Sam Thomas 

A meeting of the Planning Applications Committee will be held on:  

Date: 12 December 2013  

Time:   7.15 pm 

Venue:   Council chamber - Merton Civic Centre, London Road, Morden 
SM4 5DX 

This is a public meeting and attendance by the public is encouraged and 
welcomed.  If you wish to speak please see notes after the list of agenda items.  
For more information about the agenda and the decision making process 
contact democratic.services@merton.gov.uk or telephone 020 8545 3357 

Press enquiries: press@merton.gov.uk or telephone 020 8545 3181 

Email alerts: Get notified when agendas are published 
www.merton.gov.uk/council/committee.htm?view=emailer 

For more information about Merton Council visit http://www.merton.gov.uk 

Filming: Please note that this meeting may be filmed for live or subsequent 
broadcast via the Council’s web site at http://www.merton.gov.uk/webcasts. It 
will be available for six months after the meeting. 

Public Document Pack



Planning Applications Committee  

12 December 2013  

1  Declarations of interest   

2  Apologies for absence   

3  Minutes of the previous meeting 

Officer Recommendation 
That the Minutes of the meeting held on 7 November 
2013 be agreed as a correct record. 

1 - 12 

4  Town Planning Applications - Covering Report 

Officer Recommendation:  
The recommendations for each individual application are 
detailed in the relevant section of the reports.  (NB.  The 
recommendations are also summarised on the index 
page at the front of this agenda). 

13 - 16 

5  Ground Floor, 149 Cannon Hill Lane, Raynes Park, 
SW20 9BZ (Ref. 13/P3021) (Cannon Hill Ward) 

Officer Recommendation:  
Grant Permission subject to conditions 

17 - 26 

6  Clock Tower -  Upper Green East,  Mitcham , CR4 3NH 
(Ref. (A) 13/P2657) & (B) 13/P2664) (Figges Marsh 
Ward) 

Officer Recommendations:  
(A) Grant Permission subject to conditions 
(B) Resolve that had the Council been able to determine 
the application, it would have granted Listed Building 
Consent, and to advise the DCLG accordingly. 

27 - 60 

7  Garages to the rear of 44-49 Firstway, Raynes Park, 
SW20 0JB (Ref. 13/P2577) (West Barnes Ward) 

Officer Recommendation:  
Grant Permission subject to S.106 Obligation and 
conditions 

61 - 108 

8  1a Leopold Terrace, Wimbledon, SW19 7EY (Ref. 
13/P2197) (Wimbledon Park Ward) 

Officer Recommendation:  
Grant Permission subject to S.106 Obligation and 
conditions 

109 - 150 

9  Cricketers PH, 340 London Road, Mitcham CR4 3ND 
(Ref. 13/P1077) (Cricket Green Ward) 

Officer Recommendation:  
Grant Permission subject to S.106 Obligation and 

151 - 166 



conditions 

10  336 Lynmouth Avenue, Morden, SM4 4RS (Ref. 
13/P1163) (Lower Morden Ward) 

Officer Recommendation:  
Grant Permission subject to conditions 

167 - 176 

11  Canons Leisure Centre, Madeira Road, Mitcham, CR4 
4HD (Ref. 13/P1744) (Cricket Green Ward) 

Officer Recommendation:  
Grant Permission subject to conditions 

177 - 298 

12  Delatre Media Ltd, 3 Palmerston Road, Wimbledon, 
SW19 1PG (Ref. 13/P1028) (Abbey Ward) 

Officer Recommendation:  
Grant Permission subject to S.106 Obligation and 
conditions 

299 - 322 

13  1a St Marys Road, Wimbledon, SW19 7DF (Ref. (1) 
13/P2332 & (2) 13/P2334) (Hillside Ward) 

Officer Recommendations:  
(1) Grant Permission subject to conditions 
(2) Grant Conservation Area Consent 

323 - 350 

14  1 Wydell Close, Morden, SM4 4NS (Ref. 13/P2385) 
(Lower Morden Ward) 

Officer Recommendation:  
Grant Permission subject to S.106 Obligation and 
conditions 

351 - 364 

15  Tree Preservation Order (No. 647) at 14 Cumberland 
Close & 27 The Downs, West Wimbledon, SW20 8AT 
(Raynes Park Ward) 

Officer Recommendation:  
The Merton (No.647) Tree Preservation Order 2013 be 
confirmed without modification. 

365 - 368 

16  Tree Preservation Order (No. 646) at 10 Hillside, West 
Wimbledon, SW19 4NH (Hillside Ward) 

Officer Recommendation:  
The Merton (No.646) Tree Preservation Order 2013 be 
confirmed without modification. 

369 - 374 

17  Tree Preservation Order (No. 644) at Land adjacent to 2 
Thornton Hill, Wimbledon, SW19 4HP (Hillside Ward) 

Officer Recommendation:  
The Merton (No.644) Tree Preservation Order 2013 be 
confirmed without modification. 

375 - 378 

18  Planning Appeal Decisions 379 - 382 



Officer Recommendation:  
That Members note the contents of the report 

19  Planning Enforcement - Summary of Current Cases 

Officer Recommendation:  
That Members note the contents of the report 

383 - 388 

Declarations of Pecuniary Interests 

Members are reminded of the need to have regard to the items published with this agenda and, 
where necessary to declare at this meeting any Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (as defined in 
the The Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012) in any matter 
to be considered at the meeting. If a pecuniary interest is declared they should withdraw from 
the meeting room during the whole of the consideration of that matter and must not participate 
in any vote on that matter. If members consider they should not participate because of a non 
pecuniary interest which may give rise to a perception of bias, they should declare this, 
withdraw and not participate in consideration of the item. For further advice please speak with 
the Council's Assistant Director of Corporate Governance. 

Declarations of Pecuniary Interests – Members of the Design and Review Panel (DRP) 

Members of the Planning Applications Committee (PAC), who are also members of the DRP, 
are advised that they should not participate in an item which has previously been to DRP where 
they have voted or associated themselves with a conclusion reached or recommendation made.  
Any member of the PAC who has also sat on DRP in relation to items on this PAC agenda must 
indicate whether or not they voted in such a matter.  If the member has so voted they should 
withdraw from the meeting. 



NOTES 

1) Order of items: Please note that items may well be not considered in 
the order in which they are shown on the agenda since the items for 
which there are many observers or speakers are likely to be prioritised 
and their consideration brought forward. 

2) Speakers: Councillors and members of the public may request to speak 
at the Committee.  Requests should be made by telephone to the 
Development Control Admin. Section on 020-8545-3445/3448 (or e-mail: 
planning@merton.gov.uk) no later than 12 Noon on the last (working) 
day preceding the meeting. For further details see the following 
procedure note. 

3) Procedure at Meetings: Attached after this page is a brief note of the 
procedure at Planning Application Committee meetings in relation to 

a.  requests to speak at meetings; and 

b. the submission of additional written evidence at meetings. Please 
note that the distribution of documentation (including photographs/ 
drawings etc) by the public during the course of the meeting will 
not be permitted. 

4) Copies of agenda: The agenda for this meeting can be seen on the 
Council’s web-site (which can be accessed at all Merton Libraries).  A 
printed hard copy of the agenda will also be available for inspection at 
the meeting. 



Procedure at meetings of the Planning Applications Committee 

1 Public speaking at the Planning Applications Committee 

2 Submission of additional written evidence at meetings 

1 Public speaking at the Planning Applications Committee 

1.1 The Council permits persons who wish to make representations on 
planning applications to speak at the Committee and present their views.  
The number of speakers for each item will be at the discretion of the 
Committee Chair, but subject to time constraints there will normally be a 
maximum of 3 objectors (or third party) speakers, each being allowed to 
speak for a maximum of 3 minutes.  

1.2 Following the issue of the agenda, even if a person has previously 
indicated their wish to address the Committee, they should contact either 

• the Planning Officer dealing with the application (or e-mail: 
planning@merton.gov.uk) or  

• the Development Control Admin. Section on 020-8545-3445/3448 (9am 
– 5pm); or 

• the Development Control hotline 020-8545-3777 (open 1pm – 4pm 
only). 

1.3 Requests to speak must be received by 12 noon on the day before the 
meeting, and should include the person’s name, address, and daytime 
contact phone number (or e-mail address) and if appropriate, the 
organisation they represent; and also clearly indicate the application, on 
which it is wished to make representations. 

1.4 More speakers may be permitted in the case of exceptional 
circumstances/major applications, but representatives of political parties 
will not be permitted to speak.  (See also note 1.10 below on Ward 
Councillors/Other Merton Councillors.) 

1.5 If a person is aware of other people who wish to speak and make the 
same points, then that person may wish to appoint a representative to 
present their collective views or arrange that different speakers raise 
different issues.  Permission to speak is at the absolute discretion of the 
Chair, who may limit the number of speakers in order to take account the 
size of the agenda and to progress the business of the Committee. 

1.6 Applicants (& agents/technical consultants):  Applicants or their 
representatives may be allowed to speak for the same amount of time as 
the sum of all objectors for each application.  (For example, if objectors 
are allowed to speak for three minutes each, then if there was only one 
objector, the applicant may be allowed to speak for a maximum of 3 
minutes; but if there were 2 objectors, the applicant may be allowed to 
speak for a maximum of 6 minutes and so on.) 

1.7 Unless applicants or their representatives notify the Council to the 
contrary prior to the Committee meeting, it will be assumed that they will 
be attending the meeting and if there are objectors speaking against their 
application, will take the opportunity to address the Committee in 
response to the objections. 



1.8 When there are no objectors wishing to speak, but the application is 
recommended for refusal, then the Applicants or their representatives will 
also be allowed to speak up to a maximum of 3 minutes.   

1.9 Applicants will not be allowed to speak if their application is 
recommended for approval and there are no objectors speaking.   An 
exception will be made if an applicant (or their representative) wishes to 
object to the proposed conditions; and in this case they will be allowed to 
speak only in relation to the relevant conditions causing concern. 

1.10 Speaking time for Ward Councillors/Other Merton Councillors: 
Councillors, who are not on the Committee, may speak for up to a 
maximum of 3 minutes on an application, subject to the Chair’s consent, 
but may take no part in the subsequent debate or vote.  Such 
Councillors, however, subject to the Chair’s consent, may ask questions 
of fact of officers.  

1.11 Such Councillors, who are not on the Committee, should submit their 
request to speak by 12 noon on the day before the meeting (so that their 
name can be added to the list of speaker requests provided to the Chair).  
Such requests may be made to the Development Control Section direct 
(see 1.2 above for contact details) or via the Councillor’s Group office. 

1.12 Points of clarification from applicants/objectors: If needed, the Chair is 
also able to ask applicants/objectors for points of clarification during the 
discussion of an application. 

2 Submission of additional written evidence at meetings 

2.1 The distribution of documentation (including photographs/drawings etc) 
during the course of the Committee meeting will not be permitted. 

2.2 Additional evidence that objectors/applicants want to provide Committee 
Members (i.e. Councillors) to support their presentation (when speaking) 
must be submitted to Merton Council’s Development Control Section 
before 12 Noon on the day before  the relevant Committee meeting. 

2.3 If an applicant or objector wishes to circulate additional information in 
hard copy form to Committee Members, they are required to provide 16 
hard copies to the Planning Officer dealing with the application before 12 
Noon on the day before the meeting. 

2.4 Any queries on the above should be directed to: 

• planning@merton.gov.uk or; 

• the Development Control hotline 020-8545-3777 (open 1pm – 4pm 
only).  

• Contact details for Committee Members and all other Councillors can 
be found on the Council’s web-site: http://www.merton.gov.uk 

 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



All minutes are draft until agreed at the next meeting of the committee/panel.  To find out the date of the next 
meeting please check the calendar of events at your local library or online at www.merton.gov.uk/committee. 

 

1 

PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE 
7 NOVEMBER 2013 

(19.15 - 23.10) 

PRESENT: Councillors Philip Jones (in the Chair), John Bowcott, 
John Dehaney, Richard Hilton, Russell Makin, Ian Munn, 
Peter Southgate, Gregory Udeh, Simon Withey and 
Maurice Groves 
 

ALSO PRESENT: Councillors Margaret Brierly, Andrew Judge, Diane Neil Mills and 
Rod Scott. 
 
Sam Amoako-Adofo (Planning Enforcement Team Leader), Neil 
Milligan (Development Control Manager, ENVR), Tony Ryan 
(South Team Deputy Leader  - Development Controll) and 
Michael Udall (Democratic Services) 
 

 
1  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST (Agenda Item 1) 

 
Councillor John Bowcott declared an interest (but not a disclosable pecuniary 
interest) in the following items by reason that he had been Chairman of the Merton 
Design Review Panel which had considered these applications, but that in each case 
he hadn’t taken a part in the debate or voted on the proposal – 
 
Item 8 - 247 The Broadway, Wimbledon, SW19 1SD (Ref.13/P0952); 
Item 11 - 18 Commonside West, Mitcham, CR4 (Ref. (A) 13/P1479 & (B) 13/P1480); 
Item 13 - Fair Green, Market Square, Mitcham CR4 2PE (Ref. 13/P2575); 
Item 18 – Land at the former Grove Hotel, 2 Morden Road, South Wimbledon, 
 SW19 3BH (Ref. 13/P1238)); and  
Item 20 – Pelham Primary School, Southey Road, Wimbledon, SW19 1NU 
 
2  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE (Agenda Item 2) 

 
Apologies for absence were received from: Councillor David Dean. 
 
3  MEMBERSHIP (Agenda Item ) 

 
It was noted that since the publication of the agenda, Councillor Geraldine Stanford 
had resigned from the Committee and had been replaced by Councillor Russell 
Makin. 
 
4  MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 10 OCTOBER 2013 (Agenda Item 3) 

 
RESOLVED: That the Minutes of the meeting held on 10 October 2013 be 
agreed as a correct record. 

 
5  TOWN PLANNING APPLICATIONS - COVERING REPORT (Agenda Item 4) 

 

Agenda Item 3

Page 1



2 

The published agenda and the modifications list tabled at committee form part of the 
Minutes. 
 
a) Modifications: A list of modifications for items 6, 7, 8, 9, 11, 12, 13, 16, 17, 18, 20 
& 23 and additional letters/representations and drawings received since agenda 
publication, were tabled at the meeting.   
 
(b) Oral representations: The Committee received oral representations at the meeting 
made by third parties and applicants/agents in respect of items 8, 13, 14, 15, 17 & 
19.  In each case where objectors spoke, the Chair also offered the applicants/agents 
the opportunity to speak; and the Chair also indicated that applicants/agents would 
be given the same amount of time to speak as objectors for each item.  
 
The Committee also received oral representations at the meeting from the following 
Councillors (who were not members of the Committee for this meeting) in respect of 
the items indicated below – 
 
Items 8 & 18 – Councillor Diane Neil Mills; and 
Item 15 – Councillor Rod Scott. 
 
(c) Order of the Agenda: Following consultation with other Members at various times during 
the meeting, the Chair amended the order of items to the following –  
13, 8, 15, 19, 17, 14, 24, 18, 5, 6, 12, 11, 9, 23, 20, 7, 10, 16, 21 & then 22. 

RESOLVED: That the following decisions are made: 

 
6  30 ARTHUR ROAD, WIMBLEDON, SW19 7DU (VILLAGE WARD) (REF. (1) 

13/P2263 & (2) 13/P2342) (Agenda Item 5) 
 

Decision: Item 5(1)  - Ref. 13/P2263 (30 Arthur Road, Wimbledon, SW19) 
 
GRANT PERMISSION subject to the conditions set out in the officer case 
report and the tabled modifications sheet. 
 

Decision: Item 5(2) - Ref. 13/P2342 (30 Arthur Road, Wimbledon, SW19) 
 
GRANT CONSERVATION CONSENT subject to the conditions set out in the 
officer case report and the tabled modifications sheet. 

 
7  THE GLASS HOUSE, 177-187 ARTHUR ROAD, WIMBLEDON, SW19 8AE 

(VILLAGE WARD) (REF. 13/P0426) (Agenda Item 6) 
 

Decision: GRANT PERMISSION subject to the completion of a Section 106 
Agreement and subject to the conditions set out in the officer case report and 
the tabled modifications sheet. 

 
8  52 THE BROADWAY, WIMBLEDON, SW19 1RQ (TRINITY WARD) 

(REF.13/P1113) (Agenda Item 7) 
 

Page 2



3 

Decision: GRANT PERMISSION subject to the completion of a Section 106 
Agreement and subject to the conditions set out in the officer case report and the 
tabled modifications sheet. 
 
9  247 THE BROADWAY, WIMBLEDON, SW19 1SD (ABBEY WARD) 

(REF.13/P0952) (Agenda Item 8) 
 

1. Extra Conditions – Officers suggested that extra conditions should possibly be 
imposed regarding - 
(i) Obscured Glazing (for balconies); and  
(ii) Planting. 
 
1.1 As indicated below, the Committee subsequently agreed to these extra conditions 
and that officers be delegated authority to agree the detailed wording.  
 
2. Privacy/Overlooking – Reference was made to concerns about privacy and 
overlooking from objectors particularly due to the proposed balconies at the rear of 
the development.  Officers drew attention to the proposed measures, including 
screening, to mitigate overlooking and advised that the development complied with 
Merton policies and Supplementary Planning Guidance in this regard including 
meeting requirements for separation distances. 
 
3. Approval Motion - It was moved and seconded that permission be granted.  The 
motion was carried (Councillors Maurice Groves and Richard Hilton dissenting). 
 
Decision: Item 8 - ref. 13/P0952 (247 The Broadway, Wimbledon, SW19) 

 
(A) GRANT PERMISSION subject to the completion of a Section 106 
Agreement and subject to the conditions set out in the officer case report and 
the tabled modifications sheet., and subject to the following extra conditions - 
 
(i) Obscured Glazing (for balconies) - subject to (B) below; and  
(ii) Planting - subject to (B) below. 

 
(B) Delegation: The Director of Environment & Regeneration be delegated authority 
to agree the detailed wording of the above two extra conditions. 
 
10  2A CHESTER ROAD,  WIMBLEDON, SW19 4TW (VILLAGE WARD) (REF. 

13/P2485) (Agenda Item 9) 
 

Decision: GRANT PERMISSION subject to the conditions set out in the officer 
case report and the tabled modifications sheet. 

 
11  45 CHESTER ROAD,  WIMBLEDON, SW19 4TS (VILLAGE WARD) (REF. 

13/P2186) (Agenda Item 10) 
 

Decision: GRANT PERMISSION subject to the conditions set out in the officer 
case report. 

 

Page 3



4 

12  18 COMMONSIDE WEST, MITCHAM CR4 4HA (FIGGES MARSH WARD) 
(REF. (A) 13/P1479 & (B) 13/P1480) (Agenda Item 11) 

 
Decision: Item 11(A) - ref. 13/P1479 (18 Commonside West, Mitcham CR4 4HA)   

 
GRANT CONSERVATION AREA CONSENT subject to the conditions set out 
in the officer case report and the tabled modifications sheet. 

 
Decision: Item 11(B)  - ref. 13/P1480 (18 Commonside West, Mitcham CR4 4HA)  
 

GRANT PERMISSION subject to the completion of a Section 106 Agreement 
and subject to the conditions set out in the officer case report and the tabled 
modifications sheet. 

 
13  LAND WITHIN CURTILAGE OF 17A COPSE HILL, WIMBLEDON, SW20 0NB 

(VILLAGE WARD) (REF. 13/P2072) (Agenda Item 12) 
 

1. Side Extension – Officers confirmed that the proposal didn’t include a side 
extension. 
 
2.. S.106 Contributions – A Member referred to the lack of figures for some of the 
proposed S.106 financial contributions in the report’s recommendation (on page 162) 
Officers explained the background to the calculation of S.106 contributions and 
confirmed that the relevant amounts would be sought in each case, and that figures 
would normally be shown where appropriate, including a specific figure for the 
proposed contribution towards sustainable transport. 
 
3. Trees - A Member referred to the proposal involving the removal of 9 trees and the 
need for replacement trees.  Officers advised that the proposed tree/landscaping 
conditions would enable the Council to specify the number/type/location of 
replacement trees and undertook to draw the issue to the attention of the relevant 
officer. 
 
Decision: Item 12 - ref. 13/P2072 (Land within curtilage of 17a Copse Hill< 
Wimbledon, SW19) 
 

GRANT PERMISSION subject to the completion of a Section 106 Agreement 
and subject to the conditions set out in the officer case report and the tabled 
modifications sheet. 

 
14  FAIR GREEN, MARKET SQUARE, MITCHAM CR4 2PE (FIGGES MARSH 

WARD) (REF. 13/P2575) (Agenda Item 13) 
 

1. Design Review Panel (DRP) – Officers drew attention to the list of modifications 
circulated at the meeting which included -  
(a) the Panel’s latest views on the application including objections to the proposal 
and a “Red” verdict; and  
(b) Officer’s comments on the Panel’s objections. 
 

Page 4



5 

2. Refusal Motion:  Following extensive discussion, it was moved and seconded that 
permission be refused as detailed below, subject to the detailed grounds of refusal 
being agreed by officers.   The motion was carried by 8 votes to 1 (Councillor Russell 
Makin dissenting).  Subsequently the Committee also agreed (C) below. 
 
Decision: Item 13 - ref. 13/P2575 (Fair Green, Market Square, Mitcham CR4 2PE) 

 
(A) REFUSE permission on the grounds relating to the following  - 
 
(i) inappropriate size and design that fails to complement the character and 
heritage of the local Fair Green area and fails to enhance the Fair Green open 
space ; 
 
(ii) the lack of quality of proposed materials, including the polycarbonate roof; 
and  
 
(iii) economic viability, including that the proposal will not necessarily enhance 
Mitcham Town Centre’s retail provision; and  
 
(iv) Contrary to the following policies  
(a) Policy BE.22 (Design of New Development) of the Merton Unitary 
Development Plan (2003): 
(b) Policy CS.2 (Mitcham Town Centre), paragraphs (c) & (e), and Policy 
CS.13 (Open Space) of the Merton LDF Core Planning Strategy. 
 
(B) Delegation: The Director of Environment & Regeneration (in consultation 
with the Chair and Vice-Chair) be delegated authority to agree the detailed 
grounds of refusal, including any appropriate amendments, additions and/or 
deletions to the proposed grounds/policies. 
 
(C) Reasons for not following Planning Officers' recommendation for 
permission: The Committee considered that officers had given insufficient 
weight to the views of the Design Review Panel. 

 
15  15C LANDSDOWNE ROAD, WEST WIMBLEDON, SW20 8AN (RAYNES 

PARK WARD) (REF.13/P1409) (Agenda Item 14) 
 

Objection letters – As part of their oral representations, an objector referred to the 
Council web-site showing six objection letters, but that the report (in para. 6.1) only 
mentioned two letters of objection being received.  Officers apologised if the incorrect 
figure had been shown. 
 
Decision: Item 14 - ref. 13/P1409 (15c Landsdowne Road, West  Wimbledon, SW20) 
 

GRANT PERMISSION subject to the conditions set out in the officer case 
report. 

 
16  REAR OF ASTON COURT, 18 LANDSDOWNE ROAD, WEST WIMBLEDON, 

SW20 8AW (RAYNES PARK WARD) (REF.13/P1118) (Agenda Item 15) 

Page 5



6 

 
1. No car parking space – As part of their oral representations, the applicant’s 
representative referred to the possibility of an off-street parking space at the front of 
Aston Court.  Officers advised that (a) the current application didn’t include such a 
parking space; and (b) the current application was proposed to be designated as a 
“permit free” development (meaning that the occupiers of the proposed new house 
couldn’t apply for a parking permit within the local CPZ (Car Parking Zone). 
 
2. Windows at rear of Aston Court – In response to queries from Members, Officers 
confirmed that there were windows (including bedroom windows) at the rear of Aston 
Court which would face the proposed development and that these windows should 
have been shown, including for Flat 1, on the submitted drawing (on page 225).  It 
was also noted that the proposed development had a blank walls with high-level 
glazed windows facing the rear of Aston Court. 
 
3.. Refusal Motion – Whilst Members considered that the proposed development 
overcame the previous grounds for refusal shown in paragraph 4.11 in relation to the 
existing flats at 4 – 11 Aston Court, Members considered  the proposed development 
hadn’t done so in relation to the existing flats at 1 – 3 Aston Court.  Accordingly it was 
moved and seconded that permission be refused on the same grounds again but in 
relation to flats at 1 – 3 Aston Court as shown below   The motion was carried 
unanimously.  Subsequently the Committee also agreed (B) below. 
 
Decision: Item 15 - ref. 13/P1118 (Rear of Aston Court, 18 Landsdowne Road, West 
Wimbledon, SW20) 

 
(A) REFUSE permission on the following grounds - 
 
‘The proposed dwelling would, by reason of its height and siting have an 
unsatisfactory relationship with the existing flats at 1 - 3 Aston Court and 
would constitute a visually intrusive form of development that would be 
detrimental to the amenities of the occupiers of the flats, contrary to retained 
Policy BE.15 (New Buildings and Extensions; Daylight, Sunlight, Privacy, 
Visual Intrusion and Noise) of the Merton UDP (October 2003)’. 
 
(B) Reasons for not following Planning Officers' recommendation for 
permission: The Committee disagreed with the officer assessment of the 
impact of the proposed development on neighbouring residents. 

 
17  PICFARE HOUSE, 197 LONDON ROAD, MORDEN, SM4 5PT (ST HELIER 

WARD) (REF. 13/P1641) (Agenda Item 16) 
 

Decision:  GRANT PERMISSION subject to the completion of a Section 106 
Agreement and subject to the conditions set out in the officer case report and 
the tabled modifications sheet. 

 
18  14 MARRYAT ROAD, WIMBLEDON, SW19 5BD (VILLAGE WARD) (REF. 

13/P0543) (Agenda Item 17) 
 

Page 6



7 

1. Extra Condition - Construction Method Statement  – In response to a neighbouring 
objector’s concerns regarding the effect of the proposed development, which 
included a basement, on the stability of neighbouring properties and on flooding and 
the water table level in the area, Officers suggested that an extra condition be added 
requiring that a Construction Method Statement be submitted for approval.  As 
indicated below, the Committee subsequently agreed to this suggestion.  (NB. The 
applicant’s representative had earlier indicated in their oral representations that the 
application papers included a construction methodology report.)  
 
2. Extra Condition - Noise/Disturbance to neighbours – As part of their oral 
representations, a neighbouring objector expressed concern regarding noise 
emanating from the proposed development after its completion, and in particular from 
ventilation condensers on pillars in the rear garden near the boundary with No.16 
Marryat Road.   
 
2.1 It was noted that list of modifications for various items circulated at the meeting, 
included in relation to this item that “Amendments include existing path moved away 
from boundary with 16 Marryat Road and underground condensers moved to front of 
house.”  In the circumstances, the Chair requested the applicant’s representative to 
clarify the situation regarding ventilation condensers and the proposed pillars in the 
rear garden. 
 
2.2 As requested by the Chair, the applicant’s representative addressed the 
Committee and their advice included that  
(a) the condensers had been moved to the basement at the front of the house; 
(b) the condensers would still need inlet/outlets but these would be noise attenuated; 
and 
(c) there would be no condensers or inlet/outlets on the pillars in the rear garden. 
 
2.3 Officers suggested that a standard extra condition be imposed requiring that, 
after construction, there be no excessive noise/disturbance to neighbours.  As 
indicated below, the Committee subsequently agreed to this suggestion and that 
officers be delegated authority to agree the details of both extra conditions. 
 
Decision: Item 17 - ref. 13/P0543 (14 Marryat Road, Wimbledon, SW19) 

 
(A) GRANT PERMISSION subject to the conditions set out in the officer case 
report and the tabled modifications sheet, and subject to the following extra 
conditions - 
 
(i) Construction Method Statement – Submission for approval subject to (B) 
below. 
 
(ii) Noise/Disturbance to neighbours - subject to (B) below. 
 
(B) Delegation: The Director of Environment & Regeneration be delegated 
authority to agree the detailed wording of the above two extra conditions. 

 
19  LAND AT THE FORMER GROVE HOTEL, 2 MORDEN ROAD, SOUTH 

Page 7



8 

WIMBLEDON, SW19 3BH  (ABBEY WARD) (REF. 13/P1238) (Agenda Item 
18) 

 
1. Extra Condition – Landscaping – As part of her oral representations, Ward 
Councillor Diane Neil Mills requested that trees be planted within the application site 
on its boundaries with Milner and Morden Roads.  In response, Officers suggested 
that an extra Standard Landscaping Condition possibly be added.  As indicated 
below, the Committee subsequently agreed to this extra condition. 
 
2. Amendment to Condition (20) (Refuse and Recycling Facilities) – As part of her 
oral representations, Ward Councillor Diane Neil Mills also expressed concern about 
the frequency of rubbish collection.  In response, Officers suggested that proposed 
Condition (20) be amended so as to allow officers to ask for details about the 
frequency of rubbish collection.  As indicated below, the Committee subsequently 
agreed to such an amendment and that officers be delegated authority to agree the 
detailed wording.  
 
3. Financial Contribution towards amenity/open space improvements – Officers 
advised that a S.106 financial contribution towards the provision of amenity/open 
space improvements wasn’t proposed in the report by Officers because it was 
understood, following consultation with the Council’s Green Spaces Team, that there 
were no suitable projects in the vicinity of the site which could use such monies.  
 
3.1 As part of her oral representations, Ward Councillor Diane Neil Mills advised that 
a residents association had submitted a list of green projects for the Morden Road 
area.  A Committee Member also referred to the need for improvements to the 
nearby Nelson Gardens.  In the circumstances Officers undertook to liaise with the 
Green Spaces Team to ascertain why no list of potential amenity/open space projects 
had been available for a possible S.106 financial contribution. 
 
3.2 Officers explained that in the absence of a list of potential projects, it was not 
possible to require the applicant to make a financial contribution towards the 
provision of amenity/open space improvements in the vicinity, but that it would be 
possible to request the applicant to make a voluntary financial contribution.  As 
indicated below, the Committee subsequently agreed that such a request be made. 
 
Decision: Item 18 - ref. 13/P1238 (Land at former Grove Hotel, 2 Morden Road, 
South Wimbledon, SW19) 

 
(A) GRANT PERMISSION subject to the completion of a Section 106 
Agreement and subject to the conditions set out in the officer case report and 
the tabled modifications sheet, and subject to the following - 
 
(i) The addition of an extra Standard Landscaping Condition. 
 
(ii) Subject to (B) below, an amendment to proposed Condition (20) (Refuse 
and Recycling Facilities) so as to allow officers to ask for details about the 
frequency of rubbish collection. 
 

Page 8



9 

(B) Delegation:  The Director of Environment & Regeneration be delegated 
authority to amend condition (20). 
 
(C) Financial Contribution towards amenity/open space improvements – The 
applicant be requested to make a voluntary financial contribution towards the 
provision of amenity/open space improvements in the vicinity of the application 
site. 

 
20  237-239 NORTHBOROUGH ROAD, NORBURY, SW16 4TR 

(LONGTHORNTON WARD) (REF. 12/P1937) (Agenda Item 19) 
 

1. Deliveries and Servicing - As part of her oral representations, the representative of 
the Longthornton Development Working Party requested that the revised delivery 
arrangements of one delivery per day between 6.30am and 7am to the retail unit 
(now proposed by the applicant and included with the application papers), be 
specifically set out in the conditions attached to any permission for this site. 
 
2. Officers confirmed that this could be looked at when the applicant submitted a 
Delivery and Servicing Plan for approval further to proposed Condition (8).  A 
Member suggested that delivery times included in the Delivery and Servicing Plan be 
subject to further consultation with Ward Councillors and the Longthornton 
Development Working Party.  As indicated below, the Committee subsequently 
agreed to this suggestion. 
 
3. As part of her oral representations, the representative of the Longthornton 
Development Working Party also expressed concern that the provision of parking for 
servicing and deliveries for the site could decrease the width of pavement available to 
pedestrians outside the application site.  Officers gave an assurance that it was not 
proposed to use part of the existing footway. 
 
Decision: Item 19 - ref. 12/P1937 (237-239 Northborough Road, Norbury, SW16) 

 
(A) GRANT PERMISSION subject to the conditions set out in the officer case 
report, and subject to (B) below. 
 
(B) Delivery times included in the Delivery and Servicing Plan - to be 
submitted (to Officers) for approval further to Condition (8) - be subject to 
further consultation with Ward Councillors and the Longthornton Development 
Working Party. 

 
21  PELHAM PRIMARY SCHOOL, SOUTHEY ROAD, WIMBLEDON, SW19 1NU 

(ABBEY WARD) (REF. 13/P2659) (Agenda Item 20) 
 

Decision: GRANT PERMISSION subject to the conditions set out in the officer 
case report and the tabled modifications sheet. 

 
22  28-32 TRAMWAY PATH, MITCHAM, CR4 4BD (RAVENSBURY WARD) 

(REF. 13/P1838) (Agenda Item 21) 
 

Page 9



10 

Decision: GRANT PERMISSION subject to the completion of a Section 106 
Agreement and subject to the conditions set out in the officer case report. 

 
23  50 WANDLE ROAD, MORDEN, SM4 6AQ (RAVENSBURY WARD) (REF. 

13/P2290) (Agenda Item 22) 
 

Decision: GRANT PERMISSION subject to the completion of a Section 106 
Agreement and subject to the conditions set out in the officer case report. 

 
24  FOOTBRIDGE (OVER RIVER WANDLE) CONNECTING WANDLE 

MEADOW NATURE PARK TO BEWLEY STREET, WIMBLEDON, SW19 1XF 
(COLLIERS WOOD WARD) (REF. 13/P2573) (Agenda Item 23) 

 
Decision:  GRANT PERMISSION subject to the conditions set out in the officer 
case officer report. 

 
25  FLAT B, 168 WORPLE ROAD, RAYNES PARK, SW20 8PR (HILLSIDE 

WARD) (REF. 13/P2010) (Agenda Item 24) 
 

Decision:  GRANT PERMISSION subject to the completion of a Section 106 
Agreement and subject to the conditions set out in the officer case officer 
report. 

 
26  MEETING BREAK (Agenda Item ) 

 
After consideration of item 24 at about 10.15pm, the Committee adjourned its 
discussions for about 10 minutes. 
 
27  PLANNING APPEAL DECISIONS (Agenda Item 25) 

 
Officers drew attention to the list of modifications for various items tabled at the 
meeting which included an amendment correcting the address in paragraph 1.2. 

 
RECEIVED 

 
28  PLANNING ENFORCEMENT - SUMMARY OF CURRENT CASES (Agenda 

Item 26) 
 

(a) Burn Bullock PH, London Road, Mitcham (para.3.4); and  
(b) Cricketers PH, 340 London Road, Mitcham (paragraph 2.08) – Councillor Ian 
Munn thanked officers for their work to date in relation to these two sites. 
 
(c) 23A Bruce Road, Mitcham (para.2.05) – Officers outlined the background to this 
case and undertook to look at the case further and assess possible options. 
 
(d) Rookwood Avenue, New Malden – Officers also reported on action being taken 
and proposed regarding a triangular site in Rookwood Avenue (not included in the 
officer report), formerly owned by Kingston Council, located behind the nearby B & Q 
store, which had been subject to the unauthorised dumping of gravel. 

Page 10



11 

 
RECEIVED 

 
------------- 

 

Page 11



Page 12

This page is intentionally left blank



Committee: PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE

Date: 12/12/2013

Agenda item: AGENDA ITEM NO. 4

Wards: ALL

Subject: TOWN PLANNING APPLICATIONS – Covering Report

Lead officer: John-Francis Hill - Head of Public Protection & Development

Lead member: COUNCILLOR PHILIP JONES, CHAIR, PLANNING  APPLICATIONS
COMMITTEE

Forward Plan reference number: N/A

Contact officer: For each individual application, see the relevant section of the
report.

Recommendations:

A. The recommendations for each individual application are detailed in the relevant
section of the reports.  (NB.  The recommendations are also summarised on the
index page at the front of this agenda).

1 PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1. These planning application reports detail site and surroundings, planning
history, describe the planning proposal, cover relevant planning policies,
outline third party representations and then assess the relevant material
planning considerations.

2 DETAILS

2.1. This report considers various applications for Town Planning permission,
including Conservation Area Consent, Listed Building Consent and
Advertisement Consent and for miscellaneous associated matters submitted
to the Council under the Town & Country Planning Acts.

2.2. Members’ attention is drawn to Section 38(6) of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 which requires that if regard is to be had to
the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made
under the Planning Acts, the determination must be made in accordance
with the plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. In Merton
the Development Plan comprises The London Plan: Consolidated with
Alterations Since 2004 (February 2008) and the Unitary Development Plan
(adopted October 2003) excluding those policies that were not saved in
September 2007, following scrutiny by the Government Office for London”.

2.3 Members’ attention is also drawn to Section 16 (2) of the Planning (Listed
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (1990 Act), regarding
applications for Listed Building Consent which places a statutory duty on the
Council as local planning authority to have special regard to the desirability
of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special
architectural or historic interest which it possesses”.

Agenda Item 4

Page 13



2.4 With regard to Conservation Areas, Section 72(1) of the 1990 Act provides that

“special attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the

character or appearance” of the conservation area when determining applications in

those areas.

2.5 Each application report details policies contained within the Adopted Unitary

Development Plan (October 2003).  For ease of reference and to introduce some

familiarity, the topics covered by the policies are outlined in brackets.

Recommended reasons for refusal as well as reasons for approval cover policies in

the Adopted Unitary Development Plan.

2.6 All letters, petitions etc making representations on the planning applications which

are included in this report will be available on request for Members at the meeting.

2.7 Members will be aware that certain types of development are classed as "Permitted

Development" and do not require planning permission and that certain, generally

routine, applications are delegated to Officers under the agreed Delegated Powers.

2.8 SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT

ASSESSMENT

2.8.1 There is a need to comply with Government guidance that the planning process

should achieve sustainable development objectives.  It is for this reason that each

report contains a section on "Sustainable Development".  This has been defined as

"a development which meets the needs of the present without compromising the

ability of future generations to meet their own needs." A sustainability checklist

has been drawn up which takes into account the conservation of resources,

improvements to the quality of life and the physical and natural environment, and

the idea of stewardship of resources/quality of life for present and future

generations.

2.8.2 The precise criteria are being re-examined and further refinements will be necessary

before the assessment referred to in each item can be treated as an accurate

assessment of sustainability.  It should be noted that at the present time this Council

is the only Authority in London including a sustainable development assessment in

its development control reports and to some extent therefore it is necessary to

continually evaluate the methodology by which the sustainability levels are

calculated.  A plus score indicates a development which is generally sustainable and

a minus score a development which is not sustainable.

2.8.3 It is also important that relevant applications comply with requirements in respect of

environmental impact assessment as set out in the Town & Country Planning

(Environmental Impact) (England and Wales) Regulations 1999.  Each report

contains details outlining whether or not an environmental impact assessment was

required in the consideration of the application and, where relevant, whether or not a

screening opinion was required in the determination of the application.

3 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS

3.1. None for the purposes of this report.

4 CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN OR PROPOSED

4.1. None for the purposes of this report.

Page 14



5 TIMETABLE

5.1. As set out in the body of the report.

6 FINANCIAL, RESOURCE AND PROPERTY IMPLICATIONS

6.1. None for the purposes of this report unless indicated in the report for a
particular application.

7 LEGAL AND STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS

7.1. As set out in the body of the report.

8 HUMAN RIGHTS, EQUALITIES AND COMMUNITY COHESION
IMPLICATIONS

8.1. These applications have been considered in the light of the Human Rights
Act (“The Act”) and in particular, the First Protocol of Article 1 (Protection of
Property);  Article 6 (Rights to a Fair Trial) and Article 8 (Private and Family
Life) which came into force on 2 October 2000.

8.2. Consideration has been given to the impact of each application on the
people living and working in the vicinity of that particular application site and
especially to the impact of the proposals on the persons who have made
written representations on the planning merits of the case.  A full
assessment of material planning considerations has been included in each
Committee report.

8.3. Third party representations and details of the application proposals are
summarised in each Committee report.  It may be that the policies and
proposals contained within the Development Plan and/or other material
planning considerations will outweigh the views of third parties and/or those
of the applicant.

9 CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

9.1. As set out in the body of the report.

10 RISK MANAGEMENT AND HEALTH AND SAFETY IMPLICATIONS

10.1. As set out in the body of the report.

11 APPENDICES – THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTS ARE TO BE
PUBLISHED WITH THIS REPORT AND FORM PART OF THE REPORT

None for the purposes of this report.

12 BACKGROUND PAPERS

Background papers – Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985

Planning application files for the individual applications.

Page 15



Unitary Development Plan October 2003.

Appropriate Government Circulars and Guidance Notes.

Town Planning Legislation.

Merton’s Planning Guidance Notes.

Merton’s Standard Planning Conditions and Reasons (as updated and approved by
Planning Applications & Licensing Committee July 2009).

Report to Development Control Sub-Committee on 17th August 1995 on

Sustainability

Town & Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) (England and Wales)
Regulations 1999

Page 16



PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE
12th December 2013 Item No:

UPRN APPLICATION NO. DATE VALID

13/P3021 18/09/2013

Address/Site: Ground floor, 149 Cannon Hill Lane, Raynes Park, SW20
9BZ

(Ward) Cannon Hill

Proposals Application for the change of use of the existing hairdressers
(Use Class A1) to a tattoo parlour (Sui Generis)

Drawing No’s Site location plan and drawings ‘Proposed tattoo Studio
Layout’ dated 20 November 2013

Contact Officer Leigh Harrington (020 8545 3836)

RECOMMENDATION

Grant planning permission subject to planning conditions.

CHECKLIST INFORMATION

• Head of agreement: No.

• Is a screening opinion required: No

• Is an Environmental Statement required: No

• Has an Environmental Impact Assessment been submitted: No

• Design Review Panel consulted – No

• Number of neighbours consulted – 9

• Press notice – No

• Site notice – Yes

• External consultations: One

• Density - N/A

• Number of jobs created - 2

• Flood risk assessment – N/A

Agenda Item 5

Page 17



1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 This application is bought before the Planning Applications Committee due
to objections received which relate to the principle of the use and which
cannot be addressed by condition and thereby falls outside the scheme of
delegation for officers to determine the application.

.
2. SITE AND SURROUNDINGS

2.1 The application site is a ground floor shop unit located within a designated
Neighbourhood Parade on the Northeast side of Cannon Hill Lane near
the junction with Monkleigh Road in Raynes Park. The premises were in
use as a hairdressers until June 2013 since when it has remained vacant.

2.2 The site has a Public Transport Accessibility Level of 2 with part on-
pavement parking outside the front of the parade. The site is not within a
flood risk zone nor a conservation area.

3. CURRENT PROPOSAL

3.1 The proposal seeks planning permission to change the use of the
currently vacant hairdressing salon from Use Class A1 to a tattoo parlour
which is a Sui Generis use.

3.2 The internal layout would remain similar to the existing use with the front of
the premises being used for the customer area with a reception desk and
customer seating area. The tattooing would occur in a partitioned area
towards the rear of the premises whilst the rear of the site would remain a
staff area. The exterior of the premises would remain unaltered other than
a new shop name advert in place of the existing.

4. PLANNING HISTORY

4.1 06/P2904 planning permission granted for erection of a single storey rear
extension to provide a store in connection with the use of the ground floor
as a shop (use within Class A1).

4.2 11/P0408 Planning permission granted on appeal for first floor rear
extension, to provide storage space for the ground floor retail use, to be
accessed via an external staircase.

Page 18



5. CONSULTATION

5.1 The proposal was advertised by means of a neighbour notification letter
and a Site Notice. There were four written objections to the proposal
raising concerns relating to;

• Little local demand for a tattoo parlour.

• Inappropriate business for a family residential neighbourhood.

• Proposal will not be a service for the local community and benefit
very few people

• ‘It will not improve the outlook of the local parade’

• The use is not compatible with a shopping frontage

• The use will harm the vitality and viability of the neighbourhood
parade

• The council should protect the A1 use for the benefit of the elderly
and less mobile.

5.2 An E-petition was submitted signed by 12 persons including the local MP
and two Councilors. Objections included it being an inappropriate use and
one that would not serve local needs.

5.3 Five letters of support were received from local residents.

5.4 Metropolitan Police Designing out Crime Officer raised no concerns or
objections.

5.5 Environmental Health officers had no objections to the proposal. If
approved, the use will be subject to the requirements of a Special
Treatments Licence that is issued and monitored on an annual basis by
the Council.

CONVINCED THIS CAN BE JUSTIFIED AND SEEMS EXCESSIVE
5.6 Future Merton - Retail Policy officer. No objection to the proposal.

6. POLICY CONTEXT
London Plan (2011)

6.1 The relevant policies in the London Plan (2011) are:
4.1 Developing London’s Economy

LDF Core Planning Strategy 2011
6.2 The relevant policies in the LDF Core Strategy 2011

CS 12 Economic Development
CS 14 Design
CS 20 Parking, servicing and delivery

Page 19



Unitary Development Plan (2003)
6.3 The relevant policies in the Council’s Adopted Unitary Development Plan

(October 2003) are:
S 4 Neighbourhood Parades
BE 22 Design of new development.

7.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS

7.1 The principal planning considerations relate to the impact of the change of
use of these premises on the neighbourhood parade within which it is
located including the impact on neighbour amenity.

7.2 Saved UDP policy S4 relates to developments within designated
Neighbourhood Parades and states that permission for uses outside Class
A1 (shops) will be permitted where; ‘The proposed use is compatible with
a shopping frontage and provides a direct service to the general public’

7.3 It is considered that the proposed tattoo parlour is a form of development
that would be expected to be found within a parade of shops. Whilst there
have been objections to the proposal, stating that this type of use/activity
is not suitable for a family residential area, although the new use would
not be A2 (financial and professional services) or A3 (food and drink) (as
recommended in the policy as alternative suitable uses) it would offer a
direct service to the public whereby, as with the previous use.

7.4 Saved UDP policy S4 also requires that ‘The proposal does not harm the
vitality or viability of the shopping parade or result in a significant break in
the A1 frontage.’

7.5 The existing hairdressers have been vacant for five months and
consequently it does not contribute to the existing vitality and viability of
the shopping parade. It is considered that given the current difficulties with
the economy a proposed new use that will create employment
opportunities and bring a vacant unit back into use should be encouraged.
The site is located within a small terrace of four commercial units within
the overall parade and it will remain neighboured by an A1 Locksmiths, a
Mini Market food retailer and a pharmacy. Either side of this terrace there
is a dental practice and a medical centre. It is considered that the
replacement of the vacant hairdressers with the tattoo parlour would not
lead to a significant break in the A1 frontage. A significant break is defined
in policy S4 as being two adjoining units.

7.6 Saved UDP policy S4 also requires that ‘The use will not result in a
significant diminution of local pedestrian accessible shopping facilities’.
Whilst the previous use fell within use Class A1 it did not offer A1 retail

Page 20



shopping facilities and the site will remain adjacent to a mini market
offering convenience shopping facilities to local residents. Consequently
officers consider that the proposal will not reduce the availability of this
form of convenience shopping facility and given that the proposed use is
sui generis, any future change of use would require planning permission
thereby allowing the Council a degree of control over future uses.

7.7 Policy S4 criteria (iv) requires that ‘A window display is provided’. The
proposal will not alter the appearance of the front of the premises with the
windows still offering a view into the premises and the reception desk and
seating area that will occupy the front of the premises.

7.8   Finally S4 requires ‘No adverse effects on the amenities of nearby
residents, road safety, car parking or traffic flows would result’.

7.9 The use would operate from 10am to 6pm on Mondays to Fridays and
10am to 5pm on Saturdays being closed on Sundays and bank holidays
and consequently would not be introducing any unsocial out of hours
activities as may have been the case under an A3 use as suggested by
policy S4 as being a suitable replacement use. Due to the nature of the
tattooing process the applicant estimates that the maximum capacity for
the premises would be of a similar level to that of the hairdressing use and
therefore the use is not considered one that would create noise and
disturbance to residents from either pedestrian based customers or those
choosing to drive and as such would have no more impact than was
experienced from the previous use. The tattooing equipment would
generate no more noise that would equipment in the hairdressing salon
and therefore conditions relating to noise are not considered to be
required.

7.10 In the draft Merton Sites and Policies Plan (2013) this parade of shops will
be amalgamated with the adjoining parade at 242-262 Martin Way and
change of use applications would be subject to policy ‘DMR4; Protection
of shopping facilities within designated shopping frontages’. This policy
sets out broadly similar criteria as UDP policy S4 but with the addition of a
requirement for an active shop frontage, which this proposal would
provide. Consequently whilst this policy cannot be given the same weight
as adopted UDP policies at this stage it is considered that the proposal
would still accord with the Council’s emerging planning policies.

7.11 Design and Appearance.
Other than a change of name and signage in the same positioning as the
existing signage there will be no alteration to the appearance of the site
and therefore it is considered that the proposal does not require
consideration under policy BE 22.

Page 21



7.11 Parking and servicing.
Core Strategy Policy CS 20 requires developers to demonstrate that their
proposals will not adversely affect the safety and convenience of local
residents nor increase pressure on on-street parking capacity. Officers
consider that the site has sufficient on road parking in front of the site to
accommodate the numbers of customers that will utilise the site without
contravening policy CS20.

7.12 Economic development and employment opportunities
London Plan policy 4.1 and Core Strategy policy CS 12 encourage the

development of a diverse local economic base in the borough and this
proposal will introduce a new small business into a unit that has stood
vacant for nearly a year and has the potential to increase footfall and
provide custom for the adjoining businesses.

8. SUSTAINABLITY AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT
Environmental Impact Assessment

8.1 The proposals fall outside the scope of Schedule 2 development under the
Town and Country Planning [Environmental Impact Assessment]
Regulations 2011 and therefore there are no requirements for an
Environmental Impact Assessment in this instance.

9. CONCLUSION
9.1    The National Planning Policy Framework 2012 has a presumption in favour

of sustainable development whilst the London Plan 2011 and the LBM
Core Strategy 2011 seeks to encourage economic diversity in the
borough. The existing unit has remained vacant for nearly a year and the
new use as a tattoo parlour is considered to be one that accords with all
the requirements of saved UDP Policy S4 in utilising a vacant A1 site and
thereby improving the existing vitality and viability of the shopping parade
without having a negative impact on the amenity of local residents.

9.2     The application is considered to accord with all relevant planning policies
and is therefore recommended for approval subject to planning conditions.

10. RECOMMENDATION

Grant planning permission subject to the following conditions:

1 A1 Commencement of Development
The development to which this permission relates shall be commenced
not later than the expiration of 3 years from the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 (as amended) of the Town & Country
Planning Act 1990.

Page 22



2 A7 Construction in accordance with plans Site location plan, drawing
‘Proposed tattoo Studio Layout’ dated 20 November 2013

Page 23



T
h
is

 m
a
p
 i
s
 b

a
s
e
d
 o

n
 O

rd
n
a
n
c
e
 S

u
rv

e
y
 m

a
te

ri
a
l 
w

it
h

th
e
 p

e
rm

is
s
io

n
 o

f 
O

rd
n
a
n
c
e
 S

u
rv

e
y
 o

n
 b

e
h
a
lf
 o

f 
H

M
S

O
.

U
n
a
u
th

o
ri
s
e
d
 r

e
p
ro

d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
fr

in
g
e
s
 C

ro
w

n
 C

o
p
y
ri
g
h
t

a
n
d
 m

a
y
 l
e
a
d
 t
o
 p

ro
s
e
c
u
ti
o
n
 o

r 
C

iv
il 

p
ro

c
e
d
in

g
s
.

L
o
n
d
o
n
 B

o
ro

u
g
h
 o

f 
M

e
rt

o
n
 1

0
0
0
1
9
2
5
9
. 
2
0
1
2
.

1
4
9
 C

a
n
n
o
n
 H

ill
 L

a
n
e

S
c
a
le

 1
/1

2
5
0

D
a
te

 2
6
/1

1
/2

0
1
3

L
o
n
d
o
n
 B

o
ro

u
g
h
 o

f 
M

e
rt

o
n

1
0
0
 L

o
n
d
o
n
 R

o
a
d

M
o
rd

e
n

S
u
rr

e
y

S
M

4
 5

D
X

D
E

V
E

L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 C

O
N

T
R

O
L

Page 24



Page 25



Page 26

This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE
12 December 2013 Item No:

UPRN APPLICATION NO. DATE VALID

13/P2657 & 13/P2664 08/10/2013

Address: Upper Green East CR4 3NH

Ward Figges Marsh

Proposals (A) Relocation of Grade II Listed Victorian Clock Tower
from current location to a site 55.5m to the south
and located to the west of 17-19 Upper Green East
including: provision of a replacement plinth;
restoration of gas lamps in the form of 4
reproduction lamps; restoration of drinking water
fountain; and associated hard landscaping
including new uplighting set into the paving pattern;
information panels; wall and seating surround.

Proposal (B) Concurrent application for listed building consent to
relocate Grade II Listed Victorian Clock Tower.

Drawing No’s 380.02 Rev.B, Design and Access statement &
arboricultural report.

Contact Officer Joyce Ffrench [020 8545 3045]

RECOMMENDATION
(A) GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION subject to planning conditions

and;
(B) Resolve that had the Council been able to determine the

application it would have granted listed building consent and to
advise the DCLG accordingly.

CHECKLIST INFORMATION.

• S106: N/A

• Is an Environmental Statement required: No

• Has an Environmental Impact Assessment been submitted – No

• Press notice – Yes

• Site notice – Yes

• Design Review Panel consulted – No

• Number of neighbours consulted – 106

• External consultations – English Heritage GLAAS, Mitcham Cricket Green
Community & Heritage, Ancient Monuments Society, The Council for
British Archaeology, The Historic Monuments of England,  The Georgian
Group, The Society for the preservation of Ancient Buildings and the
Victorian Society. As part of the Listed Building consent process English
Heritage were consulted.

Agenda Item 6

Page 27



• PTAL: 4 [TFL Planning Information Database]

1. INTRODUCTION
1.1 These applications are brought before Committee for Members’

consideration as they are proposals by the Council that have generated
public interest and the applications fall outside the scheme of
delegation. Members are advised that the Council is not the decision
maker on their own applications for listed building consent.

2. SITE AND SURROUNDINGS

2.1 The Clock Tower, a Grade II listed structure, at Fair Green was erected
in 1898 to commemorate Queen Victoria’s Diamond Jubilee the
previous year. It originally stood on the site of the old village pump, but
has since been moved to a site adjacent to the Kings Arms Public
House.

2.2 The clock tower was moved in 1993 to it present position and has a
circular patterned paving surround of 314m2. It was originally sited on
a pavement with no surrounding space but since relocation the hard
landscaped area within which it is located is used for a variety of
religious and Remembrance events and services.

2.3. There are a number of trees which form part of the soft landscaping of
Fair Green in the vicinity none of which are protected.

2.4 The application site is in an archeological priority area; it is not in an
area at risk from flooding.

3 CURRENT PROPOSALS
3.1 (A) The planning application seeks planning permission and listed

building consent to relocate and restore the Grade II listed Clock Tower
as part of the Rediscover Mitcham scheme; it will have a circular
surround of 72m.2. incorporating hard landscaping with wall and
seating surround.

3.2 The restoration involves reinstatement of the ‘gas’ lamps, water
fountain and the provision of a replacement plinth

3.3 Uplighting will be set into a surrounding paving pattern; information
panels will be provided in the surrounding landscaped area providing
historical information about the Clock and Mitcham in general.

3.4 The proposal has won funding from the Heritage Lottery Fund.

3.5 The only alteration to the current appearance/structure of the tower is
the re-instatement of the lost gas lamps.  Technically this may be
considered an alteration, but it is essentially restoring the tower to its
original appearance and design.

3.7 No trees are affected by the relocation of the clock itself. The proposed
surrounding hard landscaping area will result in the removal of two lime

Page 28



trees. However, the wider Rediscover Mitcham project incorporates a
strategy for suitable tree replacement.

4. PLANNING HISTORY

4.1 94/P0623 - listed building consent for the manufacture and fixing of
replica original lanterns to refurbished and relocated clock tower –
granted

4.2 93/P1300 - listed building consent for refurbishment and relocation of
clock tower 25 metres to north, as a feature in new pedestrianised,
landscaped scheme – granted

4.3 93/P1344 - refurbishment and relocation of clock tower 25 metres north
as a feature in a new pedestrianised and environmental improvement
scheme. (Council application)- granted.

5. CONSULTATION
5.1 The submitted planning application has been publicised by means of a

site notice and 106 individual consultation letters sent to neighbouring
properties.

5.2 As a result of this consultation ten letters have been received objecting
to the proposal and 3 in support. The letters of objection raise the
following concerns:-

• Clock Tower was controversially moved in 1994, has
consideration been given to moving it back to its historic
location?

• The clock tower is an iconic symbol in the area;

• Numerous events use it as the focal point;

• New location would not be prominent as it is now denigrating it
to a second rate site lost to public use;

• The current location allows gatherings such as Remembrance
Service and tributes (i.e. the death of Tia Sharp) to be held in
relative peace whereas the new location would disrupt services
due to traffic noise;

• Previous relocations have always sited it where it can be seen

• Not enough in the reduced paved area around the new site to
accommodate for the crowds (approx. 1000 people gathered for
the Armistice service) that gather for services and events while
still leaving a respectful area around the cloth for the wreath
laying. This will result in preventing the peoples of Mitcham from
bonding and will be to the detriment of, not for the benefit, of the
people of Mitcham

• Loss of trees unacceptable;

• Arboricultural report is biased;

• The Hope Bus which provides a service to the general public
(e.g. drop in Citizens Advice Bureau) require ample space to
park in the area of the Clock Tower

• It should have a physical distance from other structures to
emphasise its presence,  the trees that will be adjacent to the
clock tower will invariably dwarf it

Page 29



• The artists Impression provided with the Rediscover Mitcham
survey was misleading as it illustrates an over-sized Clocktower.

5.3 Two of these letters, while objecting to the relocation of the Clock
Tower, do give support to the proposed restoration plans.

5.4 Three letters were received which support the scheme as it will enable
development of a ‘ bus street’ which will help local businesses which
have suffered since the streets were pedestianised

5.7 English Heritage has been consulted as to any archaeological interest
there may be in this site and consider the proposal to be low impact.

5.8 English Heritage has been consulted in regard to the listed building
consent and has advised that this application should be determined in
accordance to national and local policy guidance.

5.9 Future Merton – Transport Planning.
No objections to proposals.

5.9 Merton Highways
The Highways Officer supports the relocation as part of the wider
scheme.

5.11 Future Merton - Conservation Officer
The conservation Officer has commented that she has no objection to
the re-siting of the Clock Tower and welcomes its restoration.

5.12 Development Control - Tree Officer
The relocation of the Clock Tower is not responsible for any need to
remove trees.

5.13 Future Merton Regeneration Comments

The significance and role of the clock tower as a community focus has
been recognised throughout the planning of the Rediscover Mitcham
project and the proposed location has been designed specifically
around the focus of the Clock Tower within the context of a revitalised
town centre.

As such, the restoration and relocation of the clock tower should be
considered in the context of the Rediscover Mitcham town centre
improvement scheme, a multifaceted improvement regeneration
programme with community and support measures.

Phase 1 of the scheme, relating to the works in the Fair Green area,
has been approved by the council and works are due to commence
early in 2014. The works are intended to introduce a number of
changes in the area, including the introduction of a new market square,
a perimeter street to provide short-term access for shopping and
parking, new paving, lighting and seating. In addition, the green space
itself will become two district areas; the main area of Fair Green to the

Page 30



west that will be used for community events and informal usage, with
seating and a water feature, whilst a more formal garden space will be
located immediately to the south of the market square and will include
the Clock Tower.

The new setting will include a new garden area, with formal paths,
trees and seating, and will provide a suitable location where the clock
tower can be accessed and enjoyed. The improved setting will
enhance its role as a focal point and community asset.

As part of the second Rediscover Mitcham consultation the following
question was asked:

Q. Do you agree or disagree with the proposal to create a formal
garden with the Clock Tower at its centre piece.

In response, 66% of respondents strongly agreed to this proposal and
20% slightly agreed, whilst 3% slightly disagreed and 7% strongly
disagreed.

The strong public endorsement of this element of the scheme has
helped shape the wider Rediscover Mitcham proposals.

In terms of future remembrance events, whilst the new circle around
the clock tower has reduced in size, the three paths leading to it, along
with the perimeter path, will still offer good sightlines. The combined
space of the viewing zones from the new circle and paths will be in
excess of the area of the existing circle.

6 POLICY CONTEXT

6.1 The National Planning Policy Framework [NPPF] was published on the
27 March 2012 and replaces previous guidance contained in Planning
Policy Guidance Notes and Planning Policy Statements. This
document is a key part of central government reforms ‘…to make the
planning system less complex and more accessible, and to promote
sustainable growth. The NPPF supports the plan led system stating
that development that accords with an up to date plan should be
approved and proposed development that conflicts should be refused.
The framework also states that the primary objective of development
management should be to foster the delivery of sustainable
development, and not to hinder or prevent development.

6.2 To enable each local authority to proactively fulfil their planning role,
and to actively promote sustainable development, the framework
advises that local planning authorities need to approach development
management decisions positively. Local planning authorities looking for
solutions rather than problems so that applications can be approved
wherever it is practical to do so.

Page 31



6.3 Pertinent to the assessment of the applications is paragraph 126
(Conserving and enhancing the historic environment) which states that
local planning authorities should take into account:

• the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of
heritage assets and putting them to viable uses consistent with their
conservation;

• the wider social, cultural, economic and environmental benefits
that conservation of the historic environment can bring;

• the desirability of new development making a positive
contribution to local character and distinctiveness; and

• opportunities to draw on the contribution made by the historic
environment to the character of a place.

The London Plan [July 2011].
6.4 The relevant policies in the London Plan [July 2011] are 2.16: Strategic

Outer London Development Centres; Policy 7.8: Heritage Assets and
Archaeology

Policies retained in Adopted Unitary Development Plan [October 2003]
6.5 The relevant planning policies retained in the Adopted Unitary

Development Plan [October 2003] are BE.5: Listed Buildings’
Maintenance and Restoration; BE.7 Listed Buildings; Alterations and
Extensions; BE.8: Setting of Listed Buildings, ancient monuments,
historic parks and gardens and the wider historic landscape; BE16
[Urban design]; BE22 Design of new development; BE.33: Street
furniture and materials L.15: Protection of facilities; NE.11: Tree
Protection; TC.4: Town Centre Management;

Policies within the Merton LDF Core Planning Strategy [July 2011]
6.6 The relevant policies within the Council’s Adopted Core Strategy [July

2011] are; CS2: Mitcham Town Centre; CS7: Centres; CS 12
Economic Development; CS 13 Open Space, Nature conservation,
Leisure and Culture;  CS 14: Design.

.
7. PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
7.1 The main planning considerations include the setting and restoration of

the listed structure, design and impact on visual amenity and the
function of public spaces and loss of trees,

7.2 LDF Core Planning Strategy policy CS.2 states, as one of its key
objectives, to improving the overall environment of Mitcham town
centre by enhancing the public realm, improving public spaces and
connectivity to the town centre. The proposed relocation of the Clock
Tower is part of a larger scheme intended to regenerate Mitcham Town
Centre in order to simulate business and provide an improved Town
centre for the residents of Mitcham.

7.3 The Clock Tower is currently sited on the route of a proposed new bus
lane; therefore its relocation is integrated into the wider scheme. The
submitted Arboricultural Report and Design and Access statement do
not exclusively deal with issues relating to the relocation of the Clock
Tower but report on the wider scheme which includes the proposed

Page 32



new bus street. Nevertheless, the movement of the clock tower to a
specifically designed, lit and landscaped garden space can be
assessed on its merit in terms of planning control.

Restoration of Clock Tower, design of works and impact on
surrounding area.

7.4 Adopted UDP policy BE.5 states that in seeking to ensure the
preservation of listed buildings/structures the Council will encourage
their maintenance, repair and restoration.  BE.8 requires that in
considering the design of development, special regard will be had to
the desirability of protecting the setting of listed buildings. Policy BE.33
states that the council will endeavour to use ‘ paving materials and
details that will contribute to the image of the locality’ and ‘in the vicinity
of listed buildings special attention will be paid to the existing character
and appearance of areas and where possible the Council will
endeavour to re-introduce materials and details or appropriate
alternatives.

7.5 The replacement plinth will result in the tower rising to a height of 3.4m.
(currently (3m). the original colour will be restored, the (non original)
clock hands will be replaced and reproduction replacement gas lamps
will be installed (power to be advised). The 2 step plinth will be
replaced with a concrete 3 step plinth with granite cladding.

7.6 The restoration of the clock is welcomed and meets the objectives of
policy BE.5 of the UDP.

7.7 The surround, which incorporates seating and up-lighting, is a welcome
addition to the setting of this listed structure which has become a focal
point in Mitcham Town Centre.

7.8 In this case the original siting of the Clocktower was not in an area that
could serve as a meeting point. This use, as a venue for religious and
Remembrance Day Services, came about as a result of the relocation
to its present position which allows for large gatherings of people.
However, it is not a war memorial and the hard and soft landscaping
scheme into which the Clock Tower would be located has been
designed to fulfil a wider civic function and is addressed below.

7.9 Policy L.15 states that the council will not grant permission for
development that will result in the loss of religious facilities in use by
the community. Correspondence received in support of the scheme
dismisses the use of the Clock tower as a meeting point as a ‘one
occasion a year’. It should be noted that this venue, as well as being
used for the commemoration service for the victims of past wars, is
also used for Easter & Christmas events (Carol singing), for the Hope
Bus to help the local community and for individual ceremonies
exclusive to the residents of Mitcham.

7.10 The relocation of the Clock Tower still allows for it to remain a focus for
these events and ceremonies fulfilling the wider civic function

Page 33



objectives which flow from policy L.15. The Clock Tower will sit within a
garden space but with paths and a new streetscape which will allow
visibility of the clock and participation in events as before. Thus, the
proposals, when considered in the overall context of the streetscape
improvement works, would provide an appropriate setting both for the
listed Clock Tower and meet the design objectives of policies BE.8 and
BE.33

Trees and landscaping
7.11 UDP policy NE.11 states that development will not be permitted where

it would damage or destroy one or more trees unless removal is
necessary in the interests of good arboricultural practice or the reasons
for the development outweigh the amenity value of the trees.

7.12 An arboricultural report has been submitted which refers to the
‘Rediscover Mitcham’ scheme. Contained in this report is a reference
to 2 (Lime) trees which will be affected by the landscaping surround of
the relocated Clock Tower. The report concludes that the row of Lime
would be well served by some selective removal to ensure the
surviving trees grow to their full potential. The Arboricultural Manager
has commented that the moving of the clock is not altogether
responsible for the removal of the 2 Lime trees. New trees are
scheduled to be planted as part of the greater ‘Rediscover Mitcham’
scheme.

7.13 The D&A statement asserts that one of the key objectives of the
relocation of the Clock Tower is to ensure that the clock tower is
accessed and enjoyed. The current location is considered to ‘poorly lit
and the clock ‘lost’ within the wider townscape and part of the wider
street clutter’

7.14 The landscaping scheme surrounding the relocated clock is a direct
replication of the current ‘star’ setting and incorporates lighting and
seating.  This seating and landscaping will provide opportunities to sit
and relax in the vicinity of the tower that currently do not exist at
present.

7.15 Thus, while the development itself does not necessitate the removal of
the trees, their removal, as part of the overall works within which the
clock tower is to be relocated, and which will have a positive impact on
the public realm in Mitcham are considered justified when judged
against adopted policy. The hard and soft landscaping provides an
appropriate setting for the listed structure fulfilling the requirements of
UDP policies BE.8.

Archaeological Impact

7.16 The area is a designated archaeological priority zone. English Heritage
has been consulted and has commented that the proposal would be
considered to have a low impact on potential buried archaeology and
that no further assessment will be necessary.

Page 34



8. LOCAL FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS
Mayor of London Community Infrastructure Levy
The proposed development is not liable to pay the Mayoral Community
Infrastructure Levy [CIL].

9 CONCLUSION
Application (A)

9.1 The proposed development meets the objectives of policy CS 2 of the
Core Planning Strategy which is committed to the regeneration of
Mitcham Town Centre and BE.5 of the UDP which encourages
restoration of listed structures.

9.2 The new location would provide a seating area enabling a wider use of
the area than its current location. Although the loss of trees is
regrettable the Arboricultural report has flagged up the need to reduce
the number of trees in order that remaining trees grow to their full
potential. The proposed scheme will achieve this objective

Application (B)
9.3 The proposed restoration of the listed structure is welcomed. The

proposed relocation would not diminish the historical association of the
structure with the town centre. The hard and soft landscaping scheme
into which the Clock Tower would be relocated would provide a
suitable and appropriate setting for the listed structure. The listed
building proposals would fulfil the objectives of both national and local
planning guidance and policies pertaining to heritage assets.

RECOMMENDATION
(A)GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION subject to conditions.

1. A1 - commencement of development
2. A7 - approved plans
3. B1 - materials to be approved (need to be specific is this the plinth
– prior to implementation of works)
4. B4 - details of surface treatment
5. F1 - landscaping/planting scheme (prior to
6   F2 - landscaping (implementation)
7   FP5 - Tree protection
8   F11 - Specific tree replacement

Informatives

INF12 works affecting the public highway

(B) Resolve that had the Council been able to determine the
application it would have granted listed building consent and
to advise the DCLG accordingly.

1) A.5 – listed building consent time limits
2) A.7 – approved plans and documents

Page 35



3) N1 – start on site (listed building)

Page 36



T
h
is

 m
a
p
 i
s
 b

a
s
e
d
 o

n
 O

rd
n
a
n
c
e
 S

u
rv

e
y
 m

a
te

ri
a
l 
w

it
h

th
e
 p

e
rm

is
s
io

n
 o

f 
O

rd
n
a
n
c
e
 S

u
rv

e
y
 o

n
 b

e
h
a
lf
 o

f 
H

M
S

O
.

U
n
a
u
th

o
ri
s
e
d
 r

e
p
ro

d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
fr

in
g
e
s
 C

ro
w

n
 C

o
p
y
ri
g
h
t

a
n
d
 m

a
y
 l
e
a
d
 t
o
 p

ro
s
e
c
u
ti
o
n
 o

r 
C

iv
il 

p
ro

c
e
d
in

g
s
.

L
o
n
d
o
n
 B

o
ro

u
g
h
 o

f 
M

e
rt

o
n
 1

0
0
0
1
9
2
5
9
. 
2
0
1
2
.

C
lo

c
k
 T

o
w

e
r 

M
it
c
h
a
m

S
c
a
le

 1
/1

2
5
0

D
a
te

 2
6
/1

1
/2

0
1
3

L
o
n
d
o
n
 B

o
ro

u
g
h
 o

f 
M

e
rt

o
n

1
0
0
 L

o
n
d
o
n
 R

o
a
d

M
o
rd

e
n

S
u
rr

e
y

S
M

4
 5

D
X

D
E

V
E

L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 C

O
N

T
R

O
L

Page 37



London Borough of Merton
100 London Road
Morden
Surrey
SM4 5DX

Ashley Heller Date 15/8/2013 Scale 1/500

Relocation of Mitcham Clock Tower 

Showing current town centre road layout

Page 38



Page 39



Mitcha

Statem

Prepar

Londo

Projec

1. 

This do

Tower

situate

Photo

am Clock T

ment.  V2 

red by  

on Boroug

ct Manage

Introducti

ocument se

to a new lo

d in a cons

1: The Clo

Tower – R

h of Merto

r, Redisco

ion and Ba

ets out the

ocation. Th

servation a

ock Tower 

Restoratio

on.

over Mitch

ackgroun

e key consi

he Clock T

area. 

with surro

n and Relo

ham. 

d

derations a

Tower is a G

unding pav

ocation D

as to the p

Grade II lis

ving patter

esign and

proposal to

sted buildin

rn in curren

d Access 

o move the 

ng. It is not

nt location 

Clock

t

Page 40



Diagram 1 sets out an elevation drawing of the Clock Tower. 

Page 41



Page 42



The proposal should be seen in the context of the ‘Rediscover Mitcham’ town centre 

improvement scheme which is a multifaceted regeneration programme with 

community and business support measures. 

Rediscover Mitcham aims to enhance business opportunities and create a vibrant 

town centre. This is partly through a series of events and initiatives to bring people to 

the town and to give businesses the capacity to explore marketing opportunities, and 

partly through redesigning the physical layout and urban realm of the area.  

The core strategic objectives are around improving the accessibility and 

attractiveness of the Fair Green. This recognises that the Fair Green is the ‘heart’ of 

the town centre physically and also in terms of the identity of Mitcham. As such a 

number of pedestrian and cycling enhancements to increase the connectivity of the 

area are proposed primarily around the main junctions and routes to/ through the 

Fair Green. In addition it is proposed to reintroduce buses into the currently 

pedestrianized London Road section between Upper Green and St Marks Road, with 

the objective of increasing footfall (estimated at 6000 extra pedestrian trips per day) 

in this area to the benefit of local shops, businesses and general vitality. There will 

also be a one way circulatory street around the perimeter of the Fair Green to allow 

short term parking and loading in support of shops and the operation of the local 

market. The area will benefit from a general upgrade to include new paving and 

street furniture.  

The market area will be upgraded with a separate (and yet to be agreed) proposal 

for a fixed canopy to allow for longer operation and weather protection. The market 

will also benefit from a small coin operated toilet, new paving, lighting and electrical 

points for traders.  

The green space itself will become 2 distinct areas. The main Fair Green will be an 

area mainly for community events and informal usage, with seating and a water 

feature. A more formally laid out garden space will be located immediately to the 

south of the market and in this space it is intended to relocate the Clock Tower.  

Page 43



2. 

Picture

19th Ce

The orn

village 

the ope

At this 

Army r

orators

History  

e 2 – The o

entury 

nate Victor

water pum

ening of th

point the p

regularly m

s, evangelis

old Village

rian clock t

mp as show

e Mitcham

pump was 

met here on

sts and loc

e Water P

tower was 

wn in Pictu

m Gas Light

topped wit

n Sundays.

cal politicia

ump and S

originally 

re 2. Gas l

t and Coke

th a lamp l

. The pump

ans. In 189

Street Lig

constructe

lighting cam

e Company

it by an op

p was also

98, the pum

ght in the f

ed on the fo

me to Mitc

y works in

pen gas jet

o a rallying 

mp was rep

first half o

ormer site 

cham in 184

Western R

t. The Salv

point for o

placed with

of the 

of the 

49 with 

Road. 

vation

open-air 

h an 

Page 44



ornate 

mains w

Funded

Diamon

James 

Picture

During 

least b

started

was co

drinkin

The Cl

recentl

(the tow

that the

as evid

continu

3. 

Curren

Road a

immed

bespok

Clock i

The clo

the yea

operati

to be p

shown 

is also 

past, b

cast iron c

water and 

d by public

nd Jubilee

Salter Wh

e 3 shows

its early h

ecause its

d to run bac

onverted to

g fountains

ock Tower

y in 1994 a

wn centre 

ere was sig

denced by 

uity was on

Features 

ntly the Clo

and the cur

iately to th

ke granite s

s bordered

ock is used

ar. A numb

ional. The 

part of a pa

at 11 o’clo

historical e

ut post wa

column inc

supported

c subscript

, the new c

hite, chairm

s the new 

istory, the 

 four clock

ckwards as

o electricity

s went out 

r has been

as part of t

bypass) an

gnificant op

petitions to

ne of the ke

of Existin

ock Tower i

rrently ped

he North W

set star sh

d by a num

d for wreat

ber of origin

clock mec

attern of un

ock since t

evidence o

ar pictures 

corporating

d a clock lit

ion and de

clock towe

man of the 

clock tow

clock towe

k faces ofte

s condensa

y the Clock

of use foll

 moved on

the pedest

nd closed 

pposition t

o the coun

ey reasons

g Site 

is located a

destrianized

West of the 

haped pavi

mber of free

h laying an

nal feature

chanism its

nreliability o

he Remem

of 4 gas lam

do not incl

 a drinking

t by four ga

esigned to 

er was form

Croydon R

wer being u

er was ofte

en showed

ation affec

k has contin

owing Wo

n a number

trianisation

part of Lon

o moving t

cil and pub

s for object

at the inter

d areas of 

market spa

ng pattern 

e standing 

nd general

es of the clo

self has sto

over a num

mbrance ce

mps attach

lude these

g fountain. 

as lamps, t

commemo

mally opene

Rural Distri

unveiled in

en the caus

 different t

cted the int

nued to ke

rld War II.

r of occasi

n scheme f

ndon Road

the Clock T

blic meetin

tions. 

rsection of

Upper Gre

ace. The C

and a sma

seats plac

ly wreaths

ock are eit

opped work

mber of yea

eremonies 

hed to the c

 gas lamps

This was s

topped by 

orate Quee

ed in Nove

ct Council

n Novemb

se of some

imes. At o

ernal mech

ep good ti

ons in its h

facilitated b

d to traffic. 

Tower to it

ngs. The lo

f Majestic W

een East a

Clock is loc

all 2 step g

ced in a cir

s are in evid

ther not in 

king and th

ars. Curren

in Novem

clock towe

s and they

supplied w

a weatherv

en Victoria’

ember 1899

.

ber 1899 

e confusion

ne stage th

hanism. Si

me. The in

history, mo

by Holborn

It is worth 

ts current lo

oss of histo

Way, Lond

and West, 

cated on a 

granite plin

rcular locat

dence mos

situ or non

his is under

ntly the tim

ber 2012. T

er at times 

y are presu

with 

vane. 

’s

9 by 

n – not 

hey

ince it 

ntegral 

ost 

n Way 

noting 

ocation 

orical

on 

nth. The 

tion. 

st of 

n

rstood 

me is 

There 

in the 

med 

Page 45



lost. Th

its orig

use.

Picture

The pa

damag

in any 

The are

86m to

is at th

The su

natural

end of 

recent

area. Im

does, t

howeve

case th

shop fr

There i

and red

point w

The cu

within t

visible 

The cu

market

the clo

status

he clock to

inal locatio

e 4 – The C

aintwork is 

ge. It is not 

case it cur

ea is poorl

o the west 

e centre.  

urrounding 

l means of

the most s

closure of 

mmediatel

together w

er to the N

he sheer w

ront.

is no enclo

d brick ‘sta

within the o

urrent locat

the wider t

but very m

urrent opera

t as well as

ck vulnera

and respec

ower origina

on close to

Clock in it

white with

known if t

rrently doe

y lit. There

18m to the

green area

f access to

successful 

McDonald

y to the NW

ith the Clo

NE and SE,

wall of the r

osure arou

ar’ shaped 

open space

tion is char

ownscape

much part o

ation of the

s vehicles 

able to dam

ct as well a

ally feature

 the town’s

ts current

 a black ba

he weathe

s not opera

e are no st

e north. Th

as are disc

 it. The are

retail area

ds has neg

W of the cl

ck Tower p

, significan

rear of a gy

nd the cloc

paving pat

e.

racterised 

. This crea

of the wide

e town cen

using the p

mage. As s

as providin

es a drinkin

s water pu

t location o

ase. There

er vane was

ate.

reet lights 

is creates 

connected 

ea is one o

a of the Fai

gatively imp

ock tower 

provide a h

ntly less att

ym and in t

ck although

ttern that c

by a very l

ates the pa

er street ‘clu

ntre, which

pedestrian

uch the ov

ng a focus 

ng water fo

mp, howev

on Fair Gr

e is only mi

s ever func

24m to the

a ‘dark zon

from the c

of relatively

ir Green (M

pacted the 

is an impr

historical a

tractive bu

the other t

h the towe

creates the

arge open

aradox of th

utter’. 

 includes i

 space for 

verall sense

for the tow

ountain wh

ver this is n

reen/ Lond

inor eviden

ctioning as

e east, 56m

ne’ of whic

clock tower

y high footf

Majestic W

overall ac

essive pub

aspect for M

ildings are

he boarded

er is centred

e idea of th

n space wit

he clock w

nformal loa

ad hoc pu

e is of the 

wn centre.

hich may re

now no lon

don Road

nce of wea

s such, how

m to the so

ch the clock

r providing

fall being a

Way) howev

ctivity levels

blic house 

Mitcham, 

 in place, i

d up McDo

d on a gra

he clock as

th the clock

hich is hig

ading for th

urposes, m

clock lacki

eflect 

nger in 

ather 

wever 

outh, 

k tower 

 no 

at the 

ver the 

s in the 

which 

n one 

onalds

nite 

s focal 

k ‘lost’ 

hly 

he

akes 

ing 

Page 46



4. Access 

There are 2 reasons behind the proposal to relocate the clock 

a) The clock has to move as part of the town centre improvements 

b) It is desirable to move the clock to a more appropriate location both in itself 

and in support of the wider town centre improvements 

The key issue is that the town centre street layout is changing as a consequence of 

Rediscover Mitcham and therefore the evaluation of the new location of the Clock 

must be in the context of this new layout. The existing location is not appropriate in 

the context of the Rediscover Mitcham proposals. Primarily this is due to it being in 

the centre of the planned bus lane. 

As can be seen from the layout plan Diagram 2 below the clock tower is moved to a 

new setting in a new garden area with formal paths, trees and seating. This purpose 

designed area which will become a hub for the new town centre as its location is on 

key desire and sight lines into and around the Fair Green.  

Page 47



Diagra

Diagra

am 2 - Loc

am 3 – Spe

cation Plan

ecific Loca

n

ation Plann

Page 48



One of

access

of a Yo

buggy 

Sight li

there w

To the 

the nor

the cen

The fol

and the

f the key ob

sed and en

ork Stone c

users.

nes to the 

will be vehi

south the 

rth the cloc

ntral ‘walkw

llowing dia

e new prop

bjectives o

njoyed. The

constructio

clock towe

cular traffic

Tower will

ck tower w

way’ betwe

agram 3 se

posed plint

of the reloc

e Clock To

on and at le

er will be c

c (buses a

 be framed

ill be visibl

een the ma

ts out the C

th

cation is to 

ower is plac

east 2m wi

clear from t

are to the w

d by the att

e from with

arket stalls.

Clock Tow

ensure tha

ced in cent

de and sui

the east an

west and ca

tractive ho

hin the ma

.

wer within th

at the Cloc

tre of a ser

itable for w

nd west dir

ars to east

orse chestn

arket canop

he context

ck Tower is

ries of path

wheelchair 

rections wh

t).

nut tree an

py and thro

t of these t

s

hways, 

and 

here 

d to 

ough 

rees

Page 49



Page 50



The pa

a direc

canopy

use of 

This ca

clearan

panels 

movem

with the

“Our de

structu

contem

decora

structu

An illus

plannin

Betwee

café se

space.

Exiting

views o

athways are

ct through r

y to provide

the marke

anopy will b

nce of at le

will help d

ment throug

e historica

esign refer

re that is a

mporary wa

ative heritag

re would c

stration of t

ng) 

en the cloc

eating area

There will

 from the s

of the top t

e bounded

route to the

e weather 

t. 

be of an el

east 4m fro

define the p

gh the stru

l context o

rences Mitc

arguably m

ay. We are

ge and rea

complemen

the canopy

ck and the 

a, public to

 then be a

south side 

third of the

d to the nor

e Clock To

protection

levation of 

om the stre

physical ex

cture. This

of the area.

cham’s he

more fitting 

 not propo

alises it wit

nt a key Mi

y is set out

canopy, is

ilet buildin

 couple of 

of the mar

 clock towe

rth by the m

ower. On th

 for the ma

approxima

eet level to 

xtent of the

s canopy w

. The archi

ritage mor

to a histor

osing a pas

th contemp

itcham land

t below (th

s proposed

g and a ro

trees in pa

rket canop

er. This co

market squ

he market s

arket trade

ately 7.25m

the edge o

e market an

will be desig

itects have

re directly, 

ic area, bu

stiche, but 

porary fabr

dmark, the

is is still su

d an extern

w of pleac

art of the fo

y, there wi

ould encou

uare and to

square wil

ers and enc

m at the ap

of the side

nd help tem

gned in a s

e stated 

in a way th

ut realised 

a design th

rication tec

e Victorian 

ubject to ag

al food are

ched trees 

ormal land

ill be reaso

rage peop

oilet facility

l be a fixed

courage gr

pex with a 

 panels. Th

mper wind 

style consi

hat creates

in a 

hat enjoys 

chnologies.

clock towe

greement f

ea, café bu

enclosing 

scaped sp

onably clea

le to walk 

y, with 

d

reater 

he side 

stent

s a 

the

. This 

er.” 

from 

uilding, 

the 

pace.

ar

Page 51



through

canopy

as a dr

The ma

passag

To the 

west th

as the 

is prov

The loc

to the P

relocat

office t

is no d

Short t

Perime

well as

(curren

side (2

McDon

There w

covere

5. 

Moving

overall 

routes

j

h the café 

y should be

raw northw

arket stalls

ge through

east a sem

he paths em

footpath, c

ided with a

cation of th

Post Office

tion of a pe

herefore e

irect cross

erm car pa

eter Street 

s the bus la

ntly pedest

9m from C

nalds (67m

will be cyc

ed by CCTV

Wider Co

g beyond th

context of

into the to

To increas

and ration

junction 

area to ex

e visible th

wards 

s themselv

 the marke

mi formal c

merge at th

creating the

a direct thr

he clock tow

e and bus s

edestrian c

encouragin

sing at this 

arking is pr

and cycle 

ane. Buses

trianized ar

Clock Towe

m from Cloc

cle parking 

V.

ntext 

he immedi

f the propo

wn centre.

se pedestri

alising key

xplore the f

hrough the 

es are to b

et toward th

crossing is 

he bus stre

e sense of

ough route

wer is on a

stops on U

crossing ac

g greater f

point.  

rovided im

access wi

s will be sto

rea) with b

er) of the ro

ck Tower).

in the vicin

ate Fair G

osals in ter

. The core 

ian access

y disconne

formal gard

foliage, fro

be laid out 

he clock to

in place a

eet which a

f a ‘shared 

e to the tow

a key ‘desi

Upper Gree

cross Uppe

footfall pas

mediately 

ll also be f

opping in n

bus stops n

oad and so

nity of the 

reen, the w

ms of gene

principles 

s to and fro

ction point

den. Simila

om within t

in a 2 bloc

ower

cross the p

at this poin

surface’ . 

wn centre t

re line’ from

en East. Th

er Green E

st the Clock

adjacent to

facilitated b

new locatio

northbound

outhbound 

Clock Tow

wider sche

eral upgrad

of the ove

om the Fair

ts in particu

arly, the top

the formal 

ck structure

perimeter s

nt will be at

To the sou

toward Thr

m the mar

his is facilit

East to opp

k Tower as

o the Clock

by the Peri

ons on Lon

d on the ma

adjacent t

wer and the

me diagra

des to acce

erall schem

r Green thr

ular the We

p of the ma

garden an

e to allow d

street. To t

t the same

uth a garde

ree Kings P

ket/Majest

tated by th

osite the p

s currently 

k Tower on

meter Stre

ndon Road 

ain Fair Gr

to the form

e area will b

m sets out

essibility o

me are 

rough redu

estern Roa

arket

d act 

direct 

the 

 level 

en area 

Piece. 

tic Way 

e

post 

there 

n the 

eet as 

reen 

mer

be

t the 

on the 

ucing

ad

Page 52



 To facilitate multi modal access to the key shopping areas of the Fair Green 

through the provision of bus, cycle and vehicular routes 

 To provide for short term parking  and loading in areas where this would 

benefit the usage of the town centre 

 To enhance public convenience through the provision of such items as 

benches, public toilet and improved lighting  

 To upgrade the overall public realm in the town centre through new paving 

materials and well considered and designed spaces and features 

 To increase the feel of vitality and personal safety in the town centre, 

particularly at night  

 To improve permeability of the town through decluttering, improved signage, 

improved sight lines 

 To enhance the character of the area as both a town centre but also a 

gateway to the wider green spaces of Mitcham Common through measures 

such as tree planting and landscaping 

Page 53



Page 54



6 . Scale and Appearance  

There is no intention to alter the appearance of the Clock Tower. The current 

wrought iron structure is painted in white and black but this is (from evidence from 

historical photographs) assumed to be non original colouring. Once dismantled the 

tower will be scrapped to identify the original colouring and this will be restored. 

The Clock hands are not to the original design and therefore it is proposed to 

supplying four 600 mm dia. Stainless Steel skeleton dials, etch primed and finished 

in high grade black gloss.   To gilding the three rings as original with 24 carat best 

quality extra thick, English gold leaf.  In addition it is proposed to supply four sets of 

‘Spade’ type design hands fabricated from heavy gauge copper being suitably 

stiffened and counter balanced. (this being the traditional design), etch primed and 

finished in a high grade black gloss. Finally it is proposed to supply glazed panels of 

5 mm Perspex Opal 028 and secured to the dial using silicone sealant. 

The Clock tower itself is currently placed on a 2 step plinth of approximately 600mm 

and it is intended to replace the clock tower on a new 3 step plinth of approx. 800mm 

to 1m in height. The plinth will be of a concrete construction with granite cladding 

and will be stepped to allow for wreath laying at appropriate times. The total height of 

the Clock Tower will be 30.4m (currently 30m) which represents a slightly increased 

height to the plinth. 

The Clock Tower originally featured 4 gas lamps as shown in the photo below which 

is from the beginning of the 20th century. These gas lamps have not been in 

evidence for a number of years and it is assumed they are lost. The proposal will 

reinstate the lamps using authentic reproductions. If possible the reproduction lamps 

will be electric powered but if this proves impractical lighting will be provided by 

ambient up lighting to emphasis the character and features of the clock tower. In 

either case energy efficient LED bulbs will be used. 

Page 55



Picture

The red

to date

heritag

usage.

The Cl

paving 

lighting

An hist

seating

building

Surrou

The Cl

low con

benche

improv

environ

areas c

but eac

will allo

mainta

e 4 – Gas 

dundant dr

e and comp

ge of the clo

ock Tower

pattern wh

g will be se

torical infor

g (see belo

gs in the v

unding lan

ock will sit

ncrete wal

es (some w

ved status b

nment and

comprising

ch will have

ow for main

ained are 

Lamps lo

rinking wat

pliant wate

ock tower 

r will be res

hich will be

et into the p

rmation pa

ow) which w

icinity.  

ndscaping

t in a circul

ls at appro

with backs)

benefiting 

 tranquil se

g of lawn a

e at least 4

ntenance o

cated on C

ter fountain

r supply an

although w

set on the 

e transferre

pattern usi

anel will be

will contain

g

ar space (

oximately 4

) to provide

from clear

etting. Bey

nd planting

4.5m clear

of both tree

Clock  

n will be re

nd tap. The

with sufficie

existing ‘st

ed from the

ng flush lig

e free stand

n details of

diameter 1

4-500mm in

e for seatin

r views but 

yond the wa

g beds. Tre

rance from 

es and the 

estored to w

e tap itself

ent resilien

tar’ shaped

e current lo

ghting units

ding or inte

f the clock 

10m). The 

n height wi

ng. As such

also an im

alls will be

ees of high

the canop

clock itsel

working or

f will be sty

nce to withs

d granite a

ocation. Th

s.

egrated into

and other 

space will 

ith integrat

h the Cloc

mproved pe

 slightly ra

her value a

py to the C

lf. The exis

rder using a

yled to refle

stand day 

and red bric

he propose

o the surro

historical 

be bounde

ted woode

k will gain 

edestrian 

aised lands

are to be re

lock tower

sting trees 

an up 

ect the 

to day 

ck

ed up 

ounding 

ed by 

n

and 

scaped 

etained 

which 

to be 

Page 56



1) 

2) 

The ob

location

the cor

provisio

through

move t

historic

The im

7. 

The pro

listed. T

represe

enhanc

functio

landsca

is maxi

8. 

The

with

of 2

con

Horse Che

Ash 'West

bjective of t

n for the C

re objective

on of seati

h pedestria

the clock is

cal asset.

mage below

Historical

oposal reta

The Clock 

entation of

ce this thro

nal layout 

aping featu

imised par

Consultat

e proposal 

hin the wid

25,000 leaf

nsultation o

estnut tree

thof's Glori

the landsc

Clock to sit,

es of the w

ng and ligh

an traffic a

s an opport

w show the 

l Integrity 

ains the his

Tower has

f the town c

ough ensur

of the town

ures and e

rticularly in

tion

to relocate

er “Redisc

flets aroun

on social m

 immediate

e' immedia

aping desi

 but also p

wider Redis

hting to en

nd leisure/

tunity to im

Clock Tow

storical inte

s significan

centre and

ring that th

n centre, in

ensuring th

 terms of p

e the Clock

cover Mitch

d the CR4

media and i

ely to SE o

ately to nor

gn is to pro

provide an 

scover Mitc

ncourage u

/ communit

mprove its s

wer in its n

egrity of th

nt importan

d the Fair G

he Clock To

n particula

e visibility 

pedestrian 

k into a new

ham” consu

4 postcode 

internet sit

of Clock

rth of Cloc

ovide an a

area that i

cham Sche

usage of th

ty function

setting and

ew setting

he Clock To

nce in the l

Green in pa

ower locat

r making b

and acces

activity. 

w formal g

ultation wh

as well as

tes. The qu

k

appropriate

is functiona

eme, in pa

e area bot

s. The req

d role as fo

ower which

local area 

articular. T

ion best re

best use of

ssibility of t

garden spa

hich involve

s extensive

uestion wa

e and respe

al and sup

rticular the

th in terms 

uirement t

ocal point a

h is Grade 

as an icon

The propos

eflects the n

f the new 

the Clock T

ace was inc

ed the dist

e promotion

s asked 

ectful 

ports 

e

of

to

and 

II 

nic 

sal will 

new

Tower

cluding 

ribution 

n of the 

Page 57



Do

Clo

 Th

This

and

9. 

Overal

CONS

ALTER

WITHIN

ALTER

OF LA

THE C

PROPO

WILL B

(i) 

(ii)

(iii) 

(iv) 

(v) 

(vi) 

you agree

ock Tower a

e following

s shows 86

d 10% had 

Heritage S

l the propo

ERVATION

RATIONS A

N A CONS

RATION OR

ND OR BU

CHARACTE

OSALS 

BE EXPEC

RESPE

MATER

(ii) RES

CONTR

AREA 

(iii) MA

(iv) EN

SERVI

DETRA

e or disagre

as its centr

g response

6% of resp

some leve

Statement

osal is line 

N AREAS,

AND EXTE

SERVATIO

R EXTENS

UILDINGS 

ER OR AP

CTED TO:

ECT OR C

RIALS OF 

SPECT ST

RIBUTING

OR THE P

AINTAIN IM

NSURE TH

CES OR N

ACT FROM

ee with the

re piece? 

es were rec

pondents s

el of disagr

t

with Merto

, NEW DEV

ENSIONS.

ON AREA A

SION TO A

WILL BE R

PEARANC

COMPLEM

EXISTING

TREET PA

G TO THE C

PATTERN 

MPORTAN

AT THE L

NOISE GE

M THE CH

e proposal 

ceived  

supported t

reement w

on’s conse

VELOPME

.

A PROPOS

A BUILDIN

REQUIRE

CE OF THA

ENT THE 

G BUILDIN

ATTERNS O

CHARACT

OF DEVE

T VIEWS W

EVEL OF A

NERATED

ARACTER

to create a

this propos

with the pro

rvation po

ENT, CHA

SAL FOR N

G OR FOR

D TO PRE

AT CONSE

DESIGN, S

NGS AND S

OR OTHE

TER, HIST

LOPMENT

WITHIN A

ACTIVITY

D BY THE 

R OR APPE

a formal ga

sal either s

posal. 

licy BE.1 w

NGE OF U

NEW DEV

R THE CH

ESERVE O

ERVATION

SCALE, FO

SPACES 

R FEATUR

TORIC VAL

T IN THE A

ND OUT O

, TRAFFIC

PROPOSA

EARANCE

arden with 

strongly or 

within the U

USE,

ELOPMEN

ANGE OF

OR ENHAN

N AREA. 

ORM AND

RES

LUE OF TH

AREA

OF THE AR

C, PARKIN

AL WOULD

E OF THE 

the 

slightly 

UDP:

NT,

F USE 

NCE

D

HE

REA

G

D NOT 

AREA 

Page 58



The proposal is also in line with Policy DM D3 Managing Heritage Assets of the Sites 

and Policies Development Plan 

DM D3 Managing Heritage Assets 

Planning permission will be granted for: 

a) Development proposals affecting a heritage asset or its setting where they are in 

accordance with the following criteria: 

i. Principles set out in PPS5 (or the National Planning Framework) and the detailed 

guidance set out in the accompanying Historic Environment Planning Practice Guide, 

the London Plan, and further English Heritage Guidance; ii. Merton’s published 

conservation area character appraisals and management plans and the guidance 

statements set out in the Borough Character Study. 

b) All development proposals associated with the borough’s heritage assets or their 

setting will be expected to demonstrate, within a Heritage Statement, how the 

proposal conserves and where appropriate enhances the significance of the asset in 

terms of its individual architectural or historic interest and it’s setting. 

c) Proposals that will lead to substantial harm to the significance of or the total loss 

of heritage assets will only be granted in exceptional circumstances where the 

requirements of PPS5 (or the National Planning Framework para.184) have been 

met. 

d) Outline applications will not be acceptable for developments that include heritage 

assets

A visual analysis of the Fair Green some areas to more visible from the approaching 

streets than others. The most visible area is that proposed for the Clock Tower. As 

this is the smaller part of the Fair Green, this is more appropriate for a formal 

contemplative space. This provides an opportunity to design a space around and 

specifically for the setting of the Clock Tower. At the same time the Clock Tower is at 

the heart of the town centre and the Fair Green yet secluded from its busiest points. 

It is also highly accessible being close to the market, key road junctions and 

pedestrian crossings, post office and local shops.  

Page 59



Page 60

This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE
12 December  2013 Item No:

UPRN APPLICATION NO. DATE VALID

13/P2577 13/08/2013

Address: Garages to the rear of 44 to 49 Firstway,
Raynes Park, SW20 0JD.

Ward: West Barnes

Proposal: Demolition of the existing 36 garages and erection
of a terrace of 7 four bedroom houses with
accommodation over two floors and the roof space
with 8 car parking spaces using the existing
vehicular access between 43 and 44 Firstway.

Drawing No’s: 1208-01A; 1208-04B; 1208-06A; 1208-10A; 1208-
11A; 1208-12A 1208-13A; 1208-14A; 1208-15A;
1208-16A; 1208-20A; 1208-21; 1208-22A; 1208-
23A; 1208-24; 1208-25; 1208-26A; 1208-27; 1208-
28; 1208-29; 1208-30; 1208-31; 1208-32A; 1208-
33; 1208-34A; 1208-35A; 1208-36; 1208-37;
Design and Access Statement; Arboricultural
Assessment and Method Statement; Planning
Statement, Energy Report, Code for Sustainable
Homes Pre-Assessment Report.

Contact Officer: Tony Ryan [020 8545 3114]

RECOMMENDATION: GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION subject to
planning conditions and a S106 legal agreement.

CHECKLIST INFORMATION.

• S106: Affordable Housing; Education; Cost to Council of all work in
drafting S106 and monitoring the obligations; Legal costs.

• Is an Environmental Statement required: No

• Has an Environmental Impact Assessment been submitted: No

• Press notice: No

• Site notice: Yes

• Design Review Panel consulted: No

• Number of neighbours consulted: 28 [1-11 and 41-51 Firstway]

• External consultations: Environment Agency and Thames Water.

• Public Transport Accessibility Level [PTAL]: Zone 4 TFL Information
Database [On a scale of 1a, 1b, and 2-5,6a, 6b where zone 6b has the
greatest accessibility]

• Density: 291 habitable rooms per hectare [site area of 0.12 hectares and
provision of 35 habitable rooms]

• Number of jobs created: NA.

Agenda Item 7

Page 61



1. INTRODUCTION
1.1 This application is brought before the Planning Application’s Committee

to seek member’s authority to enter into a S106 legal agreement and
as the current application has been the subject of objections and
comprises amended proposals following refusal of planning permission
for the original proposal contrary to officer recommendation in May
2013, and which is the subject of an appeal.

2. SITE AND SURROUNDINGS
2.1 The application site (0.12 hectares) is currently occupied by 35 single

storey brick built garages that are arranged around a central courtyard.
The garages are constructed with concrete bases with the central
internal courtyard also surfaced in concrete.

2.2 The vehicle access to the garages is provided by a private concrete
surfaced service road that is included as part of the application site and
located between the end of terrace properties at 43 and 44 Firstway.
The vehicle access has some variation in width. The vehicle access is
widest at the rear corner of the building at 43 Firstway [7.8 metres] and
narrowest at the northeast corner of the garden of this property [5.6
metres].  Separate rights of way exist along the vehicle access road to
an additional private garage in the rear garden of 44 Firstway and to
pedestrian gates providing access to the rear garden of 43 Firstway.

2.3 Immediately to the east of the application site is a single storey brick
building providing an electrical sub station and a builder’s yard with
vehicle access provided to the side of 51 Firstway. Semi detached two
storey residential properties in Grand Drive and buildings in Approach
Road are located further to the east. The buildings at 57 to 69
Approach Road are within the secondary shopping frontage of Raynes
Park Local Centre; these buildings have commercial uses at ground
floor level with two storeys of residential use above. The residential
roads to the north of Approach Road known as ’the Apostles’ are within
a Controlled Parking Zone.

2.4 The Rainbow Industrial Estate access road, the three-storey building
known as Station House and Raynes Park Railway Station are located
to the north east of the application site with a railway embankment
located to the northwest. To the west and south are the rear gardens of
existing residential properties in Firstway.

2.5 The area to the south of the application site is predominantly residential
in character with a mixture of terraced; semi detached and detached
residential properties. These residential properties are mostly two
storeys in height with several nearby properties including the adjacent
property at 43 Firstway extending into the roof space with an additional
storey of accommodation. The area to the north of the site is of mixed
character with a general increase in building heights to three storeys
and an increase in development density within the town centre and
around Raynes Park Railway Station.

Page 62



2.6 The site is not located within a Conservation Area, not located in an
Archaeological Priority Zone, not in a Controlled Parking Zone and not
in an area at risk from flooding. The application site has a PTAL rating
of 4 [where 1a represents the least accessible areas and 6b the most
accessible]. Nearby land to the north and west of the application site
[Rainbow Industrial Estate and access road] is the subject of a
development brief adopted in August 2013 and a green corridor
[railway embankment].

3. CURRENT PROPOSAL
3.1 The proposal involves the demolition of the existing single storey

buildings that provide 36 garages and the redevelopment of the site to
provide a terrace of 7 four bedroom houses. The current application is
a resubmitted application following the decision by the Council’s
Planning Applications Committee to refuse planning permission for the
application under reference 13/P0333 in May 2013.

3.2 The changes made by the applicant in response to the concerns raised
by the Planning Applications Committee are as follows:

• The proposed terrace of 7 houses has been redesigned to allow a
two metre wide footpath along the front of the houses;

• Permanent ‘American’ shutters have been introduced to the front
elevation to reduce the potential for overlooking and loss of
privacy;

• The proposed dormer windows have been reduced in size;

• A pedestrian path has been provided along the access from
Firstway;

• A timber boarded fence has been provided to separate the access
path from the Rainbow Industrial Estate access road;

• Details of new weld mesh fencing has been provided that will both
maintain a sense of visual openness for future residents and
provide security for Network Rail;

• Details of external lighting have been provided for pedestrian
pathways within the development.

3.3 The proposed development will retain the existing access road to the
36 garages located between the properties at 43 and 44 Firstway and
will maintain the existing rights of way. The original proposal included a
pedestrian access from the site on to the Rainbow Industrial Estate
access road. As agreement could not be reached with the adjacent
landowner there is no pedestrian access from the site on to the
Rainbow Industrial Estate access road.

3.4 The proposed layout of the site includes a parking and servicing area at
the western end of the site that provides 8 off street car parking spaces
including one disabled space. The use of the parking spaces will be
controlled by telescopic bollards. The proposed terrace of houses will
have south facing rear gardens of 45 or 46 square metres. The front
elevation of the houses will be separated from the rear northern

Page 63



boundary of the site by a pedestrian footpath and front gardens
measuring 5 square metres.

3.5 The houses are two storey in height with additional accommodation
provided within the roof space. The submitted plans show adaptable
internal space at ground floor level, with the removal of an internal
partition allowing for an open plan arrangement if preferred by future
occupants. The first floor provides two bedrooms with en suite
bathrooms and two further bedrooms within the roof space with a
shared bathroom.

3.6 The houses will be constructed of brick with hardwood windows and a
standing seam Zinc roof with dormer windows to the front and rear
elevations. The concrete access road is shown on the submitted
drawings as being replaced with permeable paving with the parking
bays marked with brick kerbs and filed with hoggin gravel. Landscaping
at the front of the parking areas provide overrun areas and separate
the parking bays from other parts of the site.

3.7 The houses have been designed with individual integral ventilated
refuse, recycling and meter cupboards to the front elevation with the
submitted drawings showing a refuse collection point on the widest part
of the access road.  A separate shed in the rear gardens will provide
cycle storage. The following table provides the internal floor space
amenity space areas  for the 7 new terraced houses

Table 1: Floor areas and amenity space.

Floor
area
[Sq. M]

London Plan
standard
[Sq. M]

Amenity
space
[Sq. M]

SPG
standard
[Sq. M]

House 1 122 113 [four bed six
person]

50 [rear 45
& front 5]

50

House 2 122 113 [four bed six
person]

50 [rear 45
& front 5]

50

House 3 122 113 [four bed six
person]

50 [rear 45
& front 5]

50

House 4 122 113 [four bed six
person]

50 [rear 45
& front 5]

50

House 5 122 113 [four bed six
person]

50 [rear 45
& front 5]

50

House 6 122 113 [four bed six
person]

50 [rear 45
& front 5]

50

House 7 122 113 [four bed six
person]

51 [rear 46
& front 5]

50

3.8 As part of the application the applicant has submitted the following
documents:

• Design and Access Statement The statement concludes that the
proposal will make best use of a redundant and neglected

Page 64



brownfield site, providing much needed family homes in an ideal
location with a distinctive contemporary design that meets current
legislation

• Planning Statement The statement concludes that the proposal will
provide high quality residential accommodation without any adverse
impacts on surrounding residential properties or the highway
network.

• Tree Assessment and Protection Report Whilst there are no trees
on the application site itself the proposed construction will be
undertaken in the vicinity of trees on adjacent land with some of
these trees overhanging the application site. The main trees were
found to be self seeded Sycamores and Oak on the railway
embankment with a small group of Leyland Cypress in the rear
garden of 43 Firstway. It is concluded that the proposed
development is unlikely to impact upon the root systems of these
trees, however following the pruning of overhanging branches tree
protection measures should be used to prevent damage during
construction work.

• Code for Sustainable Homes – Pre-Assessment Report The pre-
assessment report concludes that based on the current design
development the proposed development would achieve Code for
Sustainable Homes Level 4.

4. PLANNING HISTORY.
4.1 On the 23 May 2013 the Planning Applications Committee resolved to

refuse planning permission [reference 13/p0333] for the demolition of
the existing 36 garages on the application site and the erection of a
terrace of 7 four bedroom houses with accommodation over two floors
and the roof space with 8 car parking spaces using the existing
vehicular access between 43 and 44 Firstway. The reasons for the
refusal of planning permission which were as follows:

“The proposals by reason of their design, size, siting and layout,
and location in relation to Raynes Park station would result in a
cramped and unsatisfactory development that would: (a) fail to
create routes that are attractive, or demonstrate that they are safe
and accessible to all members of the community; (b) fail to cater
for the ease of movement between buildings, services and
amenity spaces so that places connect with each other and are
easy to move through; (c) fail to adequately protect privacy of
future occupiers, and to protect residents from visual intrusion;
contrary to policies HS.1 (ii), BE.15, BE 16 (iii) & (iv) of the Merton
Unitary Development Plan (2003); policy CS.8 of the Merton LDF
Core Planning Strategy (2011) and London Plan Policy 3.5 (quality
and design of housing developments)”.

4.2 The applicant has submitted an appeal to the Secretary of State
against the above Council’s refusal of planning permission [reference
13/P0333] and a decision on this appeal is currently awaited following
an appeal site visit on 5th November.

Page 65



4.3 The following entries on the planning register relate to planning history
for adjacent plots of land that are considered relevant to the current
application.

43 Firstway
4.4 The end of terrace property at 43 Firstway is located immediately to the

south west of the road providing access to the application site from
Firstway.

4.5 In August 2005, a Certificate of Lawfulness was approved under
delegated powers [ref: 05/P1522] for a proposed hip to gable end roof
extension at 43 Firstway and a rear dormer window extension.

4.6 In November 2005, planning permission was granted under delegated
powers [ref: 05/P2047] for the conversion of the single-family property
at 43 Firstway into two flats with a single storey rear extension. As part
of this planning permission a new bedroom window was inserted into
the side elevation of this property at ground floor level.

44 Firstway
4.7 The end of terrace property at 44 Firstway is located immediately to the

north east of the road providing access to the application site from
Firstway.

4.8 In December 2010 planning permission was granted under delegated
powers [ref: 10/P3011] for the construction of a rear ground floor
extension to the property at 44 Firstway

Station House
4.9 Station House is located to the north east of the application site

immediately adjacent to Raynes Park Station and the railway line.

4.10 On the 14 February 2013 the Planning Applications Committee
resolved to approve planning permission [reference 12/P0434] for the
conversion of existing three-storey office building called Station House
in Approach Road to provide 6, self-contained flats [3 studio flats and 3
one bedroom flats]. Discussions are currently on going with the
applicant in relation to the s106 agreement that will be attached to this
development.

5. CONSULTATION
5.1 The planning application was publicised by means of a site notice

displayed in the vicinity of the application site, together with individual
letters to 28 nearby addresses.

5.2 In response to this public consultation 3 letters have been received
objecting to the planning application on the following grounds:

Transport, Access and Traffic

• The access road to the site is inadequate due to its narrow width;

Page 66



• The development provides inadequate off street parking that will
lead to extra on street parking pressure;

Impact on Amenity

• The development would give rise to an unbearable increase in
vehicle traffic, noise, smoke and pollution that would adversely
affect residents’ quiet enjoyment of their homes;

• There are security issues if the new access path to Raynes Park
Station is provided;

• The development would adversely impact on the quality of life of
neighbours.

• The development will lead to an increase in the local population

Standard of Accommodation

• The proposed houses would be of a poor standard due to the
proximity to the railway line and noise from the train station;

Other comments

• The development would adversely affect local property values;

• Any pedestrian access from this site;

• There is Japanese Knotweed on this site and there is no indication
of how this is to be removed;

• The fire brigade access is often blocked with parked cars;

Raynes Park and West Barnes Residents Association
5.3 The association object to the planning application and recommend

refusal of planning permission on the following grounds:

• The development provides to many houses which would result in a
cramped, unsuitable environment for families contrary to policies
CS. 8 and CS. 9.

• The development “…would fail to provide attractive, safe and easy
to access spaces for the potential residents” contrary to policy
BE.16

• The proposals would fail to protect the privacy and protect residents
from noise, vibration, dust and disturbance and visual intrusion from
the railway contrary to policy BE.15 and HS.1;

• The development would be contrary to policy 3.5 of the London
Plan as it would fail to provide residential development in a suitable
location being too close to the railway;

• The proposal would fail to provide housing in a safe, comfortable
and attractive place to live and therefore would fail to achieve
sustainable development contrary to the National Planning Policy
Framework.

Environment Agency
5.4 The development has been assessed as having a low environmental

risk and the Environment Agency have no further comments to make.

Page 67



Thames Water
5.5 There are no objections to the development and there are no

indications that the development will have any impact on public sewers.

London Fire Brigade
5.6 The proposal provides access for fire appliances in accordance with

the relevant design guidelines and there will be adequate water
supplies for fire fighting purposes.

LB Merton Transport Planning
5.7 Transport Planning have no objection to the proposal on the basis that

planning conditions are attached to any approval of planning
permission to ensure that the off street parking spaces are retained.
The site has a good access to public transport and whilst the site is not
in Controlled Parking Zone, the majority of existing properties in
Firstway have vehicular crossovers and as a result there is very little
opportunity to park on street.  The proposal provides off street parking
of one space per unit with plus one visitor including 2 disabled bays
this is adequate. The loss of garages would not be deemed as
sufficient to object to this application. The application uses an existing
access and has provided information to demonstrate that cars can
access the site and exit in forward gear.

LB Merton Environmental Health
5.8 Environmental Health department have no objection to the proposal on

the basis that planning conditions are attached to any approval of
planning permission relating to external lighting; an existing noise
survey; restriction on construction times electro-magnetic radiation
emissions from the sub station and investigations into potential land
contamination.

5.9 LB Merton Climate Change Team
With the submission of the design stage report, the Climate Change
team is satisfied that the development can achieve Code Level 4 in line
with the minimum requirements of Core Strategy Policy CS15. The
intention to meet the highest standard for domestic water consumption
in line with Code 5/6 is welcomed.

6. POLICY CONTEXT
National Planning Policy Framework [March 2012]

6.1 The National Planning Policy Framework was published on the 27
March 2012 and replaces previous guidance contained in Planning
Policy Guidance Notes and Planning Policy Statements. This
document is put forward as a key part of central government reforms
‘…to make the planning system less complex and more accessible,
and to promote sustainable growth’.

6.2 The document reiterates the plan led system stating that development
that accords with an up to date plan should be approved and proposed
development that conflicts should be refused. The framework also

Page 68



states that the primary objective of development management should
be to foster the delivery of sustainable development, not to hinder or
prevent development.

6.3 To enable each local authority to proactively fulfil their planning role,
and to actively promote sustainable development, the framework
advises that local planning authorities need to approach development
management decisions positively – looking for solutions rather than
problems so that applications can be approved wherever it is practical
to do so. The framework attaches significant weight to the benefits of
economic and housing growth, the need to influence development
proposals to achieve quality outcomes; and enable the delivery of
sustainable development proposals.

6.4 The National Planning Policy Framework [NPPF] urges local authorities
to significantly boost the supply of housing.  Local authorities should
use their evidence base to ensure that their Local Plan meets the full,
objectively assessed need for market and affordable housing in the
housing market area, as far as is consistent with other policies set out
in the NPPF. This process should include identifying key sites that are
critical to the delivery of the housing strategy over the plan period.

6.5 The National Planning Policy Framework states that local authorities
should identify and update annually a supply of specific deliverable
sites sufficient to provide five years worth of housing against their
housing requirements with an additional buffer of 5% (moved forward
from later in the plan period) to ensure choice and competition in the
market for land.

6.6 The National Planning Policy Framework states that local authorities
should normally approve planning applications for change to residential
use from commercial buildings where there is an identified need for
additional housing in that area, unless there are not strong economic
reasons why such development would be inappropriate.

The London Plan [2011].
6.7 The relevant policies in the London Plan [July 2011] are 3.3 [Increasing

housing supply]; 3.4 [Optimising housing potential]; 3.5 [Quality and
design of housing developments; 3.6 [Children and young people’s
play and informal recreation facilities]; 3.8 [Housing choice]; 3.9 [Mixed
and balanced communities]; 3.11 [Affordable housing targets]; 5.1
[Climate change mitigation]; 5.2 [Minimising carbon dioxide emissions];
5.3 [Sustainable design and construction]: 5.7 [Renewable energy];
5.10 [Urban greening]; 5.12 [Flood risk management]; 5.13
[Sustainable drainage]; 6.3 [Assessing effects of development on
transport capacity]; 6.9 [Cycling]; 6.10 [Walking]; 6.11 [Smoothing
traffic flow and tacking congestion]; 6.12 [Road network capacity]; 6.13
[Parking]; 7.2 [An inclusive environment]; 7.3 [Designing out crime]; 7.4
[Local character]; 7.5 [Public realm]; 7.6 [Architecture]; 7.8 [Heritage
assets and archaeology]; 7.14 [Improving air quality]; 7.15 [Reducing

Page 69



noise and enhancing soundscapes]; 7.21 [Trees and woodlands] and
8.2 [Planning obligations].

Mayor of London Supplementary Planning Guidance
6.8 The supplementary planning guidance relevant to the proposal is that

on housing [November 2012],

Merton Unitary Development Plan [2003]
6.8 The relevant planning policies retained in the Adopted Unitary

Development Plan [October 2003] are BE.15 [New buildings and
extensions; daylight; sunlight; privacy; visual intrusion and noise];
BE.16 [Urban design]; BE.22 [Design of new development]; BE25
[Sustainable development]; C.1 [Location and access of facilities]; C.13
[Planning obligations for educational facilities]; E2 [Access for disabled
people]; F.2 [Planning obligations]; HS.1 [Housing layout and amenity];
L.9 [Children’s play facilities]; NE.8 [Green corridors] NE11 [Trees
protection]; PE 2 [Pollution and amenity]; PE.5 [Risk from flooding];
PE.7 [Capacity of water systems]; PE.9 [Waste minimisation and waste
disposal]; PE.11 [Recycling points]; PE.12 [Energy generation and
energy saving]; RN.3 [Vehicular access].

Merton Supplementary Planning Guidance
6.9 The key supplementary planning guidance relevant to the proposals

includes New Residential Development [1999], Design [2004] and
Planning Obligations [2006]. In August 2013 the Council adopted the
planning brief for the adjacent Rainbow Industrial Estate.

Merton LDF Core Planning Strategy [2011]
6.10 The relevant policies within the Council’s Adopted Core Strategy [July

2011] are CS.8 [Housing choice]; CS.9 [Housing provision]; CS.13
[Open space; nature conservation; leisure and culture]; CS.14 [Design];
CS.15 [Climate change]; CS.18 [Active transport]; CS.19 [Public
transport]; and CS.20 [Parking; servicing and delivery].

7. PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
7.1 The main planning considerations include assessing the need for

additional housing; the design, massing and siting of the proposed
buildings; the impact of the development on neighbour amenity; the
impact of the development on trees and the adjacent neighbour
amenity the standard of the proposed residential accommodation,
potential issues relating to transport, parking and cycling; and matters
relating to potential flooding and sustainability.

7.2 The current application is a resubmitted proposal following the decision
of the Planning Application Committee in May 2013 to refuse planning
permission for the earlier application. The reason for the refusal of
planning permission related to the standard of the proposed residential
accommodation and impact on neighbour amenity. The specific
concerns that were raised are addressed in the relevant section of this
report.

Page 70



Need for additional housing and housing mix.
Need for additional housing

7.3 The National Planning Policy Framework [March 2012] requires the
Council to identify a supply of specific ‘deliverable’ sites sufficient to
provide five years worth of housing with an additional buffer of 5% to
provide choice and competition.

7.4 Policy CS. 9 within the Council’s Adopted Core Strategy [July 2011]
and policy 3.3 of the London Plan [July 2011] state that the Council will
work with housing providers to provide a minimum of 4,800 additional
homes [320 new dwellings annually] between 2011 and 2026. This
minimum target that should be exceeded where possible includes a
minimum of 500 to 600 additional new homes in the Raynes Park sub
area where the proposal site is located. The housing delivery trajectory
set out in the latest Council’s Annual Monitoring Report has identified
future challenges in ensuring an adequate supply of housing is
delivered in the borough to meet the minimum targets in the Core
Strategy and the London Plan.

7.5 The Core Strategy states that the Council will encourage housing in
‘sustainable brownfield locations’. The Core Strategy states that that it
is expected that the delivery of new housing in the borough will be
achieved in various ways including the development of ‘windfall sites’.
The current application site is a ‘windfall site’ and is on brownfield land
in a sustainable location adjacent to other existing residential properties
and benefiting from good access to public transport and other local
facilities.

7.6 In conclusion the provision of residential development on this site is
considered acceptable in principle subject to other considerations
including matters of design, bulk, scale and layout, the standard of
accommodation and the impact on amenity.  The proposed
development in this sustainable location will also assist in addressing
the need for new residential accommodation in the borough that is
identified in the London Plan and the Core Strategy.

7.7 There is no planning policy that safeguards the retention of the existing
lock up garages and as a result the current proposal that has the
positive benefit of providing additional housing would not be at the
expense of another land uses that the Council seeks to safeguard.

Housing type
7.8 Policy CS. 8 within the Council’s Adopted Core Strategy [July 2011]

states that the Council will seek the provision of a mix of housing types
sizes and tenures at a local level to meet the needs of all sectors of the
community. This includes the provision of family sized and smaller
housing units.

Page 71



7.9 The majority of recent new housing developments in the local area
including Raynes Park Local Centre have provided new
accommodation in the form of flats [Waitrose site at 21 Coombe Lane,
site at 213 Worple Road and Station House]. It is considered that the
current proposal that will provide 7 new terraced houses will contribute
to the mix of new housing types and sizes in the local area and help
create a socially mixed and sustainable neighbourhood.

Layout, scale, design, massing and density
7.10 Retained adopted Unitary Development Plan policies BE.16 and BE.22

require proposals for development to compliment the character and
appearance of the wider setting. This is achieved by careful
consideration of how the scale, design and materials of a development
relate to the urban setting in which the development is placed.

7.11 Policy CS8 within the Council’s Adopted Core Strategy [July 2011]
states that the Council will require redevelopment proposals to be well
designed. Policy CS14 of the adopted Core Strategy states that all
development needs to be designed to respect, reinforce and enhance
local character and contribute to Merton’s sense of place and identity.
Policy CS14 advises that this should be achieved in various ways
including by promoting high quality design and providing functional
spaces and buildings. Policy 3.5 of the London Plan states that housing
design should enhance the quality of local places taking into account
physical context, local character and density.

7.12 In terms of local character and massing, the general pattern of local
development consists of larger semi detached residential properties
located along Grand Drive running north to south, with back to back
terraces of 6, 7 and 8 residential properties with matching features
located to the west of Grand Drive running east to west on both sides
of Bushey Road and in Firstway. These properties are generally two
storey in height with some extended into the roof space. Station house
located to the northeast of the site is three storeys in height and there
is three-storey development in Approach Road and Kingston Road with
flats above ground floor commercial uses.

7.13 The current application involves the construction of a new terrace of 7
residential properties located between the existing terrace of 8
properties at 44 to 51 Firstway and the railway line. It is considered that
this proposal makes efficient and sustainable use of this site and is in
keeping with the general pattern of local development with the back
gardens of the new dwellings adjoining the back gardens of the nearby
properties in Firstway. The proposal reflects the bulk and scale of
nearby development with proposed buildings of two storeys in height
with pitched roofs and dormer windows providing light to living space
within the roof.

Page 72



7.14 The interwar properties in Firstway built by George Blay are of a typical
design for this period with pitched roofs, front bay windows, and
covered porches, with facing materials of brick and render. These
adjacent properties that are located outside a conservation area have
been altered in various ways including replacement windows, roof
extensions and other alterations. The proposed new terrace of houses
is located to the rear of the existing houses in Firstway and will also
face in the opposite direction towards buildings of a different design. In
this context it is not considered appropriate or necessary for the design
of the new houses to be a pastiche of buildings in Firstway.

7.15 The proposed new houses will be constructed of brick with hardwood
windows and a standing seam zinc roof with dormer windows to the
front and rear elevations. Further details of the proposed roof including
images have been included at the end of this report. The design and
appearance of the new houses is considered acceptable and would
complement the character and appearance of the surrounding area.

7.16 In the event that redevelopment of Rainbow Industrial Estate takes
place, the nature and use of the access road adjacent to the current
application site will change and the prominence and visibility of the
northwest and northeast site boundaries will increase. The orientation
of the residential accommodation to face towards the Rainbow
Industrial Estate access road is considered the most appropriate
layout. This layout properly addresses the site context to the rear of
properties in Firstway; it provides an improved standard of residential
accommodation and with maximum separation distance from adjacent
existing properties it reduces any potential impact on residential
amenity.

7.17 In conclusion the design, scale, layout and appearance of the proposed
development complements the local context and respects the local
pattern of development in accordance with policy BE.16, policy BE.22
Unitary Development Plan, policy CS14 of the Core Strategy and policy
3.5 of the London Plan.

Residential density
7.18 Policy 3.5 of the London Plan states that housing design should

enhance the quality of local places taking into account physical context,
local character and density. Policy 3.4 of the London Plan states that
after talking account of local context and character, design principles
and public transport capacity development should optimise housing
output within the relevant density range. The relevant density range for
the application within a short distance of Raynes Park Local Centre is
between 200 and 700 habitable rooms per hectare.

7.19 The proposed development providing 35 habitable rooms on this site of
0.12 hectares has a residential density of 291 habitable rooms per
hectare. The site has a Public Transport Accessibility Level [PTAL] of 4

Page 73



[On a scale of 1a, 1b, and 2-5,6a, 6b where zone 6b has the greatest
accessibility].

7.20 In conclusion, the proposed development is considered appropriate in
terms of local context and character, design principles and public
transport capacity and is within the density range specified in the
London Plan of 200 and 700 habitable rooms per hectare in
accordance with policies 3.4 and 3.5 of the London Plan.

Neighbour amenity.
7.21 Retained policies HS.1 and BE15 of the adopted Unitary Development

Plan [October 2003] state that all proposals for residential development
should safeguard the residential amenities of occupiers of nearby
properties including in terms of maintaining adequate daylight and
sunlight to adjoining buildings and gardens, the protection of privacy;
protection from visual intrusion and ensuring that development does
not result in harm to living conditions through noise or disturbance.

Privacy and visual intrusion
7.22 To minimise the impact of new development on the privacy of existing

dwellings the Council’s Supplementary Planning Guidance on ‘New
Residential Development’ sets out minimum separation distances
between habitable room windows. This guidance states that there
should be a minimum separation distance of 20 metres provided
between directly opposing first floor residential windows.

7.23 The closest existing residential properties to the proposed new housing
are the end of terrace properties at 43 and 44 Firstway. The proposed
new housing is located directly to the rear of the property at 44
Firstway. A distance of 23 metres will separate the existing first floor
windows at 44 Firstway from the windows in the rear elevation of the
proposed new houses.

7.24 A distance of 20 metres will separate the windows of the ground floor
rear extension at 44 Firstway from the ground floor windows within the
new building. The separation distance between this nearest existing
residential window and the new development meets minimum
standards, with additional screening provided by the new boundary wall
or fence and an existing single storey garage in the rear garden of 44
Firstway.

7.25 The proposed new housing is not located behind the existing building
at 43 Firstway and there are no windows proposed as part of this
development that would face the existing building at 43 Firstway. The
building at 43 Firstway has a ground floor rear extension, a rear roof
extension and has been converted into two flats. The ground floor flat
has patio doors within the rear elevation and an obscured glass window
to the side elevation.

Page 74



7.26 It is considered that due to the angle of the buildings only limited views
of the new building would be possible from the existing rear ground
floor patio doors. The window to the side elevation of 43 Firstway faces
the existing vehicle access road and the side elevation of 44 Firstway
where there is also an existing obscured glass window at ground floor
level. Any views of the new development from the side elevation of 43
Firstway would be restricted by the existing 2 metre side boundary wall
of 44 Firstway and by the fact that the window is currently fitted with
obscured glass.

7.27 In consultation responses objections have been made to the loss of the
‘open aspect’ at the rear of the properties in Firstway. Whilst the loss of
a view is not a valid planning consideration in this instance the new
housing will replace existing garages and will be seen from the houses
in Firstway in front of the existing railway embankment.

Daylight and sunlight
7.28 In order to avoid loss of daylight and sunlight where new housing is

orientated to face directly towards an existing residential area,
Supplementary Planning Guidance uses a simple rule that a spacing of
10 metres for two storey buildings is required by Supplementary
Planning Guidance between the new rear elevation and the site
boundary.

7.29 A distance of 8.8 metres separates the proposed new building from the
rear boundary of the closest existing property in Firstway. As this
separation distance is below the minimum distance provided in
Supplementary Planning Guidance the applicant has conducted an
additional more detailed daylight and sunlight assessment following the
Building Research Establishment (BRE) document ‘Site Layout
Planning for Daylight and Sunlight: a guide to good practice’.

7.30 The proposal was found to pass this more detailed assessment. In
meeting this more detailed test it is considered that the new
development is acceptable in terms of the potential impact on daylight
and sunlight. It is also highlighted that the closest residential property to
the proposed development has a 14.3 metre rear garden that includes
an existing single storey garage, with sheds also located in the rear
gardens of adjacent properties.

Noise and nuisance
7.31 The vehicle and pedestrian access road to the existing 36 garages on

the application site is provided from Firstway between the residential
properties at 43 and 44 Firstway. This road is owned by the applicant.
In addition to the 36 garages there is right of way along the access
road to a garage in the rear garden of 44 Firstway and pedestrian
access to the rear garden of 43 Firstway.

Page 75



7.32 The residential properties at 43 and 44 Firstway both have windows at
ground floor level in the side elevation facing the access road. These
windows, currently both fitted with obscure glazing, are a bedroom
window at 43 Firstway and a dining room window at 44 Firstway. The
access road is 7.3 metres wide adjacent to the window in the side
elevation of 43 Firstway and 7.4 metres wide adjacent to the window to
44 Firstway.

7.33 The ground floor windows to the side elevations of 43 and 44 Firstway
overlook the access road to 36 garages. These garages currently
benefit from unrestricted 24 hour access past these windows with the
potential to generate significant vehicle and pedestrian activity. Further
potential activity will be generated by the right of way along the access
road. The land outside these windows on the access road is also used
for car parking. This situation would result in an existing noise and
disturbance to these windows caused by general activity along the
access road.

7.34 The current application involves the demolition of the existing 36
garages and the construction of a new development with 8 car parking
spaces. The current application will therefore remove 28 car parking
spaces from the application site and the potential vehicle movements
linked to these spaces. The proximity of Raynes Park Railway Station
and shopping facilities available within Raynes Park Local Centre offer
good alternatives to future occupants to the use of a private car and as
a result the proposed parking spaces like the existing garages may not
be in daily use.

7.35 The submitted plans show the provision of a refuse day collection point
on the existing access road. The collection point has been located on
part of the access road with sufficient width to maintain vehicle access.
The collection point has been located adjacent to the rear extension of
44 Firstway to avoid the side elevation windows at 43 and 44 Firstway.
Whilst there is likely to be some noise generated around bin collection
day, this would be similar to noise levels generated by existing
residential properties on bin collection day.

7.36 In order to minimise the disruption caused by construction works
planning conditions are recommended restricting the timing of
construction works and for the submission of details of control
measures including dust from the demolition process. If the existing
garages contain asbestos it will be the developer’s responsibility to
ensure that this material is removed in accordance with the relevant
legalisation that is enforced by the Health and Safety Executive. A
planning condition is also recommended seeking details of new
boundary treatment following the removal of the garages.

7.37 In order to minimise any impact from new external lighting within the
new development a planning condition is recommended seeking the
submission of details for approval.

Page 76



7.38 It has been suggested in consultation responses that the site may be
contaminated due to the ‘industrial use’ of some of the garages. The
applicant has stated that the garages are in storage use and there is no
evidence to suggest that the site is contaminated. Whilst it is unlikely
that the site is contaminated in order to protect the amenity of future
residents it is considered prudent to attach conditions to planning
permission that will ensure that proper investigation is carried out and
the land remediated where this is necessary.

Standard of residential accommodation.
7.39 Policy HS.1 and BE.15 of the adopted Unitary Development Plan

[2003] states that all proposals for residential development should
safeguard the residential amenities of future occupiers in terms of
providing adequate internal space, a safe layout and access for all
users; and provision of adequate amenity space to serve the needs of
occupants. Policies CS 8, CS9 and CS14 within the Council’s Adopted
Core Strategy [2011] states that the Council will require proposals for
new homes to be well designed.

7.40 In resolving to refuse planning permission for the earlier planning
application the Planning Applications Committee expressed the
following concerns regarding the amenity for future residents as part of
the third reason for refusal: “The proposals by reason of their
design, size, siting and layout, and location in relation to Raynes
Park station would result in a cramped and unsatisfactory
development that would (c) fail to adequately protect privacy of
future occupiers, and to protect residents from visual intrusion…”

7.41 To minimise the impact of new development on the privacy of existing
dwellings the Council’s Supplementary Planning Guidance on ‘New
Residential Development’ sets out minimum separation distances
between habitable room windows. This guidance states that there
should be a minimum separation distance of 20 metres provided
between directly opposing first floor residential windows.

7.42 In response to the concerns expressed by the Planning Applications
Committee the applicant has confirmed that a distance of 20 metres will
separate the edge of the nearest platform at Raynes Park Railway
Station from the windows within the first floor elevation of the proposed
new buildings down the existing railway embankment. The proposed
windows within the loft space are set back behind those at first floor
level. It is also highlighted that the railway embankment includes
various mature trees that will provide screening between the new
houses and the railway station.

7.43 In addition to the separation distance from the station platform and the
existing screening the revised proposal includes permanent ‘American’
or ‘Plantation’ shutters to the windows at first floor and roof space

Page 77



levels facing the railway station. The applicant has set out that these
shutters fitted to the inside of the windows at first floor level and within
the loft space will provide flexibility for future residents as they can be
partially or fully opened and let daylight in to the new floorspace whilst
restricting views from Raynes Park Station. A planning condition is
recommended to ensure that these shutters are provided to the
windows at first floor level and within the loft space facing towards the
railway on the north west building elevation.

7.44 At the Planning Applications Committee members expressed concerns
about the privacy of the ground floor accommodation within the
proposed houses. The main front elevation of the proposed houses and
the kitchen/dinning room window is set back 1.2 metres from the
pedestrian access path. The five square metres of amenity space to
the front of the building is under a glass canopy and provides
‘defensible’ space in front of the new window.

Internal layout and room sizes
7.45 The London Plan states that boroughs should ensure that new

development reflects the minimum internal space standards as set out
in table 3.3 of the London Plan. The standards are expressed in terms
of gross internal area and supersede the individual room size
standards provided within the Council’s Supplementary Planning
Guidance – “New Residential Development” [1999].

7.46 The proposed accommodation provides internal residential floor space
in accordance with the London plan and in excess of minimum floor
space standards. The London Plan standard for a 4 bedroom 6 person
dwelling is 113 square metres and the development will exceed this
minimum requirement providing dwellings with a floor space of 124
square metres. The layout of the accommodation makes good use of
the space available with an appropriate internal layout, the provision of
main and en-suite bathrooms and good provision of natural light to
habitable rooms.

7.47 The ground floor of the proposed accommodation has been designed
to provide flexibility for future occupiers in terms of providing a choice
between an open plan layout and provision of individual rooms. This
layout will allow independent use of areas with different functions
[kitchen, dining, living area] with direct access to new individual rooms
provided from a hallway.

External amenity space
7.48 Retained Unitary Development Plan policy HS.1 requires that all

proposals for residential development provide adequate private
amenity space to meet the needs of future occupiers. The residential
development would be expected to comply with the amenity space
standards provided within the Council’s Supplementary Planning
Guidance on New Residential Development. These standards state

Page 78



that new houses should have a minimum private external amenity area
of 50 square metres.

7.49 The submitted application includes a total of 52 square metres of
external space for each new house with 5 square metres located to the
front of the buildings and 47 square metres to the rear. Overall the
garden provision exceeds adopted standards and while the back
gardens on their own would be slightly below the overall standard
sought for family housing (3 square metres), this is not considered
grounds to refuse planning permission.

Lifetime Homes
7.50 Policies in the London Plan and Core Strategy require all new

residential properties to be built to Lifetime Home Standards. The
submitted Design and Access Statement advises that the proposed
development has been designed to reflect Lifetime Home Standards
and a planning condition is recommended to ensure that the
development is constructed to these standards.

Noise and nuisance
7.51 Policy PE.2 of the Unitary Development Plan states that noise sensitive

developments will not be permitted near to existing sources of
significant noise. Where acceptable environmental information has
been received the acceptable operation of developments will be
secured by the imposition of planning conditions.

7.52 A railway line running along the top of an embankment is currently
located to the rear of existing residential properties in Firstway. Whilst
the rear gardens of adjacent residential properties directly abut the
railway embankment, the application site currently occupied by 36
garages separates the railway line from the rear of existing residential
properties at 44 to 51 Firstway. At the closest point a distance of 11
metres up a railway embankment with a 20° incline and that includes
several trees will separate the proposed new housing from the railway.

7.53 After assessment of the submitted proposal including the proximity of
existing residential buildings to the railway, it is considered that the
proposed residential accommodation can provide a good standard of
accommodation that is acceptable in this location. Environmental
Health officers have assessed the proposal and recommended that
planning permission can be approved subject to a planning condition
that requires the submission and approval of a noise attenuation
scheme.

7.54 It is highlighted that there are existing residential properties in Firstway
that are a similar distance from the railway line to the dwellings
currently proposed. Station House, located to the north east of the
application site, is located closer to Raynes Park Station and the
railway line than the application site. In February 2013 the Planning
Applications Committee resolved to approve planning permission

Page 79



[reference 12/P0434] for the conversion of this existing three-storey
office building into residential accommodation with 6, self-contained
flats.

Proximity to electrical sub station.
7.55 Whilst not located within the application site, an electrical sub station is

located adjacent to the north east boundary of the application site. The
sub station will be located adjacent to the side elevation of the
proposed end of terrace house.

7.56 As part of the submitted planning application the applicant has stated
“Whilst there is no undisputed scientific evidence that the
electromagnetic radiation from sub stations is harmful to humans, it can
be disruptive to electronic equipment, Shielding can be provided by a
Faraday cage”. The applicant has also submitted a drawing [1208-32]
showing electromagnetic screening in the form of a steel mesh
embedded within the side elevation wall of the closest building to the
sub station.

7.57 After consultation with the Environmental Health team a planning
condition is recommended seeking a survey to assess potential
electromagnetic fields from the sub station and if the conclusions of the
survey consider it necessary proposed mitigation measures.

7.58 In conclusion the proposed development including in terms of its
general layout, design and size will provide a good standard of
residential accommodation in line with relevant policy requirements and
guidance. The development is considered in line with policy CS 20 of
the adopted Core Strategy; UDP policies HS.1 of the Unitary
Development Plan, Supplementary Planning Guidance – “New
Residential Development” [1999] and the London Plan.

Pedestrian access
7.59 In resolving to refuse planning permission for the earlier planning

application the Planning Applications Committee expressed the
following concerns regarding the environment for pedestrians as part of
the first reason for refusal:”The proposals by reason of their design,
size, siting and layout, and location in relation to Raynes Park
station would (a) result in a cramped and unsatisfactory
development that would fail to create routes that are attractive, or
demonstrate that they are safe and accessible to all members of
the community….”

7.60 Design guidance on the layout of streets and roads and how street
design can help create better places is provided in the document called
‘Manual for Streets’. This advice is published by the Department for
Transport. There has also been research commissioned by Transport
for London into pedestrian comfort levels on streets and footpaths.
These two documents confirm where there are low pedestrian flows a
footpath width of 2 metres is acceptable. Inclusive Mobility (2002)

Page 80



advises that ideally the width of the footway should be 2 metres which
would then allow two people in wheelchairs to pass each other
comfortably.

7.61 In response to the concerns of the Planning Applications Committee
the proposed development has been revised to include a wider two
metre wide pedestrian access path along the front of the proposed
residential terrace. It is considered that the pedestrian flow associated
with the 7 proposed houses along this footpath would be below that
expected on a normal public footpath and in this respect a two metre
wide footpath is considered acceptable. The width of the footpath is
considered sufficient to allow access to the proposed development and
would be suitable for all members of the community.

7.62 In order to improve the attractiveness of the pedestrian access route to
the proposed accommodation and to ensure that it is safe and
accessible the applicant has provided details of low level lighting on
freestanding 0.6 metre posts along the pedestrian pathway. A planning
condition is recommended seeking the provision and retention of this
lighting.

7.63 In response to the concerns of the Planning Applications Committee
and to improve the attractiveness of the pedestrian route the applicant
has provided details of the new weld mesh fencing that will be provided
at the side of the new path. It is considered that the new weld mesh
fencing will both maintain a sense of visual openness for future
residents and provide the necessary security for Network Rail.

7.64 In resolving to refuse planning permission for the earlier planning
application the Planning Applications Committee expressed the
following concerns regarding access arrangements as part of the
second reason for refusal:“The proposals by reason of their design,
size, siting and layout, and location in relation to Raynes Park
station would result in a cramped and unsatisfactory development
that would (b) fail to cater for the ease of movement between
buildings, services and amenity spaces so that places connect
with each other and are easy to move through…”

7.65 In response to the concerns of the Planning Applications Committee
the revised plans show a pedestrian path provided along the vehicular
access from Firstway. A planning condition is recommended to ensure
that the surface demarcation of this path is provided prior to occupation
of the new residential accommodation and maintained permanently

7.66 The access road to the Rainbow Industrial Estate is located
immediately to the north of the application site. The Council adopted
the Supplementary Planning Document: providing the planning brief for
the adjacent Rainbow Industrial Estate in August 2013.  The preferred
land uses on this adjacent site include both residential and employment
uses.

Page 81



7.67 In order to encourage sustainable transport choices and improve
connectivity the applicant has been encouraged by officers to provide a
new direct pedestrian and cycle route from the application site on to the
Rainbow Industrial Estate access road which would then allow access
to Raynes Park Railway Station beyond. It is highlighted that the
provision of this new pedestrian and cycle access would entail crossing
land that is not part of the application site and which is owned by a
separate landowner.

7.68 The adjacent landowner has confirmed in writing that they are unable
to support the provision of this access at this time and as a result it was
removed from the proposed development. If these circumstances
change the applicant has provided a timber-boarded fence at the end
of the pedestrian footpath that could be removed or replaced with a
gate to provide a new access.

7.69 In order to maintain the current pattern of development the proposed
development has been designed to ensure that the private rear
gardens of the proposed houses are adjacent to existing private rear
gardens. In response to concerns expressed about the relationship of
the new terrace to Firstway, the applicant has provided an artist’s
impression of how the development would appear when viewed from
Firstway.

7.70 The Planning Applications Committee considered that the development
was contrary to policy 3.5 of the London Plan in that it failed to take
account of the physical context and local character in terms of the
location of the buildings behind the properties in Firstway and failed to
provide a sense of arrival.

7.71 In conclusion the proposal is considered in line with policies HS.1,
BE.15 and BE.16 of the Merton Unitary Development Plan (2003);
policy CS.8 of the Merton LDF Core Planning Strategy (2011) and
London Plan Policy 3.5 (quality and design of housing developments).

Car parking, servicing, access cycling and walking.
7.72 The site is located in a residential cul-de sac within a short distance of

Raynes Park Local Centre and has the benefit of the shops and other
facilities that are easily accessible on foot. The site also benefits from
good access to public transport with Raynes Park Railway Station
nearby and a Public Transport Accessibility Level of 4 [On a scale of
1a, 1b, and 2-5,6a, 6b where zone 6b has the greatest accessibility].

Loss of the existing garages.
7.73 The proposal site currently provides 36 individual garages that would

be demolished as part of the development; one of these garages is
currently vacant. The applicant has stated that the garages are
currently used for storage purposes with only 4 tenants living within 100
metres of the site and 27 tenants living over a kilometre away. It is

Page 82



considered that the loss of the garages is therefore unlikely to lead to
any additional on street parking or impact on vehicle movements and
road safety.

Car parking.
7.74 Policy CS20 of the Core Strategy [July 2011] states car parking should

be provided in accordance with current parking standards, whilst
assessing the impact of any additional on street parking on vehicle
movements and road safety.

7.75 Policy 6.13 of the London Plan states that the Mayor wishes to see an
appropriate balance between promoting new development and
preventing excessive car parking that can undermine cycling, walking
and public transport use. The current maximum car parking standards
are set out within the London Plan at table 6.2 and require between 1.5
and 2 car parking spaces for properties with four bedrooms.

7.76 The application site is located outside a Controlled Parking Zone;
however the roads to the west of Grand Drive are within a Controlled
Parking Zone. As the majority of existing properties in Firstway have
vehicular crossovers there is very limited on street parking available in
Firstway. Firstway and Grand drive also have single yellow line parking
restrictions that operate between 8am and 6.30 pm Monday to
Saturday.

7.77 The submitted layout plan shows the provision of eight off street car
parking spaces at the south west end of the site using the existing
vehicular access from Firstway. This parking includes one off street
space for each dwelling and a visitor space; the visitor space and one
of the allocated spaces are suitable for those with a disability. To
prevent unauthorised use the parking will be controlled with telescopic
bollards. This level of off street car parking is line with the maximum
parking standards provided within the London Plan and reflects the
sustainable location of this site where occupants are able to meet daily
needs without the use of a car.

Servicing and access
7.78 Policy CS20 of the Core Strategy [July 2011] states that the Council will

seek to implement effective traffic management by requiring developers
to incorporate adequate facilities for servicing to ensure loading and
unloading activities do not have an adverse impact on the public
highway. The policy also requires developers to incorporate safe
access to and from the public highway.

7.79 The existing access from Firstway provides access to 36 garages and
is considered acceptable for the proposed 7 houses in terms of the
junction with Firstway and its width. A detailed layout drawing of the
proposed parking area [1208-22A] has been submitted with the
planning application. This plan demonstrates that there is adequate

Page 83



space provided on the site for vehicles to manoeuvre and to avoid the
need for vehicles to reverse on to the public highway.

7.80 The proposed houses each have integral refuse storage areas with an
area shown on the submitted plans for the refuse bins to be located on
collection day. The collection location is considered acceptable as it
located on the widest part of the access road; it will allow bins to be
collected by the refuse vehicle and will maintain vehicle access to the
site on refuse collection day. These collection day locations for bins will
avoid creating an obstruction for pedestrians, vehicles or to vehicle
sightlines.

7.81 In order to allow emergency vehicle access the London Fire Brigade
require an access road width of at least 3.7 metres between kerbs and
3.1 metres between gate posts; a fire vehicle is able to reverse up to a
distance of 20 metres before a turning circle is required [London Fire
Emergency Planning Authority Fire Safety Guidance Note GN29]. The
access road to the application site is widest at the rear corner of the
building at 43 Firstway [7.8 metres] and narrowest at the northeast
corner of the garden of this property [5.6 metres].

7.82 Consultation responses have said that cars parked on the access road
would block fire brigade access to the application site. Whilst parked
cars can block access in many circumstances on the public highway;
the cars are parked on the widest point of the access road and this
would still allow fire brigade access to the development site. An
emergency fire vehicle parked on the Rainbow Estate access road or a
vehicle that has reversed from Firstway by a distance of 20 metres to
the widest part of the access road could be used in the event of a fire.

7.83 In order to reduce carbon dioxide emissions and promote sustainable
transport use, the Mayor of London’s Electric Vehicle Delivery Plan and
policy 6.13 of the adopted London Plan seek an on site facility for
charging electric vehicles. The parking area layout plan [1208-22]
submitted with the planning application shows the provision of a facility
to charge electric vehicles and a planning condition is recommended to
ensure that this facility is provided.

7.84 In conclusion it is considered that the proposed development has been
designed with adequate access and servicing arrangements that will
also allow access by the fire brigade in an emergency.

Cycling and walking.
7.85 Policy CS 18 of the adopted Core Strategy [July 2011] states that the

Council will promote active transport by prioritising the safety of
pedestrian, cycle and other active transport modes; by supporting
schemes and encouraging design that provides, attractive, safe,
covered cycle storage. The proposed development shows parking for
cycle within the rear gardens of the proposed houses

Page 84



Biodiversity and trees
7.86 Policy CS.13 within the Adopted Core Strategy [2011] states that

development should seek to integrate new or enhanced habitat or
design and landscaping that encourages biodiversity. LDF policy CS13
along with Unitary Development Plan policy NE.8 state that
development adjacent to green corridors will be expected to enhance
the nature conservation value of the land and must not adversely affect
the amenity, quality or utility of the open space.

Biodiversity
7.87 The application site is located adjacent to a railway embankment that is

designated as a green corridor in the Unitary Development Plan. As
part of the current application the existing garages will be demolished
and replaced with 7 houses. The current proposal will reduce the
existing areas of hard standing on the site and will introduce measures
to encourage biodiversity in the form of bat and bird boxes.

Trees
7.88 Unitary Development Plan policy NE.11 states that development will

not be permitted if it would damage or destroy trees which have
significant amenity value as perceived from the public realm area
unless either removal is necessary in the interest of good arboricultural
practice, or the reason for the development outweighs the amenity
value of the trees.

7.89 Whilst there are no trees within the application site there are a number
of trees close to the boundaries of the proposal site. As part of the
planning application the applicant has carried out a survey of these
trees and tree assessment and protection report.

7.90 The main trees were found to be self seeded Sycamores and Oak on
the railway embankment with a small group of Leyland Cypress in the
rear garden of 43 Firstway. It was found that the proposed
development is unlikely to impact upon the root systems of these trees.
However, following the pruning of overhanging branches, tree
protection measures should be used to prevent damage during
construction work.  It is recommended that a planning condition is used
to ensure that the recommended tree protection measures are
implemented.

Sustainable design and construction.
7.91 The Council’s Core Strategy reinforces the wider sustainability

objectives of the London Plan with policy CS15 requiring all
development to demonstrate how the development makes effective use
of resources and materials and minimises water use and CO2
emissions. All new development comprising the creation of new
dwellings will be expected to achieve Code 4 Level for Sustainable
Homes.

Page 85



7.92 As part of the current planning application the applicant has submitted
a Code for Sustainable Homes – Pre-Assessment Report The pre-
assessment report concludes that based on the current design
development the proposed development would achieve Code for
Sustainable Homes Level 4.

Flooding issues.
7.93 The issue of local flooding has been raised by adjacent residents in

consultation responses. The current application site is occupied almost
entirely either by the existing 36 garages or other areas of hand
standing including turning areas and the main part of the access road.
The current proposal will greatly increase the permeability of the site
with the introduction of rear gardens and the use of permeable surface
materials for access and parking areas. The application site is not
located in an area at risk from ground water flooding and the
development has been assessed by the Environment Agency and
found to have a low environmental risk.

7.94 In terms of assessing any potential capacity issues with existing
drainage or sewage systems in the vicinity of the application site
Thames Water were consulted on the current planning application.
Thames Water has not raised any objection to his proposal.

8. ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT
8.1 The application site is less than 0.5 hectares in area and therefore falls

outside the scope of Schedule 2 development under the The Town and
Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations
2011. In this context there is no requirement for an Environmental
Impact Assessment as part of this planning application.

9. CONCLUSION
9.1 The proposed development represents an effective and sustainable

use of this brownfield site and incorporates a design and layout
sympathetic to the character of the surrounding area, whilst at the
same time minimising any adverse impacts on neighbouring amenity.
Notwithstanding the earlier officer recommendation to approve,
amendments to the scheme have sought to address members’
concerns. Accordingly, it is recommended that planning permission be
granted subject to the planning conditions and planning obligations set
out below.

10. LOCAL FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS
Mayor of London Community Infrastructure Lev

10.1 The proposed development is liable to pay the Mayoral Community
Infrastructure Levy [CIL], the funds for which will be used by the Mayor
of London towards the ‘CrossRail’ project. The CIL amount is non-
negotiable and planning permission cannot be refused for failure to pay
the CIL.

Page 86



10.2 The CIL charge that would be payable, for the proposed development,
providing 896 square metres, under the Mayor of London Community
Infrastructure Levy would be £31,360

Planning Obligations
10.3 Regulation 122(2) of the CIL Regulations 2010 (continued in the CIL

Regulations 2011) introduced three tests for planning obligations into
law, stating that obligations must be:

• necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;

• directly related to the development;

• fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.

10.4 If a planning obligation does not meet all of these tests it cannot legally
be taken into account in granting planning permission and for the Local
Planning Authority to take account of S106 in granting planning
permission it needs to be convinced that, without the obligation,
permission should be refused.

Financial contribution towards provision of affordable housing;
10.5 Policy CS. 8 within the Council’s Adopted Core Strategy [July 2011]

states that the Council will seek the provision of a mix of housing
tenures at a local level to meet the needs of all sectors of the
community including provision for those unable to compete financially
in the housing market sector.

10.6 Having regard to characteristics such as financial viability issues and
other planning contributions Core Strategy policy CS 8 states that for
developments providing under ten residential units affordable housing
provision should be equivalent to 20% of the new units with this
provision achieved through an off site financial contribution.

10.7 As part of the planning application the applicant has submitted a
viability assessment that concludes that a full contribution (£274,626)
towards affordable housing would make the proposed development
unviable. This viability assessment has been the subject of an
independent test by a viability assessor. Following this assessment it
has been agreed between officers and the applicant that a contribution
towards affordable housing provision of £87,222 would be acceptable
in order to provide a viable development that can progress.

Financial contribution towards education provision;
10.8 Saved UDP policy C13 recognises that new housing developments will

lead to additional pressure on local educational facilities, and seeks
financial contributions to be used towards the extra demand placed on
local schools as a result of the development. The proposed
development will provide 7 four bedroom residential units, in line with
policy C13 and to meet the additional pressure that would be placed on
local schools a financial contribution of £73,498 is recommended
towards education provision.

Page 87



The developer agreeing to meet the Council’s costs of preparing and
monitoring the Section 106 Obligations;

10.9 As set out in the Council’s adopted Supplementary Planning Guidance
the s106 monitoring fees would be £8,036 calculated on the basis of
5% of the monetary contribution. Legal fees would need to be agreed
at a later date.

RECOMMENDATION
GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION subject to the completion of a Section
106 Agreement and planning conditions.
1. Financial contribution towards affordable housing provision (£87,222).
2. Financial contribution towards education provision (£73,498).
3. The developer agreeing to meet the Council’s costs of preparing

[including legal fees] the Section 106 Obligations [to be agreed].
4. The developer agreeing to meet the Council’s costs of monitoring the

Section 106 Obligations [£8,036].

And the following conditions:
1. Standard condition [Time period] The development to which this

permission relates shall be commenced not later than the expiration of
3 years from the date of this permission. Reason for condition: To
comply with Section 91 (as amended) of the Town & Country Planning
Act 1990.

2. Amended standard condition [Approved plans] The development
hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following
approved plans: 1208-01A; 1208-04B; 1208-06A; 1208-10A; 1208-11A;
1208-12A 1208-13A; 1208-14A; 1208-15A; 1208-16A; 1208-20A;
1208-21; 1208-22A; 1208-23A; 1208-24; 1208-25; 1208-26A; 1208-27;
1208-28; 1208-29; 1208-30; 1208-31; 1208-32A; 1208-33; 1208-34A;
1208-35A; 1208-36; 1208-37; Design and Access Statement;
Arboricultural Assessment and Method Statement; Planning Statement,
Energy Report, Code for Sustainable Homes Pre-Assessment Report.]
Reason for condition: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of
proper planning.

3. Standard condition [Timing of construction work] No demolition or
construction work or ancillary activities such as deliveries shall take
place before 0800hrs or after 1800hrs Mondays - Fridays inclusive;
before 0800hrs or after 1300hrs on Saturdays or at any time on
Sundays or Bank Holidays. Reason for condition: To safeguard the
amenities of the area and occupiers of neighbouring properties and to
ensure compliance with policy PE.2 of the Adopted Merton Unitary
Development Plan 2003.

4. Non standard condition [Demolition dust and noise] No development
[including demolition] shall commence until a method statement
outlining the method of demolition, and measures to prevent nuisance
from dust and noise to the surrounding occupiers has been submitted

Page 88



to and approved in writing to the Local Planning Authority for approval.
Once approved, the scheme shall be implemented and retained
thereafter. Reason for condition: To protect the amenities of occupiers
of neighbouring properties and to accord with policy PE.2 of the
Adopted Merton Unitary Development Plan 2003.

5. Amended standard condition [Construction phase impacts] No
development shall commence until a working method statement has
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority to accommodate: parking of vehicles of site workers and
visitors; loading and unloading of plant and materials; storage of
construction plant and materials; wheel cleaning facilities; control of
dust, smell and other effluvia; control of surface water run-off. No
development shall be carried out except in full accordance with the
approved method statement. Reason for condition: In the interests of
vehicle and pedestrian safety and the amenities of neighbouring
occupiers and to comply with policy CS20 of the Adopted Merton Core
Planning Strategy 2011.

6. Non standard condition [Pedestrian routes] Notwithstanding the
submitted plans a demarcated pedestrian route along the access road
shall be in place prior to first occupation of the proposed
accommodation that is in accordance with details that have previously
been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority with this approved pedestrian route maintained permanently
thereafter.. Reason for condition: To ensure a satisfactory and safe
development in accordance with policies BE.16 and BE.22 of the
Adopted Merton Unitary Development Plan.

7. Non standard condition [External lighting - pedestrian routes] External
lighting to the proposed pedestrian routes within the application site
shall be in place prior to first occupation of the dwellings hereby
approved in accordance with details of the lighting locations that have
previously been submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority with this approved lighting maintained permanently
thereafter. Reason for condition: To ensure a satisfactory and safe
development in accordance with policies BE.16 and BE.22 of the
Adopted Merton Unitary Development Plan.

8. Standard condition [External lighting - buildings] Any new external
lighting shall be positioned and angled to prevent any light spillage or
glare beyond the site boundary. Reason for condition: To safeguard the
amenities of the area and occupiers of neighbouring properties and to
ensure compliance with policy PE.2 of the Adopted Merton Unitary
Development Plan 2003.

9. Non Standard condition [Shutters] The shutters detailed on approved
drawing 1208-37 shall be provided to the windows at first floor and
within the building loft space to the north west elevation facing the
railway prior to first occupation of the accommodation hereby

Page 89



approved. Reason for condition: To ensure a satisfactory and safe
development in accordance with policies HS.1 and BE.15 of the
Adopted Merton Unitary Development Plan.

10. Non Standard condition [Noise assessment] Prior to the
commencement of the development a noise report shall be submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, to include (i)
the existing noise environment and potential sources of noise likely to
impact on the development including the railway line and Raynes Park
railway station (ii) the likely noise impact of the development on the
existing noise environment. (iii) Attenuation and noise management
methods to mitigate against the likely impact of the existing noise
environment on the development and the noise impact of the proposed
development on the existing noise environment. The approved
methods detailed in section (iii) shall be implemented in strict
accordance with the approved details prior to the first occupation of the
development and retained permanently thereafter. Reason for
condition: To safeguard the occupiers of the proposed properties and
ensure compliance with policy PE.2 of the Adopted Merton Unitary
Development Plan.

11. Non Standard condition [Electromagnetic Radiation] Prior to the
occupation of the development the applicant shall have provided
written evidence to the local planning authority that electro-magnetic
radiation emissions from the adjacent sub station do not exceed
ICNIRP (international commission on non-ionizing radiation protection)
guidance levels of 100 microteslas and 5 kilovolts per metre. Reason
for condition: To safeguard the residential amenity for the future
occupiers of the proposed residential units.

12. Non standard condition [Land contamination – site investigation] No
development shall commence until a detailed site investigation has
been completed to survey and assess the extent of potential ground
contamination on the site and from the surrounding environment
(including any controlled waters), considering historic land use data
and the proposed end use with the site investigation report (detailing all
investigative works and sampling, together with the results of analysis,
risk assessment to any receptors and proposed remediation strategy
detailing proposals for remediation), submitted to and approved by the
Local Planning Authority and the residential units hereby approved
shall not be occupied until the approved remediation
measures/treatments have been implemented in full. Reason for
condition: In order to protect the health of future occupiers of the site
and adjoining areas in accordance with policy PE.8 of the Adopted
Merton Unitary Development Plan 2003.

13. Standard condition [Land contamination – construction phase] If during
construction works further contamination is encountered which has not
previously been identified and considered the Council’s Environmental
Health Section shall be notified immediately and no further

Page 90



development shall take place until remediation proposals (detailing all
investigative works and sampling, together with the results of analysis,
risk assessment to any receptors and proposed remediation strategy
detailing proposals for remediation) have been submitted to and
approved by the Local Planning Authority and the approved
remediation measures/treatments implemented in full. Reason for
condition: In order to protect the health of future occupiers of the site
and adjoining areas in accordance with policy PE.8 of the Adopted
Merton Unitary Development Plan 2003.

14. Standard condition [Land contamination – validation] No residential unit
hereby approved shall be occupied until a validation report has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority to
demonstrate that remediation works have been carried out in
accordance with the agreed remediation strategy. The validation report
shall provide a full record of all remediation activities carried out on the
site including post remedial sampling and analysis, waste management
documentation and evidence that the agreed site remediation criteria
have been met (including waste materials removed from the site; an
audit trail demonstrating that all imported or reused soil material
conforms to current soil quality requirements as approved by the
Council) and any post remediation sampling that has been carried out.
Reason for condition: In order to protect the health of future occupiers
of the site and adjoining areas in accordance with policy PE.8 of the
Adopted Merton Unitary Development Plan 2003.

15. Standard condition [Code for Sustainable Homes Pre-Commencement
- New build residential] No development shall commence until a copy
of a letter from a person that is licensed with the Building Research
Establishment (BRE) or other equivalent assessors as a Code for
Sustainable Homes assessor that the development is registered with
BRE or other equivalent assessors under Code For Sustainable
Homes and a Design Stage Assessment Report demonstrating that the
development will achieve not less than Code for Sustainable Homes
Level 4 has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. Reason for condition: To ensure the development
achieves a high standard of sustainability and makes efficient use of
resources and to comply with policies BE.25 of the Adopted Merton
Unitary Development Plan 2003, 5.2 of the Adopted London Plan 2011
and CS 15 of the Adopted Merton Core Planning Strategy 2011.

16. Standard condition [Code for Sustainable Homes Pre-Occupation- New
build residential] Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local
Planning Authority, no part of the development hereby approved shall
be occupied until a Building Research Establishment or other
equivalent assessors Final Code Certificate confirming that it has
achieved not less than a Code 4 level for Sustainable Homes has been
submitted to, and acknowledged in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. Reason for condition: To ensure that the development
achieves a high standard of sustainability and makes efficient use of

Page 91



resources and to comply with policies BE.25 of the Adopted Merton
Unitary Development Plan 2003, 5.2 of the Adopted London Plan 2011
and CS 15 of the Adopted Merton Core Planning Strategy 2011.

17. Standard condition [Lifetime homes] The new dwelling units shall meet
Lifetime Homes Standards, and shall not be occupied until the
applicant has provided written evidence to confirm this has been
achieved based on the relevant criteria. Reason for condition: To meet
the changing needs of households and comply with policy CS8 of the
Adopted Core Strategy [July 2011].

18. Amended standard condition [Details of walls and fences] Prior to
occupation of the development hereby permitted details of all boundary
walls or fence shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.  The residential units shall not be occupied
until the walls and fences have been erected in accordance with the
approved details. The walls and fencing shall be permanently retained
thereafter. Reason for condition: To ensure a satisfactory and safe
development in accordance with policies BE.16 and BE.22 of the
Adopted Merton Unitary Development Plan.

19. Non standard condition [Car parking spaces] Prior to occupation of the
development hereby permitted the car parking spaces shown on the
approved drawing including the on site facility for charging electric
vehicles shown on layout plan [1208-22] to serve the development
shall be provided and thereafter shall be kept free from obstruction and
shall be retained for parking purposes for users of the development
and for no other purpose. Reason for condition: To ensure the
provision of an appropriate level of car parking and comply with policy
CS20 of the Adopted Merton Core Planning Strategy 2011, the Mayor
of London’s Electric Vehicle Delivery Plan and policy 6.13 of the
adopted London Plan.

20. Non standard condition [Refuse and recycling facilities] Prior to
occupation of the development hereby permitted the residential refuse
and recycling facilities shown on the submitted plans shall be provided
and retained permanently thereafter. Reason for condition: To ensure
the provision of satisfactory facilities for the storage of refuse and
recycling material and to comply with policies BE.15 and PE.11 of the
Adopted Merton Unitary Development Plan 2003.

21. Amended standard condition (Parking management strategy) The
development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until a Parking
Management Strategy has been submitted in writing for approval to the
Local Planning Authority. No works that is subject of this condition shall
be carried out until this strategy has been approved, and the
development shall not be occupied until this strategy has been
approved and the measures as approved have been implemented.
Those measures shall be maintained for the duration of the use unless
the prior written approval of the Local Planning Authority is obtained to

Page 92



any variation. Reason for condition: To ensure the provision of an
appropriate level of car parking and comply with policy CS20 of the
Adopted Merton Core Planning Strategy 2011.

22. C.1 Permitted development restrictions. Amended standard condition.
To restrict rear extensions and outbuildings.

INFORMATIVES:
a) INF2 Lifetime Homes
b) In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning

Policy Framework, The London Borough of Merton takes a positive and
proactive approach to development proposals focused on solutions.
The London Borough of Merton works with applicants or agents in a
positive and proactive manner by suggesting solutions to secure a
successful outcome; and updating applicants or agents of any issues
that may arise in the processing of their application. In this instance the
Planning Committee considered the application where the applicant or
agent had the opportunity to speak to the committee and promote the
application.

c) The development hereby approved is liable to the Community
Infrastructure Levy (CIL). The provisional chargeable amount of CIL
that would be payable (subject to any successful applications for relief,
surcharges or late payment interest charges) is £31,360. To avoid
substantial surcharges an Assumption of Liability Notice and a
Commencement Notice must be submitted to the Local Planning
Authority prior to commencement of the development hereby approved.
A Liability Transfer Notice can be submitted prior to the day the final
payment falls due should parties who will be liable to pay change.
These notices can be found on the planning portal at
www.planningportal.gov.uk. For more information regarding CIL visit
www.merton.gov.uk/CIL or email cilevy@merton.gov.uk.

d) The applicant is advised to contact the Council’s Highways team prior
to undertaking any works within the Public Highway

e) The applicant is advised that the demolition of the building on the
application site should avoid the bird nesting and bat roosting season.
This avoids disturbing birds and bats during a critical period and will
assist in preventing possible contravention of the Wildlife and
Countryside Act 1981, which seeks to protect nesting birds/bats and
their nests/roosts. Buildings should be also be inspected for bird nests
and bat roosts prior to demolition. All species of bat in Britain and their
roosts are afforded special protection under the Wildlife and
Countryside act 1981.  If bats are found, Natural England should be
contacted for advice (tel: 020 7831 6922).

Page 93



T
h
is

 m
a
p
 i
s
 b

a
s
e
d
 o

n
 O

rd
n
a
n
c
e
 S

u
rv

e
y
 m

a
te

ri
a
l 
w

it
h

th
e
 p

e
rm

is
s
io

n
 o

f 
O

rd
n
a
n
c
e
 S

u
rv

e
y
 o

n
 b

e
h
a
lf
 o

f 
H

M
S

O
.

U
n
a
u
th

o
ri
s
e
d
 r

e
p
ro

d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
fr

in
g
e
s
 C

ro
w

n
 C

o
p
y
ri
g
h
t

a
n
d
 m

a
y
 l
e
a
d
 t
o
 p

ro
s
e
c
u
ti
o
n
 o

r 
C

iv
il 

p
ro

c
e
d
in

g
s
.

L
o
n
d
o
n
 B

o
ro

u
g
h
 o

f 
M

e
rt

o
n
 1

0
0
0
1
9
2
5
9
. 
2
0
1
2
.

R
O

 4
4
-4

9
 F

ir
s
tw

a
y

S
c
a
le

 1
/1

2
5
0

D
a
te

 2
6
/1

1
/2

0
1
3

L
o
n
d
o
n
 B

o
ro

u
g
h
 o

f 
M

e
rt

o
n

1
0
0
 L

o
n
d
o
n
 R

o
a
d

M
o
rd

e
n

S
u
rr

e
y

S
M

4
 5

D
X

D
E

V
E

L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 C

O
N

T
R

O
L

Page 94



4
6

4
4

4
5

4
7

4
2

4
3

G
y

G
y

G
y

5
0
.0

2

5
0
.0

2

50.02
49.82

4
9

.7
9

49.95

50.00
50.01

50.06

50.14

50.11

49.91
49.9949.96

4
9

.8
3

49.98

4
9

.7
8

4
9

.7
7

4
9

.8
0

4
9

.7
8

4
9

.7
8

4
9

.7
7

4
9

.8
4

49.80

4
9

.7
8

4
9

.7
5

4
9

.7
5

4
9

.7
4

4
9

.7
6

4
9

.7
3

4
9

.7
4

4
9

.7
2

4
9

.7
2

49.75 49.75 49.82

4
9
.6

8

4
9
.6

6
4
9
.6

7

4
9
.6

7
4
9
.6

5
4
9
.6

6
4
9
.6

8
4
9
.7

1
4
9
.
6
5

4
9
.
6
0

4
9
.
5
4

5
0

.7
2

5
0

.5
6

5
0

.6
2

50.62

5
0

.7
5

5
0

.6
0

5
0

.4
6

5
0
.4

7

50
.4

5

50
.3

9

5
0
.6

0

50
.5

0
50

.4
4

50
.7

6

5
0
.6

2

50
.3

1

50
.2

7

50
.2

0

50
.1

1

50
.3

2
50.42

50
.4

1

50.00

4
9

.9
7 49.95

4
9

.9
4

49.97

50.05

50.00

50.00

49.95

5
0

.6
6

T
o

p
 o

f 
B

u
il

d
in

g
 L

v
l

=
 5

3
.4

9
m

S
u
b
 S

ta
ti

o
n

S
po

il
 H

ea
p

T
op

 o
f 
B

ui
ld

in
g 

L
vl

=
 5

3.
00

m

T
op

 o
f 
B

ui
ld

in
g 

L
vl

=
 5

2.
32

m

B
ar

ri
er

T
o
p
 o

f 
F

e
n
c
e
 L

v
l 

=
5
2

.9
1
m

Top
 o

f F
en

ce
 L

vl
 =

52
.1

7m

Top of Eaves Lvl =59.45m

Top of Ridge Lvl =61.88m

G
a
ra

g
e
s

G
a
ra

g
e
s

Garages

D
en

se

C
on

cr
et

e

Gravel

G
ra

ss

W
at

er
T

ap

W
at

er
T

ap

Top of Fence Lvl =51.74m

T
op

 o
f 

T
re

e 
L

vl

=
 6

2.
96

m

T
op

 o
f 

T
re

e 
L

vl

=
 6

4.
30

m

T
op

 o
f 

T
re

e 
L

vl

=
 6

7.
50

m

T
op

 o
f 

T
re

e 
L

vl

=
 6

0.
38

m

T
op

 o
f 

T
re

e 
L

vl

=
 6

0.
21

m

C
on

if
er

O
ak

O
ak

Top of Wall Lvl=52.04m

Concrete

C
on

cr
et

e

C
on

cr
et

e

M
a
x

 R
id

g
e
 L

v
l=

 5
3

.0
9

m

M
a
x

 R
id

g
e
 L

v
l=

 5
3

.0
9

m

Max Ridge Lvl= 53.09m

M
in

 R
id

g
e
 L

v
l=

 5
2

.1
2
m

M
in

 R
id

g
e
 L

v
l=

 5
2

.1
2
m

Min Ridge Lvl= 52.12m

V
eg

et
at

io
n

49.99

49.97
49.85

49.88
49.93

4
9
.8

34
9
.8

2

G
y

G
y

49.93

4
9
.
9
3

4
9
.
8
6

4
9
.9

8

5
0
.0

0

50.00

49.98

IC

IC
IC

IC

R
a
in

b
o
w

4
7
.0

le
v
e
l th
re
s
h
o
ld

s
lo
p
e
 u
p
 1
:2
0

s
lo
t d
ra
in

4
7
.0

le
v
e
l 
th

re
s
h
o
ld

s
lo

p
e
 u

p
 1

:2
0

s
lo

t 
d
ra

in
4

7
.0

le
v
e
l 
th

re
s
h
o
ld

s
lo

p
e
 u

p
 1

:2
0

s
lo

t 
d
ra

in
4

7
.0

le
v
e
l 
th

re
s
h
o
ld

s
lo

p
e
 u

p
 1

:2
0

s
lo

t 
d
ra

in
4

7
.0

le
v
e
l 
th

re
s
h
o
ld

s
lo

p
e
 u

p
 1

:2
0

s
lo

t 
d
ra

in
4

7
.0

le
v
e
l 
th

re
s
h
o
ld

s
lo

p
e
 u

p
 1

:2
0

s
lo

t 
d
ra

in
4

7
.0

le
v
e
l 
th

re
s
h
o
ld

s
lo

p
e
 u

p
 1

:2
0

s
lo

t 
d
ra

in
8975

4
5

s
q
.m

4
5

s
q
.m

4
5

s
q
.m

4
5

s
q
.m

4
5

s
q
.m

4
5

s
q
.m

4
6

s
q
.m

5
s
q
.m

5
s
q
.m

5
s
q
.m

5
s
q
.m

5
s
q
.m

5
s
q
.m

5
s
q
.m

ri
g
h
t 

o
f 

a
c
c
e
s
s

re
fu

s
e
 b

in

a
s
s
e
m

b
ly

 p
o
in

t

fo
r 

c
o
lle

c
ti

o
n

d
a
y
 o

n
ly

ri
g
h
t 

o
f  

a
c
c
e
s
s

ri
g
h
t 

o
f 

a
c
c
e
s
s

3
6

0
0

0

A
C

C
E

S
S

T
O

 
F

IR
S

T
W

A
Y

R
A

IN
B

O
W

 E
S

T
A

T
E

 R
O

A
D

R
A

IL
W

A
Y

 E
M

B
A

N
K

M
E

N
T

c
o
n
tr

o
lle

d
 c

a
r 

p
a
rk

in
g
 

fo
r 

re
s
id

e
n
ts

 o
n
ly

F
ir
e
 b

ri
g
a
d
e
 a

c
c
e
s
s

2000

A
E

1
1
1
0
3
5

 -
 F

ir
s
tw

a
y
, 

L
o
n
d
o
n
, 

S
W

2
0
 0

J
D

S
C

A
L
E

 1
:2

0
0

d
rw

g
 n

o
. 

1
2

0
8

-0
4

v
e

rs
io

n

©
 C

h
a
s
s
a
y
 S

tu
d
io

 L
td

 2
0
1

3

S
IT

E
 L

A
Y

O
U

T
 A

S
 P

R
O

P
O

S
E

D
re

v
. 
B

Page 95



3
0
.0B

E
D

R
O

O
M

 3

 1
3

 s
q
.m

B
E
D

R
O

O
M

 4

 1
1

 s
q
.m

'A
m

e
ri
c
a
n
' s

h
u
tt

e
rs

s
h
o
w

n
 p

a
rt

ly
 o

p
e

n

4
5
.0

B
E
D

R
O

O
M

 1

 1
5

 s
q
.m

B
E
D

R
O

O
M

 2

 1
3

 s
q
.m

g
la

s
s
  
c
a
n
o
p
y
  
b
e

lo
w

fr
o
s
te

d
 g

la
s
s

'A
m

e
ri
c
a
n
' s

h
u
tt

e
rs

s
h
o
w

n
 p

a
rt

ly
 o

p
e

n

4
7
.0

0
1

2
3

4
5
 M

G
R

O
U

N
D

 F
L
O

O
R

F
IR

S
T

 F
L
O

O
R

S
E

C
O

N
D

 F
L
O

O
R

N
IA

 1
2

2
 s

q
.m

A
E

1
1
1
0
3
5

 -
 F

ir
s
tw

a
y
, 

L
o
n
d
o
n
, 

S
W

2
0
 0

J
D

s
c
a
le

 1
:5

0
d
rw

g
 n

o
. 

1
2

0
8

-0
6

v
e

rs
io

n

©
 C

h
a
s
s
a
y
 S

tu
d
io

 L
td

 2
0
1

3

T
Y

P
IC

A
L
 H

O
U

S
E

 P
L
A

N
S

re
v
. 
A

Page 96



A
E

1
1
1
0
3
5

 -
 F

ir
s
tw

a
y
, 

L
o
n
d
o
n
, 

S
W

2
0
 0

J
D

s
c
a
le

 1
:5

0
d
rw

g
 n

o
. 

1
2

0
8

-1
0

v
e

rs
io

n

©
 C

h
a
s
s
a
y
 S

tu
d
io

 L
td

 2
0
1

3

F
R

O
N

T
 E

L
E

V
A

T
IO

N

0
1

2
3

4
5

 M

fr
o
s
te

d
 g

la
s
s

'A
m

e
ri
c
a
n
' s

h
u
tt

e
rs

in
s
id

e
 w

in
d
o
w

s

re
v
. 
A

Page 97



A
E

1
1
1
0
3
5

 -
 F

ir
s
tw

a
y
, 

L
o
n
d
o
n
, 

S
W

2
0
 0

J
D

s
c
a
le

 1
:5

0
d
rw

g
 n

o
. 

1
2

0
8

-1
1

v
e

rs
io

n

©
 C

h
a
s
s
a
y
 S

tu
d
io

 L
td

 2
0
1

3

R
E

A
R

 E
L
E

V
A

T
IO

N

0
1

2
3

4
5
 M

re
v
. 
A

Page 98



S
IT

E
R

A
IL

W
A

Y
 

4
7

 F
IR

S
T

W
A

Y

0
1

0
2

0
 M

E
M

B
A

N
K

M
E

N
T

F
IR

S
T

W
A

Y

2
5
˚

2000 S
C

A
L
E

 1
:2

0
0

N
O

R
T

H
-S

O
U

T
H

 S
E

C
T

IO
N

 T
H

R
O

U
G

H
 S

IT
E

A
E

1
1
1
0
3
5

 -
 F

ir
s
tw

a
y
, 

L
o
n
d
o
n
, 

S
W

2
0
 0

J
D

d
rw

g
 n

o
. 

1
2

0
8

-2
0

v
e

rs
io

n

©
 C

h
a
s
s
a
y
 S

tu
d
io

 L
td

 2
0
1

3

re
v
. 
A

Page 99



0
1

2
3

4
5

 M

 2650 2650

4
9

.8
0

4
9

.9
0

5
2

.9
0

5
5

.9
0

4
9

.8
0

 800

 800

 2350

A
E

1
1
1
0
3
5

 -
 F

ir
s
tw

a
y
, 

L
o
n
d
o
n
, 

S
W

2
0
 0

J
D

s
c
a
le

 1
:5

0
d
rw

g
 n

o
. 

1
2

0
8

-1
4

v
e

rs
io

n

©
 C

h
a
s
s
a
y
 S

tu
d
io

 L
td

 2
0
1

3

S
E

C
T

IO
N

 B
-B

re
v
. 
A

Page 100



A
E

1
1
1
0
3
5

 -
 F

ir
s
tw

a
y
, 

L
o
n
d
o
n
, 

S
W

2
0
 0

J
D

N
O

T
 T

O
 S

C
A

L
E

v
e

rs
io

n

©
 C

h
a
s
s
a
y
 S

tu
d
io

 L
td

 2
0
1

3

B
O

U
N

D
A

R
Y

 D
E

T
A

IL
S

d
rw

g
 n

o
. 

1
2

0
8

-3
6

F
e

n
c
e
 t

o
 t

h
e

 r
a
ilw

a
y
 e

m
b
a
n
k
m

e
n
t 
m

u
s
t 
c
o
m

p
ly

 w
it
h
 N

e
tw

o
rk

 R
a
il

re
q
u
ir
e

m
e

n
ts

. 
 B

e
ta

fe
n
c
e
 N

y
lo

fo
r 

w
e

ld
e

d
 m

e
s
h
 f
e

n
c
e
 s

y
s
te

m
 (

le
ft
) 

is
 a

p
p
ro

v
e

d
 a

n
d
 p

ro
v
id

e
s
 s

e
c
u
ri
ty

 t
o

 t
h
e
 r

a
ilw

a
y
 w

h
ils

t 
h
a
v
in

g
 a

 
v
e

ry
 n

e
a
t 

a
p
p
e

a
ra

n
c
e
, 
a
n
d

 a
n
 o

p
e

n
 p

a
tt

e
rn

 w
h
ic

h
 g

iv
e

s 
a
 f
e

e
lin

g
 o

f 
o
p
e

n
n
e

s
s
 t

o
 t

h
e
 l
a
rg

e
, 

g
e

n
tl
y
 s

lo
p
in

g
 e

m
b
a
n
k
m

e
n
t.

A
 r

o
b
u
s
t,
 t

im
b
e

r 
b
o
a
rd

e
d
 f
e

n
c
e
 w

ill
 b

e
 p

ro
v
id

e
d
 b

e
tw

e
e

n
 t

h
e
 p

ri
v
a
te

 
p
a
th

w
a
y
 a

n
d
 t

h
e
 r

o
a
d
 t

o
 t

h
e
 R

a
in

b
o
w

 E
s
ta

te
. 

 I
f 
fu

tu
re

 
d
e

v
e

lo
p
m

e
n
ts

 p
e

rm
it
 a

c
c
e

s
s
 a

c
ro

s
s 

th
is

 r
o
a
d
, 

a
s
 M

e
rt

o
n
 P

la
n
n
in

g
 

in
te

n
d
, 

th
e

n
 t

h
is

 c
a
n
 c

o
n
v
e

rt
e

d
 t

o
 b

e
 a

 s
e

c
u
re

 e
x
it
 t

o
w

a
rd

s
 R

a
y
n
e

s
 

P
a
rk

 s
ta

ti
o
n
. 

 A
b
o
v
e
 i
s
 s

h
o
w

n
 p

a
n
e

l 
fe

n
c
in

g
 b

y
 J

a
c
k
s
o
n
s
 F

e
n
c
in

g
.

C
L
O

S
E

 B
O

A
R

D
E

D
 F

E
N

C
E

 T
O

 R
A

IN
B

O
W

 E
S

T
A

T
E

B
E

T
A

F
E

N
C

E
 N

Y
L
O

F
O

R
 W

E
L
D

E
D

 M
E

S
H

 F
E

N
C

IN
G

A
U

R
O

R
A

 L
E

D
 L

IG
H

T
IN

G
 P

O
S

T

A
u
ro

ra
 L

E
D

 P
o
s
t 
L
ig

h
t 
is

 a
 h

ig
h
ly

 e
ff
ic

ie
n
t 

s
o
lu

ti
o
n

 t
o
 o

u
td

o
o
r 

p
a
th

w
a
y
 l
ig

h
ti
n
g
.

D
im

e
n
s
io

n
s
: 

8
0
m

m
 x

 2
5
m

m
 x

 6
0
0
m

m
P

o
w

e
r:

 3
W

L
a
m

p
: 
3

 x
 H

ig
h
 P

o
w

e
r 

L
E

D
L
a
m

p
 C

o
lo

u
r:

 4
0
0
0
K

 W
h
it
e

IP
5
4
 R

a
te

d
D

o
w

n
w

a
rd

 l
ig

h
t 
p
ro

je
c
ti
o
n

M
in

im
a
l  
lig

h
t 
p
o
llu

ti
o
n

In
te

g
ra

l 
L
E

D
 D

ri
v
e

r
A

n
o
d
is

e
d
 c

o
rr

o
s
io

n
 r

e
s
is

ta
n
t 
fi
n
is

h

6
0
0

Page 101



G
y

49.82

4
9
.7

9

49.95
49.91

49.9949.96

4
9
.8

3
4

9
.7

8
4

9
.7

7

4
9
.7

4
4

9
.7

2
4

9
.7

2

49.75 49.75 49.82

49
.6

8

49
.6

6
49

.6
7

4
9
.
5
4

G
ar

ag
es

G
ar

ag
es

Gravel

W
at

er
T

ap

Top of Fence Lvl =51.74m

T
op

 o
f 
T

re
e 

L
vl

=
 6

0.
38

m

T
op

 o
f 
T

re
e 

L
vl

C
on

if
er

O
ak

Concrete

49.97
49.85

49.88
49.93

49
.8

349
.8

2
IC

IC

lw
b
lw
b

9600

6
0

0
0

ri
g
h
t 

o
f 

a
c
c
e
s
s 

to
 

n
e
ig

h
b
o
u
r'

s 
g
a
rd

e
n

6
5

3
0

67954800

ABCD

E
F

G
H

v
is

it
o
r

9
6

0
0

2
2

5
0

T
U

R
N

IN
G

 F
O

R
 4

.6
 t

o
n
 V

A
N

F
o
rd

 T
ra

n
s
it  

o
r 

M
e

rc
e

d
e

s
 S

p
ri
n
te

r

ri
g
h
t 

o
f 

a
c
c
e
s
s 

to
 

n
e
ig

h
b
o
u
r'

s 
d
ri
v
e
w

a
y

te
le

s
c
o
p
ic

 b
o
lla

rd
s
 t

o
 s

e
c
u
re

 s
p
a
c
e

s

telescopic bollards to secure spaces

fixed bollards to protect building 

fo
o
tp

a
th

 t
o
 h

o
u
s
e

s
 

a
n
d
 t

o
 R

a
y
n
e

s
 

P
a
rk

 S
ta

ti
o
n

drop kerb for level access to footpath

ra
ilw

a
y
 e

m
b
a
n
k
m

e
n
t

new private garden

w
ild

fl
o
w

e
r 

p
la

n
ti
n
g
 s

tr
ip

o
v
e

r-
ru

n
 z

o
n
e
 e

x
te

n
d
s
 p

la
n
ti
n
g
 s

tr
ip

wildflower planting strip

over-run zone extends planting strip

 neighbour's garden

new houses

4
1

0
0

4
8

0
0

7
0

0

4100

4800

700

e
le

c
tr

ic
 c

a
r 

c
h
a
rg

in
g
 p

o
s
t

p
e
d
e
st

ri
a
n
 p

a
th

 

m
a
rk

e
d
 o

u
t 

in
 

c
o
n
tr

a
st

in
g
 p

a
v
in

g

lig
h
ts

 a
s 

d
ra

w
in

g
2

1
0

8
-3

6

A
E

1
1
1
0
3
5

 -
 F

ir
s
tw

a
y
, 

L
o
n
d
o
n
, 

S
W

2
0
 0

J
D

n
o
t 

to
 s

c
a
le

d
rw

g
 n

o
. 

1
2

0
8

-2
2

v
e

rs
io

n

©
 C

h
a
s
s
a
y
 S

tu
d
io

 L
td

 2
0
1

3

P
A

R
K

IN
G

 D
E

T
A

IL
S

ro
a
d
w

a
y

re
tr

a
c
ta

le
 b

o
lla

rd
g
ra

v
e

l 
p
a
rk

in
g
 b

a
y

p
la

n
te

d
 o

v
e

r-
ru

n
 

&
 f
ix

e
d
 b

o
lla

rd

1
0
0
0

1
. 
 P

L
A

N
 O

F
 C

A
R

 P
A

R
K

 A
R

E
A

2
. 
 V

A
N

D
E

L
P

R
O

O
F

 E
V

 C
H

A
R

G
IN

G
 B

O
L
L
A

R
D

w
it
h
 l
o
c
k
a
b
le

 d
o
o
r 

c
lo

s
e

d
 d

u
ri
n
g
 c

h
a
rg

in
g
 -

 
E

V
 S

tr
e

e
ts

e
rv

 b
y
 R

o
le

c
  

w
w

w
.r

o
le

c
s
e

rv
.c

o
m

3
. 
 S

E
C

T
IO

N
 T

H
R

O
U

G
H

 T
Y

P
IC

A
L
 P

A
R

K
IN

G
 S

P
A

C
E

4
. 
 T

Y
P

IC
A

L
 P

L
A

N
T

E
D

 O
V

E
R

-R
U

N
5

. 
 D

E
T

A
IL

 O
F

 P
L
A

N
T

E
D

 O
V

E
R

-R
U

N

6
. R

O
A

D
W

A
Y

p
a

v
e

d
 w

it
h

 M
a

rs
h

a
ll 

T
e

g
u

la
 P

e
n

n
a

n
t 

G
re

y:
 r

u
m

b
le

d
 f

in
is

h
 p

e
rm

e
a

b
le

 p
a

v
in

g

7
. P

A
R

K
IN

G
 S

P
A

C
E

S 

m
a

rk
e

d
 o

u
t 

w
it

h
 b

ri
ck

 k
e

rb
s 

a
n

d
 f

ill
e

d
 

w
it

h
 h

o
g

g
in

 g
ra

v
e

l

8
. 
 B

o
lla

rd
s 

to
 b

e
 1

4
0
m

m
 d

ia
. 

s
ta

in
le

s
s
 

s
te

e
l,
 f
u
lly

 r
e

tr
a
c
ti
a
b
le

 i
n
to

 g
ro

u
n
d

 w
it
h
 g

a
s
 

s
tr

u
t 

lif
t 
a
s
s
is

t 
- 

R
e

tr
a
ta

p
o
s
t 
G

L
 b

y
 A

u
to

p
a
. 
 

F
ix

e
d
 b

o
lla

rd
s
 t

o
 m

a
tc

h
.

 900 

re
v
. 
A

Page 102



A
E

1
1
1
0
3
5

 -
 F

ir
s
tw

a
y
, 

L
o
n
d
o
n
, 

S
W

2
0
 0

J
D

s
c
a
le

 1
:5

0
d
rw

g
 n

o
. 

1
2

0
8

-3
5

v
e

rs
io

n

©
 C

h
a
s
s
a
y
 S

tu
d
io

 L
td

 2
0
1

3

P
R

IV
A

C
Y

 F
R

O
M

 P
A

T
H

1
.2

m

P
a
th

 s
e

rv
e

s 
th

e
 7

 n
e

w
 h

o
u
s
e

s
 o

n
ly

,
v
is

ib
le

 n
e

ig
h
b
o
u
rs

 f
o
s
te

rs
 a

 s
e

n
s
e

 o
f 
c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
.

P
e

rm
a
n
e

n
t 
'A

m
e

ri
c
a
n
' b

lin
d
s 

in
s
id

e
 a

llo
w

 
re

s
id

e
n
ts

 t
o
 c

o
n
tr

o
l p

ri
v
a
c
y

P
a
th

 w
id

e
n
e

d
 t

o
 2

m
 -

 a
s
 b

ig
 a

s
 a

 p
a
v
e

m
e

n
t 
o
n
 

a
 p

u
b
lic

 h
ig

h
w

a
y,

 p
e

d
e

s
tr

ia
n
s
 c

a
n

 w
a
lk

 f
u
rt

h
e

r 
fr

o
m

 t
h
e
 p

ro
p
e

rt
y
 b

o
u
n
d
a
ry

.

2
.0

m

P
ri
v
a
te

 f
ro

n
t 
a
re

a
 i
s
 c

le
a
rl
y
 d

e
fi
n
e

d
 b

y
 p

a
v
in

g
p
e

rg
o
la

 a
n
d

 p
ro

je
c
ti
n
g
 s

to
re

 c
u
p
b
o
a
rd

s 
&

 g
la

s
s 

ro
o
f,
 w

h
ic

h
 p

ro
v
id

e
s
 a

 b
u
ff
e

r 
s
p
a
c
e
 o

f 
1

.2
m

N
a
tu

ra
l s

u
rv

e
ill

a
n
c
e
 f
ro

m
 l
iv

in
g
-r

o
o
m

 w
in

d
o
w

s
 

is
 a

n
 i
m

p
o
rt

a
n
t 
a
s
p
e

c
t 
o
f 
s
e

c
u
ri
ty

.

re
v
. 
A

Page 103



P
ro

p
o
s
e

d
 n

e
w

 h
o
m

e
s

w
in

d
o
w

s
 o

f 
'S

ta
ti
o
n
 

H
o
u
s
e

'   
re

c
e

n
tl
y
 g

iv
e

n
 

p
e

rm
is

s
io

n
 f
o
r 

c
o
n
v
e

rs
io

n
 

to
 f
la

ts

N
e

a
re

s
t 
w

in
d
o
w

 o
v
e

r 
2

0
m

 f
ro

m
 p

la
tf
o
rm

.
P

e
rm

a
n
e

n
t 
'A

m
e

ri
c
a
n
' 

s
h
u
tt

e
rs

 f
it
te

d
 i
n
s
id

e
 -

 s
e

e
 

d
ra

w
in

g
 1

2
0
8

-3
7
 

R
a
y
n
e

s
 P

a
rk

 S
ta

ti
o
n
 

p
la

tf
o
rm

 4
 -

 l
o
c
a
l 

s
to

p
p
in

g
 t

ra
in

s
 o

n
ly

2
0
m

0
5
 M

E
x
is

ti
n
g
 n

a
tu

ra
l 
s
c
re

e
n
in

g
o
f 
tr

e
e

s
 &

 b
u
s
h
e

s

S
C

A
L
E

 1
:1

0
0

P
R

IV
A

C
Y

 F
R

O
M

 R
A

IL
W

A
Y

A
E

1
1
1
0
3
5

 -
 F

ir
s
tw

a
y
, 

L
o
n
d
o
n
, 

S
W

2
0
 0

J
D

d
rw

g
 n

o
. 

1
2

0
8

-3
4

v
e

rs
io

n

©
 C

h
a
s
s
a
y
 S

tu
d
io

 L
td

 2
0
1

3

L
e

ft
: 
 C

o
m

p
o
s
it
e
 p

h
o
to

g
ra

p
h
 t

a
k
e

n
 f
ro

m
 R

a
y
n
e

s
 P

a
rk

S
ta

ti
o
n
 p

la
tf
o
rm

, 
s
h
o
w

in
g
 n

a
tu

ra
l 
s
c
re

e
n
in

g
 o

f 
tr

e
e

s
 &

 b
u
s
h
e

s
.

B
e

lo
w

: 
 D

e
ta

ile
d

 s
e

c
ti
o
n
 t

h
ro

u
g
h

 r
a
ilw

a
y
 p

la
tf
o
rm

 o
n
 

e
m

b
a
n
k
e

m
e

n
t 
a
n
d

 p
ro

p
o
s
e

d
 n

e
w

 h
o
m

e
s
 b

e
lo

w
.

re
v
. 
A

Page 104



A
E

1
1
1
0
3
5

 -
 F

ir
s
tw

a
y
, 

L
o
n
d
o
n
, 

S
W

2
0
 0

J
D

n
o
t 

to
 s

c
a
le

d
rw

g
 n

o
. 

1
2

0
8

-1
5

v
e

rs
io

n

©
 C

h
a
s
s
a
y
 S

tu
d
io

 L
td

 2
0
1

3

A
R

T
IS

T
'S

 I
M

P
R

E
S

S
IO

N
 V

IE
W

 1
re

v
. 
A

Page 105



A
E

1
1
1
0
3
5

 -
 F

ir
s
tw

a
y
, 

L
o
n
d
o
n
, 

S
W

2
0
 0

J
D

n
o
t 

to
 s

c
a
le

d
rw

g
 n

o
. 

1
2

0
8

-1
6

v
e

rs
io

n

©
 C

h
a
s
s
a
y
 S

tu
d
io

 L
td

 2
0
1

3

A
R

T
IS

T
'S

 I
M

P
R

E
S

S
IO

N
 V

IE
W

 2
re

v
. 
A

N
O

T
E

 :
 c

lo
s
e

 b
o
a
rd

e
d
 f
e

n
c
e
 o

m
it
te

d
 t

o
 s

h
o
w

 b
u
ild

in
g
 b

e
h
in

d

Page 106



A
E

1
1
1
0
3
5

 -
 F

ir
s
tw

a
y
, 

L
o
n
d
o
n
, 

S
W

2
0
 0

J
D

P
E

R
S

P
E

C
T

IV
E

v
e

rs
io

n

©
 C

h
a
s
s
a
y
 S

tu
d
io

 L
td

 2
0
1

3

W
IN

D
O

W
 S

H
U

T
T

E
R

 D
E

T
A

IL
S

d
rw

g
 n

o
. 

1
2

0
8

-3
7

'A
m

e
ri
c
a
n
' s

h
u
tt

e
r 

to
 b

e
 f
it
te

d
 i
n
s
id

e
 a

ll 
w

in
d
o
w

s 
fa

c
in

g
 r

a
ilw

a
y
 &

 a
c
c
e

s
s
 p

a
th

.

S
h
u
tt

e
rs

 a
re

 r
o
b
u
s
t 
h
a
rd

w
o
o
d
 f
ix

tu
re

s
 

d
e

s
ig

n
e

d
 t

o
 l
a
s
t 
th

e
 l
if
e

ti
m

e
 o

f 
th

e
 h

o
u
s
e
. 
 

E
a
c
h
 s

h
u
tt

e
r 

h
a
s
 a

d
ju

s
ta

b
le

 h
a
rd

w
o
o
d
 l
o
u
v
re

s
 

a
n
d
 e

a
c
h
 p

a
rt

 i
s
 h

in
g
e

d
 f
o
r 

o
p
e

n
in

g
.

S
h
u
tt

e
rs

 s
p
lit

 a
t 
e

y
e

 l
e

v
e

l,
 s

o
 t

h
e
 u

p
p
e

r 
p
a
rt

 
c
a
n
 b

e
 o

p
e

n
e

d
 w

h
ile

 t
h
e
 l
o
w

e
r 

k
e

p
t 
c
lo

s
e

d

L
o
u
v
re

 b
la

d
e

s
 o

f 
s
h
u
tt

e
rs

 a
re

 a
d
ju

s
ta

b
le

 t
o
 

a
llo

w
 l
ig

h
t 
le

v
e

ls
 t

o
 b

e
 a

d
ju

s
te

d
, 

a
n
d
 t

o
 v

a
ry

 
th

e
 d

e
g
re

e
 o

f 
p
ri
v
a
c
y
,.

L
o
u
v
re

s 
a
re

 s
p
e

c
ia

lly
 e

ff
e

c
ti
v
e
 i
n

 p
re

v
e

n
ti
n
g
 

o
v
e

rl
o
o
k
in

g
 f
ro

m
 a

 h
ig

h
e

r 
le

v
e

l

v
ie

w
s
 s

to
p
p
e

d

d
a
y
lig

h
t  
e

n
te

rs

P
L
A

N
 S

H
O

W
IN

G
 W

IN
D

O
W

 W
IT

H
 S

H
U

T
T

E
R

S
 P

A
R

T
L
Y

 O
P

E
N

Page 107



Page 108

This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE
12 DECEMBER 2013

Item No:

UPRN APPLICATION NO. DATE VALID

13/P2197 11/07/13

Address/Site 1A Leopold Terrace, Wimbledon, SW19 7EY

(Ward) Wimbledon Park

Proposal: Proposed retention and alterations to existing unauthorised 4
storey block of 4x 2/3 bed flats to create 3 (2 x 2 bedroom and 1
x 3 bedroom) flats with associated parking and landscaping.

Drawing Nos. 0242_e001 C, 0242_e001 D, 0242_p001 A, 0242_p002 C,
0242_p003 E, 0242_p004 A, 0242_p005 F, and Design and
Access Statement.

Contact Officer: Sabah Halli (8545 3297)
___________________________________________________________________

RECOMMENDATION

Permission be GRANTED subject to a S106 legal agreement and conditions
___________________________________________________________________

CHECKLIST INFORMATION

Heads of Agreement: Financial contribution towards affordable housing and
education provision within the borough, amenity space, and the development
being ‘permit free’.
Is a screening opinion required: No
Is an Environmental Statement required: No
Has an Environmental Statement been submitted: No
Press notice: Yes
Site notice: Yes
Design Review Panel consulted: No
Number of neighbours consulted: 25
External consultations: No
Controlled Parking Zone: Yes (P2(s))

1. INTRODUCTION

This application is being brought to the Planning Applications Committee for
determination due to the requirement for a Section 106 agreement in respect
of the above heads of terms, the number of objections received and the
complex history of the site.

Agenda Item 8

Page 109



2. SITE AND SURROUNDINGS

2.1 The application site comprises a broadly triangular piece of land attached to 1
Leopold Terrace, which is itself an end of terrace property situated on the
south west side of Dora Road, a well-established residential road.  Leopold
Terrace is a three storey modern block of flats and previously on the
application site there was a two storey dwellinghouse which has since been
demolished.  To the rear of the site are the rear gardens of residential
properties at Vineyard Hill Road.

2.2 The application site is not within a Conservation Area; however it adjoins the
Vineyard Hill Conservation Area.  It is also located within a Controlled Parking
Zone.

2.3 There is a Tree Preservation Order on the site (ref is (621) 2012).

3. CURRENT PROPOSAL

3.1 The previous complex history of the site requires explanation to provide a
context for the current application. This is set out below ;

• The site was previously occupied by a narrow four-storey house added
to the end of Leopold Terrace in the 1970’s. Two separate planning
applications were then granted in 2005 and 2006 (Refs 05/P1506 and
06/P2390 for a four storey side extension and conversion into four
flats.

• In 2007, the house was completely demolished . Shortly before the
2006 application lapsed in 2009, the site owners attempted to submit
details required by conditions attached to the 2006 permission. They
were advised that the 2006 permission to extend and convert could not
be implemented as the house had been demolished, and a fresh
application would be required.

• An application was submitted in January 2010 (10/P0106) for a new
building of the same general size, height and design as the previous
approval for extension and conversion of the previously existing
house. The site owners started construction before that application
had been determined.

• The application, recommended for approval, was deferred from June
2010 PAC because it emerged that a small triangle of land included in
the application site was part of a neighbour’s garden. When a
corrected plan was received and re-consulted on, there was an
increased level of objection to the development which the then
applicants had continued to construct without the benefit of planning
permission. A Temporary Stop Notice was served in August 2010,
planning permission was eventually refused in June 2011 and an
Enforcement  Notice was issued in August 2011 requiring the
unauthorised building to be demolished, which the then applicants
appealed.  This appeal was dismissed, with the Inspector concluding
that the existing building was not acceptable in terms of its scale,

Page 110



height, siting, materials and forward projection beyond Leopold
Terrace on the Dora Road frontage the resultant impact of this on the
streetscene. The Inspector also concluded that these issues could
potentially be resolved through alterations to the building and that the
applicants would be given 6 months from the date of the decision
notice (22nd February 2012) to submit, and have considered by the
Council, an application with proposed amendments to overcome these
issues. The Inspector’s appeal decision notice is appended.

• Following the enforcement appeal decision, an application was
submitted (12/P1730) as suggested by the Inspector. However, only
very minor alterations to the existing building were proposed which
were not considered to have addressed the Inspector’s concerns.
Consequently, the application was refused.

3.2 The site was then purchased by new owners (the current applicants) who
sought to work with the Council to develop a scheme to retain the existing
building with significant enough alterations to the structure to address the
Planning Inspector’s and the Council’s concerns. The current application is
the result of pre-application discussions with the Council to achieve this end.

3.3 The Inspector considered the main appeal issues to be (a) the impact on the
street scene, (b) impact on living conditions of 1 Leopold Road, and (c)
whether the deficit in private outdoor amenity space could be adequately
compensated by a financial contribution for the improvement of public open
space elsewhere . He concluded that although the application was acceptable
in relation to (b) and (c) subject to suitable conditions to overcome privacy
concerns, the impact on the street scene was unacceptable. He highlighted
the following as being the main areas of concern in this regard:

• The amount by which the building projects forward of the building line
of Leopold Terrace, resulting in a bulky and obtrusive appearance,
reinforced by the height and angular flat roof design.

• The excessive use of white render , at odds with the brickwork or mix
of brickwork and render on adjoining properties

3.4 The current application proposes the following alterations to the existing
building:

• Reduction in the number of flats from 4 to 3

• Significant pulling back of the front building line at all levels

• Pulling back of rear building line at 3rd floor level

• Minor reduction in maximum height

• Significant reduction in footprint of fourth floor

• Change in materials to make brick work the dominant material

• Internal reconfiguration

• Creation of small roof terrace for upper duplex unit

• Addition of a single storey side entrance to the block

Page 111



3.5 The pulling back of the front building line of the property and the reduction in
the fourth floor footprint would result in 2 x 2-bed flats and 1x 3-bed flat
instead of 4x 2/3 bed flats.

3.6 In terms of car parking, each unit would be provided with one off-street car
parking space. It is also proposed to provide a separate cycle store to the
front of the site adjacent to the parking area.

3.7 It is proposed to provide a separate bin store to the front of the site adjacent
to the parking area.

3.8 Additional soft landscaping is also proposed.

4. PLANNING HISTORY

13/P0345/NEW - PRE APPLICATION ADVICE FOR MODIFICATION AND
ALTERATIONS TO EXISTING BUILDING FOR RESIDENTIAL USE

12/P1730 - ALTERATIONS TO EXISTING BUILDING TO CREATE 4 X 2
BEDROOM FLATS WITH ASSOCIATED PARKING AND LANDSCAPING –
Refused, on the following grounds:

1. The proposed amendments to the development do not overcome the
issues raised by the Inspector in their Enforcement appeal decision noticed
dated 22nd February 2012, in respect of refused application 10/P0106, by
virtue of the bulk, scale, height, materials, enlarged front balconies, retention
of the internal lift, and siting of the building still significantly forward of the front
building line of the adjoining Leopold Terrace and which would still result in an
excessively large and overbearing development to the detriment to the visual
amenities of the street scene and contrary to policies BE.15, BE.16, and
BE.22 of the London Borough of Merton UDP - October 2003, policy CS 14 of
the London Borough of Merton Core Strategy - July 2011, the Council’s New
Residential Development - SPG, policy 3.5 of the London Plan (2011), and
the National Planning Policy Framework (2012).

2. The proposed vehicular access to the proposed off-street parking spaces
would cross two proposed new parking bays to be laid outside of the site,
along Dora Road, and as such the proposed off-street parking would not be
implementable or useable and would result in an undue burden on adjoining
controlled parking zones. As the development is contrary to policy CS 20 of
London Borough of Merton Core Strategy - July 2011.

3. The proposed works would result in the loss of two Lime trees to the front
of the site which are subject to a Tree Preservation Order (reference (621)
2012) and are of significant amenity value, and as such the development is
contrary to policy CS 13 of the London Borough of Merton Core Strategy -
July 2011.

10/P0106 - ERECTION OF A FOUR STOREY BUILDING CONTAINING
FOUR 2/3 BEDROOM FLATS – Refused, on the following grounds;

Page 112



1. The proposed development, by virtue of its bulk, scale, height, plot coverage,
and siting significantly forward of the front building line of the adjoining
Leopold Terrace, would result in an excessively large and overbearing
development to the detriment to the visual amenities of the street scene and
would fail to preserve or enhance the character and appearance of the
adjoining conservation area. As such the proposed development is contrary to
policies BE.3, BE.16, and BE.22 of the London Borough of Merton UDP -
October 2003, and the Council’s New Residential Development - SPG.

2. The proposed development would provide a substandard form of
accommodation, by failing to provide adequate outside amenity space for the
proposed 2/3 bedroom flats. The development would therefore be contrary to
Policy HS.1 of the Adopted Merton Unitary Development Plan (October 2003)
and to the Council’s Supplementary Planning Guidance for New Residential
Development. INFORMATIVE: Please note that the Council is aware that
works have begun on site which do not have the benefit of planning
permission and the matter has been passed onto the Council’s Enforcement
section.

3. The proposed development, by virtue of its bulk ,scale, height, and siting
significantly forward of the front building line of the adjoining Leopold Terrace,
would result in an excessively large and overbearing development to the
detriment of the visual amenities and privacy of the adjoining and surrounding
properties, particularly 1 Leopold Terrace. As such, the proposed
development would be contrary to policy HS.1 and BE.15 of the London
Borough of Merton UDP - October 2003, and the Council’s New Residential
Development - SPG.

The following informative was also added:

INFORMATIVE: Please note that the Council is aware that works have begun
on site which do not have the benefit of planning permission and the matter
has been passed onto the Council’s Enforcement section. Appeal against
Enforcement action was dismissed (see Inspector’s appeal decision notice).

An appeal against Enforcement action requiring the applicants to demolish the
unauthorised building was varied by substituting six months in place of three
months as the time for compliance. Subject to this variation the appeal was
dismissed and the enforcement notice upheld (See Inspector’s appeal
decision notice appended).

06/P2390 - ERECTION OF FOUR STOREY SIDE EXTENSION TO
EXISTING DWELLING AND CONVERSION OF PROPERTY INTO 4-SELF
CONTAINED FLATS (Amendment to planning approval 05/P1506) -
Approved

05/P1506 - ERECTION OF FOUR STOREY SIDE EXTENSION TO
EXISTING DWELLING AND CONVERSION OF PROPERTY INTO 4 SELF
CONTAINED 2 BEDROOM FLATS - Approved

Page 113



05/P0414 - ERECTION OF FOUR STOREY SIDE EXTENSION TO
EXISTING DWELLING AND CONVERSION OF PROPERTY INTO 4-SELF
CONTAINED FLATS - Withdrawn by Applicant on design grounds.

5. CONSULTATION

The application was advertised by a site notice, press notice, and individual
letters to occupiers of properties adjoining the site and in neighbouring roads.
12 objections have been received, and on the following grounds:

• This scheme does not address the key elements on which the previous
scheme was refused

• The scale and building lines are not acceptable

• The rear building line needs to be reduced to be more in line with the
adjoining terrace

• The adjoining property is enclosed because of the rearward projection
of the building

• The height should be reduced further

• Trees to the rear of the site need protecting from building works

• Overlooking to the rear of the development

• The building still dominates the adjoining terrace in terms of its height
and scale

• The roof terrace will lead to a loss of privacy for surrounding buildings

• The amount of glazing for the top floor unit is excessive

• The development is too dense for the plot site

• The configuration of the vehicular access would result in safety issues
along Dora Road

• Only 3 parking spaces will be provided which will result in increase
parking along Dora Road

Wimbledon Society – This application proposes modifications to an existing
structure which was the subject of an Enforcement Notice upheld by an
Inspector in February 2012 . A previous application to modify the building

Page 114



(12/P1730) was rejected on the ground that the proposed amendments did
not overcome the issues raised by the Inspector.
The main issues raised in the Inspector’s Report were:

- projection forward of the building line
- undue bulk, reinforced by excessive height and the angular flat roof
- adverse visual effect on the street scene.
- poor relationship to its surroundings in terms of scale, design, and materials
(particularly the excessive use of white render),

The decision notice on 11/P1730 rejected that application on the same
grounds, plus the fact that the works would result in the loss of two Lime trees
subject to TPO’s.

The present application attempts to meet the Inspector’s points by omitting
the lift structure, by partial setting back the front elevation, and by the use of
materials on the front elevation more in keeping with neighbouring buildings. It
also appears to allow for the preservation of the two Lime trees on the Dora
Road frontage.

However the major requirements set out in the Society’s objection to
11/P1730 remain:

- Compliance with building lines. The building would still be well in advance of
the building line in Dora Road. There would be no setting back in Leopold
Road; where the adverse effect on the street scene identified by the Inspector
(and in our objection to 12/P1730) is a key issue. This problem is
compounded by the addition of a new ground floor structure bringing the
building right up to the back of the Leopold Road pavement. (The excavation
required for this would also damage or destroy the roots of the trees on that
frontage.)

- The need to reduce the building’s bulk. Comparison of the “before and after”
views shows that the mass outlines are only slightly different. The changes
proposed have little effect here, and height, the overall footprint; and the
closeness of the building to Leopold Road mean that bulk remains a problem.
The massing of the rear of the building where it encroaches on the trees along
Leopold Road is particularly unfortunate.

- The need to reduce height by at least one complete storey. Although it
appears that the area of the top storey is somewhat reduced, this is not
sufficient to meet the Inspector’s criticism of the building in terms of scale and
effect on the street scene. Reducing the height of the building would also
reduce the degree of overlooking inherent in the current plan.(Evidence given
at the inquiry into the Enforcement Notice accepted that omission of the top
floor would be practicable.)

- It appears that an attempt will be made to use more acceptable materials for
the replacement of the Dora Road frontage, but the large Leopold Road

Page 115



frontage is unaltered in terms of materials used, and the whole building
remains incongruous

In his Report the Inspector recorded his view that it ought to be possible to
alter the building to make it acceptable, and that this would be less wasteful of
resources than demolition as provided for in the Enforcement Notice. This is a
valid consideration, but unless a solution can be found that is in accordance
with the Council’s established planning policies, full implementation of the
Notice must be the only answer.

The Society remains firmly of the view that the application should be refused.
We consider that the following changes are required to the building:-
reducing its capacity to two flats/maisonettes or
preferably a single dwelling (the attempt to cram more units on to the site
inevitably increases the danger involved in putting vehicle accesses so close
to the Leopold Road/Dora Road junction.

In addition:-

- The frontage to Dora Road to be set back to align with that of Leopold
Terrace,
- The frontage to Leopold Road to be set back to accord with the building line
laid down before the development of the site in 1963-64)
- The height of building to be reduced (removing the second floor) so that the
eaves height is no higher than that of the Terrace.

Unless this can be achieved, the Society’s view is as indicate above that the
Notice requiring demolition should be enforced.

Transport Planning Officer

Leopold Avenue is a predominantly residential road in the Wimbledon Park
area of Merton. It is located in Controlled Car Parking Zone (CPZ)-P2(s).

The proposal provides for 3 car spaces for the development accessing from
an existing vehicle crossover on Dora Road.  To ensure there is minimal
impact on the CPZ it is recommended that the development is made permit
free secured by S106.  There is also cycle parking which should be secured
through condition.

In conclusion, there is no transport objection; however the following obligation
and condition will apply.  The applicant should also be provided an informative
below in respect of works affecting the public highway.

Tree Officer

No objections subject to conditions in respect of tree protection, site
supervision, landscaping, and landscaping implementation being added to
any approval.

Page 116



Climate Change Officer

• In accordance with Policy CS15 of the Core Planning Strategy we require
all new development comprising the creation of new dwellings to achieve
Code for Sustainable Homes Level 4. Given that the development has
already commenced, it will be incredibly challenging for the site to achieve
Code Level 4. The development should register with the BRE and produce
a design stage assessment to demonstrate the approach that the
development has taken to conform with the requirements of Policy CS15
even if the overall design fails to achieve an overall score of Code 4;
specifically:

o How the development has made effective use of resources and
materials and sought to minimise water use and CO2 emissions

o How the development has sought to make the fullest contribution to
minimising carbon emissions in accordance with the energy
hierarchy approach of: be lean (use less energy), be clean (supply
energy efficiently) and be green (use renewable energy).

o How the site is designed to withstand the long term impacts of
climate change

• Where code certification is not deemed viable, the applicant should supply
sufficient evidence of the above to sufficiently demonstrate compliance
with Policy CS15.

• In addition, as required under the mandatory elements of Code for
Sustainable Homes Level 4, the development should achieve a 25%
improvement in the Dwelling Emissions Rate over the Target Emissions
Rate under category ENE1 of the Code. The development should also
sufficiently demonstrate that they have explored and applied a ‘fabric first’
approach to mitigating CO2 emissions arising from the development, as
advocated by the energy hierarchy outlined above.

• Prior to occupation, we would also require a copy of the completed code
certificate as per the standard pre-occupation condition.

Conservation Officer

No comments.

6. POLICY CONTEXT

The relevant policies contained within the Adopted Merton Unitary
Development Plan (October 2003) are:

HS.1 (Housing Layout and Amenity)
NE.11 (Trees-Protection)
BE.15 (New Buildings and Extensions; Daylight, Sunlight, Privacy, Visual
Intrusion and Noise)
BE.16 (Urban Design)
BE.22 (Design of New Development)

Page 117



BE.3 (Development Adjacent to a Conservation Area)
C.13 (Planning Obligations for Education Provision)
F.2 (Planning Obligations)

The relevant policies contained within the Adopted Merton Core Strategy (July
2011) are:

CS 8 (Housing Choice)
CS 9 (Housing Provision)
C 13 (Open Space, Nature Conservation, Leisure and Culture)
CS 14 (Design)
CS 15 (Climate Change)
CS 18 (Active Transport)
CS 20 (Parking, Servicing, and Delivery)

The relevant Supplementary Planning Guidance’s (SPGs) are:

New Residential Development - SPG
Planning Obligations – SPD
Design - SPG

London Plan 2011:

3.3 (Increasing Housing Supply];
3.4 (Optimising Housing Potential];
3.5 (Quality and Design of Housing Developments)
3.11 (Affordable Housing Targets)
3.12 (Negotiating Affordable Housing on Individual Private Residential and
Mixed Use Schemes)
5.7 (Renewable Energy)
7.4 (Local Character)
7.6 (Architecture)
8.2 (Planning Obligations)

London Housing Design Guide (2012)
National Planning Policy Framework (2012)

7. PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS

7.1 Key Issues

7.2 The history leading up to the submission of this application is set out earlier in
this report. The current applicants bought the site after the existing
unauthorised structure had been built and after the enforcement appeal and
have had discussions with Council officers in order to seek to satisfactorily
address the Inspector’s grounds for refusal.

7.3 Although the Inspector considered the current structure to be unacceptable in
terms of its impact on the streetscene, he made reference to the range of
options put forward at the appeal to alter the building to make it acceptable

Page 118



without demolishing the whole structure, including a reduction in the top floor
and a reduction in the forward facing projection facing Dora Road. He
indicated that it ought to be possible to alter the building to make it
acceptable, and advised that in order to avoid the requirement to demolish, a
scheme should be prepared that had particular regard to the reasons given in
his decision notice for the refusal of planning permission for the existing
building. As set out earlier, these reasons related to the impact on the
streetscene, more specifically:

• The amount by which the building projects forward of the building line
of Leopold Terrace, resulting in a bulky and obtrusive appearance,
reinforced by the height and angular flat roof design.

• The excessive use of white render , at odds with the brickwork or mix
of brickwork and render on adjoining properties

The sections below set out how these issues have been addressed.

7.4 Impact on Streetscene-Design, Scale, Siting, Height, and Massing

7.5 Policies BE.16 and BE.22 of the UDP and policy CS 14 of the Core Strategy
seek to ensure that new developments are of high quality design and which
relate to their surroundings.

7.6 The Inspector determining the enforcement appeal raised the issues of the
height, massing, and forward projection of the building with particular
reference to the projection forward of the building line of Leopold Terrace on
Dora Road.  The existing building broadly follows the building line of Leopold
Terrace for 4m before stepping out 2.85m beyond with a projecting bay then
steps back slightly towards the corner with Leopold Road. It is proposed to
demolish this forward projection and rebuild it, pulling it back by 1.85m for the
main bay and 1.31m for the section beyond, with the result that the building
would project only 1m beyond the adjoining building line 4m away from
Leopold Terrace. Although the rear building line has remained the same, it
projects only 0.9m rearwards of no.1 and was not an issue raised by the
Inspector.

7.7 In addition, although the maximum height of the development will only be
marginally lower, the footprint of the 4th floor has been very significantly
reduced through set-backs to the front, side and rear, and the loss of the
external lift riser.  This reduction in footprint is significant enough to reduce the
total number of flats from 4 to 3.

7.8 In relation to the Inspector’s concern about the excessive use of white render,
the new front elevation to Dora Road (resulting from the part demolition and
re-siting of the front bay will be constructed in brick, with only a small section
of render remaining. On the partially retained side/rear elevation to Leopold
Road, the majority of the render will be replaced by brick slips to match the
front elevation. Consequently, the principal material will become brick with

Page 119



small render elements. A condition requiring sample materials would be
imposed.

7.9 The proposed changes, combining a reduction in forward projection with the
setting back of the fourth floor and a principally rendered to a principally brick
building, are considered to suitably address the Inspector’s concerns
regarding impact on the street scene

7.11 Residential Amenity

7.12 The enforcement appeal Inspector considered the impact of the existing
building on the living conditions of the occupiers of 1 Leopold Terrace with
particular regard to privacy, the effect on daylight and sunlight and visual
amenity. He found the impact to be acceptable in terms of daylight, sunlight
and outlook. He expressed concern about inter-visibility from the side facing
window of the bay and the front habitable rooms of No 1 Leopold Terrace.
The proposed revisions result in the removal of these side windows as part of
the significant reduction in the size of the bay, which will now have a solid
brick side wall of limited depth.

7.13 The Inspector did not consider any overlooking from the north-west facing
windows of the flat bedrooms to significantly affect existing low levels of
privacy to the back garden of 1 Leopold Terrace,. They could be obscure
glazed if considered necessary as the bedrooms would also retain south-west
facing clear glazed windows.

7.14 The proposed roof terrace for the 3-bed maisonette on the two upper floors
created by utilising part of the set back of the upper floor is considered
acceptable in privacy terms because it would be small in size and would be
set approximately 25m from the nearest properties on would not directly look
into any nearby residential dwelling.

7.15 In light of the alterations proposed, it is considered that the resultant
development would not result in a detrimental impact on the amenities of the
occupiers of the adjoining and surrounding properties.

7.17 Standard of Residential Accommodation and Amenity Space

7.18 The flats are 2 bed/4 person and 3 bed/6 person and comply with the
guideline gross internal area given in table 3.3 of the London Plan 2011.

7.19 The stacking of the units is considered acceptable and the units are all dual
aspect and so would receive adequate levels of daylight/sunlight.

7.20 Policy HS.1 includes the objective that new residential developments should
provide adequate private or communal amenity space, based on a standard
for flats of 10sq.m per habitable room.  There would be a small garden space
for the ground floor flat and a roof terrace for the maisonette development but
there would be a shortfall in private amenity space as for the existing
unauthorised development. The previous appeal Inspector considered that a

Page 120



financial contribution towards the upgrade of public open spaces to offset the
shortfall would be appropriate. In addition, he considered the planning history
to be relevant and considered that it would be unreasonable to make the
issue of private amenity space an insurmountable obstacle at this stage..

7.21 A condition would be added to any approval requiring the unit to be built to
Lifetime Homes standards.

7.22 Landscaping

7.23 No trees will be affected by the proposed revisions and new soft landscaping
is proposed on the footprint of the existing projecting bay.

7.24 The Council’s Tree Officer has assessed the scheme and has no objections
subject to conditions in respect of tree protection, site supervision,
landscaping, and landscaping implementation being added to any approval.

7.25 Parking and Highways/Refuse Storage

7.26 Three parking spaces are proposed for the 3 flats in addition to bike storage.
The parking standards contained within Schedule 6 of the UDP are maximum
standards and should therefore not be exceeded unless it can be
demonstrated that a higher level of parking is needed. The site has a high
PTAL rating and is located within a CPZ (W3). The Inspector considered the
adequacy of the parking as part of the enforcement appeal and concluded
that 1 parking space  per flat combined with a legal agreement preventing
future occupiers from obtaining residential parking permits for on-street
parking would prevent undue pressure being placed on limited on-street
parking spaces.

7.27 As part of the proposal there would be the loss of at 3 off-street parking
spaces and it is proposed to provide some cycle storage adjacent to the car
parking area. Exact details can be required to be submitted to the Local
Planning Authority for approval prior to development commencing, through a
condition added to any approval.

7.29 A refuse storage area is also proposed adjacent to the car parking area.
Exact details can be required to be submitted to the Local Planning Authority
for approval prior to development commencing, through a condition added to
any approval.

7.30 Local Financial Considerations

7.31 The proposed development is liable to pay the Mayoral Community
Infrastructure Levy, the funds for which will be applied by the Mayor towards
the Crossrail project.  The CIL amount is non-negotiable and planning
permission cannot be refused for failure to agree to pay CIL.

8 SUSTAINABILITY AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT
REQUIREMENTS

Page 121



8.1 Given the history and the need to adapt and principally reduce the size of an
existing structure it is not considered reasonable to require that the
development achieve Code for Sustainable Homes ‘Level 4’ rating.

8.2 The proposal does not constitute Schedule 1 or Schedule 2 development.
Accordingly there is no requirement for an EIA submission.

9. SECTION 106 LEGAL AGREEMENT

9.1 Core Strategy policy CS 8 requires an affordable housing contribution on sites
providing between 1-9 units where there is a net increase in the number of
units and as such, a contribution will be required in this instance (£88, 336).

9.2 The proposed development would attract a financial contribution towards
education in the borough as required by policy C.13 of the UDP since it would
be likely to result in the need for additional educational provision resulting
from the increase from formerly one house on the site to 2 x 2 bed and 1 x 3
bed flats.

9.3 There is a deficiency in private amenity space provided for the development
and in line with the Council’s New Residential Development SPG and
Planning Obligations SPD; a financial contribution is required in lieu and to be
used for the maintenance of nearby public space (£7,320).

9.4 The residential units are required to be ‘permit free’.

9.5 Further information in respect of the above, including details of supplementary
research carried out in justification of the S106 requirements, can be viewed
here:

http://www.merton.gov.uk/environment/planning/s106-agreements.htm

10. CONCLUSION

10.1 This scheme is considered to have addressed the enforcement appeal
Inspector’s specific grounds for refusal in terms of impact on the streetscene.
The Inspector considered it possible and less wasteful to alter to make the
building acceptable rather than requiring total demolition The current site
owners are not responsible for the unauthorised building, having purchased it
after the appeal,  but have worked with the Council to seek to meet the
Inspector’s requirements. The proposed alterations are considered to be
acceptable in both design and neighbour amenity terms.

10.2 Accordingly, it is recommended that planning permission be granted subject
to a S106 legal agreement and conditions below.

Page 122



RECOMMENDATION

GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION

Subject to a S106 legal agreement with the following heads of terms:

1. The provision of a financial contribution towards affordable housing
(£88, 336 )

2. The provision of a financial contribution towards education (£19,
808.91)

3. The provision of a financial contribution towards the maintenance of
public amenity space (£7, 320).

4. The developer agreeing the proposed flats being ‘permit free’ and not
eligible for on-street parking permits.

5. The developer agreeing to meet the Council’s costs of preparing
drafting and monitoring the Agreement.

And the following conditions:-

1. Commencement of development (full application).

2. A7 Approved Plans

3. B1 External Materials to be Approved

4. B4 Details of Surfacing

5. B5 Details of Walls/Fences

6. B6 Levels

7. C.2 No Permitted Development (Windows and Doors in first, second,
and third floors)

9. C6 Refuse and Recycling

10. C7 Refuse & Recycling (Implementation)

11. D9 No external Lighting

12. D11 Construction Times

13. F1 Landscaping

Page 123



14. F2 Landscaping (Implementation)

15. F5P Tree Protection

16. F8 Site Supervision

17. F9 Hardstandings

18. H4 Provision of Vehicular Parking

19. H6 Cycle Parking (Details to be Submitted)

20. H7 Cycle Parking (Implementation)

21. J1 Lifetime Homes

Informatives:

Note 1 to applicant

INF12 (Works affecting public highway)

INFORMATIVE to advise applicant that the enforcement notice requiring total
demolition can be invoked unless an agreed timetable to carry out the works
hereby approved is agreed with the Council’s enforcement section

The proposal accords with policies contained in the Council’s Adopted Unitary
Development Plan (October 2003), the Council’s Adopted Core Strategy (July
2011), and the London Plan (February 2011). The policies listed below were
relevant to the determination of this proposal:

Adopted Merton Unitary Development Plan (October 2003)

The relevant policies contained within the Adopted Merton Unitary
Development Plan (October 2003) are:

HS.1 (Housing Layout and Amenity)
NE.11 (Trees-Protection)
BE.15 (New Buildings and Extensions; Daylight, Sunlight, Privacy, Visual
Intrusion and Noise)
BE.16 (Urban Design)
BE.22 (Design of New Development)
BE.3 (Development Adjacent to a Conservation Area)
C.13 (Planning Obligations for Education Provision)
F.2 (Planning Obligations)

Page 124



Adopted Merton Core Strategy (July 2011):

CS 8 (Housing Choice)
CS 9 (Housing Provision)
C 13 (Open Space, Nature Conservation, Leisure and Culture)
CS 14 (Design)
CS 15 (Climate Change)
CS 18 (Active Transport)
CS 20 (Parking, Servicing, and Delivery)

Supplementary Planning Guidance’s (SPGs):

New Residential Development - SPG
Planning Obligations – SPD
Design - SPG

London Plan 2011:

3.3 (Increasing Housing Supply];
3.4 (Optimising Housing Potential];
3.5 (Quality and Design of Housing Developments)
3.11 (Affordable Housing Targets)
3.12 (Negotiating Affordable Housing on Individual Private Residential and
Mixed Use Schemes)
5.7 (Renewable Energy)
7.4 (Local Character)
7.6 (Architecture)
8.2 (Planning Obligations).

Page 125



T
h
is

 m
a
p
 i
s
 b

a
s
e
d
 o

n
 O

rd
n
a
n
c
e
 S

u
rv

e
y
 m

a
te

ri
a
l 
w

it
h

th
e
 p

e
rm

is
s
io

n
 o

f 
O

rd
n
a
n
c
e
 S

u
rv

e
y
 o

n
 b

e
h
a
lf
 o

f 
H

M
S

O
.

U
n
a
u
th

o
ri
s
e
d
 r

e
p
ro

d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
fr

in
g
e
s
 C

ro
w

n
 C

o
p
y
ri
g
h
t

a
n
d
 m

a
y
 l
e
a
d
 t
o
 p

ro
s
e
c
u
ti
o
n
 o

r 
C

iv
il 

p
ro

c
e
d
in

g
s
.

L
o
n
d
o
n
 B

o
ro

u
g
h
 o

f 
M

e
rt

o
n
 1

0
0
0
1
9
2
5
9
. 
2
0
1
2
.

1
A

 L
e
o
p
o
ld

 T
e
rr

a
c
e

S
c
a
le

 1
/1

2
5
0

D
a
te

 2
6
/1

1
/2

0
1
3

L
o
n
d
o
n
 B

o
ro

u
g
h
 o

f 
M

e
rt

o
n

1
0
0
 L

o
n
d
o
n
 R

o
a
d

M
o
rd

e
n

S
u
rr

e
y

S
M

4
 5

D
X

D
E

V
E

L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 C

O
N

T
R

O
L

Page 126



Page 127



Page 128



Page 129



Page 130



Page 131



Page 132



Page 133



Page 134



Page 135



Page 136



Page 137



Page 138



Page 139



��

�
�����������	�
�����	
�����������	�������
�����

�

�

�

�

����������	
	���
��������
������
��������������������

���������� ����
��������������������

����	�����	�����
���������
������������

�����
�����������	����������� ����������!� �����!�����""��	�	�
�����#�����$�����"����

���	
	�������%�&&�'�������&()&�

�

���������!%����*�+,&(*�*))*&)-(.)-�/�),�

)��#��������������0����������0�#������ �)1�,23�

�� !������������� ���������������
����"�
#�����!
�������$
������%������	�&����''�����
� �������������%������	�����$
 �������
��&����''���

�� !������������� �������(��)���
������(���*+�����,����
����	�����������#
��� ����
�
�������������������$
������
#�����-
��
��.
�
�	��
#�(���
���

�� !����
����������������
�������&�	�����������
�� !����������
#��������	��
���
���������	�����������
�������/�����
����������	���� ����
�0�

������
��
#�����
���
#�#������
�������	�
#�#
������#1�
���������������������������

�� !���������� �����
#������
���������2�3���� ���������� 
�����������
���
#�#�����
�
����������
������������2�3�4� 
�������������������������������	�#�
 ��
 ���������

�� !�������
��#
���
 ������������������������ �������������� 
������
�� !���������������
������	�
������	�
���������
�����������
����"2�32�30�2#3�����2	3�
#�����

!
�������$
������%������	�&����''������ ��������
�� !���������������#
��5������
���0�6�����'����������������
�

�

���	
	���

��� !�����#
��� �����
����������������������������	���+� 
��������������
#�������

 
�������������� ��#
���
 ���������������	�����7������8�����
������������
��

����������������� ����������������#
��� �����
��������������0������������	�

��� ����
�������#�����
���������������
����� ����
���������� ����������

�����
�����273�
#������''��&������� �������

������������������

��� &�������
��	�
�����2�3�����2�3������������������
�������#
�����������������!���

���������������������������
�	�������+�����	��������	���������� ������
������� ��

#
���������������	���� ����
����������
����������	������0�����9��������:�

����
� �����
����
�������������	���� ����
�����

���45������

5�� !�����������
���������#
��1��
�����������	�������
������
����
�0�����������
���

��������
#� 
����0������1��
�����
����
�������&�������� ��
#�����������������

������
#������������	�����������
 ������0�������������
�������	��;���
��#������


����������������!�������
� �����������������
���
����#
�����
1����

 ���

#�������

"�� .
�������������#����
�����9��#
���������������	�����
��:�
#���������0�����������

�
�����������
��������������������
�0��������
���������������������
���  ������

�������������
#��������������
��������!������������������������������������

������������+�������������������������������+������������0��
 ��	�#�
 ���

Page 140



&������<�����
��&%%�!7����$������=�6�=����

�

�

�����������	�
�����	
�����������	�������
�����������������

��##�������������0�����������������
������������
�����������$
�������
���	
������

�������������
�	������������������
#�>�	������������	���	������
����

7�� !����������������
�����
����������������������������
��#
��1��
�����
����

���������������������
���������
#�-�
�
���!���������������'������������7�

�������	���� ����
������	�������#
����#
��1��
����������+�����
���
�������
����

�����
�����
��
#�������
���������
�#
���#�������!���������������
�	������������

�������������#���
#��������� ����
������������=���� ���������������	����������
��

#
�������	������� ����%������	���� ����
��#
����������� ������	����������

?
� �������=0����8�����
��
�����
���2�������=���� ����
�30�������������	����

���������������9#
�����
����������+�����
���
��+�����	��������	������
�����
��


#���
���������
�"����#��
����������5�����

 �#����:����

=�� ������������������������
 ���������� 
������������
����
�����������2���������

�+�����
��
����
#���� ���������
��
#������������������#
� �����������
�������

���������	������
#��������	��
����	��
���30��������������������#����������

�
�����
��#
����
��������������

��� ��
�������#
����������=���� ����
�����������
����������?
� �������'0�����

�������������������#
������
���
#��������������������������
�����
���2�+�������

 ��������0���������
��������������
�����
�� �������3���!���$
�����������
��

����
����
�������������������������#
� ������������������������������=�

��� ����
���
�����
��
�	������� ��� ������������������
��	������
��������

������� 
������0������������� ���
�����
�������	�������������+�����
������

�
�����
����!���������������������������
���� ������������������
��#
����

��
���
#�#����������9���������:�����
� ���0��������@������������������������
��

������� �����������������	����
���	����������	�
#������� ����;�0����	�������

	�����������	�������������
������������� ��������

6�� !�����������������������
���������	������������	����������������������
������

�������
���������
�������@�����������$
������%������	�*##�������������������
���

#
������%������	�$
  ���������
  �����	�������������	���� ����
�����

	������0������������
���������#��������#
�������	��
������������������������

� ��	����������� ���������	���
#������������������������ ����
���������
#�����

���������
��������������#���������
#�����	������
#��������	��
����	��
������!���

���=���� ����
���������
����������������������������
#��������������
���������

&���
�	������������	���
#�����������
��
#�	�������	��#��������
��������
������

������������ �0�������
���
#�����#���
�������������
������
������
��������������=�

�������	���� ����
���
�����
������ ��� ������������������������ ��������������

���������	������������
������������������������������������������	�������

�
��������
������������	�����	�
����#�

��������
��������������#�
 ������������

������
����������

'�� �
��
���	�������� ����
��
#������
�����������������
�����������0�����$
��������1

�
���������
�������������� 
�����������������������
�����������������	��A����

�������� �������������
��������������;������#
��������
8����
��
#������������	�

�����	���������!����������������������������������
#�
�8����
�������&�	���������

����$
��������������!� �
�������
��?
����0���������������
��������
���
���

#
���� 
���0��#�����������
������� �����%������	���� ����
����������������

��#��������@�������������������#
��� �����
�������������������&�	������������

����*���
#���������
���	����#
��������#�����
#��������������
����������������	�
#�

�����
������������������ �������##����
#������������	�
����������������������

������
#���������0������0����	������������	�#
������
#������������	������
#�����

��8
����	�-�
�
���!�������2����������������������3����
��
���	����������������

Page 141



&������<�����
��&%%�!7����$������=�6�=����

�

�

�����������	�
�����	
�����������	�������
���������������5�

����+����	��
#����1������������� ����0�����$
�������������������<��� ����

��������������
�����
�������
�����������
������������������

�����
 ���
����
��������
�������������	��#����������#
��� �����
���������������0�

��������	��������������
��
#���������������
� 
���
#������+���������������!���

���##
����	��������������������	��������������
���������������	������� 
������

��������������������
�������������� ����������	����������
���������	�#
������

�������	��������+��������������� ��
#����������������������������

��	���

��
�

����&���
�	������$
�����������
���������������������������������������;�0����	�������

#
��������
8����
��
#������������	��������������������0�!���B� ����
���
������

������%������	��
�����������	�	��������	�
���
#��
����������������� ������

������������
������������
�������
����������������������������������������

�
�����������������##����
#������������	����������������������� ������� ����

�����0��
������������	�����$
�����C������������������
#�����
�8����
��
�������

	�
������

�5��!������
��� ������������������##����
#������������	�
����������	��
�����
���
#�

����
���������
#���-�
�
���!�������������������������	�����
�������0������##����


�������	������������	�������������� �������

�"��!��������� ���������������������������#��������������
���
��
#��������
���

��

� ������������#
��#����������������
#�����#����������������������� ���	����������

#����������
��������
��#
������� ��
� ����
#��������
���������������������

�7��!���$
��������������#��������������������
#�
�1�������������	0�����#���������

��
���
��#
���������
�������##
��������
����	0������������������ 
�	�������

����
���#
��������	������
����0��������������������������D����������D���������	�

��� ������������������������������������������
�����������
�����
��
����	����

��
��� ���������� �������������&������� �������D����������D���������	�����

��� ��������
������#����������
���
#��������������
�������������������������

�
�������	��
��#�����
��
#���������	������
��������������
�������������������

2!!����������� ������ �����

�=���������#����������������� �����
#������������	��������������������0�������
������

������������
����
���
#������������������
������������������ ��
���

� ������
�������������������������������	����
�������
������
������������	�

����
���
#��������������� ���������
���������
���������
���
#������+�����	�

�������	0���#
�����������	����������
���������
����

����!���������� �����
#���������
� ������������
���+��������������
������

 �������
#����8������8��	� ���0����������������������##����	�
����
���
#�����

$
�����C��%������	�*##�����������##���������	�����&��
0�������������##�������
�

�������������� �����
#����������	������������#�
 �������������������
��

������	�0���������������������������	���
��
����
�������������	���������
���+�0�

����������������������������=����������
��������������������	��
#�����	������

�
������������	����#���������+������������������
#������������	���������������

�������

�6��<���
� ����������
�������������������������
�������
#�����(���
��D�������

<���
� ���������2D<%3���%
�����.>�����
���������������	��
#�����

����
� ���������������������������������	�������������������	0������ 0�������

�������0���
�
���
��������
�������������������
#�������8
����	��
����������&�

Page 142



&������<�����
��&%%�!7����$������=�6�=����

�

�

�����������	�
�����	
�����������	�������
���������������"�

������ ��������������	�	���������
�����������������$
����������'''�#
��?���

4�����������<���
� ����2�'''��%,3���
����� 
������������	����������!���

�����
����������94��������	�-
����$��������:���������������������
� ����

��
�����
����������
���������
���������������
#������
���+�0���������������

����������������	�������
��������0��+������
��
#��������������
��;
���������� �0�

��	�����
���8�������������	����	����������������
#�����������������	�����

 ����������������������
#��
����������0���������������������������
#�������������

��
 �������������������	���
���������
���������������

�'��!�������
� �����������������
�������#�
#�����������������������	����

9������ ������
��� �
���������	�:������� ������
����������
���������
���

�����
������������������ �+���������������������������
#������
����������

����!�������
� ����
������������� 
��������	�����������������8�����
��
#�<
���

4
�������-�
�
���4
�����!����������	����
�����
�������������������� 
�����

���������
����������������������������
�����6 ���	�����������
���
���������=�

���� ��������	����!���#�����

#�����	���������������������
#������������	�������

�����������
���������������

#�
#�������8
����	��
������!���#�
���������
��

#
��
��������������	������
#�-�
�
���!�������#
����
���" ���#
����������	�
������

��
������ ����������
8�����	���������������1#����	�����
����!��������������
��

���������
�����7 �#�
 �-�
�
���4
��0����������������
8����������6 ����
���

���������������
��
#������
���������-�
�
���!���������!���	�������������������

��������
��������������������������
����������� �������������������
����0�����


�������������������
#������������	�����#��������������������������B����

�
 �����������#�
���������
���
�����������	������
�����������������#�

���

�
��������� ��������
������

������
 �������� ��������
�
	�����0�����#
��1��
�����
��������
�����
������

����������������
���������	�����������
�0����� ����� �����������������������

�������	���!���$
�������
�#�� �����������������
�
�8����
���
������
���
#�����


��	������
�������

����!���������������� �+��������������������������
��������	��	������������������

>��������0������1������ �����������������������0��'=���������������� 
�����

��#��������
� ������-�
�
���!�������������#�
 ������'=����������#�������������

��##����������������������

#���!��������
��������������
� ����
������


��
����������
#�-�
�
���4
����������������
 ���� ���������
������������

�������	���!������������		����0������1��
��������
� ����
#��
����
�����

#�����������������������0����������##����#�
 �������������������	��������	����������

�����#�
 ������
���
�������������	��������������������������0�����������������

#�

��������������������

�5��!���
�������������������������	�����������������
������
���������
����������
�

$
�������
��&��������	����
�����!��������������������������
���
����

������ �������
�������������������$
��������������������
��������	���������

�
��+�����
���
#�����$
�������
��&�������!������
����
�������������������������

������������
#����������������������
���
�����
#��������
���������$
�������
��

&�����������������
#�����������������
��
#�-�
�
���4
���2��������	������
���

�
�������#�������
���
�3��������
�����#�����
����� �+�
#��
��1��������
� ����

�����
  ����������9����	������������
#������������������������
#��������	�����

��������������
�0�����
 �������������
�:���B���������������
��
������#����

������ �������$
�������
��&�������������0� ��� ������
��
#����������������

��
�������������������0���������	�-�
�
���!�����������<
���4
��������������������

��������0� �+���������������������������

Page 143



&������<�����
��&%%�!7����$������=�6�=����

�

�

�����������	�
�����	
�����������	�������
���������������7�

�"��!���� 
������������������������	���
8�����#
������
#������������	������
#�

-�
�
���!���������� ��������������������
�������������������������

������������
������������	�������������������������������������
#���������-
��
��

�
������
�����������
�	�<
���4
��0���������
��������������������#
������

��
8����
����0�����������������0�����������
���������������������������1#����	�

����	��

 �����
����
�����������#�

��#�������!���������� ������
��
#�����

�������	��������#
���������������	���������	�����#�����

#�����	����������� 
��0�

��������
#��������������������� ����#�������	� �������������� �������+�������

�������
�������������������
���
������ �+�
#������������������
�� 
����������

�
�������������������
� �������������
����������������	������� �������
�

 �+� ����#�

��������������������#�
 �����������#�

�������� �������� ����

������������������������
������������������	�
��������
�����������

���������������

��� ��
#������0�����	������ ����������
���������
�����	���

�7��?
������������	�����$
�����C������������������
#����������
������������0����	����

���������������+���������������B� ����
���
��������������������������
���

 �����������
�������#�
#��
������������������������������
�������	������������

������� �����
#������������	����������������������

��	5�����������������������������	�5��	
�������

�=�����������	�������
�	���
�������#�
#����������������������������������������

�������	����������� 
�����������	���������#�
 ����������$
��������������
������

������������������
�����������������
�������������
������������8�����
���������

�����������	��
������ 
�������������������$
��������������	������� ���0�

���������������������$
��������������	������� ����������	����
�������������

�������������#���������
�������������������������������������������	�����
���������

� �
������ ���������
���������
����������������

������������ ������
#����
������������$
������	��������������	���� ����
��������=�

#
�������� ����������� ������+�������������������
��������������������	0��������

������
 ����� �����
#�����
��	������
����������
�������
��
��������

$
�����
���������
���������������	�
##��������������� ����������
���������

����������
#���#
��������
8����
��#
�������+�����������0���������+�������
�������

����
�������
�������������	�9�
�����������
����:��������������������� �0����� ��


�������������������������
��������������#������������������
���#�
 �����

��� �������
�����
��������������=�������
���
������������������
#�������

���������������+�������#�������������������
�����
������
����������$
�������

�6��!�������������������������0�������
 ������
��
#�#���
��0��������=��������	�

��� ����
����������������������
���
������ ��� ��������.���#��0���
���#���
���

����������
 �������� 
����
��
#�����
��	������
���A�����������
���������������

���=����� �������������������������	���������#����������������������������

����������C��
���
������ �����������������
���
���������=����������
���������

&��
0��������1�
  ���� �����
�����
���
#��������=���� ����
��������
��#�����

�������	�����#
���������� ����
�����������!����
�������������������������=�

�������	���� ����
���
����
����������#
����
#���#���1������
����
�0���������

$
����������#�����
� ��������##������8��	� ���0����������������#����	������� �����

����
#����������������

�'��������������������������������������� �	���������
�	�������������������

�������	����������
���������� ���������@�������������
�������������� 
��������

��#
� �����0�	���������� ���������
����������	
�����#
��0���������������

�����������������	������������������	��
����������������������	�����
����������	�

��� ����
����!�����	����
#������������������	��#�������������������� ��
��
���

Page 144



&������<�����
��&%%�!7����$������=�6�=����

�

�

�����������	�
�����	
�����������	�������
���������������=�

�#����������#������
#������
  ���������
������@�����������������������
#�����

!� �
�������
��?
��������&�	������������������$
��������������
���

��������
�����
����������� ����!���������
���
��
�������������
��������
��

�
�����#����������
�������������#�����������	���� ����
��������#�������������

��#
��� �����
���������������0������������
�����������������������������C�������

������
	����������2!!����������� ������ �����

5������
������������������������##����
#������+�����	��������	�
����������������������

��	��#�����������
��������
�����
�8�������
#�D<%��
�����.>��������������������

�����'''��%,���������	��������#����
���������
���
����������������������
#�����

�������	�����
��������������
��������������������	������������������
������
�

������
���������
������
����##��������
�8����#�������������
��
#������������	��������

��������#
� 0����������
�������	���� ��
������������������������
���������������

�
�������
������#����� ��������������������+�����	��������	���������������##�����

������������������

2!!�������#	�	�5�����	�	��
��!�����6�	5����	�5�7����	��
�

5���!���$
�������
������������������;����������	��
#������������	����
��������	�

������������������##�������������	��
�����
���
#�����
���������
#���-�
�
���

!�������������������������#��������
�������� ���������������������!����##����
��

�����	������������	�������
�������#���������#�������
������������
���#
��������	�����

�
����0�����������������������������������������D<%��
�����E����������������

������� �����
���#�	�����������������
� ����������������������	�������

�����	����

5���!�������������1�������������������
����	�������������������1#����	�����
��
#�����

#�
�����
8����
����������#�
��������������

 ��
#�?
���-�
�
���!�����������
 �

 ���������������
�0������������ ������������������
�����������

 ���������	�

�

 �����������
���

������������������
#�
������
���� �#�
 ��������������	�

�

 �����
���
#�����������#�

��#��������#��
�����������0�������
�������������

��������������
���
#����������!�������������������#
�����
�
����
��������


�������	��;������
##�����	�����
�����!�������� ���������������
�����
��������
�

�

�����
�����#�
����

 ��
#�?
�����������������	��	����������
�����������
#�����

���������
�������������
�
����
�
�������	��;������������������������	�����

��������
��������������	��;���2�
�����
����������������
#���������-
��
�3��

55��!
����������������������
���������#����	�����

 �����
���
������
#�����������

#�����������	�����������
������
������ ���������	������
#�?
�����!��������

	�������
#�-�
�
���!������������
��������0���������������#�����
���

����#�
 �

��������������
���
#����	��
����	��
�������!��������������	�������
�����

�� ����
#�
���

���	�����

 �����
��0���������
����
����� ������ ���
��

��	��#���������##�����������������
��������
#��������������������	��������!���

���������������������������
##������
�
�������	��;�������
���������#����	�

����

 �����
��0������	��
���������#����	�������	��;�������
�������������

5"���#���������
� ���������
�������������������0����
���������������������	�

�
�����
���
��������������������
����������������������������
���
#��������

#
������
���������
#���-�
�
���!���������E
����0����
����������������������
�

����
�����������
#�
�������	��;��	����
������������

 �����
������������������

����
� ������������������
��
#�������	��#��������

57��!�������������C��
����������������������
������������ ����
#������##����
#�����

#
��������
8����
��
#�������
���
�������	������������	����������	�����#�
���

�����������

 ��
#�?
��0�����	��������������� ���
�
�
	���������.4>�

Page 145



&������<�����
��&%%�!7����$������=�6�=����

�

�

�����������	�
�����	
�����������	�������
�����������������

���������
��9�����-��
���%������	�#
��<����	������������	��:���!�������������
��

�����������
��������������������	����������	�������������#�����#�

������
�����

��
���77� ���������������2�����������������#
��.4>�	����������������(����30�

������������
������������������� 
��������=��
���������	������������������� ��


#�����0����������#�������+�����
#����� ��� � �������������
  ��������&�

�� ������+������������������������
��������������
#������	�����!���$
�������
���

�
���������	���������������������� ���0��������
����������������#
������

��
8����
��
#�������
����
����
��������������������������� 
����
#������	�������

�����	����������	�����#�
��������������

 �����
���
#�?
���-�
�
���!��������

5=��.�������� �� ���
�
�
	�0������������
8����
��
#�������
��������6 ����
�������

����������
#�?
����
����
����������	��#�������##����
�������	������������	����
�

��������1#����	��

 ����!�����
����������
 ������	�������
������
���	�

�##����
#����������	���������������#
� ���#
��1��
�����
���0���������


��������
��
#����������������
��
#��������������
�����������
�����������������

��������������	��������������������� ����������	����+�����������������

�#����

�����!���� ���������	������������
��������������	������������������

�
�����
#��������������������������������	������
#�?
�����!�������������C�

�������������	���������
��,�
�����������
���������.4>�	�����������������������

����	�������������� 
���������������
  ������ ��� � ������	�������

�
�����������������������	��
����
�������������������������������	�������

�����	����������	����������	������
#�?
���-�
�
���!��������

5���!���������
� ���
�
�
	��#
����������	�����������
��
#�
��������	��������������

��
 � ������0������������	����
�����������#�
 �����������������������

 ��
#�

?
��������������	����#�
 �� ����������
#������

 ���������
��
���
�����������
�

���
��������	����������
���
���������
#���
����

 ������
 �����#�
���	������
#�

�����
���������������	��
�����������
�9�

 ����	�:0��������
���������������������

��	������
������
��������������������������
��
#������������	�#�
 �
�������

�����
��������������������������
�������������������������������#
�����	����

9
��������	�����������:��������	������
#������##����
#������������	��������

������������0��������������������������#����� �����������

56�����
�������
���������
��� ��������������������������	���������
��������������

�##�����
����������	��
�����
���
#�����
���������
#���-�
�
���!�������������
����

�
������������������������������
�����
����

��!	�	�����	��7��������"��	��� ������������

5'��%
�����E�����������������
�8�������������������������������
� �������
����

��
��������������������
���
  ������ �����������0�������
�������������#
��

#�����
#������ ����������������

 �����������	��������
��������
���
��
#������

���������	�����������$
�����C���'''��%,�
����������������������
� �������

"���!�������
� �����
����
�����������������������
  �����
���

��� ������

����������������������������
�����
������
#���
�� ����#�
�������
��#
������

	�
����#�

��#���0���������
�����#
������������#��������������
  
��	�
���������

�������� �������#����������
���

���������� �������������

"���!���$
���������
��
������������	�
����#�

������
���
����
#��

������������������


#������������
#�������������
����
��#����	������
�����������������

"���!������������
��
��
��
�����E��������������	��������������
� ���������������

��������������
�����������������$
�����������������
�����������	��� ����#
����

#����������
��������
���
���	������������
##1������ ��������������!���

����������C�D����������D���������	� �������
���
��#
��������� ����
#����� �
#�

Page 146



&������<�����
��&%%�!7����$������=�6�=����

�

�

�����������	�
�����	
�����������	�������
���������������6�

 
����#
�����������
��0���������������
����	��
�����$
�����C�����������#
� ������

!��������������������������
���
�������������������	���� ����
���������

����������������
� ���������������� ��������������
���

��� ������������

��
��#���0����8�����
������ ����#
��
##1�������	�����	�
#�
������������

"5��!���$
�������
��������
����������������������#����������
��������
���������������

�
�����
��
���
 ��������#���������������������������
���������������
����

�������������
�����������
������������������
�����
���������
#�����#�������!���

��
����������������
���������������'7� ��������� �#�
 ����������������0�

�����������������������#�������
������������������0�����������������
�����������

����������� �����7�� ���������!���$
��������#�����
����� ����
#��������

������
������������������	�� �����������������������
������� �
�������
#�

�������
���

��� ��������������

""�����
������������������
��1��������
���
#�#
���#����������������
#�����	��
���������

�������	��������������
� ��������������
���������##�������
� ����������������

�������
�������������������
�������������������#����������
��������
���
����

�������
���������!����������
������������������
���������	���������������

 
����
##����������
���
�����������
�����0�����������������������
���������

�����������
�����������������
�������������������#�����������������

"7��*������������������������	�����
���������
��� ���������
���������
����������

��	��#����������������� ��� 
����
#�
�1������ ����������������������������

���������������=�����
�������#����������
��������
���������������$
�����C��

�
  ���������
���
#�@�����������������������#����������
��������
���
����


���
 ������
�1�������#��������
#��������� �����������������
���������������

�
�������������
�������
� �������������������� 
�������� 
��������
��������

�����������	���

"=��!����	��������� ���������
���������
������
����
���0����
�������
������������

 �������������������#����������
��������
��#
��
##1�������	�����	�
#��������
����

�������
##�������������
#�����D����������D���������	��
���������������

�
 ��������#
��������#��������
#�
�1������������� �������������

7�����������
��

"����
 ���
�����������������+����������
����������������
#�����������	�#
������

#�������!������=���� ����
���
����������
�����5�������	��������#
������#
���

#������������������������������
������������������
���#
�������������������

�
�������
  
�����#
���������0����8�����
�����$
�����C���	��� ������!��������

������������;
���������
�1�������������	��������������
���
������������������������

������������#
�������������� ����
�����������	��
���
������
������!���

����������C�D����������D���������	��
�����������#������
���������#�
 �


�������	�������������������	���� ����#
��
�1�������������	���!���$
������

�������0��������	���0�����������
 ������
��
#�
�1����������������������� ��
#�

��������������	��
�����������������������
�����������������	��������
��

�� �����
�1�������������	���������

"6���
 ���
����
�8����
��������
���������������
#���������
� ����
#�#����0����


��
�����
�#� �����
����������������	��
���

�0��������������
�����
�8����
��

����
������������$
��������!���$
�����C��$
���������	����
�������������

����������
�����$�6���������
�8�������
�9�����������
���
��
#��� �+�
#��
����	�

������������;���������������������
����������
� ��������������
#���������
���
#�

�����
  �����:���!�����
���
��
#�#�����
���������������
�������������������


�8�����������
���� ���������#����
��������
���
����������#
���
����	��

Page 147



&������<�����
��&%%�!7����$������=�6�=����

�

�

�����������	�
�����	
�����������	�������
���������������'�

"'��!����������������	��������������
#�#����������
��������
��������������
�

��������������
���
��
#��##
��������
����	������������
���������0�������
���

���������������������
 �������D����������D���������	� ���������������
����=�


#�����&���������� ����������������������������������� �����������������	0�

�������������
������
����
�������

������
	����������$�����������������

7���(���
������
���
���������
������������� ������������
��
��
���
 ��������� �

������������#��������������#����� �����������
�������	������##����
#������������	�


���������������������������������	�����
�����
����� ����������������!����������


��	�
����2�3�#����������������	���� ����
������������#�����#
����������
� ����

���������
���������

����������$�������!��

7����������
��������
�������#�
#��������������������0��#��������	���� ����
������
��

	�������#
�������������	��������+����0�����
������������#��������+��������
�

��������������
����������	��
������ 
������0���������� �������
��������
�������

���������������������	����
������
�
���
 ������
�8����
�����&����	��
#�
���
���

�����������������	���������� �������������������C��������0���������	���

�������
����������
��#�

���������������
���������#
��������
8����
��#����	�<
���

4
�����!������
���������������
������������������������
�
 ������������������

�
�����������
����
������ 
����
���

7������	������������
�	����
�����
��������
������������������	��
� �����������������0�

�����������������
�����
#�����
���
�����������������#���
#����
��������E
����0�

����������
��	������������������ ����#
��� �0��������
������������������������

������� ����
#�������#
��� �����
�������!����
����������������������������

�� �����	������������
#��������	��
���
���������������������
#���������������

��������
������ �0��������
�
���
�������
����
�������������� �����
��� 
�����

�����������	��

75��!
��
�������������� �����
��� 
����0���������������������������
���	������

�������������� ��#
����������
����
������������	0�����	��������������	�����
�����

����
���	������������������
��#
��������#�����
#��������	���� ����
��#
������

�+�����	��������	���!�����������
������ �������������
�����������������������

$
�����������
��������������#
� ����������	����������
����������������
#�

�������	���� ����
������	�	������0������
���6��
#�����&�����
��������������

�
������������������
������##�����
�#���������
���������������������� ����
���

����������$�������5��

7"��!�����#
��� �����
���������������
 ���������������5� 
����0�����������������

�����	��������������
�����������
�����0��#������
��������������0��
��+���������

�
 ������������
���
�=� 
������
����
���� ��#
�������������
������ ���
����

��������0�#
� ������
���������������������
�����!����� ��#
���
 ����������������

�������
�=� 
������

�

� � � � ���������	
��

� � � � � � �?�%>$!*4��

Page 148



&������<�����
��&%%�!7����$������=�6�=����

�

�

�����������	�
�����	
�����������	�������
������������������

�

���2���6�2 �

�

�*4�!E>�&%%>--&?!/�

@
�������(������ *#�$
�����0���������������B��������%��������

E��������� $�����
������������0�%������	�$
���������
#�B����

����%��������

�

�*4�!E>�-*$&-�%-&??�?,�&D!E*4�!F/�

&�������,���� 1%���� *#�$
�����0�������������������E����
#�-�	���

��������

����������� (������(����
����0�����
��>�#
��� ����*##�����

� 24����*�������������������$
�����C����	���

��������������
������ 
����	�
#��������������

�����
��������������������
��
#����������
#�����

$
�����C�����
����������������3�

�

�?!>4>�!><�%>4�*?�/�

<����%���
��� -
��������������

@
���4
����##�� 4����������	�����B� ����
���
�������

<�����E
���� %������	��
���������
#�<�����E
����G�&��
�������

�����������	���	�
���
#�����������
#�-�
�
���

!������0�-�
�
���4
�������<
���4
����

(��������
 ������� *��������
#�������8
����	��
�����

@���������� ��
�� -
��������������

�

�7�8�26� �
�"	������������	�9�	���

�

�� ����� ����
#�$
  
��,�
����

�� ������ ���������

#�
#������������������������
#�(����������

5� $
 ������������
����=�D����������D���������	�������6���������������������

������ �������D����������D���������	��������=�����������������

"� &����� ����
#�D����������D���������	��	������$�-�4�	�����
���������

7� �����������
#������������������

=� %�
�
	�����
#���������

#�
����#���
����	��

�� $
���
#����=�%������	�%�� ����
���

6� ?���4�����������<���
� �����%,�2#�����
�� ���3�

'� ���������
#�����������#�
 ��������� ��������������

��� -����
#��
�����
�����		�������������$
������������������
#��������	�

��� ����
������	�	��������

��� $�
���	���� ����
���
�������#�
#�����$
�������

��� $�
���	���� ����
���
�������#�
#�����������������

�5� ����� �������<����%���
����

�"� ����� �������<�����E
����
�������#�
#��
���������������

�7� >1 ����#�
 �(��B�@����
���;�

�=� -������#�
 �$
������
��*
��	��(
���
��

�

�����

�������

Page 149



Page 150

This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE
12 December 2013

Item No:
UPRN                         APPLICATION NO.                       DATE VALID

13/P1077                                        05.04.2013

Address/Site The Cricketers Public House, 340 London Road,
Mitcham, CR4 3ND

(Ward) Cricket Green

Proposal: Change of use of public house (Class A4) to residential
(Class C3), comprising 4 x 1 bed and 3 x studio flats

Drawing No’s Site location plan, 301, 303, 305,

Contact Officer: Leigh Harrington (020 8545 3836)

RECOMMENDATION
GRANT PERMISSION SUBJECT TO S106 OBLIGATION AND
CONDITIONS.

CHECKLIST INFORMATION.

• S106 Heads of agreement: Sustainable transport

• Is a screening opinion required: No

• Is an Environmental Statement required: No

• Has an Environmental Impact Assessment been submitted –No

• Design Review Panel consulted – No

• Number of neighbours consulted – 7

• Press notice – Yes

• Site notice – Yes

• External consultations: None

• Number of jobs created – n/a

1.        INTRODUCTION

1.1      The application is brought before PAC in order to enter into a S106
agreement the content of which would fall outside the scope of the
recently amended scheme of delegation insofar as no affordable
housing contributions are proposed.

2. SITE AND SURROUNDINGS

2.1      0.07 hectare site located at the junction of Lower Green West with
London Road, south of Mitcham Town Centre. The Cricketers is a
vacant two storey1950s public house with ancillary living
accommodation. Currently the site boundary is marked by a dilapidated
wooden fence and hedging. Land on the opposite side of London Road

Agenda Item 9

Page 151



and the land that borders the Fire Station and Vestry Hall to the west
and north, is designated as Open Space and Green Corridor.

2.2      The site is within Mitcham Cricket Green Conservation Area, and an
Archaeological Priority Zone. To the north is Vestry Hall and to the
west is Mitcham Fire Station, both of which are locally listed buildings.
There are also a number of statutorily listed buildings in the immediate
area. The surrounding character is mixed, comprising properties from
various periods with different design features and massing, and a wide
range of uses, including retail, office, school, residential and
community.

2.3 The application site enjoys good access to public transport, (PTAL level
4), and is not in a Controlled Parking Zone.

3. CURRENT PROPOSAL

3.1 The current proposal involves the retention of the existing building, with
only minor alterations to the front elevation involving new opening
casement windows at ground floor, and the installation of two new
rooflights to the rear roofslope. The proposed internal layout comprises
three x 1 bedroom flats at ground floor, 3x studio flats at first floor and
1 x 1 bed flat at roof level. On-site provision is made for 7 new cycle
parking spaces and 4 existing car parking spaces to the side of the
building are retained.

3.2 The existing garden area, covering 226sqm, is retained to provide
shared amenity space.

3.3 Separate access to 2 ground floor flats is proposed from London Road
with access to all remaining flats from the rear of the building.

3.4 The applicants are willing to provide railings in front of the building to
provide a defensible space and allow for greater privacy for the
occupiers and to provide railings in front of the existing hedging to the
rear to make the garden more secure. Details have not been supplied
at this stage.

Page 152



3.5 Table 1: Floor areas and amenity space.

Floor
area
[Sq. M]

London Plan
standard
[Sq. M]

Amenity
space
[Sq. M]

SPG
standard
[Sq. M]

Apt 1 50 50 [one bed two
person]

226
shared

110
shared

Apt 2 50 50 [one bed two
person

amenity amenity

Apt 3 50 50 [one bed two
person

space space

Studio 4 48.1 37 [One person
Studio]

Studio 5 37 37 [One person
Studio]

Studio 6 38.6 37 [One person
Studio]

Apt 7 56.6 50 [one bed two
person

4. PLANNING HISTORY

4.1 12/P2083- Appeal dismissed- Demolition of existing public house and
redevelopment of the site with a new building providing 16 flats (11x1
bed, 5x 2bed) over four floors with associated parking. The appeal was
lodged against the Council’s non determination of the application
although members subsequently agreed that the application would
have been refused had the Council been able to determine.
Reason for refusal:
i) The proposed development, by virtue of its design, bulk, height
and scale, on this landmark site within a Conservation Area,
would –
(a) fail to respect or complement the design, scale, massing and
form of existing nearby buildings, particularly locally listed
buildings Vestry Hall and the Fire Station, which both together
with The Cricketers, form the most significant group of buildings
in this part of the Conservation Area;
(b) fail to respect or complement the nearby historic Mitcham
Cricket Ground;
(c) fail to maintain important views within and out of the Mitcham
Cricket Green Conservation Area, including views of Vestry Hall;
(d) fail to enhance or preserve the character and appearance of
the Mitcham Cricket Green Conservation Area; and
(e) fail to provide a high standard of design that will complement
the character and local distinctiveness of the adjoining townscape
and landscape, contrary to Policies BE.1 and BE.22 of the
Adopted Merton Unitary Development Plan (October 2003), and
contrary to Strategic Objective 8 and Policy CS14 of the Merton
LDF Core Planning Strategy (2011) and London Plan 2011 policies

Page 153



7.4 (Local Character), 7.6 (Architecture), 7.8 (Heritage Assets and
Archaeology), 7.9 (Heritage-Led Regeneration).

4.2 12/P2084 – appeal dismissed – Conservation Area Consent in respect
of 12/P2083. The appeal was lodged against the Council’s non
determination of the application although members  subsequently
agreed that the application would have been refused had the Council
been able to determine
Reason for refusal:
b) Had the Council been in a position to determine the application,
it would have refused Conservation Area Consent for the
following reason:
The demolition of the existing buildings would be premature and
inappropriate in the absence of suitable replacement buildings

and would be harmful to the appearance of the Mitcham (Cricket
Green) Conservation Area contrary to Policy BE.2 of the Adopted
Merton Unitary Development Plan (October 2003).

4.3 11/P3229 – Refused at PAC 16 February 2012 –
Demolition of existing public house and redevelopment of the site with
a new building, providing 16 flats (11 x 1 and 5 x 2 bedrooms), over
four floors, with associated parking provision.
Reason for refusal:
i) The proposed development, by virtue of its design, bulk, height
and scale, on this landmark site within a Conservation Area,
would –
(a) fail to respect or complement the design, scale, massing and
form of existing nearby buildings, particularly locally listed
buildings Vestry Hall and the Fire Station, which both together
with The Cricketers, form the most significant group of buildings
in this part of the Conservation Area;
(b) fail to respect or complement the nearby historic Mitcham
Cricket Ground;
(c) fail to maintain important views within and out of the Mitcham
Cricket Green Conservation Area, including views of Vestry Hall;
(d) fail to enhance or preserve the character and appearance of
the Mitcham Cricket Green Conservation Area; and
(e) fail to provide a high standard of design that will complement
the character and local distinctiveness of the adjoining townscape
and landscape, contrary to Policies BE.1 and BE.22 of the
Adopted Merton Unitary Development Plan (October 2003), and
contrary to Strategic Objective 8 and Policy CS14 of the Merton
LDF Core Planning Strategy (2011).

Page 154



4.4 11/P3273 - Refused Conservation Area Consent at PAC 16 February
2012 - Conservation area consent for demolition of existing public
house in connection with planning application 12/P2083.
Reason for refusal:
The demolition of the existing buildings would be premature and
inappropriate in the absence of suitable replacement buildings
and would be harmful to the appearance of the Mitcham (Cricket
Green) Conservation Area contrary to Policy BE.2 of the Adopted
Merton Unitary Development Plan (October 2003).
The above application references (11/P3229 and 11/P3273) were
both dismissed at appeal.

4.5 10/P1090 – Refused at PAC (9th December 2010) and dismissed at
appeal – Demolition of existing public house and redevelopment with a
commercial (Classes A1, A2, A3, B1 or D1uses) unit at ground floor
and 17 flats (10 x 1, 6 x 2 and 1 x 3 bedroom) over part ground, first,
second and third floors, with associated parking provision.
Reason for refusal:
The proposed development, by virtue of its design, bulk and
scale, on this landmark site within a Conservation Area, would –
(a) fail to respect or complement the design, scale and form of
existing nearby buildings, particularly Vestry Hall, a locally listed
building and the Fire Station, and also Listed Buildings in the
vicinity;
(b) fail to respect or complement the nearby historic Mitcham
Cricket Ground;
(c) fail to maintain important views within and out of the Mitcham
Cricket Green Conservation Area; (d) fail to enhance or preserve
the character and appearance of the Mitcham Cricket Green
Conservation Area; and
(e) fail to provide a high standard of design that will complement

the character and local distinctiveness of the adjoining townscape
and landscape, contrary to Policies BE.1 (iii) and BE.22 (i) & (ii) of
the Adopted Merton Unitary Development Plan (October 2003).

4.6 10/P1911 – Refused at PAC (9th December 2010) and dismissed at
appeal - Conservation area consent for demolition of existing public
house in connection with planning application 10/P1909.
Reason for refusal:
The demolition of the existing buildings would be premature and
inappropriate in the absence of suitable replacement buildings
and would be harmful to the appearance of the Mitcham (Cricket
Green) Conservation Area contrary to Policy BE.2 of the Adopted
Merton Unitary Development Plan (October 2003).

Page 155



5. CONSULTATION

5.1 The proposal was publicised by means of major and conservation area
press and site notices, also letters to neighbouring occupiers. In
response, an objection letter has been received from the Mitcham
Cricket Green Community and Heritage raising the following issues:

• The proposal will result in poor quality accommodation, which may not
meet space standards;

• The proposal will result in the loss of a community facility and the
future of this building should be considered along with the other
buildings across the island site;

• The inadequate car parking arrangements at the front of the building
have not been addressed;

5.2 Transport Planning have previously confirmed that the site has good
access to public transport (PTAL level 4) and is not located in a CPZ.
London Road is part of the strategic road network with significant levels
of pedestrian and vehicular traffic along its length. There is no on street
parking in the vicinity of the site because of bus lanes and double
yellow lines. The numbers of on-site parking bays are within London
Plan guidelines, but a parking management condition must be
imposed. Subject to appropriate conditions and S106 obligations
towards sustainable transport, there are no anticipated adverse
impacts in terms of traffic generation or highway safety and therefore
no objections to the principle of the development.

5.3 Environmental Health advise that the site is located on a busy road
junction, in close proximity to the Fire Station and Vestry Hall. In the
event that the scheme is recommended for approval, conditions
relating to a Noise Survey and an Air Quality Survey should be
imposed. The noise survey and air quality surveys are requested again
given the sites location on a busy ‘island’ site with heavy levels of
vehicle traffic passing in close proximity to the site.

6. POLICY CONTEXT
London Plan (July 2011)

6.1 Relevant policies in the London Plan (July 2011) are 3.3 (Increasing
Housing Supply), 3.4 (Optimising Housing Potential), 3.5 (Quality and
Design of Housing Development), 3.8 (Housing Choice), 5.1 (Climate
Change), 5.3 (Sustainable Design and Construction).

Merton LDF Core Planning Strategy (July 2011)
6.2 Relevant policies in the Core Strategy (July 2011) are CS8 (Housing

Choice), CS9 (Housing Provision), CS11 (Infrastructure), CS13 (Open
Space, Nature Conservation, Leisure and Culture), CS14 (Design),
CS15 (Climate Change), CS18 (Active Transport), CS19 (Public
Transport), CS20 (Parking, Servicing and Delivery).

Page 156



Merton UDP (2003).
6.3 Relevant policies in the Adopted Unitary Development Plan (October

2003) are HS.1 (Housing Layout and Amenity), BE1 (Conservation
Areas), BE13 (Archaeological Protection), BE14 (Archaeological
Evaluation), BE.25 (Sustainable Development), C13 (Planning
Obligations), L16 (Protection of Public Houses).

7. PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS

7.1 The main planning considerations include the principle of conversion for
residential use, involving the loss of a public house; impacts on the
Mitcham Cricket Green conservation area; housing targets, affordable
housing and standard of accommodation; impact on neighbouring
amenity; parking and servicing; planning obligations.

7.2 Redevelopment involving loss of a public house
Adopted policy L.16 is relevant as it seeks to protect public houses

outside town centre locations unless:
i) The applicant can demonstrate that the pub is no longer

economically viable
ii) The applicant can demonstrate that reasonable marketing has been

carried out for a period of no less than 2 years.
iii) There is alternative provision within the local area.

7.3 The Cricketers ceased trading in August 2010 and the building has
been vacant since. The previous applications in 2010 and 2011 both
considered marketing evidence submitted by the applicant. While
members resolved to refuse permission, there were no grounds of
objection raised in either case regarding policy L16 and therefore to the
principle of the loss of the public house. No fresh issues are raised in
this regard in consideration of the current proposals.

7.4 Impacts on Conservation Area
Mitcham Cricket Green Conservation Area was originally designated in
1969 and the particular features which merit the designation include its
historical background, the number of listed buildings and the character
and diversity of buildings generally and the generous open spaces. The
Cricketers Public House stands at a prominent corner site between the
Vestry Hall and Mitcham Fire Station.

7.5 Adopted UDP policy BE1 states that proposals for new development in
conservation areas are required to preserve or enhance the character
and appearance of the conservation area and development proposals
are expected to complement the character and appearance of the
wider setting, by careful consideration of how the proposed density,
scale, design and materials relate to the urban setting in which the
development is placed.

7.6 The most recent applications have all involved demolition of the pub
and redevelopment of the site with a new building. Key reasons for

Page 157



refusal had related to the negative impact that larger replacement
buildings would have had, particularly in relation to height, bulk and
massing. The current scheme involves only minor changes to the
external appearance of the building, with conversion to form new
residential accommodation. It is considered that the current scheme
would preserve the character and appearance of the conservation
area.

7.7 The Council published the draft Mitcham Cricket Green Conservation
Area Appraisal and Management Plan in 2010 and this noted that the
Lower Green and Cricket Green form the central focus of the
conservation area. The Inspector noted in his consideration of the 2010
scheme that the most dominant feature of the conservation area is the
visual impact of the large areas of green space, around which built
form is clustered creating well defined edges. The current scheme
proposes retention of the existing building and all the open space
around the building, thus raising no issues in connection with the
preservation or enhancement of the character and appearance of the
conservation area.

7.8 Housing Targets/ Affordable Housing
The proposed residential accommodation would make a welcome
contribution towards meeting the Council’s housing targets, although
this must be measured not only against housing need, but alongside
other factors including amenity space and on site provision for parking.

7.9 Schemes for new development involving housing of less than 10
dwellings should provide a contribution towards the provision of off site
affordable housing subject to justification based on a Three Dragons
Toolkit financial assessment. The current proposal was submitted with
an Economic Viability Assessment dated July 2012 and this has been
assessed taking into consideration matters such as construction costs,
S106 costs, development costs including fees etc, the assigned
existing use value of the site and sales values of the scheme’s market
homes. This assessment concluded that the scheme is unable to
support an on-site affordable housing contribution. This has been
assessed and found to be sound. Thus, no off site financial contribution
towards affordable housing would be sought in this instance.

Standard of Accommodation
7.10 The London Plan (2011) (Policy 3.5) and it’s supporting document, The

London Housing Supplementary Planning Guidance 2012 as well as
Adopted UDP policy HS1 provide detailed guidance on minimum room
sizes and amenity space. These recommended minimum gross internal
space standards are based on the numbers of bedrooms and therefore
likely future occupiers. In the case of a one person, one bedroom unit,
the minimum standard is 37 sq m, for a two person, one bedroom flat
the minimum standard required is 50 sq m. Each flat either meets or
slightly exceeds this standard, with all habitable rooms receiving
reasonable levels of daylight, outlook and natural ventilation. Each flat

Page 158



has an acceptable internal layout, therefore providing appropriate
internal living accommodation for future occupiers.

7.11 The current scheme involves a mix of 1 bed and studio units. New
residential  development should be compliant with Lifetimes Homes
Standards and therefore a condition is recommended to ensure that
the new accommodation reaches this standard.

Amenity Space
7.12 Adopted UDP policy HS.1 requires that 10 square metres of amenity

space should be provided on-site, per habitable room, for the
communal use of occupiers of new flats. Given that a total of 11
habitable rooms are proposed for the scheme, the Council would
expect provision of 110 sq m of communal on-site amenity space. The
current proposal provides 226sqm of shared outdoor amenity space at
ground floor, laid mainly to grass with hedging around the boundary
that defines private and public space to the Lower Green West site
frontage. The scheme therefore more than meets the minimum
standard for the provision of on-site amenity space. In order to make
this space as usable and secure as possible the provision of railings on
the rear boundary, which will allow for the hedge to continue to grow
and provide a level of privacy for the occupiers is recommended and a
condition is proposed to address this. Similarly in order to ensure
adequate privacy to the front of the site, railings are posed. While
details have not been submitted this may reasonably be addressed by
condition.

Neighbour Amenity

7.13 The existing public house building is a two storey structure with rooms
in the roof. There is no proposed change to the bulk or massing of the
building and given the separation distances to the nearest dwellings in
lower green West on the opposite side of a busy through route, no
direct or adverse impacts are anticipated for any existing residential
occupiers with regard to overlooking or noise levels.

7.14 Traffic, Parking and Servicing
Current central government guidance seeks to encourage use of
sustainable travel modes and to reduce reliance on private car travel.
The current scheme makes provision for 7 cycle parking spaces with 4
cars to the side of the building and this is in line with London Plan
guidelines.

7.15 The Council’s Transport Planning Officer has previously advised that
the proposal for residential use must be subject to a standard condition
to provide a Parking Management Strategy. On-street parking is
controlled by double yellow line restrictions and the level of additional
traffic generated by the residential units is unlikely to result in undue
detriment to the existing highway conditions which already carry heavy
traffic loads. Given the level of on-site parking, it is considered that the

Page 159



development would be unlikely to result in adverse impacts for highway
safety or increased demand for on-street parking to an extent that
would warrant refusal of the scheme.

7.16 The proposed level of cycle parking is satisfactory with a separate
area that has been allocated at ground floor for 7 cycle parking
spaces although it is recommended that the layout will need to be
secured by way of condition. The existing pavement and pedestrian
areas have suffered damage from car parking in front of the building
and in order to restore the footway to a safe and suitable surface that
encouraged pedestrian and cycle use. In the event that a scheme for
7 flats were to be approved, S106 contributions of £500 per new unit,
(total £3,500) would be requested towards sustainable transport
improvements in the form of improvements to the footway surfaces
outside the development.

7.17 It is considered that adequate facilities would be provided for storage
and collection of refuse and recycling.

7.18 Planning Obligations
The adopted Supplementary Planning Document on Planning
Obligations, guided by central government planning circular 05/2005,
sets out the Council’s approach to obtaining obligations designed to
offset the impact of new development. The developer has agreed in
principle to financial contributions in respect of the following “Heads of
Terms”: Sustainable transport, and drafting and monitoring costs.

7.19 None of the accommodation would be suitable for family occupation
and no contribution toward off setting pressure on local education
facilities would therefore be appropriate.

7.20 Local Financial Considerations
The proposal would be liable for the Mayor of London’s Community
Infrastructure Levy, the funds for which will be applied for by the Mayor
towards the Crossrail project. The CIL amount is non negotiable and
planning permission cannot be refused for failure to pay the CIL.

7.21 Archaeology and contaminated land
The proposal does not involve any demolition or excavation works and
therefore the imposition of conditions relating to archaeology or land
contamination are not considered appropriate.

8. SUSTAINABILITY AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT
REQUIREMENTS

8.1 The proposal does not constitute Schedule 1 or Schedule 2
development. Accordingly, there are no requirements in terms of an
Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA).

Page 160



9. CONCLUSION

9.1 It is considered that the proposal is acceptable insofar as it involves the
provision of new residential accommodation at a location that is close
to Mitcham town centre. There is no change to the existing
appearance, height, size and siting of the building. The proposals
would have no direct or adverse impacts on the setting of adjacent
locally listed buildings, and would preserve the character and
appearance of the Mitcham Cricket Green Conservation Area. The
principle relating to the loss of the vacant public house and the use of
the site for residential purposes have previously been considered as
acceptable by the Planning inspector and the current scheme raises no
fresh issues in that respect.

RECOMMENDATION GRANT PERMISSION subject to planning
conditions and the completion of a Section 106 Obligation covering
the following heads of terms:
1. Provision of financial contribution towards sustainable transport
improvements
(£3,500)
2. The developer agreeing to meet the Council’s costs of preparing,
drafting and monitoring the Section 106 obligations.

And the following conditions:-
1. A.1 Commencement of development for full application
2. A.7 Approved plans Site location plan, 301, 303, 305.
3. B.4 Details of surface treatment
4. B5 Details of Walls/Fences
5. C.6 Refuse and re-cycling (details to be submitted)
6. D.10 External lighting
7. F.1 Landscaping/ Planting Scheme
8. F.2 Landscaping (Implementation)
9. H.3 Redundant crossovers
10. H.4 Provision of Vehicle Parking
11. H.7 Cycle Parking to be implemented
12. H.11 Parking Management Strategy
13. J.1 Lifetime Homes
14. J.3 Level Access
15. Non standard condition An air quality assessment shall be undertaken
and submitted to the Council before development commences. The
assessment report, which should include dispersion modelling, shall be
undertaken having regard to all relevant planning guidance, codes of
practice, British Standards for the investigation of air quality and national
air quality standards. The assessment report shall include
recommendations and appropriate remedial measures and actions to
minimise the impact of the surrounding locality on the development. A
scheme of proposed remedial measures shall be submitted for the

Page 161



Council’s approval and implemented to the satisfaction of the Council,
prior to the occupation of the residential properties.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of occupiers of the development
hereby approved and ensure compliance with policy PE.2 of the Adopted
Merton Unitary Development Plan 2003.

16. Non standard condition; Due to the potential impact of the surrounding
locality on the development, a noise survey undertaken by a competent
person is to be undertaken having regard to all relevant planning
guidance, codes of practice and British Standards for the investigation of
noise. The survey shall include recommendations and appropriate
remedial measures and actions to minimise the impact of the surrounding
locality on the development. A scheme for sound insulation and noise
control measures shall be submitted for the Council’s approval and
implemented to the satisfaction of the Council, prior to occupation of the
residential properties. Reason: To safeguard the amenities of the area and
the occupiers of neighbouring properties and ensure compliance with
policy PE.2 of the Adopted Merton Unitary Development Plan 2003.

Informative INF 9:
You are advised to contact the Council’s Highways team on 020 8545
3700 before undertaking any works within the Public Highway to obtain the
necessary approvals and/or licences. Please be advised that there is a
further charge for this work.

Non standard Informative: Due to historical land uses in the Mitcham area,
should any possible sources of ground contamination be found during the
development works, Merton’s Environmental Health Service (020 8545
3944) should be notified and

Informative INF 27 CIL

NPPF Informative

Page 162



T
h
is

 m
a
p
 i
s
 b

a
s
e
d
 o

n
 O

rd
n
a
n
c
e
 S

u
rv

e
y
 m

a
te

ri
a
l 
w

it
h

th
e
 p

e
rm

is
s
io

n
 o

f 
O

rd
n
a
n
c
e
 S

u
rv

e
y
 o

n
 b

e
h
a
lf
 o

f 
H

M
S

O
.

U
n
a
u
th

o
ri
s
e
d
 r

e
p
ro

d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
fr

in
g
e
s
 C

ro
w

n
 C

o
p
y
ri
g
h
t

a
n
d
 m

a
y
 l
e
a
d
 t
o
 p

ro
s
e
c
u
ti
o
n
 o

r 
C

iv
il 

p
ro

c
e
d
in

g
s
.

L
o
n
d
o
n
 B

o
ro

u
g
h
 o

f 
M

e
rt

o
n
 1

0
0
0
1
9
2
5
9
. 
2
0
1
2
.

C
ri
c
k
e
te

rs
 ,
 3

4
0
 L

o
n
d
o
n
 R

o
a
d

S
c
a
le

 1
/1

2
5
0

D
a
te

 2
6
/1

1
/2

0
1
3

L
o
n
d
o
n
 B

o
ro

u
g
h
 o

f 
M

e
rt

o
n

1
0
0
 L

o
n
d
o
n
 R

o
a
d

M
o
rd

e
n

S
u
rr

e
y

S
M

4
 5

D
X

D
E

V
E

L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 C

O
N

T
R

O
L

Page 163



Page 164



Page 165



Page 166



PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE
12th December 2013 Item No:

UPRN APPLICATION NO. DATE VALID

13/P1163 11/06/2013

Address/Site: 336 Lynmouth Avenue, Morden, SM4 4RS

(Ward) Lower Morden

Proposals Formation of raised decking area adjoining the west facing
elevation of the outbuilding in the rear garden.

Drawing No’s Site location plan and drawings ‘Proposed Plan 01,’
Proposed fence’ and ‘Proposed decking’

Contact Officer Leigh Harrington (020 8545 3836)

RECOMMENDATION

Grant planning permission subject to planning conditions.

CHECKLIST INFORMATION

• Head of agreement: No.

• Is a screening opinion required: No

• Is an Environmental Statement required: No

• Has an Environmental Impact Assessment been submitted: No

• Design Review Panel consulted – No

• Number of neighbours consulted – 2

• Press notice – No

• Site notice – Yes

• External consultations: Nil

• Density - N/A

• Number of jobs created - N/A

• Flood risk assessment – N/A

Agenda Item 10

Page 167



1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 This application is bought before the Planning Applications Committee at
the request of Councillor Groves.

2 SITE AND SURROUNDINGS

2.1 The application site is an end of terrace house located on the east side of
Lynmouth Avenue in Morden. The properties on this side of the road are
aligned so that the level of the garden adjacent to the vehicle accessway
at the rear of the site is higher than the level of the garden at the rear of
the house. The house has a single storey rear extension and a single
storey log cabin style outbuilding and a shed at the rear of the garden. It is
not located within a conservation area

2.2 The site has a Public Transport Accessibility Level of 1a. The site is not
within a flood risk zone nor a conservation area.

3. CURRENT PROPOSAL

3.1 The existing decking area is unauthorised and a previous planning
application to retain it was refused by officers. This proposal seeks
planning permission to form a decking area in the same position and area
as the existing but with a reduction in the height and with the addition of
planter boxes and trellis works along the boundaries with the adjoining
properties.

3.2 The top two horizontal sections of timber would be removed and thereby
reduce the height of the decking to a height of 0.53m above ground level
adjacent to the garden at 338 Lynmouth Avenue and 0.47m on the
opposite elevation, reflecting the slope of the garden. A series of planters
would be added on the decking alongside the boundary fences to offer a
combination of privacy screening and to keep users of the decking away
from the boundary fences to improve privacy. Each planter will be 0.9m
long, 0.3m deep and have a trellis screen at the rear with a height of
1.29m.

3.3 This application does not relate to the use of the main rear garden
outbuilding the use of which is a separate matter under investigation by
the planning enforcement team.

Page 168



4. PLANNING HISTORY

4.1 12/P2404 planning permission REFUSED for retention of raised decking
area adjoining west facing elevation of outbuilding in rear garden. Reason
The decking area adjoining the west facing elevation of the existing
outbuilding by reason of its design, size and siting enables users of
the deck to overlook the rear gardens of neighbouring dwellings,
resulting in a loss of privacy to the detriment of the amenities of
neighbouring occupiers, contrary to policy BE15 of the Merton UDP
(2003).

5. CONSULTATION

5.1 The proposal was advertised by means of a neighbour notification letter
and a Site Notice. There were two written objections to the proposal from
the neighbouring occupiers and from Cllr Groves raising concerns relating
to;

• Decking area being overly large and perpetuating overlooking of
adjacent properties due to its position at the end of the garden.

• Reducing the decking height will not alleviate problems of
overlooking due to the topography.

• Decking is not needed as access to the outbuildings can be
accommodated via separate sets of steps.

6. POLICY CONTEXT
Merton LDF Core Planning Strategy (2011).

6.1 The relevant policies in the LDF Core Strategy 2011
CS 14 Design

Merton UDP (2003).
6.2 The relevant policies in the Council’s Adopted Unitary Development Plan

(October 2003) are:
BE 15 New Buildings.
BE22 Design of new development.

7.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS

7.1 The planning considerations in this case relate to the scale and design of
the decking area and the impact on neighbour amenity.

7.2 Saved UDP policy BE15 requires proposals not to impact on neighbour
amenity in terms of loss of light, outlook, privacy and visual intrusion.

7.3 Currently on the boundary with 338 there is a close boarded fence with a
height of 1.6m with a further 0.25m of trellis above that. The result of this
is that on this boundary there is only 78cm of fencing between the top of

Page 169



the decking and the top of the close boarded fence. As constructed, use of
the deck provides clear views onto the rear garden of the neighbour’s
properties on both sides and this was a key concern for officers leading to
the previous application being refused.

7.4    The proposal will reduce the height of the decking, although not the overall
area. The new height would be reduced from a height 87cms on the
boundary with 338 by a height of 34cms to a new height of 53cm whilst on
the boundary with 334 Lynmouth Avenue the height would be reduced
from 74cms to 47cms reflecting the changing slope of the garden on both
front to rear and side to side elevations. A pair of planter boxes with lattice
trellis work panels would be located on the reduced height decking
alongside both of the boundary fences. Each planter will be 0.9m long,
0.3m deep and have a trellis screen at the rear with a height of 1.29m.

7.5    It is considered that by reducing the height of the decking in this manner
and by using planters to increase separation distances between the
usable deck area and the boundary fence to keep users of the decking
further away from the boundary, it will reduce the impact of any loss of
privacy to a reasonable level. The proposed reductions in height to a level
only an average 20cms above permitted development allowances is
considered sufficient to overcome the previous concerns of officers that
lead to the refusal of permission to retain the decking as existing.

7.6 Core strategy policy CS 14 and saved UDP policy BE 22 require well
designed proposals to respect the scale and massing of surrounding
buildings. Officers consider that by making the proposed reductions in the
height of the decking the resultant decking area would respect the scale
and massing of the existing outbuildings and would not be out of keeping
with the local area.

7.7 This matter has been ongoing for some time now and in order to expedite
matters the Council’s Planning Enforcement team are in the process of
instructing Legal Services to serve an Enforcement Notice requiring the
removal of the existing decking. If members grant planning permission the
existing decking will still be required to be removed in order to comply with
the Enforcement Notice and the applicant would have three years in which
to install the approved decking.

8. SUSTAINABLITY AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT

Environmental Impact Assessment
8.1 The proposals fall outside the scope of Schedule 2 development under the

Town and Country Planning [Environmental Impact Assessment]
Regulations 2011 and therefore there are no requirements for an
Environmental Impact Assessment in this instance.

Page 170



9. CONCLUSION
The National Planning Policy Framework 2012 has a presumption in
favour of sustainable development. Local planning authorities should look
for solutions rather than problems, and decision-takers at every level
should seek to approve applications for sustainable development where
possible. It is considered that the reductions in height and the use of
planters to create buffer space on the boundaries will result in a proposal
that will make a satisfactory compromise between the applicant’s desire
for a decking area in front of their outbuildings and the neighbour’s
requirement for adequate levels of privacy to allow for their enjoyment of
their garden. Consequently it is recommended that permission be granted
subject to conditions.

10. RECOMMENDATION

Grant planning permission subject to the following conditions:

1 A1 Commencement of Development (Amended)
The development to which this permission relates shall be commenced
not later than the expiration of 3 years from the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 (as amended) of the Town & Country
Planning Act 1990.
Standard 3 years.

2 A7 Construction in accordance with plans Site location plan, ‘Proposed
Plan 01,’ Proposed fence’ and ‘Proposed decking’

3 Non standard condition
Before use of the decking hereby approved commences, the planters
shown on the approved drawings shall be permanently affixed to the
decking in the positions shown and shall be permanently retained
thereafter.
Reason, To protect the amenity of neighbouring residents in accordance
with saved UDP policy BE 15

Informative. The applicant is advised that in accordance with paragraphs
186 and 187 of the National Planning Policy Framework, The London
Borough of Merton takes a positive and proactive approach to
development proposals focused on solutions. The London Borough of
Merton works with applicants or agents in a positive and proactive manner
by suggesting solutions to secure a successful outcome; and updating
applicants or agents of any issues that may arise in the processing of their
application.

Page 171



T
h
is

 m
a
p
 i
s
 b

a
s
e
d
 o

n
 O

rd
n
a
n
c
e
 S

u
rv

e
y
 m

a
te

ri
a
l 
w

it
h

th
e
 p

e
rm

is
s
io

n
 o

f 
O

rd
n
a
n
c
e
 S

u
rv

e
y
 o

n
 b

e
h
a
lf
 o

f 
H

M
S

O
.

U
n
a
u
th

o
ri
s
e
d
 r

e
p
ro

d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
fr

in
g
e
s
 C

ro
w

n
 C

o
p
y
ri
g
h
t

a
n
d
 m

a
y
 l
e
a
d
 t
o
 p

ro
s
e
c
u
ti
o
n
 o

r 
C

iv
il 

p
ro

c
e
d
in

g
s
.

L
o
n
d
o
n
 B

o
ro

u
g
h
 o

f 
M

e
rt

o
n
 1

0
0
0
1
9
2
5
9
. 
2
0
1
2
.

3
3
6
 L

y
n
m

o
u
th

 A
v
e
n
u
e
 

S
c
a
le

 1
/1

2
5
0

D
a
te

 2
6
/1

1
/2

0
1
3

L
o
n
d
o
n
 B

o
ro

u
g
h
 o

f 
M

e
rt

o
n

1
0
0
 L

o
n
d
o
n
 R

o
a
d

M
o
rd

e
n

S
u
rr

e
y

S
M

4
 5

D
X

D
E

V
E

L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 C

O
N

T
R

O
L

Page 172



L
e
n
g
th

 6
6

6
c
m

 

5
2

C
M

 

S
te

p
s 

1
:2

5
 

S
H

E
D

 

L
O

G
 C

A
B

IN
  

S
te

p
s 

to
 s

h
ed

 

S
te

p
s 

to
 s

h
ed

 

S
te

p
s 

to
 s

h
ed

 

S
te

p
s 

to
 s

h
ed

 

Page 173



S
ca

le
 1

:2
5

 

1
2

1
cm

 

9
1

cm
 

S
te

p
s 

S
H

E
D

 
L

O
G

 C
A

B
IN

  

S
te

p
s 

S
te

p
s 

8
0

x
8

0
cm

 

D
o

o
r 

 

O
p

en
in

g
  

S
te

p
s 

S
te

p
s 

Plants 
Plants Plants 

Plants Plants Plants 

Page 174



S
ca

le
 1

:2
0

 

 

4
7

C
M

  

5
0

C
M

 

 

2
8

0
C

M
 

1
0

3
c
m

 

N
ei

g
h
b

o
u
rs

 G
ar

ag
e 

L
o

g
 C

ab
in

 

N
o

t 
to

 s
ca

le
 

N
o

t 
to

 s
ca

le
 

5
3

C
M

 

1
0

8
cm

 

T
re

ll
is

 o
n
 n

ei
g

h
b

o
u
rs

 s
id

e 

F
E

N
C

E
  

L
E

F
T

 S
ID

E
 

F
E

N
C

E
  

R
IG

H
T

 S
ID

E
 

2
4

0
C

M
 

2
4

0
C

M
 

F
en

ce
 W

al
l 

F
en

ce
 W

al
l 

D
ec

k
in

g
 L

e
v
el

  

E
x
is

ti
n

g
 B

as
e 

E
x
is

ti
n

g
 B

as
e 

Page 175



Page 176

This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE
12th December 2013.

UPRN APPLICATION NO. DATE VALID

Address/Site: 13/P1744 01/07/13
The Canons Leisure Centre
Madeira Road
Mitcham
CR4 4HD

Ward: Cricket Green

Proposal: Conversion of 2 x existing tarmacadan tennis
courts into 2 x multi use games areas with 6 x 6m
high floodlighting masts. 4.5m high weld-mesh
fencing to the perimeter and a net roof above.

Drawing Nos: 111-0701-001, 111-0701-002, 111-0701-004 Rev
A, 111-0701-005 Rev A, 111-0701-006 Rev A,
111-0701-2/D&A/Rev A, Lighting Design Report
(12/11/2013), Phase 1 Ecological Survey, Reply to
Planning Questions – 22/10/2013, Bat Survey
Report, Heritage Statement, Valuation Report, Bat
Mitigation Plan & Biodiversity Statement
(15/11/2013).

Contact Officer: Claire Berry (020 8545 3120)

RECOMMENDATION Grant permission subject to conditions

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 This application is brought before the Planning Applications Committee
as a result of objections received.

2. CHECKLIST INFORMATION.

• Heads of agreement: No.

• Is a screening opinion required: No.

• Is an Environmental Statement required: No.

• Has an Environmental Impact Assessment been submitted: No.

• Press notice: Yes.

• Site notice: Yes.

Agenda Item 11

Page 177



• Design Review Panel consulted: No.

• Number of neighbours consulted: 3

• External consultations: Natural England

• Number of jobs to be created: Not relevant.

3. SITE AND SURROUNDINGS

3.1 The application site forms part of the Canons Leisure Centre, which is
on the corner of Madeira Road and Commonside West in Mitcham.
The existing tennis courts are located towards the north west side of
the leisure centre site; adjacent to the bowling green and on the
boundary with the Cumberland Nursing Home.

3.2 The leisure centre site is located within the Mitcham Cricket Green
Conservation Area and the grounds include two listed buildings; The
Canons (Grade II*) and The Dovecote (Grade II). Open land beyond
the application site to the north east and south west is designated as
Metropolitan Open Land.

3.3 The site does not fall within a controlled parking zone or a flood risk
zone.

3.4 The site falls within designated open space. There are several trees in
the vicinity of the site, four of which will be removed as part of the
proposed development.

3.5 The site is covered by two Proposals Sites designations. The
application site itself is Proposal Site 25P with a proposed use as
“Indoor bowls centre” and the wider area is within Proposal Site 35P,
which has a proposed use as “Country Park”. The site is not adjacent
to sites of recognised nature conservation interest but it is adjacent to a
Green Corridor.

4. CURRENT PROPOSAL

4.1 The application is for the conversion of 2 x existing tarmacadan tennis
courts into 2 x Multi Use Games Areas (MUGAs) with 6 x 6m high
floodlighting masts, 4.5m high weld-mesh fencing to the perimeter and
a net roof above. The applicant has confirmed that whilst some MUGAs
can accommodate tennis, this particular MUGA will not due to the
different surfacing required.

4.2 In 2010 the Council’s Leisure Services commissioned a Playing Pitch
Strategy (PPS) which identified the lack of floodlit 3G Multi Use Games
Areas (MUGAs) in the borough.  It identified that older MUGAs have a
variety of surfaces and are less likely to be floodlit nor available for
public use. This surface will provide a dry/safe/ rubberised surface for
the increasing 50+ groups which meet in the Canons.   In 2010, when
Greenwich Leisure Limited (GLL) became the leisure centre contractor

Page 178



and signed a fifteen year contract, an opportunity arose to address the
PPS deficiency adjacent to the Leisure Centre.

4.3 The applicant advises that the “tennis” courts at the rear of the Canons
are in poor condition and have not been operated for 25 years, being
used only occasionally to store trees. The application seeks to convert
the courts into MUGAs to bring them back into use in a deprived ward
of the borough.

4.4 The MUGAs could not be sited elsewhere as there is nowhere else that
can provide staffing to administer bookings and carry out routine day to
day maintenance to the area.  Leisure and Culture officers have agreed
that GLL will provide the staff to run the facility on a day to day basis
and provide changing facilities in the Leisure Centre. The applicant
confirms that GLL will also ensure lighting times are strictly adhered to
and courts are empty on time.

4.5 The applicant has been successful in obtaining partner funding to
deliver this project in this location, to the value of £175k. Part of the
agreement is that they charge affordable rates to ensure that the facility
is sustainable and has a legacy.

4.6 The application as originally submitted comprised 8 metre high
floodlighting columns. It has since been amended to comprise 6 metre
high floodlighting columns. As part of this alteration a net roof has been
added to protect the lower floodlighting columns from damage caused
by footballs.

4.7 As part of the application, the applicant has submitted the following
documents;

• Planning Statement & Design and Access Statement – The document
provides detailed information on the use and construction of MUGAs,
the siting of the proposed MUGAs, the proposed fencing and the
proposed floodlighting columns.

• Heritage Statement – The document concludes that the proposed
MUGA site is mostly hidden from view with no direct views from
Canons House or Park Place. Replacement tree planting on the east
side of the copse to mitigate the impact and local concerns.

• Lighting Design – This document provides detailed guidance on the
proposed luminance levels.

• Phase 1 Ecological Survey – This report is based on a broad desktop
study on the entire copse.

• Bat Survey Report – This report follows the initial survey by focussing
on the impact on bats. It also relates to the entire copse.

• Bat Mitigation Plan – This study focuses solely on the application site.
It identifies that a licence will not be required for works as a roost will
not be destroyed and a bat will not be permanently deprived of its roost
site. It also confirms that changes to a foraging area of a maternity
colony of rare bats has been mitigated.

Page 179



• Statement from Ecological Consultant – This final report confirms that if
the measures outlined in the Bat Mitigation Plan along with dark netting
are made planning conditions, the impact on the woodland will be
successfully minimised and the bats will have an increased foraging
area. The report addresses all concerns raised in the ecological survey
and the bat survey.

5. RELEVANT PLANNING AND ENFORCEMENT HISTORY

5.1 09/P1767 – Advertisement consent refused in respect of the installation
of two non-illuminated wooden banner frames – one on Madeira Road
and one on Commonside West.

5.2 97/P0906 – Planning Permission granted in respect of installation of
closed circuit television cameras (nine in total) on six metre high poles
or wall bracket mounted within the grounds of the Canons Leisure
Centre and the Canons.

5.3 95/P1025 – Planning permission granted in respect of alterations to
Cumberland sports hall including the erection of roof extension,
installation of two external staircases leading from the proposed first
floor mezzanine level and the construction of a new glazed link
between existing pool gallery and the proposed mezzanine level
(Revisions to scheme granted planning permission 30 March 1995,
LBM ref 94/P1030).

.
5.4 94/P1030 – Planning permission granted in respect of raising the roof

of the Cumberland sports hall.

5.5 92/P0207 – Planning permission granted in respect of a two-storey
extension to the club house

6. CONSULTATION

6.1 The planning application has been publicised by means of a
conservation area and listed building press and site notice. Individual
letters were sent to three neighbouring properties. Thirty
representations were received, which raised the following planning
related concerns;

o Serious risk to wildlife, including the local bat population, and
damage to the green corridor;

o Further loss and damage to the trees and bats in the adjacent
woodland area;

o Introduction of unacceptable light pollution in the Mitcham
Cricket Green Conservation Area and in the setting of the listed
Park Place and Canons House.

o The proposed floodlighting will also have a detrimental impact
on local wildlife and local residents;

o There is a greater need for tennis courts than football pitches in
Mitcham. The tennis courts should therefore be restored and

Page 180



improved. Studies carried out by the Council show that the
provision of sports pitches is ‘significantly better’ than elsewhere
in the borough;

o The proposal is not in keeping with the conservation area;
o The use of the proposed pitches will generate noise pollution in

the park and adjacent bowling club.

6.2 Suggestions have been made in respect of the provision of a putting
green/skate board park. Officers note that this is not relevant to the
assessment and determination of this application.

6.3 One resident was concerned that the Council had not consulted Merton
Historical Society. Officers would note that the Council did seek the
input of its own Conservation Officer who requested that the
floodlighting columns were reduced to 6 metres high. Comments were
also received from the Mitcham Cricket Green Community and
Heritage Civic Society which raised concerns in respect of the above
outlined issues.

6.4 The plans do not indicate that the proposed facilities will be available
and affordable for local residents.

6.5 The occupier of 76 Mitcham Park questioned why they were not
consulted on the proposal. Officers would note that the Council
consulted those adjacent to the proposed MUGAs and also advertised
the proposals by means of a Conservation area press and site notice. It
is noted that 76 Mitcham Park is over 500 metres away from both the
grounds of the Canons and the actual application site.

6.6 Following discussion with the applicant, the height of the floodlighting
columns was reduced. All those who had previously objected, were re-
consulted. Six further letters of objection were received which
reiterated earlier concerns.

6.7 Future Merton Conservation Officer
The lighting columns should be no higher than 6 metres in order to
preserve the character and appearance of the conservation area and
the setting of the listed buildings. Officers note that this has
subsequently been addressed by the applicant who has reduced the
height of the columns to 6 metres.

6.8 Natural England
Natural England does not object to the proposed development in
respect of the protection of bats. On the basis of the information
available, their advice is that the proposed development is likely to
affect bats through damage or destruction of a foraging area for a
maternity roost of bats. They are satisfied however, that the proposed
mitigation is broadly in accordance with the requirements of the Bat
mitigation guidelines and should maintain the population identified in
the survey report. All works should proceed in accordance with the

Page 181



approved mitigation strategy, to maintain lighting curfews and habitat
management measures. Any amendments need to be agreed in
writing.

6.9 Natural England refer to proposals adjacent to local wildlife sites such
as e.g. A Site of Nature Conservation Importance (SNCI) and local
Nature Reserve (LNR) however this is not relevant to this application
site.

6.10 Development Control -Trees Officer
The Council’s Tree Officer initially raised concerns about the loss of
four trees, which the applicant satisfactorily addressed by amending
the plans to show 250 oak and beech whips in clumps over a 320
square metre area. Secondly concerns was raised in respect of the
high levels of light spillage which the applicant addressed by reducing
the height of the floodlighting columns to 6 metres. The applicant has
also included baffles for the floodlighting columns. Finally the Tree
Officer suggested that the four trees to be felled should be retained on
site to act as log piles to attract and encourage insects. The applicant
has agreed to this.

6.11 Future Merton Strategic Policy and Research Officer
Approval recommended subject to conditions regarding mitigation
measures, planting of native species, curfews and lighting. It is also
recommended that suitably worded informatives should be attached to
any planning decision referring to restrictions to vegetation clearance to
being outside the bird breeding season (October to March) and
ensuring that fox dens with dependent cubs are not disturbed.

6.12 Environmental Health Officer
No objections subject to the inclusion of conditions on light spillage and
hours of use.

7. POLICY CONTEXT

7.1 National Planning Policy Framework (March 2012)
Para 70 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should:

• “plan positively for the provision and use of shared space,

community facilities (such as local shops, meeting places, sports

venues, cultural buildings, public houses and places of worship) and

other local services to enhance the sustainability of communities

and residential environments;

• guard against the unnecessary loss of valued facilities and services,
particularly where this would reduce the community’s ability to meet
its day-to-day needs;…”

7.2 Para 74 of the NPPF states that existing open space, sports and
recreational buildings and land, including play fields, should not be built
on unless:

Page 182



• “an assessment has been undertaken which has clearly shown
the open space, building or land to be surplus to requirements;
or

• the loss resulting from the proposed development would be
replaced by equivalent or better provision in terms of quantity
and quality in a suitable location; or

• the development is for alternative sport and recreational
provision, the needs for which clearly outweigh the loss”.

7.3 London Plan (2011)
The relevant policies in the London Plan include:
3.1 (Ensuring Equal Life Chances for All)
3.16 (Protection and Enhancement of Social Infrastructure)
3.19 (Sports Facilities)
6.9 (Cycling)
6.13 (Parking)
7.3 (Designing Out Crime)
7.4 (Local Character)
7.8 (Heritage Assets and Archaeology)
7.15 (Reducing Noise and Enhancing Soundscapes)
7.18 (Open Space)
7.19 (Biodiversity and Access to Nature)
7.21 (Trees & Woodlands)

7.4 Merton LDF Core Planning Strategy (2011)
The relevant policies in the Merton LDF Core Planning Strategy
include:
CS11 (Infrastructure)
CS13 (Open Space, Nature Conservation, Leisure and Culture)
CS14 (Design)
CS18 (Active Transport)
CS19 (Public Transport)
CS20 (Parking, Servicing and Delivery)

7.5 Merton Unitary Development Plan (2003)
The relevant policies in the Merton UDP (2003) include:
BE.1 (Conservation Areas)
BE.8 (Setting of Listed Buildings)
BE.16 (Urban Design)
BE.22 (Design of New Development)
L.11 (The Protection of Existing Facilities and Land)
L.12 (Provision of New Facilities)
NE.2 Development in proximity to MOL.
NE.4 (Wandle Valley Country Park)
NE.8 (Green Corridors)
NE.11 (Trees; Protection)
PE.2 (Pollution and Amenity)
PE.3 (Light Pollution)
PE.8 (Contaminated, Vacant and Derelict Land)
Site Proposal 25P – Proposed Use: Indoor Bowls Centre

Page 183



Site Proposal 35P – Proposed Use: Country Park

8. PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS

8.1 The planning considerations in this case relate to the principle of the
development and the impact of the proposal on the local biodiversity
and on the character and appearance of the surrounding area including
visual and neighbour amenity.

8.2 Principle of Development – Loss of the Tennis Courts
Notwithstanding the identification of land including the application site
for an indoor bowls centre under site proposal 25P in the Unitary
Development Plan the proposals would not preclude development in
the long term were the Council to review its long term aspirations for
the Canons complex of sports facilities. Officers would however note
that this proposal designation is not rolled forward into the draft Site
and Policies Plan which is at an advanced stage and to be the subject
of an examination in public in January. The proposal comprises an
alternative sports use benefiting from improved facilities within an area
of open space and is accordingly considered acceptable in principle.

8.3 Merton’s Playing Pitch Study (June 2011), which did not include the
Canons’ tennis courts in its list of existing courts (page 115-116), found
with regards to tennis that “There are 114 tennis courts in community
use in Merton on club and park sites, together with at least 42 courts at
secondary schools.” and “There are considered to be sufficient courts
to meet demand now and in the future.” Although not part of the
Development Plan, the study recommended to: “Retain the current
level and distribution of tennis courts to meet current and future
demand within the borough”. The loss of the tennis courts is therefore
considered to be acceptable.

8.4 Evidence Base to Support an Alternative Use
London Plan Policy 7.18 states that the ‘replacement of one type of
open space with another is unacceptable unless an up to date needs
assessment shows that this would be appropriate’. On a similar note
Core Strategy Policy CS13 states that; ‘based on assessment of need
and capacity, opportunities in culture, sport, recreation and play will be
promoted by safeguarding the existing viable cultural, leisure,
recreational and sporting facilities and supporting proposals for new
and improved facilities;…’

8.5 In accordance with the NPPF, London Plan Policies and Core Strategy
Policies the applicant draws attention to Merton’s Playing Pitch Study
(June 2011). The report, which previously clarified a satisfactory
number of tennis courts across the borough; shows that the supply of
football pitches in Mitcham is significantly lower than other areas, it
having a total of only 6.73% of pitch provision in the borough.
Representations received from neighbouring occupiers highlight the
following statement in this report; “MUGAs are widely distributed

Page 184



throughout the borough but there is significantly better provision in
Mitcham and Colliers Woof than other parts of the borough”. However,
the applicant has pointed out that this refers to old pitches which are
very much in need of an upgrade, often not floodlit and are mainly
located in schools which can make access difficult. The proposed
MUGAs are modern 3G pitches of which there is currently one in
Raynes Park school and an older one in Lavender Park which is in
need of an upgrade.

8.6 The data in the Merton’s Playing Pitch Study (June 2011) shows that
there is a greater need for MUGAs in Mitcham than tennis courts and
the principle of the provision of these MUGAs, in this location, is in
accordance with planning policy.

Visual amenity
8.7 The Council’s Conservation Officer has stated that the height of the

floodlighting columns should not exceed 6 metres, and accordingly the
applicant has reduced the height to 6 metres. It is a matter of
judgement as to whether the proposal will preserve the character and
appearance of the conservation area in accordance be policy BE.1 in
the Council’s Unitary Development Plan. In this instance, officers
consider that owing to the reduced height of the floodlighting and its
siting within a leisure centre, that the impact on the conservation area
would be minimal. The site is in fairly close proximity to listed buildings
however, it is separated by the large leisure centre building. As such,
the proposal would not detrimentally affect the setting of the listed
buildings.

8.8 Development on land outside the boundaries of MOL but in proximity to
it may damage the open character of the MOL and UDP policy NE.2
seeks to safeguard the visual amenities of MOL from inappropriate
development that is in proximity to it. The floodlighting would be seen
from neighbouring MOL but against the backdrop of the Canons
Leisure centre building from the north and alongside the centre when
seen from the south. The proposals would have a limited impact on
views from and into MOL and would neither mar character of the open
areas or the backcloth to these open spaces.

Biodiversity/Wildlife Issues
8.9 London Plan policy 3.19 states that ‘development proposals that

increase or enhance the provision of sports and recreation facilities will
be supported. … The provision of floodlighting should be supported in
areas where there is an identified need for sports facilities to increase
sports participation opportunities, unless the floodlighting gives rise to
demonstrable harm to local community or biodiversity.’

8.10 London plan policy 7.19 states that development proposals should
wherever possible, make a positive contribution to the protection,
enhancement, creation and management of biodiversity. ‘Net gains’,
‘positive’ and ‘enhanced’ biodiversity outcomes are also required by the

Page 185



NPPF (paragraph 109) and Merton’s Core Planning Strategy Policy
CS13.

8.11 The proposed mitigation for the 301sqm area of proposed green
corridor to be built on, which at the time of a site visit was vegetated
mainly by nettles and two trees, consists of a 320sqm area within the
existing green corridor. This currently has mowed grass for sport/active
recreation use, and will have a relaxed mowing regime and 250
assorted whips (native broadleaved species) planted. According to the
ecologist: “The relaxed mowing regime will increase the insect food
supply for birds and bats and strengthen the wildlife corridor,
particularly for small mammal species such as hedgehog and voles. It
will enable movement to and from adjacent gardens as well as provide
cover and food sources.”

8.12 With suitable conditions to ensure the delivery and maintenance of the
area shown on drawing no.111-0701-006 Rev.A, the proposed
mitigation measures would be acceptable and in time, would be likely
to result in a net gain in biodiversity.

8.13 Natural England advise that all species of bat are European Protected
Species and it is for the developer to decide whether a species licence
will be needed. A licence may be required to carry out mitigation work
as well as for impact directly connected with the development. It is for
the local planning authority to consider whether the permission would
offend against Article 12(1) of the Habitats Directive and if so, whether
the application would be likely to receive a licence.

8.15 The ecological consultant advised that a licence would not be required.

Officers are satisfied that the proposals would not offend against Article
12(1) of the Habitats Directive (or Regulation 41 of The Conservation of
Habitats and Species Regulations 2010, as amended) and a licence is
therefore unlikely to be required.

8.16 Residential Amenity
The closest residential building is the nursing home in Whitford
Gardens which lies to the north of the application site. There are high
trees and hedges on that boundary which would restrict the view of the
new MUGA from the nursing home and vice versa and the Council’s
Environmental Health Officer has confirmed that the impact of the
floodlighting on the nursing home would be minimal. A condition to
prevent light spillage and to restrict hours of use would provide further
protection. The proposal is accordingly considered acceptable in terms
of residential amenity.

9 CONCLUSION

9.1 The proposal would provide new and improved sports facilities meeting
a recognized need, would enhance biodiversity in the area and by
virtue of appropriate mitigation measures would not affect the

Page 186



protection of bats in the area. It is acknowledged that the proposals
would have some impact on the conservation area. However, the key
new feature, the floodlighting columns have been reduced in height
and when considered against the backdrop of the various building that
make up the Cannons cluster of sports facilities, and the siting of the
proposals which are relatively remote to listed buildings and other
structures, it may be considered that the character and appearance of
the conservation area would be preserved and that on balance the
potential benefits outweigh any visual impact. The proposal is
accordingly considered acceptable and in accordance with the London
Plan (2011), The Council’s Core Strategy (2011) and the Council’s
Adopted Unitary Development Plan (2003).

RECOMMENDATION

Grant permission subject to the following conditions;

1. A.1 Commencement of development within 3 years

2. A.7 Approved Plans

3. B.3 Materials as Specified

4. D.10 External Lighting.

5. Non-Standard The mitigation measures shown on drawing no. 111-
0701-006 Rev A shall be carried out prior to commencement of
development hereby approved and shall be retained thereafter.
Reason: To protect the biodiversity and local wildlife in the area and
to comply with policies CS13 in the Merton LDF Core Planning
Strategy (2011) and 7.19 in the London Plan (2011).

6. Non Standard The use of the floodlighting shall cease by 9.45pm
each day and shall not be used at all during the months of May,
June, July and August.
Reason: To protect the biodiversity and local wildlife in the area, to
protect the amenities of neighboring occupiers and to comply with
policies PE.2 in The Council’s Unitary Development Plan, CS13 in
the Council’s Core Strategy 2011 and 7.19 in the London Plan.

7. Non Standard Prior to first use, a monitoring report setting out the
mitigation methods as detailed in the Bat Mitigation Plan 2013 shall
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.
Reason: To protect the biodiversity and local wildlife in the area and
to comply with policies CS13 in the Merton LDF Core Planning
Strategy (2011) and 7.19 in the London Plan (2011).

Page 187



Page 188



T
h
is

 m
a
p
 i
s
 b

a
s
e
d
 o

n
 O

rd
n
a
n
c
e
 S

u
rv

e
y
 m

a
te

ri
a
l 
w

it
h

th
e
 p

e
rm

is
s
io

n
 o

f 
O

rd
n
a
n
c
e
 S

u
rv

e
y
 o

n
 b

e
h
a
lf
 o

f 
H

M
S

O
.

U
n
a
u
th

o
ri
s
e
d
 r

e
p
ro

d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
fr

in
g
e
s
 C

ro
w

n
 C

o
p
y
ri
g
h
t

a
n
d
 m

a
y
 l
e
a
d
 t
o
 p

ro
s
e
c
u
ti
o
n
 o

r 
C

iv
il 

p
ro

c
e
d
in

g
s
.

L
o
n
d
o
n
 B

o
ro

u
g
h
 o

f 
M

e
rt

o
n
 1

0
0
0
1
9
2
5
9
. 
2
0
1
2
.

T
h
e
 C

a
n
o
n
s
 L

e
is

u
re

 C
e
n
tr

e
S

c
a
le

 1
/2

5
0
0

D
a
te

 2
6
/1

1
/2

0
1
3

L
o
n
d
o
n
 B

o
ro

u
g
h
 o

f 
M

e
rt

o
n

1
0
0
 L

o
n
d
o
n
 R

o
a
d

M
o
rd

e
n

S
u
rr

e
y

S
M

4
 5

D
X

D
E

V
E

L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 C

O
N

T
R

O
L

Page 189



U
n
d

C
o
ld

56

61

74

23

L
B

B
lo

w
s

95

84

C
P

WEST

COMMONSIDE

P
o
s
ts

C
o
ld

B
lo

w
s

P
o
s
ts

68

E
l
S

u
b

S
ta

63

D
a

y
C

e
n
tr

e

71

T
C

B
s

S
p

o
rt

s
G

ro
u

n
d

T
e
n

n
is

C
o

u
rt

s

S
p

o
rt

s
G

ro
u
n

d

2
3

.5
m

D
ra

in

42

61

(P
H

)

N
u

rs
in

g
H

o
m

e

6
7

T
h
e

W
in

d
m

ill

H
a
ll

P
a

v
ili

o
n

40

66

54

1
5

L
e

is
u

re
C

e
n

tr
e

T
h

e
C

a
n

o
n

s

F
n

COMMONSIDE WEST

2
4

.9
m

P
C

s

G
y
m

n
a

s
iu

m

1

72

M
A

D
E

IR
A

R
O

A
D

M
A

D
E

IR
A

R
O

A
D

2
5

.0
m

2
3

.3
m

P
o

n
d

1
4

6

1
1

M
e

rt
o

n
H

e
ri

ta
g
e

C
e

n
tr

e
C

a
n

o
n
s

H
o

u
s
e

1
3

1
7

C
a

n
o

n
s

L
o

d
g
e

1
6

T
h
e

KINGSLEIGH PLACE

53

15

48

C
P

58

B
ro

o
k

H
o
u

s
e

16to24

E
l
S

u
b

S
ta

C
lin

ic
F

re
s
h

fi
e

ld

D
a

y
C

e
n
tr

e

C
H

A
R

T
C

L
O

S
E

B
o

w
lin

g
G

re
e

n

D
ra

in

M
e

th
o

d
is

t
C

h
u

rc
h

M
it
c
h
a

m

7

1

7

5

6

BIR
C
H
ES

C
LO

SE

1

21

9

CRICKET
GREEN

G
P

2
1

.6
m

2
1

.5
m

62

Parade

B
ra

m
co

te

60

4

M
o
n

P
o
s
ts

2
1

.9
m

7
4

1
to

2
8

P
H

B
ra

m
c
o

te

1

1a

P
a

v
ill

io
n

7
8

T
h
e

C
o
u
rt

1

N
o

r
t

h

R
e
d
L
in
e

D
a
te
:
M
a
rc
h
2
0
1
3

S
ca
le
:
1
:1
5
0
0
a
t
A
3

1
1
1
-0
7
0
1
-0
0
2

N
u
m
b
e
r

D
ra
w
in
g

C
a
n
o
n
s
L
e
is
u
re
C
e
n
tr
e
,

M
a
d
e
ir
a
R
o
a
d

M
S

c
-

P
a
rk

6
6

5
5

8
2

9
3

0
2

0
T

e
l.

9
Q

F
S

E
1
0

L
O

N
D

O
N

R
o
a

d
N

o
rm

a
n

5
3

B
u
s
in

e
s
s

G
re

e
n
w

ic
h

3
:

U
n
it

w
w

w
.m

s
c
-g

lo
b

a
l.
c
o
.u

k

in
fo

@
m

s
c
-g

lo
b

a
l.
c
o
.u

k

C
o

n
s

u
lt

a
n

ts

Page 190



T
e
n
n
is

C
o
u
rt

s

L
e

is
u

re
C

e
n

tr
e

T
h

e
C

a
n

o
n

s

B
o
w

lin
g

G
re

e
n

N
o

r
t

h

3
9

.0
0

m

3
5

.0
0

m

1
9

.5
0

m

1
9

.5
0

m

8
.0

0
m

E
x
is

ti
n
g

fe
n
c
e

Pr
op
os
ed
la
yo
ut

D
a
te
:
M
a
rc
h
2
0
1
3

S
ca
le
:
1
:2
5
0
a
t
A
3

1
1
1
-0
7
0
1
-0
0
1

N
u
m
b
e
r

D
ra
w
in
g

C
a
n
o
n
s
L
e
is
u
re
C
e
n
tr
e
,

M
a
d
e
ir
a
R
o
a
d

M
S

c
-

P
a
rk

6
6

5
5

8
2

9
3

0
2

0
T

e
l.

9
Q

F
S

E
1
0

L
O

N
D

O
N

R
o
a

d
N

o
rm

a
n

5
3

B
u
s
in

e
s
s

G
re

e
n
w

ic
h

3
:

U
n
it

w
w

w
.m

s
c
-g

lo
b

a
l.
c
o
.u

k

in
fo

@
m

s
c
-g

lo
b

a
l.
c
o
.u

k

C
o

n
s

u
lt

a
n

ts

Page 191



Page 192



Page 193



Page 194



PDF created with pdfFactory Pro trial version www.software-partners.co.uk

Page 195



PDF created with pdfFactory Pro trial version www.software-partners.co.uk

Page 196



PDF created with pdfFactory Pro trial version www.software-partners.co.uk

Page 197



PDF created with pdfFactory Pro trial version www.software-partners.co.uk

Page 198



PDF created with pdfFactory Pro trial version www.software-partners.co.uk

Page 199



PDF created with pdfFactory Pro trial version www.software-partners.co.uk

Page 200



PDF created with pdfFactory Pro trial version www.software-partners.co.uk

Page 201



PDF created with pdfFactory Pro trial version www.software-partners.co.uk

Page 202



PDF created with pdfFactory Pro trial version www.software-partners.co.uk

Page 203



PDF created with pdfFactory Pro trial version www.software-partners.co.uk

Page 204



PDF created with pdfFactory Pro trial version www.software-partners.co.uk

Page 205



PDF created with pdfFactory Pro trial version www.software-partners.co.uk

Page 206



PDF created with pdfFactory Pro trial version www.software-partners.co.uk

Page 207



PDF created with pdfFactory Pro trial version www.software-partners.co.uk

Page 208



PDF created with pdfFactory Pro trial version www.software-partners.co.uk

Page 209



PDF created with pdfFactory Pro trial version www.software-partners.co.uk

Page 210



PDF created with pdfFactory Pro trial version www.software-partners.co.uk

Page 211



PDF created with pdfFactory Pro trial version www.software-partners.co.uk

Page 212



PDF created with pdfFactory Pro trial version www.software-partners.co.uk

Page 213



PDF created with pdfFactory Pro trial version www.software-partners.co.uk

Page 214



PDF created with pdfFactory Pro trial version www.software-partners.co.uk

Page 215



PDF created with pdfFactory Pro trial version www.software-partners.co.uk

Page 216



PDF created with pdfFactory Pro trial version www.software-partners.co.uk

Page 217



PDF created with pdfFactory Pro trial version www.software-partners.co.uk

Page 218



PDF created with pdfFactory Pro trial version www.software-partners.co.uk

Page 219



PDF created with pdfFactory Pro trial version www.software-partners.co.uk

Page 220



PDF created with pdfFactory Pro trial version www.software-partners.co.uk

Page 221



PDF created with pdfFactory Pro trial version www.software-partners.co.uk

Page 222



Page 223



Page 224



Page 225



Page 226



Page 227



Page 228



      MSc-Consultants 
              Unit 3 : Greenwich Centre Business Park            53 Norman Road                   LONDON            SE10 9QF 

               T : 020 8293 6655                                                     F : 020 8269 0440                  E : info@MSc-Global.co.uk 

  
TECHNICAL REPORT 111-0701-2/D&A 

 

PROPOSED MULTI USE GAMES AREA 
 

AT 
 

CANONS LEISURE CENTRE 
 

MADEIRA ROAD, MITCHAM 
 
 
  Planning Statement  
 

and 
 
 Design and Access Statement to accompany 
 
 Planning Application 
 

 

 Prepared for 
 

 

 

 

Prepared by 

 

����������

 .......................................... 

Bob Froud MIM, I.Eng 

(Senior Consultant) 

  

 

 

 

Date of Report: 3rd June 2013 
  

Page 229



            MSc-Consultants                                                                                                         111-0701-2/D&A  

2 
 

����

1. INTRODUCTION 

 

This design and access statement is submitted by MSc Consultants Ltd on behalf of 

the London Borough of Merton in support of their planning application to develop a 

floodlit outdoor multi-use games area (MUGA) at Canons Leisure Centre at Madeira 

Road, Mitcham. 

 

The proposed new MUGA will be enclosed by 4.5m high weld-mesh fence and lit by 

an arrangement of 6 no. floodlighting masts, each 8m high.  The 6 masts will support 

a total of 8 no. HiLux Match 107 luminaires each fitted with a 1kW metal halide bulb.  

The lighting design is attached and has been prepared by Luminance Pro Lighting 

Systems Ltd.  

 

The MUGA will be primarily used for football and general sports training.  It will be 

built above the existing (disused) tennis courts which are located on the eastern side 

of the natural turf bowling green. The dimensions of the existing tennis courts are 

31m in width (E-W) by 34m in length (N-S). Photographs of the proposed area are 

shown in Appendix 1 of this report. The existing macadam surfaced tennis courts 

(block of two courts) are surrounded by 3m high chainlink fencing which is in a very 

poor condition. There is no floodlighting on the existing tennis courts but there is on 

the adjacent bowling green (to the west of the tennis courts)  

 

MSC’s Drawing No 111-0701-001 shows the location and orientation of the proposed 

new MUGA. The drawing shows a new MUGA measuring 39m in width x 35m in 

length oriented in an approximately north/south orientation. The MUGA will be divided 

into two pitches each of dimensions 19.5m in width x 35m in length each which meets 

FA and Sport England guidelines for a small sided football pitch. The surround fence 

including the pitch divider fence will be 4.5m ‘twin wire’ weld-mesh. The divider fence 

will be ‘double skinned’ i.e. panels on each side of the fence post.    

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 230



            MSc-Consultants                                                                                                         111-0701-2/D&A  

3 
 

 

2. THE DEVELOPMENT AND PROPOSED DESIGN 

 

 The attached drawings show the design of the MUGA in plan and elevation. There 

are a number of areas of the design that require some explanation, namely, layout, 

fencing, floodlighting, and construction.   

 

2.1 MUGA location and layout 

 

The proposal is to construct a multi-sports games area (MUGA) at the northern end of 

Canons Leisure Centre, adjacent to the Bowling Green. The new MUGA will occupy 

the footprint of the existing macadam tennis courts and extend 8m into the existing 

copse the east to provide football facilities of suitable width. 

 

 

 

AERIAL VIEW OF CANONS LEISURE CENTRE (Madeira Road, Mitcham) 

BOWLING GREEN 

PROPOSED     

MUGA 

CANONS LEISURE CENTRE 

Page 231



            MSc-Consultants                                                                                                         111-0701-2/D&A  

4 
 

 

Location (Streetmap) 

 

2.2 Fencing 

  

 The fencing around any sports facility has to perform two functions, a) stop balls and 

b) afford the required security.  The proposed design shows a 4.5m high, weld mesh 

fence around the pitch. The mesh infill is to be of green and have a 200mm x 50mm 

aperture size weld mesh having 8mm gauge wire. The lower 1.2m of the fence is to 

be of a ‘Super Sport Rebound’ twin wire construction to provide good football rebound 

properties. The fence height has been proposed at 4.5m to reduce the likelihood of 

balls being kicked out of the pitches. The FA recommend 4.5m high fencing. 

 

 The type of fencing proposed is shown in the photographs below. 

 

Page 232



            MSc-Consultants                                                                                                         111-0701-2/D&A  

5 
 

 

Lower 1.2m ‘Super Sport Rebound’ 

 

 

PROPOSED ZAUN TYPE FENCING (OR SIMILAR)  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 233



            MSc-Consultants                                                                                                         111-0701-2/D&A  

6 
 

 

2.3 Floodlighting 

 

2.3.1 Proposed column arrangement 

 

 The submitted drawings show an arrangement of 6 No. floodlight masts, each 8m 

high. This arrangement will provide the necessary performance required by the 

Football Association of 200 lux for facilities of this type. The arrangement will also 

minimize the overspill directly around the facility together with sky glow. The 

recommendations contained in the Bat survey report prepared for LB Merton have 

been taken into account when designing the lighting system.   

 

The height of the columns has been set at 8m, which has been calculated to be the 

best possible height to allow a good concentration of light over the pitches with 

minimum spillage around the perimeter. If the columns were reduced in height, there 

would be a need to aim the lights further upwards from the horizontal thus increasing 

spillage and sky glow. 

 

2.3.2 Column type 

 

The light fittings will be mounted on root mounted galvanized steel columns. A 

photograph of a typical column of this type is included overleaf. The normal finish for 

the masts would be galvanised but for this facility will be painted green to match the 

fencing.  

 

2.3.3 Illuminance levels 

 

As it is proposed to design a minimum average maintained horizontal illuminance of 

200 lux over the playing surface. This will be suitable for football and general sport 

training. To allow for normal deterioration of the system over the first few months of 

use, the initial value on installation will be approximately 25% higher than this 

maintained value. 

 

 

 

 

Page 234



            MSc-Consultants                                                                                                         111-0701-2/D&A  

7 
 

 

2.3.4 Type of luminaries 

 

To provide good colour rendering, the luminaires should be high pressure mercury 

discharge halide type, which give a particularly good spectral distribution. The Hi Lux 

Match 107/WB 17B is satisfactory for this application. 

 

 

HI-LUX – Match107/WB 17B 

 

Page 235



            MSc-Consultants                                                                                                         111-0701-2/D&A  

8 
 

 

HI-LUX – Match107/WB 17B fittings installed on tennis courts  

with the type of columns proposed for Canons Leisure Centre 

 

2.3.5 Number of luminaries 

 

The proposed design is based on using Hi Lux Match 107/WB 17B 1 kW luminaires.  

To achieve the 200 lux Illuminance specified would require a total of 8 No. luminaires, 

1 No. on each of 4 columns on the sides and 2 No. on each of the two middle 

columns. 

 

2.3.6 Uniformity of illuminance 

 

       Good uniformity is important and the FA recommend a minimum of 0.6 (min/ave). The 

proposed min/ave value is 0.65. 

 

2.3.7 Pollution control 

 

 In view of the nature of this location, it is recognised that special precautions will be 

needed to minimise the effects of light pollution outside the MUGA and into the 

property to the north. The luminaires proposed are of a double assymetric design, 

with the lamps being located high up at the back of the luminaire, the luminare will 

have a flat glass screen which is positioned in the horizontal, this minimizes sky glow 

and the visible impact of the lamps. These type of luminaries have been specifically 

designed to provide a sharp cut-off for use where low light pollution is required and 

are of the type recommended in the Bat survey report.  

Page 236



            MSc-Consultants                                                                                                         111-0701-2/D&A  

9 
 

 

 After consultation with Alison Fure (Bat report author), we will also partly screen the 

northern and western fence lines with green netting to cut down on light overspill and 

fit back plates to the luminaires on the western perimeter of the courts. It is proposed 

to mount the netting at 1.5m above ground level to the cover the fence up to 4m. This 

will produce a significant amount of wind loading on the fence posts and the fence 

posts will need to be sized appropriately to accommodate this load. 

 
  

  

 

Green Screening Net 

 

 The lighting design report which accompanies this application shows a computer 

generated light overspill pattern for the proposed design down to the 1 lux level. As 

guidance, 5 lux is the intensity of street lighting and the 1 lux the intensity of full 

moonlight. Page 7 of the design shows only a 1 lux overlap onto the face of the 

buildings to the north which are 10m away from the proposed MUGA. The 5 lux 

contour is not touching the face of the building. The contours, take no account of 

the screening effect of existing trees but do take into account the screening 

effect of the fence netting. Even with leaf drop during the winter months, the trees 

to the north of the MUGA will still provide significant screening. 

 

2.3.8 Floodlight Use 

  

 The floodlights will be used seven days a week. 

 

The proposed opening time for the new MUGA will be 8am until 9.30pm seven days 

per week. One light will remain on until 9.45pm to allow safe egress for users. The 

lights will be wired to an automatic timer which switches them off at 9.30pm (apart 

from the egress light which switches off 15 minutes later).  

 

Page 237



            MSc-Consultants                                                                                                         111-0701-2/D&A  

10 
 

 

3g five-a-side pitch at 200 lux lighting level 

 

 

 

 

2.4 MUGA construction 

 

The predominant sports use of the MUGA’s is expected to be football. For this 

reason, the surface of the pitch will surfaced with be a long-pile (60mm pile length), 

sand/rubber-filled ‘3G’ type synthetic turf above a 15mm in-situ formed rubber 

shockpad.    

 

At tender stage, samples of the proposed materials will be called for and the 

successful contractor will be required to provide formal, reference samples of the 

surfacing components against which deliveries to site will be compared.  

 

On completion, the pitch will be tested and certified as compliant with the specified 

parameters before Practical Completion is awarded.  

 

The existing macadam courts will be broken up and the arisings taken off site. The 

formation will be excavated, trimmed and graded to a level 430mm below existing 

ground level.  

 

After compaction and consolidation of the formation, a drainage system of lateral 

perforated drains will be installed within the formation. These will be 80mm diameter  

perforated pipes at 7 – 10m centres, connected to a 120mm perimeter collector drain 

Page 238



            MSc-Consultants                                                                                                         111-0701-2/D&A  

11 
 

and from there connected into the existing surface water drainage outfall. The 

formation will then be treated with weed killer and overlaid with a geotextile 

membrane, which will also line the drainage trenches. The drainage trenches will then 

be backfilled with permeable rounded drainage shingle. 

 

The stone sub-base will then be laid onto the prepared formation which will comprise 

a porous, frost-resistant crushed stone layer (MOT Type 1 grading) of not less than 

300mm depth. The stone will be laid and rolled in layers not exceeding 150mm to 

ensure compaction. 

 

Above the stone layer will be installed a 65mm thick porous macadam base in two 

layers i.e. 40mm thick base course and 25mm thick wearing course. 

 

The construction will be retained within 150mm x 50mm pcc edgings.     

 

A root barrier will be installed outside the N, W and E boundaries of the new MUGA to 

protect the construction against tree roots. 

 

Each stage of the construction process, from initial setting-out to completion of the 

perimeter macadam surface will be subjected to inspection and testing by MSc before 

the contractor is authorised to progress the works to the next stage. 

 

2.5 Tree removal (landscaping) 

  

The new MUGA will extend 8 m into the copse to the east of the tennis courts. It will 

be necessary to remove two trees within the new MUGA footprint and also two trees 

and bushes outside the MUGA footprint to eliminate leaf drop on to the MUGA 

surface and prevent root intrusion into the MUGA construction. The tree survey, 

Ecological survey and Bat survey are attached to this report. The client intends to re-

plant trees nearby and a suggested location is shown below although this is subject to 

reappraisal.  

 

Page 239



            MSc-Consultants                                                                                                         111-0701-2/D&A  

12 
 

 

Proposed tree removal and proposed new planting 

 

 

 

 

3. ACCESS  

 

 Construction traffic will enter site by Commonside West Road.  

 

 There will be two double gates into the new MUGA (one into each of the pitches) for 

maintenance vehicles and users. Access will be fully DDA compliant.   

 

 The size of the facility and total number of outside users at any one time can be 

accommodated within the current parking arrangements. 

 

  

 

 

 END OF REPORT  

 

 

 

  

Page 240



            MSc-Consultants                                                                                                         111-0701-2/D&A  

13 
 

 

 

 

APPENDIX 1 

Photographs of proposed site 
�

 

View from SW corner of existing tennis courts looking towards the copse 

 

 

Looking towards the ‘copse’ from western side of tennis courts 

(note tree debris on tennis courts) 

Page 241



            MSc-Consultants                                                                                                         111-0701-2/D&A  

14 
 

 

View from eastern side of tennis courts towards bowling green 

 

View of Copse 

  

Page 242



            MSc-Consultants                                                                                                         111-0701-2/D&A  

15 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX 2 

ECOLOGICAL REPORT 

  

Page 243



            MSc-Consultants                                                                                                         111-0701-2/D&A  

16 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX 3 

BAT SURVEY 

Page 244



            MSc-Consultants                                                                                                         111-0701-2/D&A  

17 
 

APPENDIX 4 

TREE VALUATION REPORT 

 

(PLAN FROM PAGE 6 SHOWN BELOW) 

 

 

Page 245



            MSc-Consultants                                                                                                         111-0701-2/D&A  

18 
 

APPENDIX 5 

DRAWINGS LIST 

 

111-0701-001 

Proposed layout 

(red line shows footprint of existing tennis courts) 

 

111-0701-002 

Blue and red line drawing 

(site boundary – blue, new muga – red)  

 

111-0701-003 

Trees to be removed and new planting location 

 

111-0701-004  

front elevation viewed from south  

(black line denotes existing tennis courts) 

 

111-0701-005 

Side elevation viewed from west  

(black line denotes existing tennis courts) 

  

Page 246



            MSc-Consultants                                                                                                         111-0701-2/D&A  

19 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX 6 

LIGHTING DESIGN 

(Prepared by LPLS) 

Page 247



Page 248



Page 249



Page 250



Page 251



Page 252



Page 253



  

 

 

 �

��������	
����������������������������������������������������

���������������	�������
�

 

 

Tel/fax 020 8974 6670 
Mob.0786 750 7086 
Email alison@furesfen.co.uk 
Website: www.furesfen.co.uk 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
PHASE 1 ECOLOGICAL SURVEY, 
THE CANONS, MADEIRA ROAD, 

MITCHAM. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
To: 
 

From: 
Alison Fure  

 
November, 2011 

28, Bonner Hill Rd 
Kingston upon Thames 
Surrey KT1 3HE 

 

Page 254



Ecological Survey Report                                                              November, 2011 

Furesfen 

 

1

 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 

1.1 PURPOSE  

A Phase 1 Ecological Survey was commissioned at land situated at Canons Leisure 

Centre and Recreation Ground, Madeira Road, Mitcham (TQ279685). The survey 

was carried out by A. Fure, holder of protected species licenses including bat license, 

no 20110691. This was in advance of plans to reinstate two dis-used tennis courts 

and construct an adjacent Multi-use Games Area (MUGA). The Lawn Tennis 

minimum lighting standards will be achieved by providing 6 Metal Halide Hi-Lux 

luminaires placed on 8 metre high lighting columns. Unspecified lighting is proposed 

at the MUGA. 

 

1.2 SITE DESIGNATIONS 

The tennis courts and proposed MUGA are situated to north of the Canons Leisure 

Centre and at Canons recreation ground.  The nearest designated site is the Canons 

Pond, which is a Borough Site of Local Importance for nature conservation interest. 

To the east lies Mitcham Common, Site of Metropolitan Importance for Nature 

Conservation (Site M93) incorporating Cranmer Green Local Nature Reserve (LNR). 

1.5 km south-west lies the Wandle river and part of Ravensbury Park, which were 

designated as part of a Site of Metropolitan Importance for Nature Conservation (Site 

M91 – the Upper River Wandle) by the former London Ecology Unit. It is identified as 

a Site of Importance for Nature Conservation in the Merton Unitary Development 

Plan (UDP). The central grassland area (Ravensbury Meadow) and northern tip of 

the Park are not included in the Metropolitan site. The Park is also designated as 

Metropolitan Open Land, Open Space and Green Chain. Ravensbury Park (7.27 Ha) 

was recently designated a Local Nature Reserve.  

 

1.3 ADDITIONAL SITES OF LOCAL IMPORTANCE 

Nearby sites of Local Importance for nature conservation include St Peter and St 

Paul’s Churchyard, important for its grassland. The church or its mature trees could 

provide opportunities for roosting bats. To the south-east lie London Playing Fields, 

where there are mature trees, particularly horse chestnuts and limes along the 

western and northern boundaries. A belt of trees and scrub on the park’s shared 

boundary with a waste transfer station is divided by Barons Walk, an eighteenth 

century path. The southern Tram link and railway line to the east, act as additional 

corridors for wildlife moving in and out of the area. 

Page 255



Ecological Survey Report                                                              November, 2011 

Furesfen 

 

2

1.4 HABITAT AND POTENTIAL 

Together these areas create a varied suite of habitats incorporating: wetland areas 

including three ponds; extensive tree canopy cover; as well as grassland. 

Connections between these sites are strong as there exists river and rail corridors as 

well as ancient footpaths, such as Cold Blows to the immediate north of the site 

linked to Barons Walk. To the north of the disused tennis courts is a well -defined 

tree-lined corridor. The area known locally as the Copse has developed as 

secondary woodland with a well-defined rough grassland edge abutting the amenity 

grass of the recreation ground. An extensive area of land under conservation 

management exists within the vicinity and there is good connectivity between sites 

facilitated by river and railway corridors. There appears to be potential for protected/ 

Biodiversity Priority Species to have colonised the site. This reports on the findings of 

the late season survey. 

2.0 LEGISLATION AND POLICY 

2.1 PROTECTION OF BADGERS ACT 1992 

This is an all-embracing Act regarding Badger Law, which includes measures to 

safeguard Badger setts as well as the animals themselves.  It is an offence to 

damage or destroy a sett or part of a sett.  A sett is defined as “Any structure or 

place, which displays signs indicating current use by a Badger”.  Thus any sett 

disturbance or destruction can only be carried out under a licence, which is 

obtainable from Natural England in the event of disturbance for development 

purposes. 

 

2.2 MAMMALS PROTECTION ACT, 1996 

Whilst foxes and rabbits have no legal protection pers se, these animals are 

protected from cruelty, which means that care must be undertaken when erecting a 

new structure. This is in order to prevent cruelty to any mammal whilst using its 

resting place. Animals must be humanely removed by a licensed operative and care 

must be taken to identify the presence of any dependent young. 

 

 2.3 EUROPEAN AND UK LAW PERTAINING TO BATS 

All species of bat are fully protected under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as 

amended) through their inclusion in Schedule 5. All bats are also included in 

Schedule 2 of the Conservation (Natural Habitats, & c.) Regulations,1994. The Act 

and Regulations make it illegal to: 

Page 256



Ecological Survey Report                                                              November, 2011 

Furesfen 

 

3

� intentionally or deliberately kill, injure or capture (take) bats; 

� deliberately disturb bats (whether in a roost or not); 

� damage, destroy or obstruct access to bat roosts; 

� possess or transport a bat or any other part of a bat, unless acquired 

legally; or 

� sell, barter or exchange bats or parts of bats. 

 

2.4 AMENDMENTS TO THE HABITATS REGULATIONS (2007) 

Enacted during 2008, there were moves to strengthen the protection of features of 

importance that protected species are reliant upon. This applies where there may be 

ANY disturbance to bats or a disturbance affecting: 

� The ability of a group of animals of that species to survive, breed or rear or 

nurture their young; 

� In the case of migratory species, impair their ability to hibernate or migrate 

(also new); or 

� The local distribution or abundance of the species 

This may preclude fragmentation of corridors caused by light pollution and a useful 

discussion of this is provided by Garland and Markham (2007). 

If a bat roost is to be affected by development activities, a licence from Natural 

England will need to be obtained. 

 

2.5 WILD BIRDS 

The Wildlife and Countryside Act (1981, as amended) protects birds, eggs and 

nestlings from killing, injury, and damage or destruction to its nest. The Act also 

protects any intentional disturbance to the bird while it is building its nest, or is in, on 

or near a nest containing eggs or young, or disturbance of the dependent young. The 

Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 (CROW) strengthened aspects of this 

legislation, importantly adding that ‘reckless’ disturbance of birds (including those 

listed on Schedule 1) during the breeding season is now subject to prosecution under 

the law. 

2.6 CONSERVATION UNDER BIODIVERSITY ACTION PLANS (BAP)  

The Local, Regional and National Biodiversity Action Plans (BAP’s) are a 

consideration in determining local habitat changes. Within the BAP is an Action plan 

for certain habitats and species which seek to ensure that they are not adversely 

affected by development. The BAP aims to increase target habitats and species 

within a district by: 

Page 257



Ecological Survey Report                                                              November, 2011 

Furesfen 

 

4

� protecting key habitats;   

� securing appropriate management for them; and by  

� seeking gains for certain species and habitats through the planning system. 

According to PPS 9, priority habitats and  species are a material consideration in 

determining a planning application. 

 

2.7 DUTY TO CONSERVE 

The Council has a duty under the terms of the Natural Environment and Rural 

Communities Bill (NERC, 2006) to conserve biodiversity in all of it’s functions.  

 It must therefore ensure that floodlighting does not adversely affect areas of 

conservation importance. Bats in busy London boroughs should be a conservation 

priority as general numbers have suffered a fifteen year decline (Guest et al, 2002). 

 

 

2.8 CLIMATE CHANGE 

DEFRA Guidance (May 2007) identifies a series of key principles which should 

inform plans for climate change adaptation through the protection and strengthening 

of corridors. The new guidance emphasises the importance of establishing ecological 

networks, through habitat protection, restoration and creation to allow mobile species 

to shift in response to climate change. n.b. Garland and Markham, 2007 (2.4). 

 

2.9 ROYAL COMMISSION ON ENVIRONMENTAL POLLUTION (2009) 

The Royal Commission on Environmental Pollution, reported on the nuisance caused 

by badly designed lighting and the effects of artificial light on nature and ecosystems. 

It concluded that there was an urgent need for government to recognise that artificial 

light in the wrong place at the wrong time is a pollutant, which can harm the natural 

environment. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 258



Ecological Survey Report                                                              November, 2011 

Furesfen 

 

5

3.0 METHOD 

3.1 DESK STUDY AND INFORMATIVES 

A desk study was performed using information from:  

� authors’ data;  

� Regional Biodiversity Action Plan;  

� Nature on the Map, Natural England; 

� Site owner;  

� Ayrlect Engineers Report; 

� Merton Open Spaces Strategy; 

� Merton Ecology Handbook 29. 

 

3.2 WALKOVER SURVEY 

A walkover of the site was undertaken (26.11.11) between 2pm and 5pm, which 

identified habitats present following the standard ‘Phase 1 Habitat Survey’ method 

developed by the Nature Conservancy Council (NCC 1992). In addition, the dominant 

plant species in each habitat was recorded. The potential for the site to support 

protected species was assessed. Anecdotal sightings of visiting bird species were 

recorded and breeding status was noted as far as possible. 

 

4.0 RESULTS 

4.1 DESK STUDY 

The desk study indicated that there were records of biodiversity target habitats and 

species as well as protected species nearby. There were reptile, mammal/bat and 

bird records within 1,000m of the site. Five species of bat are regularly recorded 

nearby: common pipistrelle Pipistrellus pipistrellus; soprano pipistrelle Pipistrellus 

pygmaeus; noctule bat Nyctalus noctula; Leisler’s bat Nyctalus leisleri and 

Daubenton’s bats Myotis daubentonii (along the Wandle river). Leisler’s bats are 

thought to roost in the area and have a strong local presence. Tawny owls are 

frequently heard calling at night. Slow worms, common lizard and hedgehogs are 

recorded at Mitcham Common. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 259



Ecological Survey Report                                                              November, 2011 

Furesfen 

 

6

4.2 HABITAT FEATURES 

During the survey habitats were identified as follows: 

A1 Broadleaved semi-natural woodland: less than 30% of the tree composition is 

planted (mainly oak); 

A2 Scrub: scattered scrub around the boundary and bramble matrix; 

B Semi-improved grassland with some areas of acidic substrate, giving rise to 

characteristic species; 

C3.1 Ruderal tall herb: nettles and hemlock 

J: Miscellaneous:  

J2. Hardstanding, and fly-tipping; 

J2.6 Boundary Feature dry ditch and defunct hedge. 

 

Fig 1 indicates: 
secondary woodland 
in the background; 
planted oak and tall 
herbs in the 
foreground; fringed by 
an 8 metre belt of 
mound forming semi-
natural grassland with 
plants characteristic of 
acidic substrate. 

 

 

 

 

The Copse is unequally divided by a compacted path, which acts as the main public 

footway across the recreation ground used by schoolchildren and dog walkers. A 

third of the area (nearest the tennis courts) is predominately scrub, the remaining 2/3 

consists of semi-mature and mature trees, forming a close canopy woodland. Scrub 

has arisen on ground formerly used as a compost area, giving rise to nettles and 

hemlock, where characteristic bird species such as dunnock were recorded. Some of 

the oak has been planted and fallen leaves attest to a possible hybrid with Turkey 

oak. Between the tennis courts and Council owned community accommodation, 

(sandwiched between two chain link fences) is a boundary feature, which might be 

an old hedge bank and ditch. It is characterised by standing and lying deadwood as 

well as vertical habitats. None of the trees are suitable as bat roosts although they 

will be used by bats for commuting and foraging purposes (refer to Table 1 for a plant 

list). 

 

Page 260



Ecological Survey Report                                                              November, 2011 

Furesfen 

 

7

Table 1 Characteristic plant species recorded at the Copse 26.11.11 

SCIENTIFIC NAME 
 
 

 
ENGLISH NAME 
 
 

Lotus sp. a bird's-foot-trefoil 

Salix sp. a sallow 

Fraxinus excelsior Ash 

Solanum dulcamara Bittersweet 

Ballota nigra Black Horehound 

Rubus fruticosus agg. Bramble 

Buddleja davidii Butterfly-bush 

Conyza canadensis Canadian Fleabane 

Galium aparine Cleavers 

Dactylis glomerata Cock's-foot 

Stellaria media Common Chickweed 

Hedera helix Common Ivy 

Urtica dioica Common Nettle 

Senecio jacobaea Common Ragwort 

Vicia sativa Common Vetch 

Potentilla reptans Creeping Cinquefoil 

Cirsium arvense Creeping Thistle 

Bellis perennis Daisy 

Taraxacum agg. Dandelion 

Sambucus nigra Elder 

Ulmus agg. Elm 

Arrhenatherum elatius False Oat-Grass 

Acer campestre Field Maple 

Veronica chamaedrys Germander Speedwell 

Salix caprea Goat Willow 

Galium mollugo Hedge Bedstraw 

Conium maculatum Hemlock 

Ilex aquifolium Holly 

Galium verum Lady's Bedstraw 

Ranunculus acris Meadow Buttercup 

Acer platanoides Norway Maple 

Quercus robur Pedunculate Oak 

Trifolium pratense Red Clover 

Plantago lanceolata Ribwort Plantain 

Festuca ovina Sheep's-fescue 

Betula pendula Silver Birch 

Symphoricarpos albus Snowberry 

Acer pseudoplatanus Sycamore 

Lamium album White Dead-nettle 

Prunus avium Wild Cherry 

Artemisia absinthium Wormwood 

Achillea millefolium Yarrow 

Holcus lanatus Yorkshire-fog 

 

 

 

 

Page 261



Ecological Survey Report                                                              November, 2011 

Furesfen 

 

8

4.3 BIRDS 

Some of the birds recorded during the survey were overhead registrations with the 

exception of: a group of chattering house sparrows; dunnocks occupying their typical 

favoured location at the old compost heap, singing wrens; blackbirds feeding on ivy 

berries and roosting wood pigeons. No old nests were found on site, although there 

was evidence of pre-roost gatherings of 300 jackdaws; night roosts of corvids and 

woodpigeons as well as a pied wagtail roost in the roof of Canons Leisure Centre. 

Disturbance evidence attested to green woodpeckers foraging within the yellow ant 

mounds. 

 
Table 2 Characteristic bird species recorded 26.11.11. 

SCIENTIFIC NAME 
 
 

 
ENGLISH NAME 
 
 

 
Troglodytes troglodytes  
Pica pica 

Wren 
Magpie 

Parus caeruleus Blue Tit 

Corvus corone Crow 

Turdus merula Blackbird 

Sturnus vulgaris Starling* 

Columba palumbus Wood Pigeon 

Erithacus rubecula Robin 

Parus major Great Tit 

Prunella modularis Dunnock 

Passer domesticus House Sparrow* 

Corvus monedula  Jackdaw 

Larus fuscus Lesser Black-backed Gull* 

Motacilla alba yarrellii Pied Wagtail 

Psittacula krameri Rose-ringed Parakeet 

 

* indicates species of conservation concern 

4.4 ADDITIONAL SPECIES 

Table 3: Additional species of interest 

Lasius flavus Ant mounds 
Vulpes vulpes Fox den  

 
Fig.2 three species of fungi were 
recorded during the survey. These 
fruiting bodies undertake the work of 
nutrient recycling, whilst providing fleshy 
habitat for small flies to lay their eggs, in 
turn providing food for opportunistic bats 
and birds at the year end. 
 

 

Page 262



Ecological Survey Report                                                              November, 2011 

Furesfen 

 

9

5.0 EVALUATION 
5.1 Table 4: Evaluation Summary Table. 

Site Resources  Value. Reasons. 

 
Secondary 
Woodland 
 
 
 
   
 
 
 
 
Boundary Feature: 
dry ditch and defunct 
hedgerow 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Grassland 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Bramble scrub 

 
Neighbourhood 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Neighbourhood 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Neighbourhood 

 
 
 

 
 
 

negligible 

 
This is important local habitat providing nesting 
opportunities for small mammals (such as hedgehog) 
birds and insect species. It provides a refuge from 
predators and food resource for birds. It suffers through 
ivy growing throughout the woodland floor supressing the 
growth of woodland flowers, although regeneration of 
tree species was noted. There is a bank of willow species 
indicating wetter conditions which might be attractive to 
warblers such as chiff-chaff in the summer. 
 
There are a number of ancient passages in the district 
and the topography of the boundary feature situated 
between the tennis courts and community building 
suggests this could be a remnant hedge boundary. If this 
is the case it could be a seed bank of interesting plants 
If it isn’t an ancient boundary feature, it functions as a a 
wildlife corridor, refuge and night roost as well as 
providing standing and lying deadwood and vertical (ivy) 
habitats.  
 
 
The grassland area, although small, functions well 
providing micro-habitats for small mammals, birds and 
insects. 
 
 
 
The brambles are too dense to be of much value. No 
nests were found although the area probably acts as a 
refuge for birds from local cats. Fox breeding earth 
present. Foxes are native British animals and an 
important part of a natural wildlife community. They eat 
rats in urban areas. Fly-tipping is prevalent. 
 

 

5.2 VALUE. 

Overall the site is assessed to be of neighbourhood value, with elements of borough 

conservation interest, which include its strategic position in the landscape forming a 

link between Mitcham Common and nearby sites (refer to Merton Policy NE9 below) 

This is mainly due to the presence of secondary woodland and the boundary feature, 

which acts as a stepping stone, a refuge and corridor. Birds of Conservation Concern 

such as house sparrows are reliant on these features. The site could be assessed at 

a value at a higher level if managed to limit factors such as fly-tipping, compaction, 

prostrate ivy coverage, which might lead to a greater diversity of species. 

 

 

Page 263



Ecological Survey Report                                                              November, 2011 

Furesfen 

 

10

 POLICY NE.9: MANAGEMENT OF LAND 

THE COUNCIL WILL ENCOURAGE THE APPROPRIATE MANAGEMENT OF 

FEATURES OF THE LANDSCAPE WHICH ARE OF MAJOR IMPORTANCE FOR 

WILD FLORA AND FAUNA. SUCH SITES WILL INCLUDE STEPPING STONE 

SITES AS IDENTIFIED IN POLICIES NE.5 AND NE.6, AND FEATURES OF LINEAR 

AND CONTINUOUS STRUCTURE AS IDENTIFIED IN POLICY NE.8. Ch. 4 A Safe 

Green and Healthy Borough. 

 

5.3 SURVEY EVALUATION. 

� The development is within 100m of designated LNR’s and SBI’s; 

� The survey identified habitat and bird species protected by planning policy 

(parks and urban spaces, secondary woodland, house sparrows are all 

regional biodiversity priorities and the latter appear on the red list of 

conservation concern; 

� The field survey identified dead wood on site and potential for stag beetles.  

 

5.4 IMPACT 

Impacts on wildlife could result from light pollution and total loss of the Copse. There 

will also be a loss of permeability and water storage capacity. There will be ‘tidying’ of 

remaining vegetation, which will reduce the overall habitat for nectaring and resting 

insects. Planning Policy indicates that any development and its impacts should be 

mitigated, compensated and any lost features should be re- provided.  

 

5.5 LIMITATIONS 

The limitation of the survey is that: it was undertaken in the winter months during the 

plant dormant season; and that no bat surveys have been performed, which is an 

expectation during any application for lighting (where there has not been any 

previous illumination). However, it is unlikely that any dormant or unidentified plant 

species would alter the final recommendations within the report. There have been a 

number of bat surveys undertaken at the Canons and the environs in past years. The 

species recorded are detailed at 4.1. Two of the species (noctule and Leisler’s bat) 

are tolerant of certain levels of lighting and they have been recorded foraging above 

the floodlights at the Waste Transfer Station. Two pipistrelle species are dependent 

on tree-lines for navigation purposes and would be intolerant of any floodlighting of 

the tennis courts if they are found to be using this treeline. For this reason bat 

surveys will be proposed. Bat surveys should consider the availability of alternative 

dark corridors for movement through the site. 

Page 264



Ecological Survey Report                                                              November, 2011 

Furesfen 

 

11

 

6.0 DISCUSSION 

6.1 HABITAT 

The main features of the site were the secondary woodland and the dry boundary 

ditch. Both suffered from lack of management and factors such as: ivy growth on the 

woodland floor supressing any under storey; litter and fly-tipping; as well as the 

barrier effects of the derelict fencing. However, this area is an important point of 

contact with nature for many schoolchildren using the path, who will observe the 

seasonal vegetation changes, criss-crossing blackbirds and hear singing wrens. 

 

6.2 PROTECTED SPECIES EFFECTS ON COMMUTING BATS 

Anthropogenic light pollution is an increasing global problem (Stone and Jones, 

2009) affecting ecological reactions across a range of taxa. The researchers installed 

high pressure sodium lights to mimic the intensity and light spectra of street lights 

along commuting routes of lesser horseshoe bats Rhinolophus hipposideros. Bat 

activity was reduced dramatically and the onset of commuting behaviour was delayed 

in the presence of lighting (with no evidence of habituation). The results of the study 

demonstrated that light pollution has a significant impact of the selection of flight 

routes of bats. Not all species are affected in the same way. Emergence times from 

roosts appear to act as an indication of the differing light tolerance through the range 

of species. Those bats which emerge late in the evening such as the Plecotus and 

Myotis, particularly the Natterer’s bat, have a reduced tolerance to lighting. As 

intensity of light increases, even relatively light tolerant species are delayed in 

emergence from their roost. Larger, high flying bat species such as Noctule bat, are 

not as affected by light pollution. They will often fly during the daytime and feed 

above installations where security lights attract a variety of insects  

 

6.3 GUIDANCE ON LIGHTING AND BATS 

A conference hosted by the Bat Conservation Trust on Lighting and Mitigation for 

Bats (2007) resolved that: Where any bat species are found, care should be taken to 

ensure that roosts, foraging areas, and corridors for movement of these species are 

not affected by light pollution. 

• All bat species are adversely affected by the roost access being lit. 

• Noctule, serotine, Leisler’s and pipistrelle species commonly feed around 

lights. 

• All other species are generally adversely affected by foraging areas being lit. 

Page 265



Ecological Survey Report                                                              November, 2011 

Furesfen 

 

12

• The positive feeding opportunity for some species is not positive overall for 

bats. 

 

6.4 BAP SPECIES 

 Notable species found on site include those for which action plans have been 

prepared to maintain their favourable conservation status (UK BAP species), such as 

house sparrow in accordance with the 1992 Convention on Biological Diversity. 

Although not afforded any greater legal protection than that given to almost all birds 

in Britain, BAP species should be considered in the planning process under Planning 

Policy 9 (PPS9). A survey carried out during the bird breeding season may establish 

the importance of the site for additional BAP species although no evidence of recent 

nesting was found as the vegetation structure was insufficient to support bird nests.  

 

6.5 SPECIES OF CONSERVATION CONCERN 

A number of bird species visiting the site (Including the house sparrows) may also be 

considered as Birds of Conservation Concern (BOCC) and listed as red (high 

conservation concern) such as starlings, amber (medium concern) such as dunnock 

for [Royal Society for the Protection of Birds (RSPB)]. Whilst the presence of a 

notable bird on a site does not preclude development, birds at their nests are 

protected at all times and should be considered during vegetation clearance or 

construction works. This means that any tree or scrub clearance should be 

undertaken outside the bird breeding season.  

  

6.6 ADDITIONAL SPECIES 

There was evidence of large mammal holes within the proposed construction area 

and existing mammal trails pertained to foxes. Care should be taken during the 

construction to ensure that there are no fresh mammal holes. Mammals are 

protected from cruelty during construction (refer to 2.2). A licensed person should 

ensure that animals are humanely removed. This means outside the breeding period 

as a vixen cannot be captured when cubs are below ground. Cubs are dependent on 

their mother until August or September. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 266



Ecological Survey Report                                                              November, 2011 

Furesfen 

 

13

7.0 IMPACTS 

These are considered separately as: 

• Tennis courts and associated lighting only; and 

• Tennis Courts, lighting and MUGA. 

 

7.1 IMPACT OF TENNIS COURT LIGHTING 

7.1.1 METAL HALIDE LIGHTS. 

Metal Halide lighting emits white lighting at all wavelengths including short 

wavelengths, which travels further in the environment than longer wavelengths. 

Insects are attracted to the high UV content which has a much greater impact on bat 

foraging (Bat Conservation Trust and Institute of Lighting Engineers, 2009). The 

floodlighting proposed for the tennis courts will be 6 2 kW, metal halide luminaires.  

 

7.1.2 AMELIORATION OF IMPACTS 

The impact on birds and bats from light spillage can be minimised in some 

circumstances by: maintaining the brightness as low as possible; limiting the times 

during which the lighting can be used (summer light curfews); directing the lighting to 

where it is needed to avoid light spillage; and minimising upward lighting to avoid sky 

glow. Light can be restricted to selected areas by fitting louvers or hoods, which 

direct the light below the horizontal plane, at preferably an angle less than seventy 

degrees. Limiting the height of lighting columns to eight metres and directing light at 

a low level reduces the ecological impact of the light.  

 

7.1.3 ADDITIONAL MEASURES 

When available the lighting contours will most likely indicate that there will be spillage 

beyond the path dividing the Copse, amounting to >1 lux. This will have an effect on 

bats using the Copse. The eastside of the Copse will be available for bat foraging, 

and should be unaffected by light spillage. However the boundary feature, will be 

rendered unsuitable for bat navigation at certain times of the year. Determination of 

the importance for bats should be undertaken by bat surveys during June and July, 

2012.  

 

7.2 IMPACT OF LOSS OF WOODLAND TO PROVIDE A MUGA PITCH 

The loss of some or all of the mature secondary woodland (a regional priority habitat) 

will have an impact on the biodiversity of the immediate area, which may extend to 

biodiversity loss at adjacent sites. This requires a common sense approach when 

Page 267



Ecological Survey Report                                                              November, 2011 

Furesfen 

 

14

evaluating loss. Hedgehogs are one of the first species to disappear when linking 

habitats are removed.  Loss will reduce the contact that children have with wildlife. 

According to planning law, if the MUGA is constructed, the Copse must be re-

provided within a meaningful area. In addition the loss must be compensated. It is 

recommended that an area of woodland twice this area should be re-provided. It 

should be planted as broadleaved deciduous woodland with the same number 

species. The site should be identified prior to the removal of trees and a planting 

programme commence during the first planting season (October onwards). 

 

 

7.3 CONCLUSION 

Floodlights proposed at the tennis courts may have an impact on roosting, foraging 

and commuting bats. Surveys will be necessary to establish this during 2012. There 

may also be an effect on bat communication between adjacent sites such as 

Mitcham Common. This is contrary to legislation and policy outlined at 2.3-2.9 

including the Habitats Regulations (Garland and Markham, 2007); the National, 

Regional and Local Biodiversity Action Plans; DEFRA Guidance on strengthening of 

corridors; and contrary to the recommendations of the Royal Commission on 

Environmental Pollution, 2009. However these impacts will be limited according to 

the time of year when the lights are used and their provision is reversible providing 

cabling doesn’t interfere with tree roots. The loss of any amount of woodland, due to 

the construction of a MUGA, will be irreversible and may have an irreversible effect 

on the local bird and bat population. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 268



Ecological Survey Report                                                              November, 2011 

Furesfen 

 

15

8.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

8.1 GREEN WALL AND FENCE ENHANCEMENTS 

Boundary fences around the tennis courts should be planted as a high living wall to 

increase the supply of insects, berries and refugia. Sections can include ivy spp. on 

north facing elevations. Boston ivy gives good coverage of buildings but does not 

provide the late autumn pollen enjoyed by insects including Holly blue butterflies. 

Hops and honeysuckle grow well in the shade cast under trees.  

 

8.2 TENNIS COURT SCREEN PLANTING 

Tree screening should be continuous along the eastern fence, to prevent light 

spillage onto the Copse. Native species should be used for this. 

 

8.3 BAT SURVEYS 

Two bat surveys undertaken in June and July 2012 should ascertain whether the site 

is used by species of bat, which will not tolerate light pollution. Particular attention 

should be paid to the boundary feature. According to the findings, additional 

mitigation measures may arise. 

 

8.4 BOUNDARY FEATURE 

There should be no tidying of the area between the tennis courts and the community 

building unless specifically agreed as a conservation project. This area could be 

important for stag beetles and a range of other species, which have not been 

considered within the scope of this report. 

 

8.5 MUGA PITCH 

The loss of the secondary woodland should be compensated by re-providing this 

feature elsewhere. The area chosen should be meaningful i.e to extend an existing 

area of habitat (it should not be a habitat ‘island’). It must incorporate an area twice 

that of the existing Copse and a site should be identified before the Copse is felled. 

Planting should take place in the first available season with native trees and shrubs.  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 269



Ecological Survey Report                                                              November, 2011 

Furesfen 

 

16

8.6 NESTING BIRDS  

Vegetation clearance should take place outside the bird breeding season October-

March. If this is not possible a qualified ecologist should ensure that there are no 

breeding birds within the Copse. 

 

8.7 BREEDING FOXES 

Mammals are protected from cruelty during construction (refer to 2.2). A licensed 

person should ensure that animals are humanely removed. This means outside the 

breeding period as a vixen cannot be captured when cubs are below ground. Cubs 

are dependent on their mother until August or September. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 270



Ecological Survey Report                                                              November, 2011 

Furesfen 

 

17

 

 

9.0 REFERENCES 

 

Author’s data 2001-2010 

 

Bat Conservation Trust (2007) Bat Survey Guidelines available from www.bats.org.uk 

Bat Conservation Trust Lighting and Bats PDF available at 
http://www.bats.org.uk/helpline/helpline_threats_lighting.asp 

Gregory, R.D., Wilkingson, N.I., Noble, D.G., Robinson, J. A., Brown, A.F., Hughes, 
J., Procter, D.A., Gibbons, D.W., and Galbraith, C.A., 2002. The population status of 
birds in the United Kingdom: an analysis of conservation concern 2002-2007. Brit. 
Birds 95: 410-450 adopted by The RSPB Birds of Conservation Concern. 
 
 
English Nature Breeding birds: Advice for developers on protected species issues in 

Greater London 
 

Garland L., & Markham S., (2007) Is important bat foraging and commuting habitat 

legally protected? 

 

Guest, P., Jones, K., & Tovey, J., (Oct. 2002) "Bats in Greater London: Unique 

Evidence of a Decline over 15 years". British Wildlife. 

 

Jones, J., (2000) Bats and Lighting Guidance, English Nature 

Merton Handbook 

Yarham, I., Dawson, D., Boyle, M., and Holliday, R., 1998 Nature Conservation in 

Merton Handbook 29  London Ecology Unit. 

A Safe Green and Healthy Borough Merton Council 

http://www.merton.gov.uk/udpnaturalenv.pdf undated 

 

Mitchell –Jones A.J. & McLeish A. P. (Ed’s). (2004) ‘Bat workers Manual’ JNCC  

Royal Commission on Environmental Pollution [RCEP] (November, 2009) Artificial 

Light in the Environment 

 

Stone et al (2009) Street lighting Disturbs Commuting Bats Current Biology,                         

dol:10,1016/J.cub.2009.05.058 

Page 271



Page 272



Page 273



Page 274



Page 275



Page 276



Page 277



Page 278



Page 279



Page 280



Page 281



Page 282



Alison Fure MSc C.Env MIEEM                                                         

Ecological Consultant 
 

Tel/fax 020 8974 6670
Mob.0786 750 7086

Email alison@furesfen.co.uk
Website: www.furesfen.co.uk

BAT SURVEY REPORT,
THE CANONS, 

MADEIRA ROAD,
MITCHAM, SURREY.

To: From:
Alison Fure 

MR F McParland

August, 2012

28, Bonner Hill Rd
Kingston upon Thames
Surrey KT1 3HE

Page 283



The Canons Bat Survey Report                                                                                     July, 2012

Furesfen 1

SUMMARY

A Bat Survey was commissioned at land situated to the north of Canons Leisure Centre 
adjacent to a Recreation Ground, at Madeira Road, Mitcham (TQ279685). The survey 
was carried out by A. Fure, holder of protected species licences, including bat licence 
no. 20120447 assisted by C. Long. This was in advance of plans to reinstate two dis-
used tennis courts, as well as construct an adjacent Multi-use Games Area (MUGA). 
The Lawn Tennis minimum lighting standards will be achieved by providing 6 Metal 
Halide Hi-Lux luminaires placed on 8 metre high lighting columns. Lighting is also 
proposed at the MUGA, to be constructed on 75 per cent of an area currently a 
woodland copse.

Two bat emergence and activity surveys were undertaken (9.7.12.-1.8.12) using hand 
held recordable Bat Box 4 Frequency Division equipment. Three bat species were 
recorded during the survey: common and soprano pipistrelle bats as well as Leisler’s 
bat. The latter is roosting at a location/s within the Canons complex and there have been 
attempts to establish the group of trees used (Fure, 2008-10). When bats have pups to 
feed, they do not travel far to forage and will return to their roost site after 30 minutes or 
so, in order to suckle young. This is thought to be the explanation for early activity during
the first survey, when bats were recorded flying over the recreation ground. By the 
second occasion, the juvenile was considered to be able to fly with its mother. 

There are examples across London of tennis court provision next to wildlife features, 
although planning for wildlife must be considered within the design. For example, 
columns must be as low as possible and it is noted that 8m columns are proposed, 
which are considered high and will have an effect on the boundary tree-line (and 
therefore any species travelling along it). However the overall impact on a protected 
species of the reinstatement of the tennis courts will be minor.

The floodlights proposed at the MUGA have a substantial overspill, which will affect the 
remaining portion of the woodland. The most well-known effect of artificial light, is its 
attraction of insects, especially to the high UV content found with Metal Halide types.
When attracted to artificial light sources, insects deviate from their natural habitats and 
from their natural behaviour and also this can lead to demographic losses. Lights could 
attract up to 75 per cent of the insect food resource in an area. The draw of insects to 
artificial lighting has been termed the ‘vacuum effect’.  This insect attraction leads to a 
reduction in insect density in the environs, leaving some bat species at a significant 
foraging disadvantage.

Leisler’s bats are using the recreation ground as a foraging area, at an important time 
during their breeding cycle. Removal of the woodland to create a MUGA will have a 
negative impact on the foraging opportunities of this species, especially when they have 
dependent young. For this reason mitigation for the loss of woodland will be necessary. 
The removal of 75 per cent of a feature that a rare bat species is dependent on ‘in order 
to nurture young’ (Habitats Regulations, 2010 see 6.2) will have  significant effect, which 
will require a licence. The insects generated in the remaining area of the woodland 
would not necessarily be available for bat use, due to the ‘vacuum effect’ of the metal 
halide floodlighting. In turn this could have an impact on pipistrelle bats although this 
would not be licensable as the level of disturbance was considered insignificant.

Page 284



The Canons Bat Survey Report                                                                                     July, 2012

Furesfen 2

REPORT CONTENTS

1. Introduction                                                                   

2. Method                        

3. Results and Limitations

4. Evaluation

5. Discussion and Conclusions

6. Legislation and Policy

7. Bibliography

Page 285



The Canons Bat Survey Report                                                                                     July, 2012

Furesfen 3

1.0 INTRODUCTION

1.1 PURPOSE

A Bat Survey was commissioned at land situated to the north of Canons Leisure Centre 

adjacent to a Recreation Ground, at Madeira Road, Mitcham (TQ279685). The survey 

was carried out by A. Fure, holder of protected species licences, including bat licence

no. 20120447, assisted by C. Long. This was in advance of plans to reinstate two dis-

used tennis courts, as well as construct an adjacent Multi-use Games Area (MUGA). 

The Lawn Tennis minimum lighting standards will be achieved by providing 6 Metal 

Halide Hi-Lux luminaires placed on 8 metre high lighting columns. Lighting is also

proposed at the MUGA to be constructed on 75 per cent of an area, which is currently a 

woodland copse.

1.2 SITE DESIGNATIONS

The nearest designated site is the Canons Pond, which is a Borough Site of Local 

Importance for nature conservation interest. To the east lies Mitcham Common, Site of 

Metropolitan Importance for Nature Conservation (Site M93) incorporating Cranmer 

Green Local Nature Reserve (LNR). 1.5 km south-west, lies the Wandle river and part of 

Ravensbury Park, which were designated as part of a Site of Metropolitan Importance 

for Nature Conservation (Site M91–the Upper River Wandle) by the former London 

Ecology Unit. It is identified as a Site of Importance for Nature Conservation in the 

Merton Unitary Development Plan (UDP). The central grassland area (Ravensbury 

Meadow) and northern tip of the Park are not included in the Metropolitan site. The Park 

is also designated as Metropolitan Open Land, Open Space and Green Chain. 

Ravensbury Park (7.27 Ha) is designated a Local Nature Reserve. 

1.3 ADDITIONAL SITES OF LOCAL IMPORTANCE

Nearby sites of Local Importance for nature conservation include St Peter and St Paul’s 

Churchyard, important for its grassland. The church or its mature trees could provide 

opportunities for roosting bats. To the south-east lie London Playing Fields, where there 

are mature trees, particularly horse chestnuts and limes along the western and northern 

boundaries. A belt of trees and scrub on the park’s shared boundary with a waste 

transfer station is divided by Barons Walk, an eighteenth century path. The southern 

Page 286



The Canons Bat Survey Report                                                                                     July, 2012

Furesfen 4

Tram link and railway line to the east, act as additional corridors for wildlife moving in 

and out of the area.

2.0 METHOD

2.1 DESK STUDY

A desk study was performed using author’s data.

2.2 WALKOVER SURVEY

A walkover of the area was undertaken on 9.7.12, in line with Bat Conservation Trust 

Guidelines (2012) to establish features of bat interest and see how bat species use the 

area.

2.3 BAT SURVEYS

Two bat emergence and activity surveys were undertaken (9.7.12-1.8.12) using hand 

held recordable Bat Box 4 Frequency Division equipment, and static bat detection 

equipment, notably an Anabat left along the northern boundary of the tennis courts on 

the first occasion. Recordings were played through BatSound and Analook software and 

interpreted according to Russ (2012). 

3.0 RESULTS

3.1 DESK STUDY

Six species of bat are recorded locally (Table 1). Leisler’s bats have been recorded 

since 2008 at this location and efforts have been made to study the habits of the local 

colony. This has included the use of remote detection devices at the Canons Mansion as 

well as a loft inspection. After a colony was discovered during tree work (Cannon Hill 

Common, 2005) surveys of local sites were commissioned and the records are collated 

below (Table 2). These may pertain to individuals from one colony.

Page 287



The Canons Bat Survey Report                                                                                     July, 2012

Furesfen 5

Table 1: Status of bats recorded in the local catchment.          

Species  Frequency Main roosts sites

Common pipistrelle
Common Buildings nearby (LBG)

Soprano pipistrelle
Common Buildings and trees especially near water (LBG). 

Nathusius’s pipistrelle Rare Buildings Trees its local status is variable 

Daubenton’s bat Relatively common Trees, structures and underground sites in the local area. 
Roosts known within 1.km

Noctule bat
Nyctalus noctula

Becoming less 
common 

A known roost at Ravensbury and Wimbledon Park

Leisler’s bat
Nyctalus leisleri

rare Trees and sometimes buildings.
Known roosts in the area and records of early 

registrations

Adapted from Mitchell-Jones (2007)           LBG=London Bat Group records

Table 2 Leisler’s bat activity with numbers of animals at Merton Sites (Author’s data).

Cannon hill common 3 22-Sep-05

Cannon hill common 1 04-Aug-07

Cannon hill common 1 12-Aug-06

Cannon hill common 2 Aug-20

Cannon hill common 1 02-Oct-06

Canons, Madeira Road, 3 06-Jun-08

Joseph Hood Recreation Ground 3 22-May-08

Ravensbury park 3 12-Jun-08

Ravensbury Pk, Wandle backwater East 1 30-Jul-09

Ravensbury Pk, Wandle Backwater West 

arm

1 30-Jul-09

Shadbolt park, Salisbury Road, 

Worcester Park 

1 30-Jul-10

Worcester Park Sewage Works 2 25-May-07

3.2 HABITAT FEATURES:

A Phase 1 Habitat Survey (Fure, 2011) assessed the site to be of neighbourhood value, 

with elements of borough conservation interest, which include its strategic position in the 

landscape, forming a link between Mitcham Common and nearby sites. This was mainly 

due to the presence of secondary woodland and the boundary feature, which acts as a 

stepping stone and corridor for wildlife.

During the initial walkover survey, the following features of bat interest were found:

Trees within the Canons complex capable of supporting bats;

Historic buildings within the vicinity;

Oak and willow trees with associated insect biomass.

Page 288



The Canons Bat Survey Report                                                                                     July, 2012

Furesfen 6

3.3 FIRST EMERGENCE SURVEY

During the survey (9.7.12) no bats were seen to emerge from any trees or structures at 

the Copse or the Leisure Centre. There were no bats recorded until 22.01 when 2 

Leisler’s bats began foraging over the recreation ground for several minutes. The only 

other bat recorded was a soprano pipistrelle bat, flying west to east alongside the 

Canon’s Health Club air con unit (Table 1 and Figs 1-2).

Table 3: All bat activity 9.7.12)
Sunset 21.16p.m. Cloud cover 4/8 Temperature 20 degrees centigrade at start. Heavy rain 

preceded survey

Time Details:  Duet detector 

22.01  sunset + 45 
minutes

Prolonged foraging of two Leisler’s bats over the recreation ground

22.01 Soprano pipistrelle direct pass through site

Fig. 1 Screenshot of the sonogram of a Leisler’s bat, feeding over the Canon’s 
Recreation Ground 22.01, 9.7.12.

Page 289



The Canons Bat Survey Report                                                                                     July, 2012

Furesfen 7

Fig. 2 Screenshot of the sonogram of a soprano pipistrelle at 22.01, 9.7.12.

3.4 SECOND EMERGENCE SURVEY

During the second survey (1.8.12) no bats were seen to emerge from any trees at the 

Copse or structures around the Leisure Centre. Two Leisler’s bats flew together from 

west to east at 21.21 slightly north of the Copse. They were not detected by a colleague 

situated at the northern boundary of the recreation ground. This was followed by a 

common pipistrelle foraging along the edge of the woodland for several minutes. At the 

northern boundary of the recreation ground, common pipistrelles along with one soprano 

pipistrelle bat were recorded.

Fig. 3 Screenshot of a sequence of 2 Leisler’s bats flying west to east 21.21, 1.8.12.

Page 290



The Canons Bat Survey Report                                                                                     July, 2012

Furesfen 8

Table 4: Selected bat activity (1.8.12)
Sunset 20.48p.m. Cloud cover 4/8 .Temperature 19 degrees centigrade at start No wind 

Time Details:  Duet detector A Fure

21.21 sunset + 33 
minutes

2 x Leisler’s bats

21.34 Common pipistrelle foraging along northern edge of Copse

21.45 Common pipistrelle foraging

21.53 Two common pipistrelle bats flying around site

Table 4a: Selected bat activity (1.8.12)
Sunset 20.48p.m. Cloud cover 4/8 .Temperature 19 degrees centigrade at start No wind 

Time Details:  Anabat detector C. Long

21.41 Common pipistrelle along northern boundary of rec

21.46 Common pipistrelle foraging along boundary trees

21.48 Soprano pipistrelle foraging

21.53 Common pipistrelle

4.0 EVALUATION

4.1 Table 5: Evaluation Summary Table.

Site Features Value. Reasons.

Leisler’s bat maternity 

colony: Site faithful, 

appearing consistently 

over a period of years at 

this site.

Common pipistrelle bat 

Soprano pipistrelle bat

Invertebrates

Borough/

Regional

District

District

District

The bats appear shortly after sunset indicating 

they are exiting a nearby roost. During the first 

survey a bat fed for some period of time over 

the recreation ground. This is interpreted as a 

bat with young (maternity colony). During the 

second survey two bats flew east together.

Nationally, this is determined to be a rare 

species Tony Mitchell-Jones, 2007

Common species, appearing later in the 

evening

Common species, appearing later in the 

evening

Form the prey species of bat species.

Page 291



The Canons Bat Survey Report                                                                                     July, 2012

Furesfen 9

5.0 DISCUSSION

5.1 BAT SPECIES

Three bat species were recorded during the survey: common and soprano pipistrelle 

bats as well a Leisler’s bat. The activity levels were lower than expected and this is

possibly due to the failure of some bats to form successful breeding colonies this year

due to bad weather.The “common” pipistrelle has been split into two separate species 

Pipistrellus pipistrellus that echolocates around 45 kHz and P. pygmaeus that calls 

around 55 kHz. The 45 kHz pipistrelle can use a wide range of habitats, but frequents 

the more open situations, such as woodland edges, parkland, recent plantations, 

watersides and gardens. It will fly up to 5km from the roost to forage but most stay with 

2km. Colonies are usually 30-60 bats; they frequently use modern building for roost 

sites, but are rarely found in bat boxes. The 55 kHz pipistrelle appears fussier in habitat 

selection than 45 kHz species. It seems to prefer waterside locations such as rivers, 

lakes and wet woodland. Colonies are usually larger than the 45 kHz pipistrelle with 

numbers often in the region of 100-150. Roosts in houses are frequently found but tree 

roosts are also used. Emergence of both species is usually twenty minutes after sunset 

and the late arrival and low numbersl of both pipistrelle species indicated that the bats 

were not roosting nearby.

5.2 LEISLER’S BAT, REGIONAL STATUS

As noctule bats have declined in the London Region (due to habitat loss) it has been 

noted that they are replaced by the closely related, but slightly smaller Leisler’s bat, 

which is considered rare in most parts of the country. They are particularly prevalent in 

the London Borough of Merton (London Bat Group, 2012) first recorded during 2005 

(Cannon Hill Common). There is a total absence of records within Bexley, The City, 

Hammersmith & Fulham, Kensington & Chelsea, Newham, Tower Hamlets and 

Lambeth.

5.3 LEISLER’S BAT ECOLOGY

Nyctalus bat species are one of Britain’s largest, they are adapted to fast flying above 

the treetops and can cover large distances from roost to feeding areas. Their fast flight 

makes them less vulnerable to predatory birds and so they can emerge in good light and 

feed in open habitats. Leisler’s bats can feed on larger beetles and moths but will take 

Page 292



The Canons Bat Survey Report                                                                                     July, 2012

Furesfen 10

much smaller prey such as chironomids when these occur in large swarms. Roosts are 

almost invariably in hollow trees, woodpecker holes being a favourite site, although they 

use a stand of trees, moving between them frequently (the reason Merton with its many 

mature trees is favoured by this species). Unlike noctule bats they will sometimes use 

larger, historic buildings for roosting purposes. They are not one of the species affected 

by illuminance and often forage above light installations, although lighting at a roost 

would be inappropriate.

5.4 LOCAL STATUS OF BAT SPECIES

The two pipistrelle bat species do not emerge to forage at the site in the early part of the 

evening or in any great number. It is likely that they have travelled from offsite locations 

in order to forage at the site. Leisler’s bats are roosting at a location/s within the Canons 

complex and there have been attempts to identify the group of trees that these bats use

(Fure, 2008-10). A Taxodium species or cypress tree, at the Canons House is 

considered to be one of the trees used by this species. When bats have pups to feed, 

they do not travel far to forage, as they will return to their roost site after 30 minutes or 

so, in order to suckle young. This is thought to be the explanation for the early activity 

recorded during the first occasion when bats were recorded flying over the recreation 

ground. By the second occasion, the juvenile was considered to be able to fly with its 

mother. A limitation of the survey is in the small amount of data on which to base this 

explanation of the activity although this is overcome by previous observations (Canons,

2008).

5.5. TENNIS COURTS

There are examples across 

London of tennis court provision 

next to wildlife features, although 

planning for wildlife must be 

considered within the design. For 

example, columns must be as 

low as possible and it is noted 

that 8m columns are proposed,

which are considered high and 

may affect the boundary tree-line 

Page 293



The Canons Bat Survey Report                                                                                     July, 2012

Furesfen 11

(and any species travelling along it). The American box fitting (photo) with Swedish 

baffles prevents any upward light spillage and has full cut offs to the surrounding area 

and is sited on the lowest columns. It provides the recommended light suggested by the

lawn tennis association and may address the problem of light spillage onto features at 

the conservation area. 

5.6 MUGA FLOODLIGHTS

The floodlights proposed for the MUGA have a substantial overspill, which will affect any 

remaining portion of the woodland. The most well-known effect of artificial light, is its 

attraction of insects, especially to the high UV content found with Metal Halide types.

When attracted to artificial light sources, insects deviate from their natural habitats and 

from their natural behaviour and also this can lead to demographic losses. Lights could 

attract up to 75 per cent of the insect food resource in an area, as they are drawn from 

habitat patches to feed around lights (Bruce-White and Shardlow, 2011). The draw of 

insects to artificial lighting has been termed the ‘vacuum effect’ (Eisenbeis, 2006).  This 

insect attraction leads to a reduction in insect density in the environs, leaving some bat

species at a significant foraging disadvantage.

5.7 IMPACT

Leisler’s bats are not affected by light pollution unless the illuminance is directed towards 

the roost, although there will be an upper limit. Leisler’s bats are using the recreation 

ground to forage, at an important time during their breeding cycle. This maternity roost 

may be a constituent of colonies recorded at Ravensbury Park and Worcester Park 

Sewage Works, which exist at low numbers. Removal of the woodland to create a 

MUGA will have a significant negative impact on the foraging opportunities of this 

species, especially when they have dependent young. For this reason mitigation for the 

loss of woodland will be necessary. The removal of 75 per cent of a feature that a rare 

bat species is dependent on ‘in order to nurture young’ (Habitats Regulations, 2010 see 

6.2) will be a disturbance, which will require a licence. The insects generated in the 

remaining 25 per cent of the woodland would not necessarily be available for bat use,

due to the ‘vacuum effect’ of the metal halide floodlighting. In turn this could have an 

impact on pipistrelle bats although this would not be licensable as a maternity colony 

was not detected and the level of impact was not considered significant.

Page 294



The Canons Bat Survey Report                                                                                     July, 2012

Furesfen 12

5.8 CONCLUSION

The functionality of the roost and the local population of this species, are dependent on 

the feeding resources offered at the recreation ground during their breeding period, 

particularly as the resource is within a short distance (i.e. better for bat energy 

expenditure = fitness of individuals). The loss of woodland for the construction of the 

MUGA will involve a high impact, and therefore will need a licence to be lawful. 

However, the impact of the development re: foraging will not be possible to offset without 

provision of a similar foraging opportunity within a similar distance and may not be 

possible (given the length of time required for trees to mature). It would not be sufficient 

to dedicate an existing area for bat conservation, and compensation (i.e. replacement) 

would be needed within a suitable distance. In order to obtain a licence, the IROPI test 

(Imperative Reasons of Overriding Public Interest) needs to be made and reference to 

suitable authorities suggest that the tests would not be met.

6.0 LEGISLATION AND POLICY REFERRED TO IN THIS REPORT

6.1 EUROPEAN AND UK LAW PERTAINING TO BATS

All species of bat are fully protected under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as 

amended) through their inclusion in Schedule 5. All bats are also included in Schedule 2 

of the Conservation (Natural Habitats, & c.) Regulations, 2010. The Act and Regulations 

make it illegal to:

intentionally or deliberately kill, injure or capture (take) bats;

deliberately disturb bats (whether in a roost or not);

damage, destroy or obstruct access to bat roosts;

possess or transport a bat or any other part of a bat, unless acquired legally; or

sell, barter or exchange bats or parts of bats.

Page 295



The Canons Bat Survey Report                                                                                     July, 2012

Furesfen 13

6.2 AMENDMENTS TO THE CONSERVATION OF HABITATS REGULATIONS (2010)

Moves to strengthen the protection of features of importance that protected species are 

reliant upon. This applies where there may be ANY disturbance to bats or a disturbance 

affecting:

The ability of a group of animals of that species to survive, breed or rear or 

nurture their young;

In the case of migratory species, impair their ability to hibernate or migrate or

The local distribution or abundance of the species

This may preclude fragmentation of corridors caused by light pollution and a useful 

discussion of this is provided by Garland and Markham (2007).

If a bat roost is to be affected by development activities, a licence from Natural England 

will need to be obtained.

6.3 WILD BIRDS

The Wildlife and Countryside Act (1981, as amended) protects birds, eggs and nestlings 

from killing, injury, and damage or destruction to its nest. 

The Act also protects any intentional disturbance to the bird while it is building its nest, or 

is in, on or near a nest containing eggs or young, or disturbance of the dependent 

young. 

The Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 (CROW) strengthened aspects of this 

legislation, importantly adding that ‘reckless’ disturbance of birds (including those listed 

on Schedule 1) during the breeding season is now subject to prosecution under the law.

6.4 NATURAL ENVIRONMENT AND RURAL COMMUNITIES (NERC) 2006

This states that every public authority in exercising its function, must secure compliance 

in conserving biodiversity

(3) Conserving biodiversity includes, in relation to a living organism or type of habitat, 

restoring or enhancing a population or habitat.

(4) “Public authority” means any of the following (c)a public body (including a 

government department, a local authority and a local planning authority);

Within the terms of this act are habitats and species of principal importance for the 

purpose of conserving biodiversity.

Page 296



The Canons Bat Survey Report                                                                                     July, 2012

Furesfen 14

6.5 UK HABITATS AND SPECIES OF PRINCIPLE IMPORTANCE NERC 2006 AND 

THE ROLE OF CONSERVATION UNDER BIODIVERSITY ACTION PLANS (BAPS)

Section 40 (1) of the NERC Act (2006): lists principle habitats and species, which are 

often included in Local, Regional and National Biodiversity Action Plans (BAP’s). For 

example, the UK Biodiversity Action Plan (BAP) contains a Bat Species Action Plan 

(SAP). The BAP aims to increase the number of this species within the district by 

protecting certain habitats; securing appropriate management for them and by halting 

the factors leading to their decline such as:

Loss of maternity roost sites through damage or destruction resulting from a lack  

or a misunderstanding of the legislation protecting bats ;

Loss of hibernation and other seasonally used roost sites; 

Lack of insect rich feeding habitats such as wetlands, woodlands and grasslands;

Losses of linear landscape elements (flight line features) such as tree lines; and

Excessive lighting, such as in streets and some open spaces. 

6.6 ROYAL COMMISSION ON ENVIRONMENTAL POLLUTION (2009)

The Royal Commission on Environmental Pollution, reported on the nuisance caused by 

badly designed lighting and the effects of artificial light on nature and ecosystems. It 

concluded that there was an urgent need for government to recognise that artificial light 

in the wrong place at the wrong time is a pollutant, which can harm the natural 

environment. Sir Lawton who chaired the commission has asked for removal of lighting 

from parks.

6.7 BAT CONSERVATION TRUST GUIDANCE

A Statement by the Bat Conservation Trust on Lighting and Mitigation for Bats (May, 

2011) resolved that: smarter lighting, rather than less lighting, is key to mitigating the 

effects of light pollution. Light should only be erected where it is needed, illuminated 

during the time period it will be used, and at levels that enhance visibility. Any bare bulbs 

and any light pointing upwards should be eliminated. The spread of light should be kept 

near to or below the horizontal. Narrow spectrum bulbs should be used to lower the 

range of species affected by lighting and light sources that emit ultra-violet light must be 

avoided. Reducing the height of lighting columns as light at a low level reduces 

ecological impact. For pedestrian lighting, low level lighting that is directional as possible 

should be used and below 3 lux at ground level. 

Page 297



The Canons Bat Survey Report                                                                                     July, 2012

Furesfen 15

REFERENCES

Author’s data 2005-2011

Bat Conservation Trust (2012) Bat Survey Guidelines available from www.bats.org.uk

Bruce-White and Shardlow, 2011 Buglife Report

Eisenbeis, G. 2006 Artificial night lighting and insects: attraction of insects to streetlamps 
in a rural setting in Germany. Ecological Consequences of 
Artificial Night Lighting (Eds C. Rich & T. Longcore), pp. 345–
364. Washington, Island Press.

Fure, A., 2008 The Canons Bat Report

Garland L., & Markham S., (2007) Is important bat foraging and commuting habitat 
legally protected?

Atlas (2012) London Bat Group In publication

Mitchell –Jones A.J. & McLeish A. P. (Ed’s). (2007) ‘Focus on Bats’

Royal Commission on Environmental Pollution [RCEP] (November, 2009) Artificial Light 
in the Environment

Page 298



C:\Users\michael udall\AppData\Local\Temp\8\01) Report - 3 Palmerston Road_12282403.doc

PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE
12 December 2013

Item No:

UPRN APPLICATION NO. DATE VALID

13/P1028 23/04/2013

Address/Site Delatre Media Ltd, 3 Palmerston Road, Wimbledon SW19 1PG

(Ward) Abbey

Proposal: Outline planning application for extension to existing offices at
ground, first, second, third. fourth and fifth floor levels.

Drawing Nos 572/005/P1, 007/P1, 009/P1, 011/P1, 013/P1, 014/P1, 015/P1,
022/P1, 024/P1, 026/P1, 034/P1, 032/P1 and Design and
Access Statement

Contact Officer: Richard Allen (8545 3621)
___________________________________________________________________

RECOMMENDATION

GRANT Outline Planning Permission subject to completion of a S.106
Agreement and conditions

_______________________________________________________________

CHECKLIST INFORMATION

• Heads of agreement: Sustainable Transport

• Is a screening opinion required: No

• Is an Environmental impact statement required: No

• Has an Environmental Impact Assessment been submitted: No

• Press notice- No

• Site notice-Yes

• Design Review Panel consulted-No

• Number neighbours consulted:11

• External consultants: None

• Density: n/a

• Number of jobs created: n/a

• Archaeology Priority Zone: No

Agenda Item 12

Page 299



C:\Users\michael udall\AppData\Local\Temp\8\01) Report - 3 Palmerston Road_12282403.doc

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 This application has been brought to the Planning Applications Committee
due to the requirement for a S.106 Agreement.

2. SITE AND SURROUNDINGS

2.1 The application site is located just within the Wimbledon Town Centre Area as
designated in the Proposals Map attached to the Adopted Merton Unitary
Development Plan (October 2003). It forms the transition between the
commercial properties to the north along Wimbledon Broadway and the
predominantly residential properties to the south. Currently to north of the site
is an open surface level car park that adjoins Wimbledon Theatre, a
Grade II Listed Building. It is envisaged that the car park area will be the
subject of future mixed use development. The South Wimbledon Club and St
Mary’s Primary School are situated to the rear (south west) of the site. To the
east on the opposite side of the site is the Bethel strict Chapel (129
Broadway). The application site is within a Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ W4)
and has a PTAL of 6.

3. CURRENT PROPOSAL

3.1 The current proposal seeks Outline planning permission for extensions to the
existing offices, with approval being sought for layout and scale. Access,
appearance and landscaping are all reserved. The existing office building is
proposed to be extended upwards from four to six storeys across part of the
building, set away from the townhouses to the south to create a height
transition. At the rear it is proposed to construct a new west wing of four
storeys connected by a link/breakout space. At first floor level, over the rear
parking area, it is proposed to construct a terrace, accessed from the first floor
offices and reception area.

3.2 In relation to the two storey extension to part of the existing building, the top
floor would be set back to form an attic storey, giving a parapet line of five
storeys to Palmerston Road. The upper floors would also be set back from the
boundary to reduce the impact on the adjoining town houses to the south. The
new west wing will have an overall height of four storeys, with accommodation
stepping back from the western boundary at second and third floor levels
away from existing buildings on Russell Road. The proposed first floor terrace
has been amended to be set further away from adjoining residential gardens.

3.3 In terms of design, the existing building dates from the 1980’s and is of
utilitarian appearance constructed in red/brown engineering brick with
aluminium windows. The proposed extensions would be of lightweight
appearance with the use of glass to the upper parts of the building. Where the
proposed extension abuts the adjacent Council owned site there would be a
blank façade so as not to inhibit future development.

Page 300



C:\Users\michael udall\AppData\Local\Temp\8\01) Report - 3 Palmerston Road_12282403.doc

3.4 The schedule of floor space is set out below for information, giving a net
increase of 643 square metres.

3.5 The proposal would involve the loss of 5 parking spaces, with 7 spaces and
22 cycle spaces being provided for the extended office accommodation.

4. PLANNING HISTORY

4.1 In March 1981 outline planning permission was granted for the erection of a
four storey building with 15 car parking spaces and two three storey houses
with integral garages (ref.MER1006). Reserved matters were approved in
November 1981.

4.2 In January 1996 planning permission was granted for the formation of a rear
staff entrance with ramped access (LBM Ref.95/P0808).

4.3 In April 2007 planning permission was granted for the erection of a single
storey rear extension and a first floor rear extension to provide additional B1
office space (LBM Ref07/P0188).

4.4 In April 2007 planning permission was granted for the erection of a single
storey rear extension and first floor rear extension providing additional office
space (LBM Ref.07/P0654).

4.5 In June 2008 planning permission was granted for the installation of
mechanical plant on the roof (LBM Ref.08/P0751).

4.6 In September 2008 advertisement consent was granted for the display of
externally illuminated logo and name signs (LBM Ref08/P0742).

4.7 In October 2008 planning permission was granted for the retention of two
satellite dishes on the roof (one 2.4m and one 3.7m diameter (LBM
Ref.08/P0742).

Floor Areas Gross Internal Area

Sq metres

Existing Proposed

Ground Floor 172 225

First Floor 227 384

Second Floor 227 336

Third floor 227 299

Fourth Floor 0 132

Fifth Floor 0 120

Totals 853 1496

Page 301



C:\Users\michael udall\AppData\Local\Temp\8\01) Report - 3 Palmerston Road_12282403.doc

4.8 In January 2012 a planning application was submitted for the erection of a
single storey rear extension providing additional B1 office accommodation.
The application was withdrawn by the applicant on 1/8/2012 (LBM
Ref.12/P0360/INVALID)

4.9 In August 2012 a Pre-application meeting was held to discuss proposal for the
erection of an extension to provide an additional floor of office accommodation
at fourth floor level on the existing building, and new offices/staff flat plus plant
room, PV cells and satellite dishes at roof level. A part four/part five storey
rear extension linked to the front block with car and cycle parking at ground
level and a terrace on part of first floor, plus reception area, staircase and
atrium to link the front and rear parts of the building (LBM ef.12/P1928/NEW).
The current application is similar to the proposals discussed at the pre-
application meeting although the current application does not include a staff
flat.

5. CONSULTATION

5.1 The application site has been advertised by site notice procedure and letters
of notification to occupiers of neighbouring properties. In response two letters
of objection have been received from the owners/occupiers of neighbouring
properties at 5 and 7 Palmerston Road. The grounds of objection are set out
below:-

-extremely concerned about loss of privacy and intrusion from windows and
the proposed terrace, loss of outlook and loss of light
-The proposed terrace would result in direct overlooking of bedrooms on the
middle and top floors of 5 Palmerston Road by office workers using the
terrace and use of the small garden may also be compromised
- there are  large south facing windows in the proposed new wing as well as
3rd floor terrace less than 10m from the boundary with no.5 creating privacy
issues
- concerned about additional disturbance from cars and pedestrians using the
passageway to the rear parking area.
--The proposals incorrectly label the numbering of adjacent properties, and
refer to the adjacent town houses as flats. There are also errors of the
building heights with drawing 0675/04 indicating that the town houses are
26 metres high.
- suitable and substantial compensation should be paid if approval given

5.2 The Wimbledon Society
The proposal seeks to extend and add office accommodation to the existing
commercial building at the top of Palmerston Road and the junction with The
Broadway. It is to the rear of the current Council car park on The Broadway,
locally known as the Theatre Car Park that has been designated as site P4 by
Merton Council for future sale and redevelopment. The height of the proposed
extension is for two additional storeys over the current building, making it 1
metre above a presumed height for the P4 site that is indicated on the

Page 302



C:\Users\michael udall\AppData\Local\Temp\8\01) Report - 3 Palmerston Road_12282403.doc

presentation elevations. Further, the proposal is for a four storey extension
over the full curtilage of the site with a modelled stepping of the 2nd and 3rd
floor with associated terraces and 1.8 metre high privacy screens to avoid
overlooking the local school and residential properties. The Societies
objection is to the overdevelopment and maximisation of the sites potential for
office accommodation to the detriment of surrounding neighbouring
properties. There is also a reduction in car parking spaces at ground level
with no designated disabled car parking provision indicated. The supporting
report on ‘rights of light’ and impact study do not take consideration of the fact
that this building occupies an important location adjoining a residential row of
housing in Palmerston Road and backs directly onto playground facilities for
St Mary’s Primary School. The Society are concerned at the potential impact
of terrace lighting during winter months and that the current proposal has not
demonstrated a willingness to keep the scale of the extensions to a
reasonable level and provided an appropriate proposal assuming the extent
of the future development of the P4 site and little consideration to the
neighbouring scale of properties.

5.3 Transport Planning
The proposal would result in the loss of on-site parking and increasing the
number of employees, it is considered appropriate to seek a sustainable
transport contribution to further encourage sustainable travel behaviour. A
sum of £15,000 is requested.

6. POLICY CONTEXT

6.1 The relevant policies contained within the Adopted Merton Core Strategy
(July2011) are CS6 (Wimbledon Town Centre), CS7 (Centres), CS14
(Design), CS15 (Climate Change) and CS20 (Parking, Servicing and
Delivery).

6.1 The retained policies contained within the Adopted UDP (October 2003) are
E.1 (General Employment Policy), BE.15 (New Buildings and Extensions,
Daylight, Sunlight, Privacy, Visual Intrusion and Noise), BE.16 (Urban
Design), BE.22 (Design of New Development), BE.23 (Alterations and
Extensions to Buildings), BE.35 (Telecommunications Development), E.1
(General Employment Policy), F.2 (Planning Obligations), ST.27 (Wimbledon
Town Centre), TC.1 (Promoting Development in Town Centres), TC.8 (Land
Assembly), TC.9 (Office Development), WTC.6 (Office Development) and
WTC.8 (Development Facilities).

6.2 The site lies just within Wimbledon Town Centre Area as designated in the
UDP proposals map, and adjoins the ‘P4’ site which comprises the car
park which currently adjoins Wimbledon Theatre.

6.3 The draft Sites and Policies Plan is also relevant.

6.4 The London Plan (February 2011)

Page 303



C:\Users\michael udall\AppData\Local\Temp\8\01) Report - 3 Palmerston Road_12282403.doc

The relevant policies within the London Plan are 5.1 (Climate Change
Mitigation), 5.3 (Sustainable Design and Construction), 7.5 (Public Realm)
and 7.6 (Architecture).

7. PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS

7.1 The main planning considerations relate to employment, design, neighbour
amenity and parking issues.

7.2 Principle of Office Expansion
Policies CS6 and CS7 of the Adopted Core Planning Strategy welcomes
proposals to enhance expand and refurbish office space within the Town
Centre, consolidating its position as a diverse Major Centre, subject to their
acceptability in respect of all other material planning considerations such as
quality of design and impact on neighbouring properties. There is no in
principle objection to the proposed office space expansion. The applicant is a
sport media company that employs 71 people. The proposed increase in
office floor space would enable the business to expand and it is envisaged
that the number of employees will increase to 91. The proposal therefore
accords with retained UDP policy E.1 in terms of maintaining employment
opportunities within a Town centre location with good public transport
accessibility.

7.3 Design and Relationship to Adjoining Wimbledon Theatre Car Park
The car park site adjoining the listed Wimbledon Theatre (otherwise known as
the P4 site) is included as site proposal 28 in the Submission Draft Sites and
Policies Plan and Draft Policies Map published in September 2013. That
document indicates that the Council’s preferred use of the car park site would
be an ‘appropriate mix of town centre type uses such as retail (A1 Use Class),
café and restaurants (A3 Use Class), community (D1 Use Class), cultural,
leisure and entertainment (D2 Use Class), Offices (B1(a) use Class) and hotel
(C1 Use Class). This site may incorporate residential development (C3 Use
Class) on upper floors. Recent draft options for the car park site suggest a
four storey building where adjacent to the listed Wimbledon theatre building
rising to five storeys at the corner of the Broadway and Palmerston Road
adjacent to the Delatre site at 3 Palmerston Road.

7.4 The current outline application involves the erection of an additional two floors
of accommodation to the existing building and the erection of rear extensions
to create a part four, part six storey building and a new part four/five storey
wing. On the northern elevation adjacent to the car park site it would be six
storeys in height over the main building. The 5th storey would be recessed
slightly from the existing façade and the 6th storey would be set back 2m from
the Palmerston Road frontage and could be constructed of lightweight
materials to minimise visual impact. It should also be noted that indicative
drawings of a building on the P4 site show a development of a five storey
building with retail on the ground floor and flats above which would align with
the top of the recessed 6th floor of the Palmerston Road elevation of the
application site. The indicative building on the P4 site has a higher floor to

Page 304



C:\Users\michael udall\AppData\Local\Temp\8\01) Report - 3 Palmerston Road_12282403.doc

ceiling to the ground floor retail unit hence the five storey building has the
same height as the six storeys proposed for 3 Palmerston Road Only the
small set back lift over run/plant room would be marginally (less than 1m
higher) than the anticipated height for future proposals for the adjoining P4 car
park site and this would not be perceptible due to the setback and small
footprint. The proposed extensions have been designed so that the extended
building does not prejudice the future redevelopment of the adjacent Council
owned car park and no windows of opening or extract ducts would be formed
in the side elevation facing the car park (known as the P4 site in the UDP
proposals map). The proposal is considered to be acceptable in terms of
Adopted Core Strategy policy CS14 and retained UDP policies BE.16 and
BE.22. and compatible with proposals for the adjoining site.

7.5 Neighbour Amenity
The southern elevation of the proposed new wing and the atrium forming the
link with the existing building would face rear gardens of adjoining residential
properties. There would be large windows and third floor terraces within the
southern elevation sitting between 9m-12m of the boundary with 9 Palmerston
Road (and in closer proximity to the boundaries with 5 and 7 but not looking
directly towards). The applicants have indicated how issues of overlooking
could be addressed as part of the reserved matters submission in relation to
concerns about loss of privacy. For the windows, fixed horizontal louvres are
suggested up to an agreed height above floor level to restrict downwards
views with 1.8m high acid etched screens to the proposed 3rd floor terraces.

7.6 Originally, the proposal incorporated a large terrace over the rear parking
area, with a screen to 1.8m with planting behind but in very close proximity to
neighbouring gardens, giving rise to concerns about loss of privacy, potential
for noise disturbance, visual intrusion and light pollution relative to adjoining
residential properties, in particular 5 and 7 Palmerston Road. This feature has
been significantly amended at the request of officers to form a narrow 2m
wide balcony rather than a wide terrace and is considered to be acceptable
subject to suitable screening.

7.7 It is considered that design measures such as louvres, obscure glazing and
screening to terraces are feasible that would prevent unacceptable impact on
the privacy of adjoining occupiers which would be required by condition. The
proposal is therefore considered to be acceptable in terms of retained UDP
policy BE.15.
.

7.8 Parking
The proposed extensions to the existing office building would result in a
reduction in the number of off-street parking spaces from 12 to 7 spaces, one
of which is a disabled space. Given the application site location within
Wimbledon Town Centre with a Public Transport Accessibility Level of 6, the
expansion in floor space combined with the loss of seven spaces is
considered to be acceptable. However, a financial contribution towards
sustainable transport initiatives in the borough would be required to mitigate
the loss of parking. The proposal is therefore considered to be acceptable in
terms of Adopted Core Strategy policy CS20.

Page 305



C:\Users\michael udall\AppData\Local\Temp\8\01) Report - 3 Palmerston Road_12282403.doc

7.9 Planning Obligations
The proposed increase in office floor space and the loss of 7 parking spaces
would require the developer to make a financial contribution towards
sustainable transport initiatives in the borough (£15,000) secured through a
S.106 Agreement. In light of the expansion of office floor space, a further sum
of £10, 000 would also be required towards public realm/environmental
enhancements to the town centre

7.10 Local Financial Considerations
The proposed development is liable to pay the Mayoral Community
Infrastructure Levy, the funds for which will be applied by the Mayor
towards the Crossrail project. The CIL amount is non-negotiable and
planning permission cannot be refused for failure to agree to pay CIL.

SUSTAINABILITY AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT
REQUIREMENTS

8.1 The proposal does not constitute Schedule 1 or Schedule 2 development.
Accordingly there is no requirement for an EIA submission.

8.2 Policy CS15 (Climate Change) of the Adopted Merton Core Strategy requires
that all minor and major development including refurbishment, will be required
to demonstrate how the development makes effective use of resources and
materials, minimises water use and CO2 emissions. All non-domestic
development over 500m2 which does not qualify for assessment under Code
for sustainable Homes, will be expected to be built to a minimum of BREEAM
(Building Research Establishment Environment Assessment Method) Very
Good standard and meet CO2 reduction targets in line with the requirements
of the London Plan or national policy, whichever is the greater. Therefore a
planning condition to require the development to meet the BREEAM standard
should be imposed on any grant of planning permission.
The extension would be required to meet BREEAM requirements

9.0 CONCLUSION

9.1 The design of the proposed extensions is considered to be acceptable and will
result in the provision of enhanced office accommodation within
Wimbledon Town Centre and maintain employment opportunities in the
borough. The size and siting of the proposed extensions and alterations to the
building would not affect neighbour amenity. Accordingly, it is recommended
that planning permission be granted.

RECOMMENDATION

Page 306



C:\Users\michael udall\AppData\Local\Temp\8\01) Report - 3 Palmerston Road_12282403.doc

GRANT OUTLINE PLANNING PERMISSION

Subject to completion of a S.106 Agreement covering the following heads of terms:-

1. The developer making a financial contribution towards sustainable transport
initiatives in the borough (£15,000).

2. The developer making a financial contribution towards of £10,000 towards
improvements to the public realm/environmental enhancements within Wimbledon
town centre

3. The developer paying the Council’s legal and professional costs

4. The developer paying the cost of monitoring the agreement.

subject to the following conditions:-

1. A.2 Commencement of Development (Outline Application)

2. A.3 Submission of reserved Matters (Outline Application)

3. D.11 Hours of Construction

6. H.9 Construction Vehicles

7. No plant/telecommunications apparatus, aerials or communication dishes
shall be installed on the roof of the building other than the renewable energy
panels shown on the plans.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and the setting of
the neighbouring listed Theatre building.

8. No windows, vents, extracts or other openings shall be formed in the northern
flank wall of the building facing the car park.

Reason: So as not to inhibit the future redevelopment of the adjacent car
park site.

9. The proposed car parking/motor cycle parking spaces shown on drawing
number 572/005/P1 shall be provided before occupation of the new offices
and kept available thereafter.

Reason for condition: To ensure the provision of satisfactory parking provision
for the site.

10. Details of screening

11. Details of external lighting

12. bream –pre commencement and post completion

Page 307



C:\Users\michael udall\AppData\Local\Temp\8\01) Report - 3 Palmerston Road_12282403.doc

13. INF1 Party Wall Act

Page 308



T
h
is

 m
a
p
 i
s
 b

a
s
e
d
 o

n
 O

rd
n
a
n
c
e
 S

u
rv

e
y
 m

a
te

ri
a
l 
w

it
h

th
e
 p

e
rm

is
s
io

n
 o

f 
O

rd
n
a
n
c
e
 S

u
rv

e
y
 o

n
 b

e
h
a
lf
 o

f 
H

M
S

O
.

U
n
a
u
th

o
ri
s
e
d
 r

e
p
ro

d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
fr

in
g
e
s
 C

ro
w

n
 C

o
p
y
ri
g
h
t

a
n
d
 m

a
y
 l
e
a
d
 t
o
 p

ro
s
e
c
u
ti
o
n
 o

r 
C

iv
il 

p
ro

c
e
d
in

g
s
.

L
o
n
d
o
n
 B

o
ro

u
g
h
 o

f 
M

e
rt

o
n
 1

0
0
0
1
9
2
5
9
. 
2
0
1
2
.

3
 P

a
lm

e
rs

to
n
 R

o
a
d

S
c
a
le

 1
/1

2
5
0

D
a
te

 2
6
/1

1
/2

0
1
3

L
o
n
d
o
n
 B

o
ro

u
g
h
 o

f 
M

e
rt

o
n

1
0
0
 L

o
n
d
o
n
 R

o
a
d

M
o
rd

e
n

S
u
rr

e
y

S
M

4
 5

D
X

D
E

V
E

L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 C

O
N

T
R

O
L

Page 309



0
0

1
 P

1

T
H

E
 E

X
T

E
N

D
E

D
 T

O
W

N
 C

E
N

T
R

E

2
4

7
 T

H
E
 B

R
O

A
D

W
A
Y

TTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTT
HHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHH

EEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEE

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX
TTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTT

EEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEE
NNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNN

DDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDD
EEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEE

DDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDD
TTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTT
OOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOO

WWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWW
NNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNN

CCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCC
EEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEE

NNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNN
TTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTT

RRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRR
EEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEE

2
4

7
2

4
7

2
4

7
2

4
7

2
4

7
2

4
7

2
4

7
2

4
7

2
4

7
2

4
7

2
4

7
2

4
7

2
4

7
 T

H
E

 T
H

E
 T

H
E

 T
H

E
 T

H
E

 T
H

E
 T

H
E

 T
H

E
 T

H
E

 T
H

E
 T

H
E

 T
H

E
 T

H
E

 T
H

E
 T

H
E

 T
H

E
 T

H
E

 T
H

E
 T

H
E

 T
H

E
 T

H
E

 T
H

E
 T

H
E

 T
H

E
 T

H
E

 T
H

E
 T

H
E

 T
H

E
 T

H
E

 T
H

E
 T

H
E

 T
H

E
 T

H
E

 T
H

E
 T

H
E

 T
H

E
 T

H
E

 T
H

E
 T

H
E

 T
H

E
 T

H
E

 T
H

E
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
 B

R
O

A
D

W
A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

D
W

A
Y

W
IM

B
L
E
D

O
N

 H
IL

L

S
T
A
T
IO

N

T
H

E
 
B

R
O

A
D

W
A

Y

6
p
m

6
a
m

N n
o
o
n

W
IM

B
L
E
D

O
N

 T
O

W
N

 C
E
N

T
R

E

D
E

L
T
A

T
R

E

3
 
P

A
L
M

E
R

S
T
O

N
 R

O
A

D

T
H

E
E

X
T

E
N

D
E

D
 T

O
W

N
 C

E
N

T
R

E

A
E
R

IA
L
 C

O
N

T
E
X
T
 P

L
A

N
D

E
L
T
A

T
R

E
 3

 
P

A
L
M

E
R

S
T
O

N
R

D
 S

W
1

9
 1

P
G

M
A

R
C

U
S

B
E
A

L
E

A
R

C
H

IT
E
C

T
S

M
B

A
, 
1
 C

o
m

p
to

n
 R

o
a
d

W
im

b
le

d
o
n
, 
L
o
n
d
o
n
 S

W
1
9
 7

Q
A

P
h
o
n
e
 +

4
4
 (

0
) 

2
0
 8

9
4
6
 4

1
4
1

F
a
x
 +

4
4
 (

0
) 

2
0
 8

9
4
6
 2

2
9
9

E
m

a
il
 m

b
a
@

m
a
rc

u
s-

b
e
a
le

.c
o
.u

k

w
w

w
.m

a
rc

u
s-

b
e
a
le

.c
o
.u

k

S
c
a
le

D
a
teR
e
vi

si
o
n
s

5
7

2
/

A
U

G
 2

0
1
2

*
 =

 A
tr

iu
m

 o
p
ti
o
n

R
E
V
 P

1
 :

 2
6
/0

3
/1

3
 I
ss

u
e
d
 f

o
r 

p
la

n
n
in

g

Page 310



C
la

s
s
ro

o
m

s
(u

n
d
e
r 

c
o
n
st

ru
c
ti
o
n
 2

0
1
2
)

S
O

U
T
H 

W
IM

B
L
E
D

O
N

C
L
U

B

1
:2

0
0
 @

 A
3

S
T
 M

A
R

Y
'S

 S
C

H
O

O
L

S
e
rv

e
r 

ro
o
m

S
ta

ir
s 

2

B
ro

a
d

c
a
s
t

ro
o
m

s

S
ta

ir
s 

1

C
y
c
le

s

0
1

0
1

5
5

m
6
p
m

6
a
m

N

n
o
o
n

V
e
h
ic

le
 A

c
c
e
ss

G
R

O
U

N
D

 F
L
O

O
R

 P
L
A

N 0
0

5
 /

 P
1

1
:2

0
0
 @

 A
3

L
if
t

 

M
H

G
a
rd

e
n

'T
O

W
N

H
O

U
S

E
'

F
L
A
T
S

N
e
w

 p
la

n
ti
n
g
, 
o
p
e
n
 a

b
o
ve

M
H

M
H

M
H

PALMERSTON ROAD

G
a
ll
e
ry

E
n
tr

a
n
c
e

5 5
a 6 7

3
1

C
H

A
P

E
L

B B

C
C

C
A

R 
P
A

R
K

A

Y
A

R
D

R
a
is

e
 e

x
is

ti
n
g
 b

ri
c
k
 w

a
ll

M
H

M
H

+
1

7
.4

0
0

T
e
rr

a
c
e
 a

b
o
ve

5
6

7
4

R
e
fu

s
e

s
to

re

M
o
to

rc
y
c
le

A
re

a

2

F
 W

C

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 P
4
 D

E
V
E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T

C
a
rs

open above
2
.1

m

2
.1

m

N
e
w

 c
a
n
o
p
y
 b

e
lo

w

P
o
s
s
ib

le
 f

ir
e
 e

sc
a
p
e 

 r
o
u
te

n
e
w

D
E

L
T
A

T
R

E
 3

 
P

A
L
M

E
R

S
T
O

N
 R

D
 S

W
1

9
 1

P
G

M
A

R
C

U
S

B
E
A

L
E

A
R

C
H

IT
E
C

T
S

M
B

A
, 
1
 C

o
m

p
to

n
 R

o
a
d

W
im

b
le

d
o
n
, 
L
o
n
d
o
n
 S

W
1
9
 7

Q
A

P
h
o
n
e
 +

4
4
 (

0
) 

2
0
 8

9
4
6
 4

1
4
1

F
a
x
 +

4
4
 (

0
) 

2
0
 8

9
4
6
 2

2
9
9

E
m

a
il
 m

b
a
@

m
a
rc

u
s-

b
e
a
le

.c
o
.u

k

w
w

w
.m

a
rc

u
s-

b
e
a
le

.c
o
.u

k

S
c
a
le

D
a
teR
e
vi

si
o
n
s

5
7

2
/

A
U

G
 2

0
1
2

* 
=

 A
tr

iu
m

 o
p
ti
o
n

R
E
V
 P

1
 :

 2
6
/0

3
/1

3
 I
ss

u
e
d
 f

o
r 

p
la

n
n
in

g

Page 311



C
la

s
s
ro

o
m

s
(u

n
d
e
r 

c
o
n
st

ru
c
ti
o
n
 2

0
1
2
)

S
O

U
T
H 

W
IM

B
L
E
D

O
N

C
L
U

B

1
:2

0
0
 @

 A
3

S
T
 M

A
R

Y
'S

 S
C

H
O

O
L

F
IR

S
T
 F

L
O

O
R

 P
L
A

N

S
ta

ir
s 

1

E
x
is

ti
n
g

o
ff

ic
e
s

C
o
n
fe

re
n
c
e

M
e
e
ti
n
g

S
to

re

M
 W

C F
 W

C

K
it
c
h
e
n
s

1
:2

0
0
 @

 A
3

R
e
c
e
p

ti
o
n

T
e
rr

a
c
e

O
p
e
n
 t

o
 b

e
lo

w

N
e
w

o
ff

ic
e
s

1
1

5
 m

2

0
1

0
1

5
5

m
6
p
m

6
a
m

N

n
o
o
n

0
0

7
 /

 P
1

L
if
t

G
a
rd

e
n
s

b
e
lo

w
'T

O
W

N
H

O
U

S
E
'

F
L
A
T
S

R
O

O
F
 O

F
S

C
H

O
O

L
E
X
T
E
N

S
IO

N

N
e
w

 s
ta

ir

A
c
id

 e
tc

h
e
d
 g

la
ss

 s
c
re

e
n
 t

o
 1

.8
m

 
s
e
t 

b
a
c
k
 2

.1
m

 f
ro

m
 b

o
u
n
d
a
ry

S
ta

ir
s 

2

N
e
w

 c
a
n
o
p
y
 b

e
lo

w

T
e
rr

a
c
e
 p

la
n
ti
n
g

(P
o
s
s
ib

le
c
o
n
fe

re
n
c
e
 a

re
a
)

1
2
.0

B
re

a
k

o
u
t

A
c
id

 e
tc

h
e
d
 g

la
ss

 
s
c
re

e
n
 t

o
 1

.8
m

M
 W

C

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

2
.1

m

2
.1

m

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 P
4
 D

E
V
E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T

n
e
w

C
C

A
A

B B

D
E

L
T
A

T
R

E
 3

 
P

A
L
M

E
R

S
T
O

N
 R

D
 S

W
1

9
 1

P
G

M
A

R
C

U
S

B
E
A

L
E

A
R

C
H

IT
E
C

T
S

M
B

A
, 
1
 C

o
m

p
to

n
 R

o
a
d

W
im

b
le

d
o
n
, 
L
o
n
d
o
n
 S

W
1
9
 7

Q
A

P
h
o
n
e
 +

4
4
 (

0
) 

2
0
 8

9
4
6
 4

1
4
1

F
a
x
 +

4
4
 (

0
) 

2
0
 8

9
4
6
 2

2
9
9

E
m

a
il
 m

b
a
@

m
a
rc

u
s-

b
e
a
le

.c
o
.u

k

w
w

w
.m

a
rc

u
s-

b
e
a
le

.c
o
.u

k

S
c
a
le

D
a
teR
e
vi

si
o
n
s

5
7

2
/

A
U

G
 2

0
1
2

* 
=

 A
tr

iu
m

 o
p
ti
o
n

R
E
V
 P

1
 :

 2
6
/0

3
/1

3
 I
ss

u
e
d
 f

o
r 

p
la

n
n
in

g

Page 312



C
la

s
s
ro

o
m

s
(u

n
d
e
r 

c
o
n
st

ru
c
ti
o
n
 2

0
1
2
)

S
O

U
T
H 

W
IM

B
L
E
D

O
N

C
L
U

B

1
:2

0
0
 @

 A
3

S
T
 M

A
R

Y
'S

 S
C

H
O

O
L

L
if
t

S
ta

ir
s 

1

C
o
n
fe

re
n
c
e

M
e
e
ti
n
g

S
E
C

O
N

D
 F

L
O

O
R

 P
L
A

N

0
0

8
 /

 P
1

K
it
c
h
e
n

1
:2

0
0
 @

 A
3

0
0

9
0

1
0

1
5

5
m

6
p
m

6
a
m

N

n
o
o
n

E
x
is

ti
n
g

o
ff

ic
e
s

N
e
w 

o
ff

ic
e
s

8
7
 m

2

1
8
.0

L
in

k

T
e
rr

a
c
e
 b

e
lo

w

A
tr

iu
m

S
ta

ir
s 

2

(P
o
s
s
ib

le
T
V
 s

tu
d
io

)

10
.5

Terrace

A
c
id

 e
tc

h
e
d
 g

la
ss

 
s
c
re

e
n
 t

o
 1

.8
m

 

H
o
ri

z
o
n
ta

l 
s
c
re

e
n
in

g
 t

o
 g

la
z
in

g

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 P
4
 D

E
V
E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T

C
C

A
A

B B

D
E

L
T
A

T
R

E
 3

 
P

A
L
M

E
R

S
T
O

N
 R

D
 S

W
1

9
 1

P
G

M
A

R
C

U
S

B
E
A

L
E

A
R

C
H

IT
E
C

T
S

M
B

A
, 
1
 C

o
m

p
to

n
 R

o
a
d

W
im

b
le

d
o
n
, 
L
o
n
d
o
n
 S

W
1
9
 7

Q
A

P
h
o
n
e
 +

4
4
 (

0
) 

2
0
 8

9
4
6
 4

1
4
1

F
a
x
 +

4
4
 (

0
) 

2
0
 8

9
4
6
 2

2
9
9

E
m

a
il
 m

b
a
@

m
a
rc

u
s-

b
e
a
le

.c
o
.u

k

w
w

w
.m

a
rc

u
s-

b
e
a
le

.c
o
.u

k

S
c
a
le

D
a
teR
e
vi

si
o
n
s

5
7

2
/

A
U

G
 2

0
1
2

*
 =

 A
tr

iu
m

 o
p
ti
o
n

R
E
V
 P

1
 :

 2
6
/0

3
/1

3
 I
ss

u
e
d
 f

o
r 

p
la

n
n
in

g

Page 313



C
la

s
s
ro

o
m

s
(u

n
d
e
r 

c
o
n
st

ru
c
ti
o
n
 2

0
1
2
)

S
O

U
T
H 

W
IM

B
L
E
D

O
N

C
L
U

B

1
:2

0
0
 @

 A
3

S
T
 M

A
R

Y
'S

 S
C

H
O

O
L

C
o
n
fe

re
n
c
e

M
e
e
ti
n
g

M
 W

C F
 W

C

T
H

IR
D

 F
L
O

O
R

 P
L
A

N

1
:2

0
0
 @

 A
3

0
1

1
 /

 P
1

0
1

0
1

5
5

m
6
p
m

6
a
m

N

n
o
o
n

L
if
t

16.8

E
x
is

ti
n
g

o
ff

ic
e
s

N
e
w

o
ff

ic
e
s

5
0
 m

2

S
ta

ir
s 

1

L
in

k

T
e
rr

a
c
e

S
ta

ir
s 

2

T
e
rr

a
c
e

7.
7

Terrace below

A
c
id

 e
tc

h
e
d
 g

la
ss

 
s
c
re

e
n
 t

o
 1

.8
m

m
e
e
ti
n
g

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 P
4
 D

E
V
E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T

C
C

A
A

B B

D
E

L
T
A

T
R

E
 3

 
P

A
L
M

E
R

S
T
O

N
 R

D
 S

W
1

9
 1

P
G

M
A

R
C

U
S

B
E
A

L
E

A
R

C
H

IT
E
C

T
S

M
B

A
, 
1
 C

o
m

p
to

n
 R

o
a
d

W
im

b
le

d
o
n
, 
L
o
n
d
o
n
 S

W
1
9
 7

Q
A

P
h
o
n
e
 +

4
4
 (

0
) 

2
0
 8

9
4
6
 4

1
4
1

F
a
x
 +

4
4
 (

0
) 

2
0
 8

9
4
6
 2

2
9
9

E
m

a
il
 m

b
a
@

m
a
rc

u
s-

b
e
a
le

.c
o
.u

k

w
w

w
.m

a
rc

u
s-

b
e
a
le

.c
o
.u

k

S
c
a
le

D
a
teR
e
vi

si
o
n
s

5
7

2
/

A
U

G
 2

0
1
2

*
 =

 A
tr

iu
m

 o
p
ti
o
n

R
E
V
 P

1
 :

 2
6
/0

3
/1

3
 I
ss

u
e
d
 f

o
r 

p
la

n
n
in

g

Page 314



C
la

s
s
ro

o
m

s
(u

n
d
e
r 

c
o
n
st

ru
c
ti
o
n
 2

0
1
2
)

S
O

U
T
H 

W
IM

B
L
E
D

O
N

C
L
U

B

1
:2

0
0
 @

 A
3

S
T
 M

A
R

Y
'S

 S
C

H
O

O
L

L
if
t

0
1

3
 /

 P
1

F
O

U
R

T
H

 F
L
O

O
R

 P
L
A

N

1
:2

0
0
 @

 A
3

S
ta

ir
s 

2

0
1

0
1

5
5

m
6
p
m

6
a
m

N

n
o
o
n

N
e
w 

o
ff

ic
e
s

1
3

2
 m

2

S
ta

ir
s 

1

T
e
rr

a
c
e

b
e
lo

w

E
x
is

ti
n
g
 s

a
te

ll
it
e
 d

is
h
e
s 

re
ta

in
e
d

T
e
rr

a
c
e
 b

e
lo

w

P
V
 c

e
ll
s

R
o
o
f 

M
a
in

te
n
a
n
c
e
 a

c
c
e
ss

 o
n
ly

H
a
n
d

ra
il
 t

o
 1

.1
m

 

H
a
n
d

ra
il
 t

o
 1

.1
m

 

R
o
o
f 

(m
a
in

te
n
a
n
c
e

a
c
c
e
ss

 o
n
ly

)

M
a
in

te
n
a
n
c
e 

a
c
c
e
s
s 

o
n
ly 

P
la

n
t

1
0

m
2

M
 W

C

F
 W

C

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 P
4
 D

E
V
E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T

H
o
ri

z
o
n
ta

l 
s
c
re

e
n
in

g
 t

o
 g

la
z
in

g
E
x
is

ti
n
g
 p

a
ra

p
e
t

N
e
w

 f
lo

o
r 

se
t 

b
a
c
k

fr
o
m

 e
x
g
 e

le
va

ti
o
n

C
C

A
A

B B

D
E

L
T
A

T
R

E
 3

 
P

A
L
M

E
R

S
T
O

N
 R

D
 S

W
1

9
 1

P
G

M
A

R
C

U
S

B
E
A

L
E

A
R

C
H

IT
E
C

T
S

M
B

A
, 
1
 C

o
m

p
to

n
 R

o
a
d

W
im

b
le

d
o
n
, 
L
o
n
d
o
n
 S

W
1
9
 7

Q
A

P
h
o
n
e
 +

4
4
 (

0
) 

2
0
 8

9
4
6
 4

1
4
1

F
a
x
 +

4
4
 (

0
) 

2
0
 8

9
4
6
 2

2
9
9

E
m

a
il
 m

b
a
@

m
a
rc

u
s-

b
e
a
le

.c
o
.u

k

w
w

w
.m

a
rc

u
s-

b
e
a
le

.c
o
.u

k

S
c
a
le

D
a
teR
e
vi

si
o
n
s

5
7

2
/

A
U

G
 2

0
1
2

* 
=

 A
tr

iu
m

 o
p
ti
o
n

R
E
V
 P

1
 :

 2
6
/0

3
/1

3
 I
ss

u
e
d
 f

o
r 

p
la

n
n
in

g

Page 315



C
la

s
s
ro

o
m

s
(u

n
d
e
r 

c
o
n
st

ru
c
ti
o
n
 2

0
1
2
)

S
O

U
T
H 

W
IM

B
L
E
D

O
N

C
L
U

B

1
:2

0
0
 @

 A
3

S
T
 M

A
R

Y
'S

 S
C

H
O

O
L

M
 W

C
F
 W

C

L
if
t

0
1

4
 /

 P
1

F
IF

T
H

 F
L
O

O
R

 P
L
A

N

1
:2

0
0
 @

 A
3

S
ta

ir
s 

2

0
1

0
1

5
5

m
6
p
m

6
a
m

N

n
o
o
n

L
if
t

S
ta

ir
s 

1

T
e
rr

a
c
e

R
o
o
f 

b
e
lo

w

E
x
is

ti
n
g
 s

a
te

ll
it
e
 d

is
h
e
s 

re
ta

in
e
d

R
o
o
f

B
e
lo

w

Terrace

A
c
id

 e
tc

h
e
d
 g

la
ss

 
s
c
re

e
n
 t

o
 1

.8
m

 

O
ff

ic
e
s 

& 
m

e
e
ti
n
g 

ro
o
m

s 
9

5
m

2

K
it
c
h
e
n

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 P
4
 D

E
V
E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T

A
c
c
e
s
s 

la
d
d
e
r

to
 P

V
 c

e
ll
s

E
x
is

ti
n
g
 p

a
ra

p
e
t

N
e
w

 f
lo

o
r 

se
t 

b
a
c
k

fr
o
m

 e
x
g
 e

le
va

ti
o
n

C
C

A
A

B B

D
E

L
T
A

T
R

E
 3

 
P

A
L
M

E
R

S
T
O

N
 R

D
 S

W
1

9
 1

P
G

M
A

R
C

U
S

B
E
A

L
E

A
R

C
H

IT
E
C

T
S

M
B

A
, 
1
 C

o
m

p
to

n
 R

o
a
d

W
im

b
le

d
o
n
, 
L
o
n
d
o
n
 S

W
1
9
 7

Q
A

P
h
o
n
e
 +

4
4
 (

0
) 

2
0
 8

9
4
6
 4

1
4
1

F
a
x
 +

4
4
 (

0
) 

2
0
 8

9
4
6
 2

2
9
9

E
m

a
il
 m

b
a
@

m
a
rc

u
s-

b
e
a
le

.c
o
.u

k

w
w

w
.m

a
rc

u
s-

b
e
a
le

.c
o
.u

k

S
c
a
le

D
a
teR
e
vi

si
o
n
s

5
7

2
/

A
U

G
 2

0
1
2

*
 =

 A
tr

iu
m

 o
p
ti
o
n

R
E
V
 P

1
 :

 2
6
/0

3
/1

3
 I
ss

u
e
d
 f

o
r 

p
la

n
n
in

g

Page 316



C
la

s
s
ro

o
m

s
(u

n
d
e
r 

c
o
n
st

ru
c
ti
o
n
 2

0
1
2
)

S
O

U
T
H 

W
IM

B
L
E
D

O
N

C
L
U

B

T

1
:2

0
0
 @

 A
3

S
T
 M

A
R

Y
'S

 S
C

H
O

O
L

0
1

5
 /

 P
1

R
O

O
F
 P

L
A

N

1
:2

0
0
 @

 A
3

0
1

0
1

5
5

m
6
p
m

6
a
m

N

n
o
o
n

F
la

t 
R

o
o
f

T
e
rr

a
c
e

b
e
lo

w

P
V
 c

e
ll
s

L
if
t

H
e
a
d

R
L

Terrace
below

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 P
4
 D

E
V
E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T

A
c
c
e
s
s 

la
d
d
e
r 

to
 P

V
 c

e
ll
s

C
C

A
A

B B

D
E

L
T
A

T
R

E
 3

 
P

A
L
M

E
R

S
T
O

N
 R

D
 S

W
1

9
 1

P
G

M
A

R
C

U
S

B
E
A

L
E

A
R

C
H

IT
E
C

T
S

M
B

A
, 
1
 C

o
m

p
to

n
 R

o
a
d

W
im

b
le

d
o
n
, 
L
o
n
d
o
n
 S

W
1
9
 7

Q
A

P
h
o
n
e
 +

4
4
 (

0
) 

2
0
 8

9
4
6
 4

1
4
1

F
a
x
 +

4
4
 (

0
) 

2
0
 8

9
4
6
 2

2
9
9

E
m

a
il
 m

b
a
@

m
a
rc

u
s-

b
e
a
le

.c
o
.u

k

w
w

w
.m

a
rc

u
s-

b
e
a
le

.c
o
.u

k

S
c
a
le

D
a
teR
e
vi

si
o
n
s

5
7

2
/

A
U

G
 2

0
1
2

*
 =

 A
tr

iu
m

 o
p
ti
o
n

R
E
V
 P

1
 :

 2
6
/0

3
/1

3
 I
ss

u
e
d
 f

o
r 

p
la

n
n
in

g

Page 317



G
L 
  
  

  
 
 -

 0
.2

2
5

P
4
 S

IT
E
/ 

T
H

E
A
T
R

E
 C

A
R

 P
A

R
K

R
E
S

ID
E
N

T
IA

L

F
O

U
R

T
H

F
F
L
 +

 1
2
.0

0
0

F
IR

S
T 
 

F
F
L
 +

 3
.0

0
0

S
E
C

O
N

D 
 

F
F
L
 +

 6
.0

0
0

T
H

IR
D 

 
F
F
L
 +

 9
.0

0
0

  
  

 
 R

L
 +

1
8
.4

6
0

R
L
 +

1
9
.4

6
0

F
IF

T
H

F
F
L
 +

 1
5
.0

0
0

D
A
T
U

M
 
 F

F
L
 ±

 0
.0

0
0

0
1

0
1

5
5

m

N
O

R
T
H

S
O

U
T
H

F
R

O
N

T
 
E
L
E
V
A
T
IO

N

1
:2

0
0
 @

 A
3

0
3

4
 /

 P
1

S
IT

E

W
IM

B
L
E
D

O
N 

T
H

E
A
T
R

E
 B

E
H

IN
D

C C

A A

F
U

T
U

R
E
 P

4
 
D

E
V
E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
: 

G
ro

u
n
d
 f

lo
o
r 

re
ta

il
 a

n
d 

re
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
a
b
o
ve

.
5
 s

to
re

y
s 

a
t 

c
o
rn

e
r 

o
f 

P
a
lm

e
rs

to
n
 R

o
a
d

B
R

O
A

D
W

A
Y

H
O

U
S

E

T
H

E
 
B

R
O

A
D

W
A
Y

T
O

W
N

 C
E
N

T
R

E
 B

O
U

N
D

A
R

Y

E
x
is

ti
n
g
 s

a
te

ll
it
e 

d
is

h
e
s 

re
ta

in
e
d

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

H
a
n
d

ra
il
 t

o
 1

.1
m

 

EXISTING PROPOSED

D
E

L
T
A

T
R

E
 3

 
P

A
L
M

E
R

S
T
O

N
 R

D
 S

W
1

9
 1

P
G

M
A

R
C

U
S

B
E
A

L
E

A
R

C
H

IT
E
C

T
S

M
B

A
, 
1
 C

o
m

p
to

n
 R

o
a
d

W
im

b
le

d
o
n
, 
L
o
n
d
o
n
 S

W
1
9
 7

Q
A

P
h
o
n
e
 +

4
4
 (

0
) 

2
0
 8

9
4
6
 4

1
4
1

F
a
x
 +

4
4
 (

0
) 

2
0
 8

9
4
6
 2

2
9
9

E
m

a
il
 m

b
a
@

m
a
rc

u
s-

b
e
a
le

.c
o
.u

k

w
w

w
.m

a
rc

u
s-

b
e
a
le

.c
o
.u

k

S
c
a
le

D
a
teR
e
vi

si
o
n
s

5
7

2
/

A
U

G
 2

0
1
2

* 
=

 A
tr

iu
m

 o
p
ti
o
n

R
E
V
 P

1
 :

 2
6
/0

3
/1

3
 I
ss

u
e
d
 f

o
r 

p
la

n
n
in

g

Page 318



S
E
C

T
IO

N
 B

-B

1
:2

0
0
 @

 A
3

R
E
S

ID
E
N

T
IA

L

1

C
a
r 

p
a
rk

N
O

R
T
H

S
O

U
T
H

0
2

4
 /

 P
1

R
e
c
e
p
ti
o
n

234

0
1

0
1

5
5

m

A A

5

L
in

k

L
in

k

O
ff

ic
e

T
e
rr

a
c
e

C C

S
IT

E 

T
H

E
 
B

R
O

A
D

W
A
Y

G

G
L 
  
  

  
 
 -

 0
.2

2
5

F
O

U
R

T
H

F
F
L
 +

 9
.0

0
0

D
A
T
U

M
 
 F

F
L
 ±

 0
.0

0
0

F
IR

S
T 
 

F
F
L
 +

 3
.0

0
0

S
E
C

O
N

D 
 

F
F
L
 +

 6
.0

0
0

T
H

IR
D 

 
F
F
L
 +

 9
.0

0
0

F
IF

T
H

F
F
L
 +

 1
5
.0

0
0

PR
O
PO

SE
D

 S
IG

H
T 

LI
N
E

  
  

 
 R

L
 +

1
8
.4

6
0

R
L
 +

1
9
.4

6
0

T
e
rr

a
c
e

B
R

O
A

D
W

A
Y

H
O

U
S

E

E
x
is

ti
n
g
 s

a
te

ll
it
e 

d
is

h
e
s 

re
ta

in
e
d

A
c
id

 e
tc

h
e
d 

g
la

s
s 

to
 1

.8
 A

F
F
L

1
.1

m
 A

F
F
L

1
.8

m
 A

F
F
L

T
e
rr

a
c
e

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

P
4
 S

IT
E
/ 

C
A

R
 P

A
R

K

F
U

T
U

R
E
 P

4
 
D

E
V
E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
: 

G
ro

u
n
d
 f

lo
o
r 

re
ta

il
 a

n
d 

re
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
a
b
o
ve

.
5
 s

to
re

y
s 

a
t 

c
o
rn

e
r 

o
f 

P
a
lm

e
rs

to
n
 R

o
a
d

B
E
T
H

E
L
 B

A
P

T
IS

T
 C

H
U

R
C

H
 B

E
H

IN
D

A
tr

iu
m

S
e
c
ti
o
n

L
o
u
v
re

s 
to

 r
e
d
u
c
e 

o
ve

rl
o
o
k
in

g

R
E
S

ID
E
N

T
IA

L
S

IT
E 

PR
O
PO

SE
D

 S
IG

H
T 

LI
N
E

T
e
rr

a
c
e

P
4
 S

IT
E
/ 

C
A

R
 P

A
R

K
B

R
O

A
D

W
A
Y
 H

O
U

S
E

R
E
S

ID
E
N

T
IA

L
B

R
O

A
D

W
A
Y

R
E
A

R
 
E
L
E
V
A
T
IO

N 
  

 

1
:1

0
0
 @

 A
3

1
:2

0
0
 @

 A
3

0
3

2
 /

 P
1

A A

C C

  
  

 
 R

L
 +

1
8
.4

6
0

R
L
 +

1
9
.4

6
0

P
4
 S

IT
E
/ 

C
A

R
 P

A
R

K
R

O
A

D
M

IX
E
D

 U
S

E
 

R
E
S

ID
E
N

T
IA

L
S

IT
E 

G
L 
  
  

  
 
 -

 0
.2

2
5

F
O

U
R

T
H

F
F
L
 +

 9
.0

0
0

D
A
T
U

M
 
 F

F
L
 ±

 0
.0

0
0

F
IR

S
T 
 

F
F
L
 +

 3
.0

0
0

S
E
C

O
N

D 
 

F
F
L
 +

 6
.0

0
0

T
H

IR
D 

 
F
F
L
 +

 9
.0

0
0

F
IF

T
H

F
F
L
 +

 1
5
.0

0
0S
O

U
T
H

T
H

E
 
B

R
O

A
D

W
A
Y

B
R

O
A

D
W

A
Y

H
O

U
S

E

N
O

R
T
H

1
.8

m
 A

F
F
L

1
.8

m
 A

F
F
L

E
x
is

ti
n
g
 s

a
te

ll
it
e 

d
is

h
e
s 

re
ta

in
e
d

A
c
id

 e
tc

h
e
d 

G
la

s
s 

to
 1

.8
 A

F
F
L

H
a
n
d

ra
il
 t

o
 1

.1
m

 
1
.1

m
 A

F
R

L

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

F
U

T
U

R
E
 P

4
 
D

E
V
E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
: 

G
ro

u
n
d
 f

lo
o
r 

re
ta

il
 a

n
d 

re
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
a
b
o
ve

.
5
 s

to
re

y
s 

a
t 

c
o
rn

e
r 

o
f 

P
a
lm

e
rs

to
n
 R

o
a
d

E
x
is

ti
n
g
 b

o
u
n
d
a
ry

 w
a
ll 

e
x
te

n
d

e
d
 u

p
w

a
rd

s 

B
E
T
H

E
L
 B

A
P

T
IS

T
 C

H
U

R
C

H
 B

E
H

IN
D

D
E

L
T
A

T
R

E
 3

 
P

A
L
M

E
R

S
T
O

N
 R

D
 S

W
1

9
 1

P
G

M
A

R
C

U
S

B
E
A

L
E

A
R

C
H

IT
E
C

T
S

M
B

A
, 
1
 C

o
m

p
to

n
 R

o
a
d

W
im

b
le

d
o
n
, 
L
o
n
d
o
n
 S

W
1
9
 7

Q
A

P
h
o
n
e
 +

4
4
 (

0
) 

2
0
 8

9
4
6
 4

1
4
1

F
a
x
 +

4
4
 (

0
) 

2
0
 8

9
4
6
 2

2
9
9

E
m

a
il
 m

b
a
@

m
a
rc

u
s-

b
e
a
le

.c
o
.u

k

w
w

w
.m

a
rc

u
s-

b
e
a
le

.c
o
.u

k

S
c
a
le

D
a
teR
e
vi

si
o
n
s

5
7

2
/

A
U

G
 2

0
1
2

* 
=

 A
tr

iu
m

 o
p
ti
o
n

R
E
V
 P

1
 :

 2
6
/0

3
/1

3
 I
ss

u
e
d
 f

o
r 

p
la

n
n
in

g

Page 319



S
E
C

T
IO

N
 A

-A

1
:2

0
0
 @

 A
3

S
O

U
T
H

 W
IM

B
L
E
D

O
N

 C
L
U

B

R
E
C

E
P

T
IO

N

C
A

R
 P

A
R

K
G

A
L
L
E
R

Y

W
E
S
T

E
A

S
T

0
2

2
 /

 P
1

12

3

G
E
N

T
R

A
N

C
E

N
E
W

O
F
F
IC

E
S

N
E
W

L
IG

H
T
W

E
L
L

&
 A

T
R

IU
M

E
X

IS
T
IN

G
 O

F
F
IC

E
S

W
IT

H
 2

 N
E
W

 F
L
O

O
R

S

0
1

0
1

5
5

m

B B

5

D
A
T
U

M
  

F
F
L
 ±

 0
.0

0
0

F
IR

S
T 
 

F
F
L
 +

 3
.0

0
0

S
E
C

O
N

D 
 

F
F
L
 +

 6
.0

0
0

T
H

IR
D 

 
F
F
L
 +

 9
.0

0
0

  
  

 
 R

L
 +

1
8
.4

6
0

R
L
 +

1
9
.4

6
0

E
X
IS

T
IN

G
 O

F
F
IC

E
S

P
V
 C

e
ll
s

N
E
W

 O
F
F
IC

E
S

N
E
W

 O
F
F
IC

E
S

N
E
W

 O
F
F
IC

E
S

N
E
W

 O
F
F
IC

E
S

E
X
IS

T
IN

G
 O

F
F
IC

E
S

E
X
IS

T
IN

G
 O

F
F
IC

E
S

N
E
W

 O
F
F
IC

E
S

S
IT

E

P
A

L
M

E
R

S
T
O

N
 R

D
.

B
E
T
H

E
L 

B
A

P
T
IS

T
 C

H
U

R
C

H

P
R
O
P
O
SE

D
 S

IG
H
T 

LI
N
E

SK
Y 

LI
N
E

F
O

U
R

T
H

F
F
L
 +

 1
2
.0

0
0

F
IF

T
H

F
F
L
 +

 1
5
.0

0
0

EX
IS

TI
N
G
 S

IG
H
T 

LI
N
E

A
T
R

IU
M

T
E
R

R
A

C
E

1
.1

m
 A

F
R

L

1
.8

m
 A

F
F
L

1
.8

m
 A

F
F
L

1
.8

m
 A

F
F
L

A
c
id

 e
tc

h
e
d
 g

la
ss

 
s
c
re

e
n
 t

o
 1

.8
m

 

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

EXISTING PROPOSED

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 4

th
 f

lo
o
r 

s
e
t 

b
a
c
k
 f

ro
m

 e
x
is

ti
n
g

B
o
u
n
d
a
ry

 w
a
ll 

e
x
te

n
d

e
d
 u

p
w

a
rd

s 

D
E

L
T
A

T
R

E
 3

 
P

A
L
M

E
R

S
T
O

N
 R

D
 S

W
1

9
 1

P
G

M
A

R
C

U
S

B
E
A

L
E

A
R

C
H

IT
E
C

T
S

M
B

A
, 
1
 C

o
m

p
to

n
 R

o
a
d

W
im

b
le

d
o
n
, 
L
o
n
d
o
n
 S

W
1
9
 7

Q
A

P
h
o
n
e
 +

4
4
 (

0
) 

2
0
 8

9
4
6
 4

1
4
1

F
a
x
 +

4
4
 (

0
) 

2
0
 8

9
4
6
 2

2
9
9

E
m

a
il
 m

b
a
@

m
a
rc

u
s-

b
e
a
le

.c
o
.u

k

w
w

w
.m

a
rc

u
s-

b
e
a
le

.c
o
.u

k

S
c
a
le

D
a
teR
e
vi

si
o
n
s

5
7

2
/

A
U

G
 2

0
1
2

* 
=

 A
tr

iu
m

 o
p
ti
o
n

R
E
V
 P

1
 :

 2
6
/0

3
/1

3
 I
ss

u
e
d
 f

o
r 

p
la

n
n
in

g

Page 320



0.800

F
F
L

C
il
l 

0
.8

0
0

1.500

1
.5

0
0

F
ix

e
d 

h
o
ri

z
o
n

ta
l 

lo
u

v
e
rs

D
o
w

n
w

a
rd

s
v
ie

w
s 

p
a
rt

ia
ll
y 

o
b

s
c
u

re
d
 b

y
lo

u
v
re

s

C
o
m

p
le

te
ly
 

o
b

s
c
u

re
d 

b
e
lo

w
 3

5
º

L
E
S
S

O
B

S
C

U
R

E
D

M
O

R
E

O
B

S
C

U
R

E
D

S
E
C

T
IO

N
 B

-B

1
:2

0
0
 @

 A
3

R
E
S

ID
E
N

T
IA

L

1

C
a
r 

p
a
rk

N
O

R
T
H

S
O

U
T
H

0
2

4
 /

 P
1

R
e
c
e
p
ti
o
n

234

0
1

0
1

5
5

m

A A

5

L
in

k

L
in

k

O
ff

ic
e

T
e
rr

a
c
e

C C

S
IT

E 

T
H

E
 
B

R
O

A
D

W
A
Y

G

G
L 
  
  

  
 
 -

 0
.2

2
5

F
O

U
R

T
H

F
F
L
 +

 9
.0

0
0

D
A
T
U

M
 
 F

F
L
 ±

 0
.0

0
0

F
IR

S
T 
 

F
F
L
 +

 3
.0

0
0

S
E
C

O
N

D 
 

F
F
L
 +

 6
.0

0
0

T
H

IR
D 

 
F
F
L
 +

 9
.0

0
0

F
IF

T
H

F
F
L
 +

 1
5
.0

0
0

PR
O
PO

SE
D

 S
IG

H
T 

LI
N
E

  
  

 
 R

L
 +

1
8
.4

6
0

R
L
 +

1
9
.4

6
0

T
e
rr

a
c
e

B
R

O
A

D
W

A
Y

H
O

U
S

E

E
x
is

ti
n
g
 s

a
te

ll
it
e 

d
is

h
e
s 

re
ta

in
e
d

A
c
id

 e
tc

h
e
d 

g
la

s
s 

to
 1

.8
 A

F
F
L

1
.1

m
 A

F
F
L

1
.8

m
 A

F
F
L

T
e
rr

a
c
e

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

P
4
 S

IT
E
/ 

C
A

R
 P

A
R

K

F
U

T
U

R
E
 P

4
 
D

E
V
E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
: 

G
ro

u
n
d
 f

lo
o
r 

re
ta

il
 a

n
d 

re
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
a
b
o
ve

.
5
 s

to
re

y
s 

a
t 

c
o
rn

e
r 

o
f 

P
a
lm

e
rs

to
n
 R

o
a
d

B
E
T
H

E
L
 B

A
P

T
IS

T
 C

H
U

R
C

H
 B

E
H

IN
D

A
tr

iu
m

S
e
c
ti
o
n

L
o
u
v
re

s 
to

 r
e
d
u
c
e 

o
ve

rl
o
o
k
in

g

R
E
S

ID
E
N

T
IA

L
S

IT
E 

PR
O
PO

SE
D

 S
IG

H
T 

LI
N
E

T
e
rr

a
c
e

P
4
 S

IT
E
/ 

C
A

R
 P

A
R

K
B

R
O

A
D

W
A
Y
 H

O
U

S
E

R
E
S

ID
E
N

T
IA

L
B

R
O

A
D

W
A
Y

D
E

L
T
A

T
R

E
 3

 
P

A
L
M

E
R

S
T
O

N
 R

D
 S

W
1

9
 1

P
G

M
A

R
C

U
S

B
E
A

L
E

A
R

C
H

IT
E
C

T
S

M
B

A
, 
1
 C

o
m

p
to

n
 R

o
a
d

W
im

b
le

d
o
n
, 
L
o
n
d
o
n
 S

W
1
9
 7

Q
A

P
h
o
n
e
 +

4
4
 (

0
) 

2
0
 8

9
4
6
 4

1
4
1

F
a
x
 +

4
4
 (

0
) 

2
0
 8

9
4
6
 2

2
9
9

E
m

a
il
 m

b
a
@

m
a
rc

u
s-

b
e
a
le

.c
o
.u

k

w
w

w
.m

a
rc

u
s-

b
e
a
le

.c
o
.u

k

S
c
a
le

D
a
teR
e
vi

si
o
n
s

5
7

2
/

A
U

G
 2

0
1
2

* 
=

 A
tr

iu
m

 o
p
ti
o
n

R
E
V
 P

1
 :

 2
6
/0

3
/1

3
 I
ss

u
e
d
 f

o
r 

p
la

n
n
in

g

Page 321



S
E
C

T
IO

N
 A

-A

1
:2

0
0
 @

 A
3

S
O

U
T
H

 W
IM

B
L
E
D

O
N

 C
L
U

B

R
E
C

E
P

T
IO

N

C
A

R
 P

A
R

K
G

A
L
L
E
R

Y

W
E
S
T

E
A

S
T

0
2

2
 /

 P
1

12

3

G
E
N

T
R

A
N

C
E

N
E
W

O
F
F
IC

E
S

N
E
W

L
IG

H
T
W

E
L
L

&
 A

T
R

IU
M

E
X

IS
T
IN

G
 O

F
F
IC

E
S

W
IT

H
 2

 N
E
W

 F
L
O

O
R

S

0
1

0
1

5
5

m

B B

5

D
A
T
U

M
  

F
F
L
 ±

 0
.0

0
0

F
IR

S
T 
 

F
F
L
 +

 3
.0

0
0

S
E
C

O
N

D 
 

F
F
L
 +

 6
.0

0
0

T
H

IR
D 

 
F
F
L
 +

 9
.0

0
0

  
  

 
 R

L
 +

1
8
.4

6
0

R
L
 +

1
9
.4

6
0

E
X
IS

T
IN

G
 O

F
F
IC

E
S

P
V
 C

e
ll
s

N
E
W

 O
F
F
IC

E
S

N
E
W

 O
F
F
IC

E
S

N
E
W

 O
F
F
IC

E
S

N
E
W

 O
F
F
IC

E
S

E
X
IS

T
IN

G
 O

F
F
IC

E
S

E
X
IS

T
IN

G
 O

F
F
IC

E
S

N
E
W

 O
F
F
IC

E
S

S
IT

E

P
A

L
M

E
R

S
T
O

N
 R

D
.

B
E
T
H

E
L 

B
A

P
T
IS

T
 C

H
U

R
C

H

P
R
O
P
O
SE

D
 S

IG
H
T 

LI
N
E

SK
Y 

LI
N
E

F
O

U
R

T
H

F
F
L
 +

 1
2
.0

0
0

F
IF

T
H

F
F
L
 +

 1
5
.0

0
0

EX
IS

TI
N
G
 S

IG
H
T 

LI
N
E

A
T
R

IU
M

T
E
R

R
A

C
E

1
.1

m
 A

F
R

L

1
.8

m
 A

F
F
L

1
.8

m
 A

F
F
L

1
.8

m
 A

F
F
L

A
c
id

 e
tc

h
e
d
 g

la
ss

 
s
c
re

e
n
 t

o
 1

.8
m

 

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

EXISTING PROPOSED

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 4

th
 f

lo
o
r 

s
e
t 

b
a
c
k
 f

ro
m

 e
x
is

ti
n
g

B
o
u
n
d
a
ry

 w
a
ll 

e
x
te

n
d

e
d
 u

p
w

a
rd

s 

G
A

R
D

E
N

'T
O

W
N

 H
O

U
S

E
 F

L
A
T
S

'

S
E
C

T
IO

N
 C

-C

0
2

6

T
O

P
 O

F
 W

A
L
L

+
 2

.0
0
0
 M

B B

E
x
is

ti
n
g
 s

a
te

ll
it
e 

d
is

h
e
s 

re
ta

in
e
d

1
.1

m
 A

F
R

L
1
.1

m
 A

F
R

L

P
A

R
K

IN
G

L
o
u
v
re

s 
to

 r
e
d
u
c
e 

o
ve

rl
o
o
k
in

g

D
E

L
T
A

T
R

E
 3

 
P

A
L
M

E
R

S
T
O

N
 R

D
 S

W
1

9
 1

P
G

M
A

R
C

U
S

B
E
A

L
E

A
R

C
H

IT
E
C

T
S

M
B

A
, 
1
 C

o
m

p
to

n
 R

o
a
d

W
im

b
le

d
o
n
, 
L
o
n
d
o
n
 S

W
1
9
 7

Q
A

P
h
o
n
e
 +

4
4
 (

0
) 

2
0
 8

9
4
6
 4

1
4
1

F
a
x
 +

4
4
 (

0
) 

2
0
 8

9
4
6
 2

2
9
9

E
m

a
il
 m

b
a
@

m
a
rc

u
s-

b
e
a
le

.c
o
.u

k

w
w

w
.m

a
rc

u
s-

b
e
a
le

.c
o
.u

k

S
c
a
le

D
a
teR
e
vi

si
o
n
s

5
7

2
/

A
U

G
 2

0
1
2

* 
=

 A
tr

iu
m

 o
p
ti
o
n

R
E
V
 P

1
 :

 2
6
/0

3
/1

3
 I
ss

u
e
d
 f

o
r 

p
la

n
n
in

g

Page 322



PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE
12 DECEMBER 2013 Item No:

UPRN APPLICATION NO. DATE VALID

13/P2332 24/07/13
13/P2334 24/07/13

Address/Site 1A St Marys Road, Wimbledon, Sw19 7DF

(Ward) Hillside

Proposal: Demolition of existing 3 bedroom dwelling house and the
erection of a new 4 bedroom dwelling house with associated
parking and landscaping.

And

Application for conservation area consent for the demolition of
existing dwelling.

Drawing No’s: 100 P1, 101 P1, 102 P1, 103 P1, 104 P1, 105 P1, 109 P1, 110
P1, 111 P2, 112 P1, 116 P1, 201 P2, 300 P1, 301 P2, and 302
P1

Contact Officer: Sabah Halli (0208 545 3297)
___________________________________________________________________

RECOMMENDATION

GRANT Planning Permission and Conservation Area Consent subject to
conditions
___________________________________________________________________

CHECKLIST INFORMATION

• Heads of Agreement: None

• Is a screening opinion required: No

• Is an Environmental Statement required: No

• Has an Environmental Statement been submitted: No

• Press notice: Yes

• Site notice: Yes

• Design Review Panel consulted: No

• Number of neighbours consulted: 7

• External consultations: No

• Controlled Parking Zone: Yes (VOn)

Agenda Item 13

Page 323



1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 This application is being brought to the Planning Applications Committee for
determination due to the number of objections received.

2. SITE AND SURROUNDINGS

2.1 The site comprises a detached property located along a well-established
residential road of other mostly detached properties of varying designs.

2.2 The site is located within the Wimbledon Hill Conservation Area within the
Woodside, St Mary’s, and Lake Road Sub-Area.  The adjoining property to the
south, 77 Woodside, is a Locally Listed building.  Its neighbour to north, 1 St
Mary’s Road, is identified in the Conservation Area character appraisal as
making a positive contribution.  The site itself is identified as making a neutral
contribution.

2.3 The road slopes upwards from its junction with Woodside and so the site sits
on higher ground than no.77.

2.4 The site is subject to Tree Preservation Orders.

3. CURRENT PROPOSAL

3.1 It is proposed to demolish the existing two storey, 3 bedroom, detached,
property which is of a more traditional design, and replace it with a new
detached, two storey (with accommodation at basement and roof level) 4
bedroom property also of a more traditional design but in a different style to
existing.

3.2 This scheme follows previously refused application 13/P0159 for the same
development however the property proposed there was larger and included 6
bedrooms.  Following the refusal, the applicant has sought pre-application
advice from the Council and the scheme has been amended in the following
ways:

• Reduction in size of basement foot print

• Decrease in footprint of dwelling and  increase in set in of new dwelling
from side boundary shared with 77 Woodside, to 4m

• Amendment in design of dwelling to include a mansard roof design and
detailing to main property

3.3 The dwelling would be set 0.4m behind the existing main front building line
and would have the same rear building line as existing for the main dwelling.
A single storey element is proposed which would project 1.5 – 1.7m beyond
this.   The property would be set 1m from the side boundary with adjoining
property 1 St Mary’s.  With respect to the other adjoining property, 77
Woodside, the single side garage would be set 0.4m from that side boundary
(as per the existing side garage) and the main dwelling would be set 4m from
that side boundary.

Page 324



3.4 The dwelling would be 6.1m to eaves level and 9m to ridge level.  The roof
would be of a mansard design and would include 3 front and 4 rear dormers.

3.5 The basement would retain the same front building line as the property but
would be smaller in footprint than the main dwelling.  It would receive natural
light through 2 front light wells (covered with horizontal grilles) and a rear
terrace area.

3.6 Accommodation for the property would comprise swimming pool, cinema,
gym, utility room, plant room, W.C, and shower at basement level, drawing
room, kitchen, dining room, living room, W.C, and hall at ground floor level, 2
en-suite bedrooms, and a study at first floor level, and 2 en-suite bedrooms,
and a study at second floor/roof level.

3.7 The front curtilage would remain as existing in terms of the extent of hard-
standing and two front trees are proposed to be removed and replaced.

3.8 Materials proposed are brick work and render, slate roof tiles, white painted
timber and white painted aluminium.

4. PLANNING HISTORY

13/P0159 - DEMOLITION OF EXISTING DWELLING HOUSE AND
ERECTION OF REPLACEMENT TWO STOREY DWELLING WITH
BASEMENT, INCLUDING ALTERATIONS TO FRONT CURTILAGE –
Refused, on the following grounds:

1. The proposed replacement dwelling, by virtue of its bulk, height, design,
and siting, would result in a poorly designed and cramped development which
would fail to preserve or enhance the character of the Wimbledon Hill
Conservation Area, contrary to Policy BE.1 (Conservation Areas, New
Development, Change of Use, Alterations and Extensions), BE.16 (Urban
Design), and BE.22 (Design of New Development) of the London Borough of
Merton UDP - October 2003, policy CS 14 of the London Borough of Merton
Core Strategy (2011), and the aims of the National Planning Policy
Framework (March 2012).

2. The proposed replacement dwelling, by virtue of its bulk, height, design,
and siting, would be visually intrusive and detrimental to the outlook of
adjoining residential properties contrary to policy BE15 of the London Borough
of Merton UDP - October 2003, policy CS 14 of the London Borough of
Merton Core Strategy (2011), and the aims of the National Planning Policy
Framework (March 2012).

3. The proposed development could potentially result in a detrimental impact
on protected trees within an adjoining the site and the applicant has not
provided sufficient information in respect of this, or any proposed tree
protection measures.  As such the proposed development is contrary to policy
CS 13 of the London Borough of Merton Core Strategy (2011).

Page 325



13/P0163 - APPLICATION FOR CONSERVATION AREA CONSENT FOR
THE DEMOLITION OF EXISTING DWELLING - Refused, on the following
grounds:

1. In the absence of a suitable replacement scheme the proposed demolition
of the existing property, located within the Wimbledon Hill Conservation Area,
is premature and would fail to preserve or enhance the character and
appearance of the Wimbledon Hill Conservation Area.  As such the proposed
development is contrary to policy BE.2 (Conservation Areas, Demolition) of
the London Borough of Merton UDP (2003), CS 14 of the London Borough of
Merton Core Strategy (2011), and the aims of the National Planning Policy
Framework (March 2012).

01/P0938 - DEMOLITION OF EXISTING GARAGE. ALTERATIONS AND
EXTENSIONS TO THE HOUSE INCLUDING A TWO-STOREY SIDE
EXTENSION, REMODELLING OF THE FRONT ELEVATION AND
RECONSTRUCTION OF THE ROOF INCLUDING RAISING THE EAVES
AND RIDGE HEIGHT WITH A DORMER WINDOW AT THE FRONT AND A
NEW ENTRANCE PORCH AND FRONT BOUNDARY WALL – Approved

5. CONSULTATION

The application has been advertised by press notice, site notice, and letters of
notification to occupiers of neighbouring properties. There have been 5
representations of objections received and on the following grounds:

• Too many Edwardian houses have been demolished in the Wimbledon
Village area.

• The purpose of a conservation area is to conserve the character of the
area and the alteration from Edwardian to modern style proposed here,
whilst it maybe tasteful in itself, alters the general setting of the area.

• False or ‘dummy’ windows in the side elevations would give rise to a
perceived loss of privacy and should be removed.

• The first floor rear terrace will result in a loss of privacy to 77 Woodside.

• The single storey side garage should be of matching brick work and not
painted render for an improved appearance

• The levels are not clear from the plans and so these should be submitted if
approved

• It is not clear what plant and machinery might be needed to ventilate the
basement and swimming pool, and where these might be located.  These
details should be submitted to the Council for approval for amenity
reasons.

Page 326



• Further information would be welcome re trees on the site

• A condition should be added to any approval prohibiting the insertion of
any further windows without planning permission in amenity terms

• The ground floor side windows would result in light pollution and loss of
privacy

• Concern regarding potential impact of basement on local ground water

Wimbledon Society – This site is within the Wimbledon Hill Road
Conservation area, opposite the listed Queen Mary’s Court, and beside a
Locally Listed building.

The proposal is to demolish the present building, remove all the present trees,
and build a new house above a substantial basement. The existing building
appears to be from the 1950’s.

The proposed front elevation is significantly less wide than that previously
approved, which would  now allow some open views from the street.
However, although the line of the proposed frontage is set slightly further back
than the present house, it still projects forward more than its neighbour.

The proposed basement occupies a significant portion of the whole site.
Taking the Section, its depth front to back is around 15m, with only about 5m
remaining of the rear garden, and a little less at the front garden.  This has
three outcomes:  the amount of natural greenspace left compared to the built-
over area is only some 40% over the whole site:  when the proposed hard
standing on the whole of the front garden is taken into account, space for
greenery (an important characteristic of the conservation area) and water
percolation etc is very small;   and secondly, the potential for disturbance of
the natural ground water patterns are very evident: and thirdly tree loss is
total.    Accordingly:

(a)  The Council should require the applicant to provide  as part of the
application, and before determining it, the information set out in the Draft
Sites & Policies DPD (page 95 items B iv, v, vi, viii):  and item C (being the
assessment of the impacts on ground water etc):   and…

(b)  The design of the Front garden area should be changed so as to maintain
the majority of the space as green, with only limited hard standing, and a
single vehicle access; and…

(c)  The loss of all the existing trees and vegetation should be compensated
for by replanting on site (or in the locality) using the “Tree Years” principle,
where the combined ages of the lost and replacement trees are matched;   all
covered by Condition for a subsequent landscape plan.

The DPD also says in Policy DMH4 (page 57), in relation to the demolition of
an existing house, that the replacement house must achieve code level 5.

Page 327



The application does not yet explain the way in which this is to be achieved,
and no application should be permitted until this is demonstrated.
Any external plant room noise etc that might be generated from
heating/cooling type equipment (including that serving the basement pool
facilities) should be sited so as to respect adjoining properties.

Conservation Officer – No objection to demolition of the existing dwelling
subject to a suitable replacement scheme and the proposed replacement
scheme is considered acceptable.

Climate Change Officer - Unable to provide detailed sustainability comments
until a design stage assessment report has been submitted for the site, as per
the standard pre-commencement condition.

It is noted that no reference has been made to sustainability considerations
for the development within the Design and Access statement submitted. It is
therefore recommend that the development address sustainability in
accordance with Policy CS15 of the Core Strategy and in particular notes the
fabric first approach advocated in the policy in line with the Mayor’s Energy
Hierarchy.

Tree Officer – The Arboricultural report advises that there are 2 Hollies that
are of poor quality, and 2 bands of Cypress hedging that are a category ‘C’
class proposed for removal.  There is an off site Horse Chestnut tree, the root
system and RPA of which will be within this site, and will require protection.

None of these trees have any particular arboricultural merit and no objection
is seen to their removal.  However, the loss of all of the greenery on this site,
both front and rear, should be replaced to restore the landscape amenities of
this area.  I would recommend attaching the planning conditions in respect of
tree protection to include the Horse Chestnut at 76 Woodside, site
supervision, landscaping (including replacement trees to the front and rear of
the site), and the implementation of any approved landscaping scheme.

6. POLICY CONTEXT

The relevant policies contained within the Adopted Merton Unitary
Development Plan (October 2003) are UDP: HS.1 (Housing Layout and
Amenity), BE.1 (Conservation Areas, New Development, Change of Use,
Alterations and Extensions), BE.2 (Conservation  Areas; Demolition), BE.15
(New Buildings and Extensions; Daylight, Sunlight, Privacy, Visual Intrusion
and Noise), BE.16 (Urban Design), BE.23 (Alterations and Extensions to
Buildings), BE.24 (Roof Extensions and Dormer Windows), and NE.11 (Trees-
Protection)

Core Strategy 2011:

CS 13 (Open Space, Nature Conservation, Leisure and Culture), CS 14
(Design), CS 20 (Parking, Servicing, and Delivery)

Wimbledon Hill Conservation Area Character Appraisal

Page 328



New Residential Development SPG

Design – SPG

London Plan (2011):

The relevant policies contained within the London Plan (February 2011) are

3.3 (Increasing Housing Supply)

3.4 (Optimising Housing Potential)

3.5 (Quality and Design of Housing Developments)

3.11(Affordable Housing Targets)

5.7 (Renewable Energy)

7.4 (Local Character)

7.8 (Heritage Assets and Archaeology)

8.2 (Planning Obligations).

National Planning Policy Framework (2012)

7. PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS

7.1 The main planning considerations concern the principle of the demolition of
the existing property, the design of the proposed new dwelling, its impact on
the character and appearance of the conservation area, and its effect upon
neighbour amenity.

7.2 Principle of Demolition of Existing Dwelling

7.3 The N.P.P.F states that heritage assets are an irreplaceable resource and
that Local Planning Authorities (LPA) should conserve them in a manner
appropriate to their significance.

7.4 The N.P.P.F requires the LPA to identify and assess the particular
significance of any heritage assert that may be affected by a proposals taking
account of the available evidence and any necessary expertise.  The LPA has
assessed the significance of the site property and has consulted its own
Conservation Officer, who does not object to the proposed development.

7.5 The house is a detached property which falls within the Wimbledon Hill
Conservation Area and is noted as making a ‘neutral’ contribution to the
conservation area.  It is considered a non-designated heritage asset under the
new N.P.P.F, which states that any harm or loss of heritage assets should
require clear and convincing justification.  It also states that the effect of an
application on the significance of a non-designated heritage asset should be
taken into account in determining the application.  In weighing applications
that affect directly or indirectly non designated heritage assets, a balanced

Page 329



judgement will be required having regard to the scale of any harm of loss and
the significance of the heritage asset.

7.6 Policy BE.2 of the UDP states that a proposal for a development scheme that
will involve the total or substantial demolition of an unlisted building in a
conservation area that makes a positive contribution to its character and
appearance would not be permitted unless the following can be
demonstrated:

1) there is clear and convincing evidence that reasonable efforts have been
made to continue the present use or to find a viable use for the building
and these efforts have failed and its demonstrated that preservation of the
building as part of the scheme or in some form of charitable or community
ownership is not possible or suitable, or

2) the costs of repairs or maintenance of the building cannot be justified
against its important or value derived from its retention, provided that the
building has not been deliberately neglected, or

3) There will be substantial planning benefits from the community from
redevelopment which would decisively outweigh loss from the resulting
demolition.

7.7 Policy BE.2 states that acceptable and detailed plans for a replacement scheme will
be required even if it will involve total or substantial demolition of an unlisted building
in a conservation area that makes little or no contribution to the character or
appearance of that area.  A condition will be imposed on a planning permission
granted, to ensure that demolition shall not take place until a contract for the carrying
out of the development works has been made.

7.8 The dwelling is listed in the Wimbledon Hill Conservation Area Character
assessment as making a neutral contribution to the conservation area and the
proposed replacement single dwelling is now considered to be acceptable in
terms of its scale, siting, height, design, and impact on protected trees within
and adjoining the site, and also its impact on the character and appearance of
the conservation area.  As such, the loss of this ‘neutral’ heritage asset is
considered to be outweighed by the replacement dwelling to be provided.

7.9 Design

7.10 It is considered that the proposed replacement dwelling is now acceptable in
design terms. Following the previous refusal, the applicant undertook to seek
pre-application advice from the Council prior to submitting the current
applications. The following amendments have been made to the design of the
new dwelling since the refusal:

• Reduction in size of basement foot print

• Decrease in footprint of dwelling and  increase in set in of new
dwelling from side boundary shared with 77 Woodside, to 4m

• Amendment in design of dwelling to include a mansard roof design
and detailing to main property

Page 330



7.11 This scheme has also been further amended since its original submission
through the removal of the proposed first floor rear balustrades.

7.12 The N.P.P.F states that Planning policies and decision should aim to ensure
that developments:

• will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the
short term but over the lifetime of the development;

• establish a strong sense of place, using streetscapes and buildings to
create attractive and comfortable places to live, work and visit;

• optimise the potential of the site to accommodate development, create and
sustain an appropriate mix of uses (including incorporation of green and
other public space as part of developments) and support local facilities and
transport networks;

• respond to local character and history, and reflect the identity of local
surroundings and materials, while not preventing or discouraging
appropriate innovation;

• create safe and accessible environments where crime and disorder, and
the fear of crime, do not undermine quality of life or community cohesion;
and

• are visually attractive as a result of good architecture and appropriate
landscaping.

7.13 It also advises that Planning policies and decisions should not attempt to
impose architectural styles or particular tastes and they should not stifle
innovation, originality or initiative through unsubstantiated requirements to
conform to certain development forms or styles but that it is, however, proper
to seek to promote or reinforce local distinctiveness.  The N.P.P.F also states
that Local planning authorities should not refuse planning permission for
buildings or infrastructure which promote high levels of sustainability because
of concerns about incompatibility with an existing townscape, if those
concerns have been mitigated by good design (unless the concern relates to
a designated heritage asset and the impact would cause material harm to the
asset or its setting which is not outweighed by the proposal’s economic, social
and environmental benefits).

7.14 The Council’s own UDP and Core Strategy design policies also seek
developments of a high quality and which relate to their surroundings.

7.15 It is considered that the proposed replacement dwelling is now in compliance
with the advice given in the new N.P.P.F and the Council’s UDP policies
(BE.1, BE.16, and BE.22) and Core Strategy policy CS 14.   The replacement
dwelling would respond to local character and history, and would reflect the
identity of local surroundings.  The proposed development is also now
considered would be visually attractive as a result of good architecture (as
discussed in more detail below).

7.16 The Character Appraisal describes the site property as:

Page 331



‘1a St Mary’s Rd

This is a small scale two storey house dates from 1957. It has a hipped roof
with a subsidiary gable facing to St Mary’s Rd. The 1st floor frontage
comprises render, and a steeply sloping roof of tiles, and hanging tiles make
up the front facing gable. The lower part of the building is red brick.’

7.17 The proposed replacement dwelling would be of a traditional design and
following the above amendments would not now represent an excessively
large or overbearing development within the street scene, and an over-
development of the plot.  The footprint of the property would be in proportion
to the size of the site and the height would sit in between that of the adjoining
properties.

7.18 Paragraph 7.25 of the Council’s New Residential Development SPG states
‘Where the flank wall of a new development is proposed which is adjacent to
the ends of gardens of existing dwellings, then a 4 metre separation (for two
storey buildings) or a 6 metre separation (for 3 storey buildings) would be
sought between the flank wall and the curtilage of the gardens of the existing
dwellings’.  The proposal would now comply with this in terms of the side/rear
boundary with no.77.

7.19 The mansard design of the roof and smaller dormer windows within it reduce
the bulk of the roof and would not detract from the main property below.   It is
proposed to introduce detailing within the flank elevations by the use of
different materials and this can be ensured through a condition on any
approval.

7.20 No alterations have been indicated to the existing boundary treatments
however if the application were to be approved a condition could be added to
any approval requiring details of any proposed boundary treatments to be
submitted to the local planning Authority for approval, prior to development
commencing.   Likewise, details of proposed front hard surfacing materials
and landscaping can be required to be submitted to the Council for approval
prior to development commencing.

7.21 Standard of Accommodation

7.22 The amenity space provision for the property exceeds the Council’s SPG
minimum levels and is acceptable in terms of the mix and split between hard
and soft areas.

7.23 The dwelling complies with the minimum gross internal area within the table
3.3 of the London Plan (2011).

7.24 Neighbour Amenity Issues

7.25 Following the previously discussed amendments to the scheme, the proposed
replacement dwelling is now considered to be acceptable in amenity terms.
The reduction in scale and footprint and increased separation distance from

Page 332



77 Woodside mean that the dwelling would not now appear excessively large
or overbearing.

7.26 There are no side windows proposed and it is not considered that there would
result any more overlooking from the proposed front and rear dormers
windows than from existing first floor front and rear windows.   A condition
could also be added to any approval prohibiting the installation of any
windows in the side elevations of the dwelling without planning permission.  A
condition can also be added to any approval prohibiting the use of any flat
roofed areas as terraces.

7.27 It is considered that the proposed basement is acceptable in principle and that
there would not result a detrimental impact on the amenities of the occupiers
of the adjoining properties as a result of the basement light wells.

7.28 It is noted that a first floor rear terrace is proposed however this would not be
acceptable on privacy grounds as its use would result in an unacceptable
level of overlooking to the adjoining properties. As such, a condition should be
added to any approval prohibiting the use of any flat roofed areas of the
dwelling as terraces/balconies.

7.29 Parking

7.30 The car parking standards detailed within Schedule 6 of the UDP are
maximum standards and should therefore not be exceeded unless it can
demonstrated that a higher level of parking is needed.

7.31 There would not be any impact on parking or highway safety as a result of the

7.32 Impact of the Basement

7.33 There has been a marked increase in the number of applications within the
Borough including extensive basements and it has become routine, given the
concerns that arise in relation to stability and impact on groundwater and
surface water conditions, to require a construction method statement and
drainage/flood risk assessment in advance of consideration of the application,
with suitable conditions attached to the grant of permission. The applicant
has commissioned a construction method statement and hydrology report and
this advises how the basement would be constructed and that trial boreholes
dug indicate that the site comprises weathered London clay and that no water
was present.  In light of this it is not anticipated that there would be a
significant impact on surface or ground water sources and neighbouring
structures as a result of the proposed development.

7.34 Whilst the principle of a basement in not unacceptable and sufficient
information has been provided in relation to hydrology and ground stability,
Officers have expressed significant concerns regarding the size of the
proposed basement and the extent of the original garden to be taken up, and
the impact on the character of the conservation area due to the restriction
placed on soft landscaping and the maintenance of a natural landscape.
Amended plans have been requested reducing the rear foot print of the

Page 333



basement so as to reduce the amount of built form within the site.  Any
amended plans received will be reported at the meeting.

7.35 Trees/Landscaping

7.36 An Arboricultural Method Statement and Tree protection details have been
submitted as part of the application and the Council’s Tree Officer has raised
no objections.

7.37 Local Financial Considerations

7.38 The proposed development is liable to pay the Mayoral Community
Infrastructure Levy, the funds for which will be applied by the Mayor
towards the Crossrail project.  The CIL amount is non-negotiable and
planning permission cannot be refused for failure to agree to pay CIL.

8. SUSTAINABILITY AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT
REQUIREMENTS

8.1 The new dwelling would be required to the built to Lifetime Homes
standards and would be required to achieve Code 4 of the Code for
Sustainable Homes.

8.2 The proposal does not constitute Schedule 1 or Schedule 2 development.
Accordingly there is no requirement for an EIA submission.

9. CONCLUSION

9.1 The principle of the demolition of the existing dwelling is considered
acceptable in principle and in conservation terms, and basement aside, the
proposed replacement dwelling, is acceptable in terms of its bulk, height,
design, and siting, and would preserve the character of the Wimbledon Hill
Conservation Area.  Significant concerns have been raised to the applicant
regarding the extent of the proposed basement and impact on the character of
the conservation area. Any amended plans received will be reported at the
meeting.

9.2 Accordingly, subject to the basement being sufficiently reduced in rear
footprint, it is recommended that on balance, planning permission be granted.

RECOMMENDATION

(1) GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION

Subject to the following conditions:-

13/P2332

1. A.1 Time

2. A.7 Plans

Page 334



3. B.1 Materials to be Submitted

4. B.4 Details of Surface Treatment

5. B.5 Boundary Treatment

6. B6P Site Levels

7. C.1 No Permitted Development (Extensions)

8. C.2 No Permitted Development (Side Windows and Doors)

9. C.8 No Use of Flat Roofed Areas

10. D.11 Construction Times

11. F.1 Landscaping (including replacement trees to the front and rear of the
site)

12. F.2 Landscaping Implementation

13. F.3P Tree Survey Required

14. F5P Tree Protection (to protect and safeguard existing Horse Chestnut at
76 Woodside)

15. F.9 Hardstandings

16. J.1 Lifetime homes

17. L2P Code Level 4 (Pre-Commencement)

18. L3 Code Level 4 (Pre-Occupation)

19. N2 Contracts (Demolition)

20. Non – Standard Condition: Construction Method Statement

(2) GRANT CONSERVATION AREA CONSENT

Subject to the following conditions:

13/P2334

1. A.4 Time

2. A.7 Plan Numbers

3. N.2 Contracts (Demolition)

The policies listed below were relevant to the determination of this proposal.

Adopted Merton Unitary Development Plan (October 2003)

Page 335



HS.1 (Housing Layout and Amenity)
BE.1 (Conservation Areas, New Development, Change of Use, Alterations and
Extensions)
BE.2 (Conservation  Areas; Demolition)
BE.15 (New Buildings and Extensions; Daylight, Sunlight, Privacy, Visual Intrusion
and Noise)
BE.16 (Urban Design)
BE.23 (Alterations and Extensions to Buildings)
BE.24 (Roof Extensions and Dormer Windows)
NE.11 (Trees-Protection)

Adopted Merton Core Strategy (July 2011)

CS 13 (Open Space, Nature Conservation, Leisure and Culture)

CS 14 (Design)

CS 20 (Parking, Servicing, and Delivery)

The London Plan (2011)

3.3 (Increasing Housing Supply)

3.4 (Optimising Housing Potential)

3.5 (Quality and Design of Housing Developments)

3.11(Affordable Housing Targets)

5.7 (Renewable Energy)

7.4 (Local Character)

7.8 (Heritage Assets and Archaeology)

8.2 (Planning Obligations).

National Planning Policy Framework (2012)

Informative:

In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the NPPF, The London Borough of
Merton (LBM) takes a positive and proactive approach to development proposals
focused on solutions. LBM works with applicants/agents in a positive and proactive
manner by:

• Offering a pre-application advice and duty desk service.
• Where possible, suggesting solutions to secure a successful outcome.

Page 336



• As appropriate, updating applicants/agents of any issues that may arise in the
processing of their application.

In this instance:

• The applicant/agent was provided with pre-application advice.
• The application was considered by the Planning Committee where the
applicant/agent had the opportunity to speak to the committee and promote the
application.

Page 337



T
h
is

 m
a
p
 i
s
 b

a
s
e
d
 o

n
 O

rd
n
a
n
c
e
 S

u
rv

e
y
 m

a
te

ri
a
l 
w

it
h

th
e
 p

e
rm

is
s
io

n
 o

f 
O

rd
n
a
n
c
e
 S

u
rv

e
y
 o

n
 b

e
h
a
lf
 o

f 
H

M
S

O
.

U
n
a
u
th

o
ri
s
e
d
 r

e
p
ro

d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
fr

in
g
e
s
 C

ro
w

n
 C

o
p
y
ri
g
h
t

a
n
d
 m

a
y
 l
e
a
d
 t
o
 p

ro
s
e
c
u
ti
o
n
 o

r 
C

iv
il 

p
ro

c
e
d
in

g
s
.

L
o
n
d
o
n
 B

o
ro

u
g
h
 o

f 
M

e
rt

o
n
 1

0
0
0
1
9
2
5
9
. 
2
0
1
2
.

1
A

 S
t 
M

a
ry

's
 R

o
a
d

S
c
a
le

 1
/1

2
5
0

D
a
te

 2
6
/1

1
/2

0
1
3

L
o
n
d
o
n
 B

o
ro

u
g
h
 o

f 
M

e
rt

o
n

1
0
0
 L

o
n
d
o
n
 R

o
a
d

M
o
rd

e
n

S
u
rr

e
y

S
M

4
 5

D
X

D
E

V
E

L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 C

O
N

T
R

O
L

Page 338



Page 339



Page 340



Page 341



Page 342



Page 343



Page 344



Page 345



Page 346



Page 347



Page 348



Page 349



Page 350



PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE
12 December 2013 Item No:

UPRN APPLICATION NO. DATE VALID

13/P2385 22/08/2013

Address/Site: 1 Wydell Close, Morden, SM4 4NS

Ward: Lower Morden

Proposal: Change of use from a family dwelling house with five
bedrooms (Use Class C3) to a house in multiple
occupation for up to 10 people [Sui Generis]
comprising six bedrooms and shared living room and
kitchen facilities.

Drawing No’s: 6263 01 and 6263 10A.

Contact Officer: Tony Ryan [020 8545 3114]

RECOMMENDATION GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION subject to planning
conditions and a S106 legal agreement.

CHECKLIST INFORMATION.

• S106: N/A

• Is an Environmental Statement required: No

• Has an Environmental Impact Assessment been submitted: No

• Press notice: No

• Site notice: Yes

• Design Review Panel consulted: No

• Archaeological Priority Zone: No

• Area at risk of flooding: parts of the site are in flood zones 2 and 3.

• Controlled Parking Zone: No

• Conservation Area: No

• Trees: No trees will be affected.

• Number of neighbours consulted: 3

• External consultations – None

• PTAL: 1b [TFL Planning Information Database]

• Density: N/A

• Number of jobs created: N/A

Agenda Item 14

Page 351



1. INTRODUCTION
1.1 This application is brought before Committee for Members’ consideration

as it has been called in for determination by the planning committee by
Councillor Maurice Groves.

2. SITE AND SURROUNDINGS
2.1 The current application site (0.03 hectares) consists of a two-storey semi

detached house in this cul-de-sac accessed from Garth Road. The
surrounding area is predominantly residential in character

2.2 The ground floor of the house currently has a dining room [11.2 square
metres]; lounge [13 square metres]; en suite bedroom [10.8 square
metres] and kitchen area [20 square metres] with a rear garden of 70
square metres. Land at the front of the existing building covering 21
metres is hardstanding used as car parking for three cars.

2.3 At first floor level bedroom 2 has an area of 12.9 square metres with an
additional en suite bathroom; bedroom 3 has an area of 12.5 square
metres; bedroom 4 has an area of 8.1 square metres; a study has a floor
area of 3.4 square metres and a bathroom is 5.7 square metres. In the loft
space of the building bedroom 5 is 14.5 square metres with a separate
shower room of 2.1 square metres

2.4 Parts of the application site are in flood risk zones 2 and 3.  The site is not
in an archaeological priority area. This site has a low public transport
accessibility level (PTAL) of 1b and the site is not within a controlled
parking zone

3 CURRENT PROPOSAL
3.1 The current application involves the change of use from a family dwelling

house with five bedrooms (Use Class C3) to a house in multiple
occupation for up to 10 people [Sui Generis] comprising six bedrooms and
shared living room and kitchen facilities. Notwithstanding new refuse and
recycling storage and bicycle storage the application does not involve any
physical changes to the existing property either externally or internally to
the layout of the existing accommodation.

3.2 The ground floor of the proposed accommodation involves the use of the
dining room as a common living room and the use of the lounge as a
bedroom with the existing kitchen and bedroom at ground floor level
retained. At first floor level and in the loft space there are no changes to
the use of the accommodation.

Page 352



3.3 As well the need for planning permission, the proposed accommodation
requires a separate licence from the Council’s Environmental Health
section under the provisions of the Housing Act. This licence includes
assessing the standard of accommodation such as ensuring that there are
a sufficent number of toilets, kitchens and bathrooms for the number of
residents, and the size of the proposed rooms.

3.4 The Council’s Environmental Health section under the Housing Act may
use other conditions for regulating the management, use, occupation,
condition or contents of the property, including in relation to anti-social
behaviour. The Housing Act also places obligations on the owner of a
house in multiple occupation with regards to the safety of electrical
equipment; emergency lighting; fire detection and alarm systems.

3.5 The applicant has made an application to Environmental Health and the
initial assessment has concluded that the accommodation is of a suitable
standard and that a licence is likely to be approved.

4. PLANNING HISTORY.
4.1 In April 2013 planning permission was approved [LB Merton reference

13/P0286] for the erection of a single storey rear extension.

4.2 In June 2012 a certificate of lawfulness was issued [LB Merton reference
12/P0982] for the proposed conversion of the existing garage into a
habitable room with associated external alterations.

4.3 In June 2003 planning permission was refused [LB Merton reference
03/P0839] for the erection of first floor side extension and rear dormer roof
extension. Planning permission was refused for the following reasons:

“The proposed two-storey extension would, by virtue of its siting,
bulk and massing, appear unduly dominant in the Wydell Close
Street scene, resulting in the loss of symmetry of the semi-detached
pair, detrimental to the visual amenities of the surrounding area,
contrary to Policies EB.23 and H22 of the Adopted Unitary
Development Plan (April 1996), and Policies BE23, BE.28, and BE.29
of the Second Deposit Draft Unitary Development Plan (October
2000) and Supplementary Planning Guidance”.

4.4 In October 2003 planning permission was refused [LB Merton reference
03/P1935] for the erection of first floor side extension and rear roof
extension. Planning permission was refused for the following reasons:

“The proposed two-storey extension would, by virtue of its siting,
bulk and massing, result in the loss of symmetry of the semi-
detached pair, detrimental to the visual amenities of the surrounding

Page 353



area, contrary to Policies EB.23 and H22 of the Adopted Unitary
Development Plan (April 1996), and Policies BE23, BE.28, and BE.29
of the Second Deposit Draft Unitary Development Plan (October
2000) and Supplementary Planning Guidance”.

4.5 In December 2004 an appeal made against the refusal of planning
permission for the application under reference 03/P1935 was allowed and
planning permission approved for the erection of first floor side extension
and rear roof extension.

5. CONSULTATION
5.1 The submitted planning application was publicised by means of a site

notice, and individual consultation letters sent to 3 neighbouring
properties. As a result of this consultation 6 responses have been
received from two neighbours objecting to the proposal on the following
grounds:

• The proposal will put additional pressure on existing high on-street
parking demand with no off-street car parking shown;

• The proposal would lead to an increase in traffic in the local area;

• The proposal could be a possible source of noise and anti social
behaviour associated with this type of business;

• The use of the building would impact upon the occupiers of the joined
property;

• “Wydell Close is a very quiet, peaceful, friendly small close mainly
occupied by families”;

• The proposal would lead to the loss of a property that in the local
context provides a comparatively affordable family home.

• With shared facilities not favoured by professional tenants it is likely
that occupancy will be transient with occupants not caring about the
local area, the local community and not contributing to it.

• There has been insufficient public consultation on this proposal;

• There are a large number of flats and maisonettes in the local area and
it is unclear how the applicant knows there is demand for the type of
accommodation proposed.

• It appears that the development is designed to maximise the financial
return for the applicant without thought any thought about the impact.

• The property is not designed for ten residents

5.2 LB Merton Transport Planning The proposal site is located on a cul de sac
off a local distributor road outside of controlled parking zone restrictions.
There is low public transport accessibility (PTAL 2). It is not possible to
have permit free in this location. However, the site benefits from up to 3
off-street car parking spaces and given the nature of the use, it is not
considered that it will lead to overspill parking issues. Conditions regarding
the retention of parking for users of the building and the provision of
secure cycle parking are recommended.

Page 354



5.3 LB Merton Environmental Health The House in Multiple Occupation
requires a separate licence that is issued by the Environmental Health
team. The applicant has made an application to Environmental Health and
the initial assessment has concluded that the accommodation is of a
suitable standard and that a licence is likely to be approved.

5.4 Councillor Maurice Groves. There is an objection to the application on the
following grounds:

• Car parking for occupants: Whilst there is a large front forecourt, which
could accommodate 4 cars, it is likely that cars would park on the road
as it would be easier.

• Car parking for visitors: The parking required for occupants and visitors
will result in parking on the sharp turn from Garth Road with this
junction currently unsafe.

• Noise and disturbance: “There could be excessive noise from a
predominately younger clientele” in this currently quiet area that would
harm neighbour amenity and lead to noise complaints.

• Fire safety: The house does not have adequate facilities to ensure
safety for future occupants in the event of a fire.

6. POLICY CONTEXT

National Planning Policy Framework [March 2012]
6.1 The National Planning Policy Framework [NPPF] was published on the 27

March 2012 and replaces previous guidance contained in Planning Policy
Guidance Notes and Planning Policy Statements. This document is a key
part of central government reforms ‘…to make the planning system less
complex and more accessible, and to promote sustainable growth’.

6.2 The NPPF supports the plan led system stating that development that
accords with an up to date plan should be approved and proposed
development that conflicts should be refused. The framework also states
that the primary objective of development management should be to foster
the delivery of sustainable development, and not to hinder or prevent
development.

6.3 To enable each local authority to proactively fulfil their planning role, and
to actively promote sustainable development, the framework advises that
local planning authorities need to approach development management
decisions positively. Local planning authorities looking for solutions rather
than problems so that applications can be approved wherever it is
practical to do so. The framework attaches significant weight to the
benefits of economic and housing growth, the need to influence
development proposals to achieve quality outcomes; and enable the
delivery of sustainable development proposals.

Page 355



The London Plan [July 2011].
6.4 The relevant policies in the London Plan [July 2011] are 3.3 [Increasing

housing supply]; 3.4 [Optimising housing potential]; 3.5 [Quality and
design of housing developments; 3.8 [Housing choice]; 3.9 [Mixed and
balanced communities]; 6.3 [Assessing effects of development on
transport capacity]; 6.9 [Cycling]; 6.10 [Walking]; 6.12 [Road network
capacity]; 6.13 [Parking]; 7.2 [An inclusive environment]; 7.4 [Local
character]; and 8.2 [Planning obligations].

Mayor of London Supplementary Planning Guidance
6.5 The following supplementary planning guidance is considered relevant to

the proposals: The Housing Supplementary Planning Guidance (2012).

Policies retained in Adopted Unitary Development Plan [October 2003]
6.6 The relevant planning policies retained in the Adopted Unitary

Development Plan [October 2003] are E2 [Access for disabled people];
HS1 [Housing layout and amenity]; BE.15 New buildings and extensions -
daylight, sunlight, privacy, visual intrusion and noise; RN3 [Vehicular
access].

Merton Supplementary Planning Guidance
6.7 The key supplementary planning guidance relevant to the proposals is

Planning Obligations [2006].

Policies within Merton LDF Core Planning Strategy [adopted July 2011]
6.8 The relevant policies within the Council’s Adopted Core Strategy [July

2011] are; CS.8 [Housing choice]; CS.9 [Housing provision]; CS.14
[Design]; CS.18 [Active transport]; CS.19 [Public transport]; and CS.20
[Parking; servicing and delivery].

7. PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
7.1 The main planning considerations include assessing the principle of the

development, the standard of residential accommodation, housing mix, the
potential impact on neighbour amenity; refuse and recycling and Traffic
generation and car parking

Principle of development.
7.2 Policy CS. 8 states that the Council will seek the provision of a mix of

housing types sizes and tenures at a local level to meet the needs of all
sectors of the community. This includes the provision of family sized and
smaller housing units, provision for those unable to compete financially in
the housing market sector and for those with special needs.

Page 356



7.3 The application is in an area of predominantly family housing and the
submitted proposal for a house in multiple occupation will increase the
range of residential accommodation that is available locally. It is
considered that the proposal providing accommodation for a different
group in this area will improve the social mix locally.

7.4 The Mayor of London Supplementary Planning Guidance (2012) on
housing advises at paragraph 3.1.16 “There are 19,000 registered
dwellings in houses in multiple occupation in London and an estimated
150,000 in total. Collectively, these are a strategically important housing
resource, providing flexible and relatively affordable accommodation
through the private market. Outside London they are sometimes
associated with concentrations of particular types of occupier e.g.
students, leading to concerns about the social mix of some localities. In
London, by contrast, the occupier profile tends to be more broadly based
and HMOs play a particularly important role in supporting labour market
flexibility (especially for new entrants), and in reducing pressure on
publicly provided affordable housing. However, as elsewhere in the
country, their quality can give rise to concern”.

7.5 The standard of the accommodation proposed as part of the current
planning application is considered in the following section of this report.

Standard of accommodation
7.6 Policy CS. 8 within the Council’s Adopted Core Strategy [July 2011] states

that the Council will require proposals for new homes to be well designed
and located to create socially mixed and sustainable neighbourhoods.
Policy HS.1 and BE.15 of the adopted Unitary Development Plan [2003]
states that all proposals for residential development should safeguard the
residential amenities of future occupiers in terms of providing adequate
internal space, a safe layout and access for all users; and provision of
adequate amenity space to serve the needs of occupants. Policies CS 8,
CS9 and CS14 within the Council’s Adopted Core Strategy [2011] states
that the Council will require proposals for new homes to be well designed.

7.7 The London Plan states that boroughs should ensure that new
development reflects the minimum internal space standards as set out in
table 3.3 of the London Plan. The standards are expressed in terms of
gross internal area and supersede the individual room size standards
provided within the Council’s Supplementary Planning Guidance – “New
Residential Development” [1999].

7.8 The supporting text in the Council’s Adopted Core Strategy [paragraph
22.15] states that “New housing in the borough must be of a high quality,
providing functional internal and external spaces that are fit for purpose,
inclusive and flexible to meet the needs of various household types

Page 357



including small households, families and the ageing population. We will
apply housing quality standards including minimum space standards to all
new dwellings in the borough, including dwelling conversions and houses
in multiple occupation (HMO’s)”.

7.9 In allowing planning appeals made against the Council’s refusal of
planning permission for the use of other properties as a house in multiple
occupation [19 and 20 Jersey Road] a planning inspector stated that has
as house in multiple occupation should not be considered against other
planning size standards for self contained residential units.

7.10 Notwithstanding the Inspector’s comments, and whilst individual room size
standards have been superseded by the London Plan Gross Internal Area
standards, in the absence of any other guidance, it is advised that the
current proposal reflects the minimum bedroom size standards set out in
the Council’s Supplementary Planning Guidance [single bedrooms a
minimum of 6.5 square metres, and a double bedroom a minimum of 11
square metres]. The proposal does not involve any physical changes to
the existing building and the change of use of two ground floor rooms.

7.11 It is considered that the proposal provides a good standard of
accommodation. The accommodation is well proportioned and provides a
good sized communal lounge. Direct access to a private rear shared
garden area would also be provided for future occupants. The layout of
the accommodation makes good and efficient use of the space that is
available with an appropriate internal layout and good provision of natural
light to all habitable rooms.

7.12 Retained Unitary Development Plan policy HS.1 requires that all proposals
for residential development provide adequate private amenity space to
meet the needs of future occupiers. It is considered that the rear garden of
the property (70 square metres) provides adequate external amenity
space for future occupants.

7.13 The proposed house in multiple occupation would provide a satisfactory
standard of accommodation for future occupiers in accordance with Policy
HS.1 of the Council’s Adopted UDP. Each habitable room would have
good outlook, light and circulation, and the stacking and layout of rooms
would minimise the potential impact of noise nuisance.

7.14 The standard of the proposed accommodation in terms of fire safety is
considered separately by the Council’s Environmental Health Section
under the Housing Act.

Page 358



Housing mix
7.15 Policy CS. 8 within the Council’s Adopted Core Strategy [July 2011] states

that the Council will seek the provision of a mix of housing types sizes and
tenures at a local level to meet the needs of all sectors of the community.
This includes the provision of family sized and smaller housing units.

7.16 The application site is located in an area, which is predominately family
housing with relatively large terraced two storey properties. It is
considered that the proposed accommodation, providing a different type of
accommodation in this area, would increase the range and choice of
residential accommodation available locally. It is considered that the
current proposal would contribute towards the creation of a socially mixed
and sustainable neighbourhood in accordance with Core Strategy policy
CS8.

Neighbour amenity.
7.17 Retained policies HS.1 and BE15 of the adopted Unitary Development

Plan [October 2003] state that all proposals for residential development
should safeguard the residential amenities of occupiers of nearby
properties including in terms of maintaining adequate daylight and sunlight
to adjoining buildings and gardens, the protection of privacy; protection
from visual intrusion and ensuring that development does not result in
harm to living conditions through noise or disturbance.

7.18 The existing five-bedroom house currently provides accommodation for up
to eight people [three double rooms and two single rooms] and this
accommodation could currently be occupied by a large extended family
without any requirement for planning permission. The current proposal
involves providing accommodation for two additional persons with the use
of the ground floor lounge as an additional sixth bedroom.

7.19 It is considered that the use of this semi-detached property as a house in
multiple occupation will not result in harm to the living conditions of
neighbouring occupiers through noise or disturbance that could not
potentially arise from the existing use a single family dwelling.

Refuse and recycling
7.20 Core Strategy Policy CS 20 provides guidance in relation to facilities for

refuse storage and collection. Core strategy policy CS 17 requires well
designed recycling facilities to be incorporated in all new developments
where appropriate. The submitted plans show refuse storage located to
the front of the site and a planning condition is recommended to seek
further details of this refuse and recycling storage and to ensure that this
facility is retained.

Page 359



Traffic generation and car parking
7.21 Policy CS20 of the Core Strategy [July 2011] states car parking should be

provided in accordance with current maximum parking standards, whilst
assessing the impact of any additional on street parking on vehicle
movements and road safety. Policy 6.13 of the London Plan states that the
Mayor wishes to see an appropriate balance between promoting new
development and preventing excessive car parking that can undermine
cycling, walking and public transport use.

7.22 The proposed accommodation is provided with three off street car parking
spaces on the existing large front forecourt that has an existing vehicular
access on to Wydell Close. The car parking is in accordance with the
maximum car parking standards that are set out in the London Plan.

7.23 Given the nature of the use, it is not considered that it will lead to overspill
parking issues and this view is supported by Merton Transport Planning
officers. Any increase in parking pressure that may arise from the
potentially higher level of occupancy can be safely accommodated on the
existing road network.

7.24 In addition to the car parking the submitted plans show cycle parking
provided on the front forecourt. A planning condition is recommended
seeking further details of this storage and to ensure that it is provided.

8. ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT
8.1 The application site is less than 0.5 hectares in area and therefore falls

outside the scope of Schedule 2 development under the The Town and
Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2011.
In this context there is no requirement for an Environmental Impact
Assessment as part of this planning application.

9. LOCAL FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS
Mayor of London Community Infrastructure Lev

9.1 In this instance, the current proposal would not be liable for CIL.

Planning Obligations
9.2 Regulation 122(2) of the CIL Regulations 2010 (continued in the CIL

Regulations 2011) introduced three tests for planning obligations into law,
stating that obligations must be:

• necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;

• directly related to the development;

• fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.

9.3 If a planning obligation does not meet all of these tests it cannot legally be
taken into account in granting planning permission and for the Local

Page 360



Planning Authority to take account of S106 in granting planning
permission it needs to be convinced that, without the obligation,
permission should be refused.

9.4 It is considered that there are no planning obligations that would be
applicable to this application.

10. CONCLUSION
10.1 The proposed development will increase the mix of residential

accommodation that is available in this area with accommodation of a
good standard that is considered acceptable in terms of the impact on
residential amenity includes parking conditions locally. Accordingly, it is
recommended that planning permission be granted subject to the planning
conditions set out below.

RECOMMENDATION
GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION subject to the following planning
conditions.

1. Standard condition [Time period] The development to which this
permission relates shall be commenced not later than the expiration of 3
years from the date of this permission. Reason for condition: To comply
with Section 91 (as amended) of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990.

2. Amended standard condition [Approved plans] The development hereby
permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved
plans: 6263 01 and 6263 10A.. Reason for condition: For the avoidance of
doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

3. Non standard condition [Cycle storage] Prior to first occupation of the
HMO hereby permitted cycle storage shall be in place that is accordance
with details that have previously been submitted to and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority, with the cycle storage retained in
accordance with the approved details permanently thereafter. Reason for
condition: To ensure the provision of satisfactory facilities for the storage
of cycles and to comply with policy CS18 of the Adopted Core Strategy
[July 2011].

4. Non standard condition [Refuse and recycling facilities] Prior to first
occupation of the HMO hereby permitted refuse and recycling facilities
shall be in place that are in accordance with details that have previously
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority,
with the refuse and recycling facilities retained in accordance with the
approved details permanently thereafter. Reason for condition: To ensure
the provision of satisfactory facilities for the storage of refuse and

Page 361



recycling material and to comply with policies BE.15 and PE.11 of the
Adopted Merton Unitary Development Plan 2003.

INFORMATIVES:
The applicant is advised that in accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187
of the National Planning Policy Framework, The London Borough of
Merton takes a positive and proactive approach to development proposals
focused on solutions. The London Borough of Merton works with
applicants or agents in a positive and proactive manner by suggesting
solutions to secure a successful outcome; and updating applicants or
agents of any issues that may arise in the processing of their application.

Page 362



T
h
is

 m
a
p
 i
s
 b

a
s
e
d
 o

n
 O

rd
n
a
n
c
e
 S

u
rv

e
y
 m

a
te

ri
a
l 
w

it
h

th
e
 p

e
rm

is
s
io

n
 o

f 
O

rd
n
a
n
c
e
 S

u
rv

e
y
 o

n
 b

e
h
a
lf
 o

f 
H

M
S

O
.

U
n
a
u
th

o
ri
s
e
d
 r

e
p
ro

d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
fr

in
g
e
s
 C

ro
w

n
 C

o
p
y
ri
g
h
t

a
n
d
 m

a
y
 l
e
a
d
 t
o
 p

ro
s
e
c
u
ti
o
n
 o

r 
C

iv
il 

p
ro

c
e
d
in

g
s
.

L
o
n
d
o
n
 B

o
ro

u
g
h
 o

f 
M

e
rt

o
n
 1

0
0
0
1
9
2
5
9
. 
2
0
1
2
.

1
 W

y
d
e
ll 

C
lo

s
e

S
c
a
le

 1
/1

2
5
0

D
a
te

 2
6
/1

1
/2

0
1
3

L
o
n
d
o
n
 B

o
ro

u
g
h
 o

f 
M

e
rt

o
n

1
0
0
 L

o
n
d
o
n
 R

o
a
d

M
o
rd

e
n

S
u
rr

e
y

S
M

4
 5

D
X

D
E

V
E

L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 C

O
N

T
R

O
L

Page 363



Page 364



Committee: Planning Applications Committee

Date: 12 December 2013

Agenda item:

Ward: Raynes Park

Subject: TREE PRESERVATION ORDER (NO.647) AT 14 CUMBERLAND

CLOSE & 27 THE DOWNS, WEST WIMBLEDON, LONDON, SW20 8AT.

Lead officer: HEAD OF PUBLIC PROTECTION AND DEVELOPMENT

Lead member: COUNCILLOR PHILIP JONES, CHAIR, PLANNING APPLICATIONS
COMMITTEE

Contact officer: Rose Stepanek

Recommendations:

A. The Merton (No 647) Tree Preservation Order 2013 be confirmed, without
modification.

1 PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1. This report considers the objection that has been made to the making of this
tree preservation order. The Committee must take the objection into account
before deciding whether to confirm the Order, with the recommended
modification, or to allow the removal of the tree based on the concerns
raised by the objector.

2 DETAILS

2.1 This Tree Preservation Order arose as a direct a result of the planning
application ref: 13/P1886. During the consideration of this application
concerns were raised with regards to a nearby protected tree, but it then
became apparent that an equally significant Sycamore tree located in the
rear garden of the same address was not protected in any way and could
have been removed at any time. The Sycamore tree is positioned on the
common boundary between two properties, nos. 14 Cumberland Close and
27 The Downs, although most of the tree is in within 14 Cumberland Close.
The Sycamore tree is a large specimen and which makes a significant
contribution to the visual amenities of the area. It can be viewed from the
surrounding area.

2.2 The Merton (No.647) Tree Preservation Order 2013 took effect on the 7
August 2013. A copy of the plan identifying the location of the Sycamore tree
is appended to this report.

3 RELEVANT HISTORY

3.1. Prior to the making of this tree preservation order, the Sycamore tree was
not protected in any way and could have been removed at any time.

Agenda Item 15

Page 365



4 LEGISLATIVE BACKGROUND

4.1. Section 198 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended),
empowers Local Planning Authorities to protect trees in the interests of
amenity, by making tree preservation orders. Points to consider when
considering a tree preservation order is whether the particular tree has a
significant impact on the environment and its enjoyment by the public, and
that it is expedient to make a tree preservation order.

4.2. When issuing a tree preservation order, the Local Planning Authority must
provide reasons why the trees have been protected by a tree preservation
order. In this particular case 8 reasons were given that include references to
the visual amenity value of the tree; that the tree has an intrinsic beauty; that
is visible to the public view; that the tree makes a significant contribution to
the local landscape; that the tree forms part of our collective heritage for
present and future generations; and that the tree contributes to the local bio-
diversity.

4.3. This Order is effective for a period of 6 months. If the Order is not confirmed
within that period, then the provisional protection afforded by Section 201
ceases to have effect. Under the terms of the provisional status of an Order,
objections or representations may be made within 28 days of the date of
effect of the Order. The Council must consider those objections or
representations before any decision is made to confirm or rescind the Order.
This Order remains valid, in its temporary state, until the 6 February 2014.

5 OBJECTION TO THE ORDER

5.1. The Council received one objection to the Order, and an observation on the
matter from the residents of an adjacent property.

5.2 The landowner of no. 27 The Downs has written to object for the following
reasons:

a) That the submission of a Tree Works Application would be a nuisance;

b) That the tree is located very close to a steep retaining wall which requires
the tree to be managed in a pruned and reduced form to prevent any risk
of damage to the wall. The existence of the tree preservation order could
be problematical should there ever be a need to repair the wall.

6 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS

6.1 Members should take into account the advice set out in paragraph 4.1 of this
report and to bear in mind that the essential purpose of a tree preservation
order is to protect the public amenity.

6.2 The Tree Officer would respond to each objection in respective order, as
follows:

a) The submission of a Tree Works Application is not generally considered
to be  a burdensome task;

b) The tree is located approximately 9 metres from a steep retaining wall
that borders the entire length of 10 Lansdowne Close. This property is
located at the foot of the retaining wall. The objector provided no
evidence to show that the tree is currently influencing the wall. However,
given the nature of this concern, the matter was put to the residents of

Page 366



10 Lansdowne Close, who informed the Tree Officer that a large section
of the wall located to the rear of the property (on the boundary with 27
The Downs) did fall down in 1987, and this was subsequently repaired
by structural engineers. The section of wall nearest the tree, and to the
rear of 14 Cumberland Close, is the original 100 year old wall. The
resident took the view that despite the on-going concerns over the
stability of the wall, the tree does help to absorb moisture from soil, and
this helps to reduce the pressure of ground water on the wall. The
residents are content to accept the tree preservation order, particularly
as this would allow a replacement tree to be planted in the future.

Should there ever a need to repair the wall, then this can be done without
the need to remove the tree. The root system of the tree helps to provide a
cohesive structure to the soil, and will, during the summer months, absorb
moisture from the soil. Should there ever be a reason to remove the tree,
then a replacement tree can be secured through the tree preservation order.

6 OFFICER RECOMMENDATIONS

6.1. The Merton (No.647) Tree Preservation Order 2013 should be confirmed,
without modification.

7 FINANCIAL, RESOURCE AND PROPERTY IMPLICATIONS

7.1. The property owners may challenge the Order in the High Court, and legal
costs are likely to be incurred by Merton.  However, it is not possible to
quantify at this time, and may be recoverable from the property owners if the
Court finds in favour of the Authority.

8 LEGAL AND STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS

8.1. The current Tree Preservation Order takes effect for a period of 6 months or
until confirmed, whichever is the earlier. There is no right of appeal to the
Secretary of State. Any challenge will have to be in the High Court.

9 HUMAN RIGHTS, EQUALITIES AND COMMUNITY COHESION
IMPLICATIONS

10.1. N/A

10 CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

11.1 N/A

11 RISK MANAGEMENT AND HEALTH AND SAFETY IMPLICATIONS

11.1. N/A

12 APPENDICES – THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTS ARE TO BE
PUBLISHED WITH THIS REPORT AND FORM PART OF THE REPORT

• Tree preservation Order plan

13 BACKGROUND PAPERS

13.1. The file on the Merton (No 647) Tree Preservation Order 2013

Tree Preservation Orders – A Guide to the Law and Good Practice

Page 367



London Borough of Merton
100 London Road
Morden
Surrey
SM4 5DX

Date 6/8/2013 Scale 1/1250

Merton (No.647) Tree Preservation Order 2013

14 Cumberland Close & 27 The Downs

Page 368



Committee: Planning Applications Committee

Date: 12 December 2013

Agenda item:

Ward: Hillside

Subject: TREE PRESERVATION ORDER (NO.646) AT 10 HILLSIDE, WEST

WIMBLEDON, LONDON, SW19 4NH.

Lead officer: HEAD OF PUBLIC PROTECTION AND DEVELOPMENT

Lead member: COUNCILLOR PHILIP JONES, CHAIR, PLANNING APPLICATIONS
COMMITTEE

Contact officer: Rose Stepanek

Recommendations:

A. The Merton (No 646) Tree Preservation Order 2013 be confirmed, without
modification.

1 PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1. This report considers the objection that has been made to the making of this
tree preservation order. The Committee must take the objection into account
before deciding whether to confirm the Order, with the recommended
modification, or to allow the removal of the tree based on the concerns
raised by the objector.

2 DETAILS

2.1 This Tree Preservation Order has been served as a result of the submission
of a 6 weeks notice of an intention to remove a Holm Oak tree located in the
West Wimbledon Conservation Area. That proposal was registered as
13/T2114.

2.2 The Holm Oak tree is a large mature specimen which is readily observed
along Hillside. The tree is located in the front garden to 10 Hillside. To the
left hand side of the tree is an existing boundary wall with the neighbouring
property, no. 9 Hillside. The tree is located very close to a short section of
the existing front boundary wall belonging to 10 Hillside. As this is an
evergreen species of tree, its presence makes a very noticeable and
enduring contribution to the visual amenities of the locality. The tree is a
significant specimen and provides a very important source of greenery in this
part of Wimbledon.

2.3 The Merton (No.646) Tree Preservation Order 2013 took effect on the 15
July 2013. A copy of the plan identifying the location of the Holm Oak tree is
appended to this report.

3 RELEVANT HISTORY

3.1. Historically, it would appear that the Holm Oak tree was originally planted in
a raised planting bed. Over time, the wall to the bed has been removed and
much of the original soil has been removed or has washed away with the

Agenda Item 16

Page 369



passage of time. This has resulted in the base of the tree being positioned
above the surrounding ground level and the buttress roots and some of the
root system is exposed to the elements. This in itself does not suggest the
tree is unstable as the root system is widespread and has most probably
adapted to the changing circumstances in its rooting habitat.

3.2. In 2007, a planning application (ref: 07/P1100) was submitted for the
following works:

‘Erection of two new single storey rear extensions. New boundary wall and
gates. Installation of two new windows and doors at ground floor of existing
house and renewal of previous permission for a new crossover (ref:
01/P0090). ‘

Planning consent was subsequently granted, and the Holm tree was shown
as retained on the approved layout plan. No planning conditions were
attached requiring any further special provisions to be made for this tree.

3.2 Since 2007, all of the work has been completed with the exception of the
front boundary wall. The householder is now in a position to complete that
planning consent. However, the tree is now considered to be an obstacle to
the completion of that consent.

3.3 Following the submission of the 6 weeks notice to remove the Holm Oak
tree, the agent was made aware that the Council had concerns over the
proposed loss of the tree and did subsequently withdraw the tree works
application.

3.4 By this time, the tree preservation order had already taken effect. Any
objections to the Order were to be received in writing by the 26 August
2013.

3.5 Following on from this, the Council received an objection to the Order within
the specified time limit from an arboricultural expert, and further
representations from a planning agent after the specified deadline for the
receipt of objections/representations. Both are acting on behalf of the
landowners. The objection is summarised below.

4 LEGISLATIVE BACKGROUND

4.1. Section 198 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended),
empowers Local Planning Authorities to protect trees in the interests of
amenity, by making tree preservation orders. Points to consider when
considering a tree preservation order is whether the particular tree has a
significant impact on the environment and its enjoyment by the public, and
that it is expedient to make a tree preservation order.

4.2. When issuing a tree preservation order, the Local Planning Authority must
provide reasons why the trees have been protected by a tree preservation
order. In this particular case 10 reasons were given that include references
to the visual amenity value of the tree; that the tree has an intrinsic beauty;
that it is clearly visible to the public view; that the tree makes a significant
contribution to the local landscape; that the tree forms part of our collective
heritage for present and future generations; and that the tree contributes to
the local bio-diversity.

Page 370



4.3. This Order is effective for a period of 6 months. If the Order is not confirmed
within that period, then the provisional protection afforded by Section 201
ceases to have effect. Under the terms of the provisional status of an Order,
objections or representations may be made within 28 days of the date of
effect of the Order. The Council must consider those objections or
representations before any decision is made to confirm or rescind the Order.
This Order remains valid, in its temporary state, until the 14 January 2014.

5 OBJECTION TO THE ORDER

5.1. The arboricultural expert objects to the Order for the following reasons:

(1) The tree has a lean towards the highway, and the continued expansion of
the trunk has caused movement to the front boundary wall and to the wall
that divides the boundary between nos. 9 & 10 Hillside;

(2) The new wall cannot be built according to the approved plans without the
removal of the Holm Oak tree;

(3) That the making of the Order is unsound because the planning consent
(07/P1100) takes precedence over the retention of the tree.

5.2 The planning agent has repeated those concerns, and has further
threatened to seek to recover legal costs of any formal proceedings over the
delay caused to his client to complete the approved development by the
intervention of the tree preservation order.

6 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS

6.1 Members should take into account the advice set out in paragraph 4.1 of this
report and to bear in mind that the essential purpose of a tree preservation
order is to protect the public amenity.

6.2 The Tree Officer would respond to each objection in respective order, as
follows:

a) The tree is causing the walls to tilt and is undermining the existing
foundations. The trunk of the tree has a slight lean to wards the front
boundary wall. The base of the tree has grown to envelope an existing
concrete lintel, and the trunk is very close to the wall;

b) It is possible for the wall to be built as per the approved plans, but
without a special site specific engineered solution, the new wall is likely
to be damaged again. However, with the right approach a solution can
be found. As this is a short section of wall, there are other materials and
methods that could be utilized to design around the tree. The planning
agent and landowner have both been advised that this could be done as
a non-material amendment. To date, no further communications have
been received ;

c) The interpretation of planning law is incorrect. It is the case that a
planning consent can over-ride a tree preservation order that is already
in existence, but not the case where a tree preservation order is issued
after the planning consent has been granted. In this particular case, the
applicant has clearly shown the tree is to be retained on the approved
layout plan, and this tree preservation order is not a case of thwarting an
existing consent.

Page 371



6.3 Under planning consent 07/P1100, planning condition (2) required the
following to be submitted for written approval:

‘Notwithstanding any materials specified in the application form and/or
approved drawings, particulars and samples of the materials to be used for
the proposed boundary wall shall be submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority before any works are commenced. The
development shall be carried out in full accordance with approved details.’

Samples of the type of brick to be used were submitted to the Council on 14
August 2013 (ref: 13/P2581), and were discharged on the 4 November 2013.

6.4 As the letter from the planning agent was received on the 21 October 2013,
it is difficult to understand how the consideration of the objections to the tree
preservation order were in any way impeding the completion of the
development, when the matter of satisfying planning condition (2) was still
under consideration of the planning officer and was awaiting written
approval by the Local Planning Authority.

6 OFFICER RECOMMENDATIONS

6.1. The Merton (No.646) Tree Preservation Order 2013 should be confirmed,
without modification.

7 FINANCIAL, RESOURCE AND PROPERTY IMPLICATIONS

7.1. The property owners may challenge the Order in the High Court, and legal
costs are likely to be incurred by Merton.  However, it is not possible to
quantify at this time, and may be recoverable from the property owners if the
Court finds in favour of the Authority.

8 LEGAL AND STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS

8.1. The current Tree Preservation Order takes effect for a period of 6 months or
until confirmed, whichever is the earlier. There is no right of appeal to the
Secretary of State. Any challenge will have to be in the High Court.

9 HUMAN RIGHTS, EQUALITIES AND COMMUNITY COHESION
IMPLICATIONS

10.1. N/A

10 CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

11.1 N/A

11 RISK MANAGEMENT AND HEALTH AND SAFETY IMPLICATIONS

11.1. N/A

12 APPENDICES – THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTS ARE TO BE
PUBLISHED WITH THIS REPORT AND FORM PART OF THE REPORT

• Tree preservation Order plan

13 BACKGROUND PAPERS

13.1. The file on the Merton (No 646) Tree Preservation Order 2013

Tree Preservation Orders – A Guide to the Law and Good Practice

Page 372



London Borough of Merton
100 London Road
Morden
Surrey
SM4 5DX

Date 18/7/2013 Scale 1/1250

Merton (No.646) Tree Preservation Order 2013 

10 Hillside

Page 373



Page 374

This page is intentionally left blank



Committee: Planning Applications Committee

Date: 12 December 2013

Agenda item:

Ward: Hillside

Subject: TREE PRESERVATION ORDER (NO.644) AT LAND ADJACENT TO 2

THORNTON HILL, WIMBLEDON, LONDON, SW19 4HP.

Lead officer: HEAD OF PUBLIC PROTECTION AND DEVELOPMENT

Lead member: COUNCILLOR PHILIP JONES, CHAIR, PLANNING APPLICATIONS
COMMITTEE

Contact officer: Rose Stepanek

Recommendations:

A. The Merton (No 644) Tree Preservation Order 2013 be confirmed, without
modification.

1 PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1. This report considers the objection that has been made to the making of this
tree preservation order. The Committee must take the objection into account
before deciding whether to confirm the Order, with the recommended
modification, or to allow the removal of the tree based on the concerns
raised by the objector.

2 DETAILS

2.1 This Tree Preservation Order has been served as a result of a request of a
resident to provide the maximum legal protection on an Ash tree that is a
prominent and significant visual feature in the locality.  The tree is located
adjacent to a garage, which is a small and separate parcel of land situated
adjacent to 2 Thornton Hill. This garage forms part of a parade of garages
that front Thornton Hill at its most northern end. The other garages are
located at the foot of rear gardens to nos. 2 & 3 Denmark Avenue. The tree
and the garages are located opposite Hillymead, 1 Thornton Hill. The
resident was concerned that this tree could be at risk of removal should
there be any proposals for the redevelopment of these dilapidated garages.
The tree is a solitary specimen and provides a very important source of
greenery in this part of Wimbledon.

2.2 The Merton (No.644) Tree Preservation Order 2013 took effect on the 3 July
2013. A copy of the plan identifying the location of the Ash tree is appended
to this report.

3 RELEVANT HISTORY

3.1. Prior to the making of this tree preservation order, the Ash tree was subject
to the rules and regulations that apply to trees in conservation areas.

4 LEGISLATIVE BACKGROUND

Agenda Item 17

Page 375



4.1. Section 198 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended),
empowers Local Planning Authorities to protect trees in the interests of
amenity, by making tree preservation orders. Points to consider when
considering a tree preservation order is whether the particular tree has a
significant impact on the environment and its enjoyment by the public, and
that it is expedient to make a tree preservation order.

4.2. When issuing a tree preservation order, the Local Planning Authority must
provide reasons why the trees have been protected by a tree preservation
order. In this particular case 7 reasons were given that include references to
the visual amenity value of the tree; that the tree has an intrinsic beauty; that
is clearly visible to the public view; that the tree makes a significant
contribution to the local landscape; that the tree forms part of our collective
heritage for present and future generations; and that the tree contributes to
the local bio-diversity.

4.3. This Order is effective for a period of 6 months. If the Order is not confirmed
within that period, then the provisional protection afforded by Section 201
ceases to have effect. Under the terms of the provisional status of an Order,
objections or representations may be made within 28 days of the date of
effect of the Order. The Council must consider those objections or
representations before any decision is made to confirm or rescind the Order.
This Order remains valid, in its temporary state, until the 2 January 2014.

5 OBJECTION TO THE ORDER

5.1. The Council received one objection to the Order, and three indications of
support for the Order.

5.2 The landowner of nos. 2 & 3 Denmark Avenue has written to object for the
following reasons:

a) Parts of the trunk and canopy of the tree overhang the adjacent property;

b) The tree is a nuisance;

c) The tree is not an elegant specimen;

d) The tree casts shade over the neighbouring gardens;

e) And the tree is too large for its location.

5.3 The objector advised the Council that the advice of a tree specialist would
be sought, but to date no further information has been received.

6 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS

6.1 Members should take into account the advice set out in paragraph 4.1 of this
report and to bear in mind that the essential purpose of a tree preservation
order is to protect the public amenity.

6.2 The Tree Officer would respond to each objection in respective order, as
follows:

a) Parts of the trunk and canopy do encroach into the neighbouring
property ( the rear garden of 3 Denmark Avenue), but this is not
considered an adequate reason to remove a tree;

b) This is a subjective viewpoint, and is not an adequate reason to remove
a tree;

Page 376



c) The tree has an attractive shape and form that is typical of this particular
species of tree;

d) Noted, but this is not an adequate reason to remove a tree;

e) The tree sits comfortably within its surroundings. The owner of the
neighbouring garage has not raised any objections to the presence of
the tree. Should consent ever be given for the removal of this tree, then
a replacement tree could be secured through the tree preservation order

6 OFFICER RECOMMENDATIONS

6.1. The Merton (No.644) Tree Preservation Order 2013 should be confirmed,
without modification.

7 FINANCIAL, RESOURCE AND PROPERTY IMPLICATIONS

7.1. The property owners may challenge the Order in the High Court, and legal
costs are likely to be incurred by Merton.  However, it is not possible to
quantify at this time, and may be recoverable from the property owners if the
Court finds in favour of the Authority.

8 LEGAL AND STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS

8.1. The current Tree Preservation Order takes effect for a period of 6 months or
until confirmed, whichever is the earlier. There is no right of appeal to the
Secretary of State. Any challenge will have to be in the High Court.

9 HUMAN RIGHTS, EQUALITIES AND COMMUNITY COHESION
IMPLICATIONS

10.1. N/A

10 CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

11.1 N/A

11 RISK MANAGEMENT AND HEALTH AND SAFETY IMPLICATIONS

11.1. N/A

12 APPENDICES – THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTS ARE TO BE
PUBLISHED WITH THIS REPORT AND FORM PART OF THE REPORT

• Tree preservation Order plan

13 BACKGROUND PAPERS

13.1. The file on the Merton (No 644) Tree Preservation Order 2013

Tree Preservation Orders – A Guide to the Law and Good Practice

Page 377



London Borough of Merton
100 London Road
Morden
Surrey
SM4 5DX

Date 26/6/2013 Scale 1/1250

Merton (No.644) Tree Preservation Order 2013

Land adj. to 2 Thornton Hill

Page 378



Committee: Planning Applications

Date: 12th December 2013

Wards: All

Subject: Planning Appeal Decisions

Lead officer: Head of Public Protection and Development

Lead member: Chair, Planning Applications Committee

Contact officer: Stuart Humphryes

Recommendation: 

That Members note the contents of the report.

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 For Members  information recent decisions made by Inspectors appointed by the 
Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government in respect of recent 
Town Planning Appeals are set out below.

1.2 The relevant Inspectors decision letters are not attached to this report, but can be 
seen on the Council web-site with the other agenda papers for this meeting at the 
following link:

http://www.merton.gov.uk/council/committee.htm?view=committee&com_id=165

DETAILS 

1.1 Application number: 13/P1857
Site: 59 Burstow Road, Wimbledon SW20 8ST

Ward: Dundonald
Development: Erection of two storey rear & single storey side 

extensions; replacement of garage with parking bay 
and cycle store

Recommendation: Grant Permission (Refused at Committee)
Appeal Decision: ALLOWED

Date of Appeal Decision: 22th November 2013

Link to Appeal Decision

http://planning.merton.gov.uk/MVM.DMS/Planning%20Application/1000080000/1000080833/13P1857_Appeal%20Decision%20Notice.pdf

Agenda Item 18

Page 379



DETAILS 

1.2 Application number: 12/P2728
Site: 181 Worple Road, London SW20 8RF

Ward: Raynes Park
Development: Lawful Development Certificate for existing use of 

garage as self-contained dwelling
Recommendation: Refuse Permission (Delegated Decision)
Appeal Decision ALLOWED
Date of Appeal Decision: 30th October 2013

Appeal Decision

http://planning.merton.gov.uk/MVM.DMS/Planning%20Application/1000078000/1000078416/12P2728_Appeal%20Decision%20Notice.pdf

DETAILS 

1.3 Application number: 13/P0741
Site: 19 Approach Road, London SW20 8BA
Ward: Dundonald
Development: Replacement of condenser units on roof
Recommendation: Refuse Permission (Delegated Decision)
Appeal Decision ALLOWED

Date of Appeal Decision: 27th November 2013

Link to Appeal Decision

http://planning.merton.gov.uk/MVM.DMS/Planning%20Application/1000079000/1000079768/13P0741_Appeal%20Decision%20Notice.pdf

DETAILS 

1.4 Application number: 12/P3034

Site: 6A Griffiths Road, London SW19 1SP

Ward: Abbey
Development: Demolition of workshop and erection of 5 bed 

dwelling.
Recommendation: Refuse Permission (Delegated Decision)
Appeal Decision DISMISSED

Date of Appeal Decision: 20th November 2013

Link to Appeal Decision

http://planning.merton.gov.uk/MVM.DMS/Planning%20Application/1000078000/1000078707/12P3034_Appeal%20Decision%20Notice.pdf

Page 380



ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS

3.1 The appeal decision is final unless it is successfully challenged in the Courts.  If a 
challenge is successful, the appeal decision will be quashed and the case 
returned to the Secretary of State for re-determination.  It does not follow 
necessarily that the original appeal decision will be reversed when it is re-
determined.

3.2 The Council may wish to consider taking legal advice before embarking on a 
challenge. The following applies: Under the provision of Section 288 of the Town 
& Country Planning Act   1990, or Section 63 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990, a person or an establishment who is aggrieved by 
a decision may seek to have it quashed by making an application to the High 
Court on the following grounds: -
1. That the decision is not within the powers of the Act; or
2. That any of the relevant requirements have not been complied   with;   

(relevant requirements means any requirements of the 1990 Act or of the 
Tribunal s Land Enquiries Act 1992, or of any Order, Regulation or Rule made 
under those Acts).

1 CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN OR PROPOSED

1.1. None required for the purposes of this report.

2 TIMETABLE

2.1. N/A

3 FINANCIAL, RESOURCE AND PROPERTY IMPLICATIONS

3.1. There are financial implications for the Council in respect of appeal decisions 
where costs are awarded against the Council.

4 LEGAL AND STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS

4.1. An Inspector s decision may be challenged in the High Court, within 6 weeks of 
the date of the decision letter (see above).

5 HUMAN RIGHTS, EQUALITIES AND COMMUNITY COHESION IMPLICATIONS

5.1. None for the purposes of this report.

6 CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

6.1. None for the purposes of this report.

7 RISK MANAGEMENT AND HEALTH AND SAFETY IMPLICATIONS

7.1. See 6.1 above.

8 BACKGROUND PAPERS

8.1. The papers used to compile this report are the Council s Development Control 
service s Town Planning files relating to the sites referred to above and the 
agendas and minutes of the Planning Applications Committee where relevant.

Page 381



Page 382

This page is intentionally left blank



www.merton.gov.uk

Committee: Planning Applications Committee

Date: 12
th

December 2013

Agenda item:

Wards: All

Subject: PLANNING ENFORCEMENT - SUMMARY OF CURRENT CASES

Lead officer: HEAD OF PUBLIC PROTECTION AND DEVELOPMENT

Lead member: COUNCILLOR PHILIP JONES, CHAIR, PLANNING
APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE

Contact officer Sam Amoako-Adofo:  0208 545 3111

sam.amoako-adofo@merton.gov.uk

Recommendation:

That Members note the contents of the report.

1.    Purpose of report and executive summary

This report details a summary of case work being dealt with by the Planning
Enforcement Team and contains figures of the number of different types of cases
being progressed, with brief summaries of all new enforcement notices and the
progress of all enforcement appeals.

Agenda Item 19

Page 383



www.merton.gov.uk

Current Enforcement Cases: 821 1(766)

New Complaints 80 (42)

Cases Closed 25 (50)

No Breach: 8

Breach Ceased: 17

NFA2 (see below): 0

Total 25 (50)

New Enforcement Notices Issued

Breach of Condition Notice: 1

New Enforcement Notice issued 5

S.215: 3 0

Others (PCN, TSN) 0

Total 6 (2)

Prosecutions: (instructed) 0 (1)

New  Appeals: 3 (1)

Instructions to Legal 1

Existing Appeals 5 (2)

_____________________________________________

TREE ISSUES

Tree Applications Received 64 (72)

% Determined within time limits: 85%

High Hedges Complaint 0 (1)

New Tree Preservation Orders (TPO) 2 (1)

Tree Replacement Notice -

Tree/High Hedge Appeal 0

Note (figures are for the period (29
th

October – 2
nd

December 2013) and the figure for current
enforcement cases was taken directly from M3 crystal report.

1
Totals in brackets are previous months figures

2
confirmed breach but not expedient to take further action.

3
S215 Notice:  Land Adversely Affecting Amenity of Neighbourhood.

2.00 New Enforcement Actions

2.01 2A Crown Road, Morden SM4 An enforcement notice was issued on 30th

October 2013 against an unauthorised conversion of an Islamic prayer meeting
room (D1 community use) into three self-contained residential units comprising
two 1–bedroom apartments and a 2-bedroom flat.  The notice would come into
effect on 12th December 2013 unless an appeal is made prior to that date and
would require the cessation of the unauthorised use within 6 months. Two
enforcement notices were issued – one for the material change of use, and the
other for the operational development involved in the creation of the residential
units.

2.02 2 Crowland Walk, Morden SM4 An enforcement notice was issued against the
material change of use of part of the land from a single family dwellinghouse
into a self-contained residential unit on 30th October 2013. The notice would
come into effect 12th December unless there is an appeal prior to that date and
the requirement would be for the unauthorised use to cease within three
months. A second notice was issued against the operational development in
carrying out the conversion works.

2.03 16 – 20 Kingston Road, Wimbledon SW19 A breach of Condition Notice
(BCN) was issued on 6th November 2013 against Grenfell Housing Association
for breaching a planning condition requiring an identified vehicle parking area to
be kept for parking.  The notice came into effect immediately as there is no right
of appeal and the business has 39 days to comply.

Page 384



www.merton.gov.uk

2.04 41 Leamington Avenue, Morden SM4 An enforcement notice was issued on
13th November against the material change of use of a domestic garage at the
rear of the land into commercial use involving car repairs. The notice would
come into effect on 1st January 2014 unless there is an appeal prior to that date
and the requirement would be for the unauthorised use to cease within one
month.

Some Recent Enforcement Actions

2.05 Rapid Ready Mix, Alpha Place, Garth Road SM4 a breach of Condition
Notice was issued on 9th October against the business for breaching a planning
condition relating to the hours of working. The notice came into effect
immediately as there is right of appeal and the business has 28 days to comply
and operate within the approved hours.

2.06 84 Sherwood Park Road Mitcham CR4 A section 215 Amenity land Notice
was issued on 19th September 2013 to require the owners to repair broken
fence after clearing overgrown bushes and tidy up the rear garden. The notice
comes into effect in 28 days unless there is an appeal to the Magistrate Court.
An appeal has been made to Croydon Magistrate Court

2.07 23A Bruce Road, Mitcham, The Council issued a section 215 Amenity Land
Notice on 27th August 2013 to require the owners to prune an overgrown tree
near the property, cut back overgrown bushes, vegetation and remove weeds in
the rear garden. The notice came into effect on 25th September as there was no
appeal.

2.08 150-152 Haydons Park Road, SW19 An enforcement notice was issued on 21st

August 2013 against the unauthorised erection of a four storey building with
lower and upper basement floors providing nine residential units (5 flats and 2
studio flats), office space and storage in the sub-basement level and office
space in the upper basement level. The notice requires the demolition of the
building within 4 months of the effective date. An appeal has been registered.

2.09 Land at 120 Gorringe Park Avenue, Mitcham, An enforcement notice was
issued on 8th August 2013 against the unauthorised erection of single storey
rear extension. The notice would become effective on 8th January 2014 unless
an appeal is made prior to that date or the notice complied with, in which case
the notice will be withdrawn. The reason for this is that planning permission has
been granted for the retention of part of the L-shaped structure with a
replacement roof which means some part the existing structure will have to be
demolished at some stage.  The enforcement action is required to ensure this
happens on time. Once effective, the notice would require the demolition of the
structure within 2 months.

2.10 Land at 7 Morden Gardens CR4. An enforcement notice was issued on 9/7/13
against the erection of a corrugated plastic and timber lean-to rear extension.
The notice became effective as the owners run out of time in making an appeal.
The notice therefore came into effect on 9th September and requires the
removal of the unauthorised structure within 3 months of the effective date. A
letter has been sent to the landlord advising that they would be prosecuted for
non-compliance unless the required works are completed within 28 days.

Page 385



www.merton.gov.uk

2.11 Flat 3, 28 Lingfield Road, SW19 Enforcement notice was issued on 14/3/13
against an unauthorised uPVC window replacement. The notice would come
into effect on 25/4/13 unless there is an appeal prior to that date. The windows
have been replaced and the notice has been complied with. Case is
recommended for closure.

3.0 New Enforcement Appeals

• 84 Sherwood Park Avenue – An appeal against the section 215 Notice was
made at Croydon Magistrate Court, officers met on 26th November and a date
was set for a hearing on 3rd March 2014.

• 27 Pitcairn Road, Mitcham CR4 An enforcement notice was issued on 10th

October 2013 against an unauthorised change of use of a garage/outbuilding
into residential accommodation. The notice would come into effect on 21st

November 2013 unless an appeal is made prior to that date and would require
the cessation of the unauthorised use within 4 months. An enforcement appeal
is now under way.

o 150-152 Haydons Park Road, SW19 An enforcement notice was issued on 21st

August 2013 against the unauthorised erection of a four storey building with
lower and upper basement floors providing nine residential units (5 flats and 2
studio flats), office space and storage in the sub-basement level and office
space in the upper basement level. The notice requires the demolition of the
building within 4 months of the effective date. An enforcement appeal and two
planning appeals have been registered but are co-joined to be dealt together.

3.1 Existing enforcement appeals

• 2 Lyndhurst Avenue SW16 – an appeal has been registered on 13/8/13
against an enforcement notice issued on 18/7/13 against the unauthorised
conversion of the property into 2 self-contained flats. The appeal is proceeding
by written representation and consultation letters were sent out on 27/8/13. The
Council’s final comment was sent on 17th October 2013.

• 68 Bond Road CR4. An enforcement notice was issued on 18th July 2013
against the unauthorised erection of single storey rear extension and
conservatory addition and an outbuilding. An appeal is proceeding by written
representations under ground ‘F’ only. An inspector site visit took place on
Thursday 28th November 2013.

3.2 Appeals determined -

None.

3.3 Prosecution case.

• 35 Marian Road Enforcement notice against the erection of a 2 storey house
which was not built in accordance with a planning permission was issued on
07/09/09 with a requirement to demolish the building. An appeal against the

Page 386



www.merton.gov.uk

notice was dismissed on 26/01/10 and the landlord was prosecuted for not
complying with the requirements of the notice. .

First prosecution - on 23/3/11 at Wimbledon Crown Court, the landlord
pleaded guilty to the offence of not complying with the enforcement notice.
He was fined £2,000 and ordered to pay the Council’s full costs of £1,197.50
plus the £15 victim’s surcharge, being a total of £3,212.50.

Second prosecution – was required for failure to comply with the
requirements of the enforcement notice. It took place on 8/1/13 at Richmond
Magistrate Court after several postponements on the part of the defendant.
The owner pleaded guilty. However, the case was referred to the Crown court
for sentencing as the magistrate felt they are restricted to only £20,000 on the
amount of fines they can impose.

Crown Court Sentencing – At Kingston Crown Court on 11/2/13 sentencing
was deferred until after September 2013 this was because an application was
made and agreed by the court that investigations should be carried out on the
defendant, under the terms of the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 (POCA) and
these investigations are progressing accordingly. The Council has sent a
statement indicating the amount of money the defendant is expected to
respond as part of the POCA procedure.

4/10/13 – case was deferred to 17/1/14 as the defendant claimed to have
changed legal representation and therefore did not receive the council’s
notifications. The Judge was upset but had to grant the adjournment but the
court insists that the case will have to be heard in January 2014.

3.4 Requested updates from PAC

23A Bruce Road, Mitcham, The Council issued a section 215 Amenity Land
Notice on 27th August 2013 to require the owners to prune an overgrown tree
near the property, cut back overgrown bushes, vegetation and remove weeds in
the rear garden. The notice comes into effect in 28 days unless there is an
appeal to the Magistrate. Direct action is being considered and if approved, the
remedial works could be carried out by the Council and a charge would be put
on the property.

Burn Bullock PH, London Road, Mitcham –

The landlord has now cleared both the front and rear of the site and removed
the rubbish. The guttering has been cleared and fixed and the glass for the
windows has been ordered as this has to cut it to the correct size.

The landlord is aware of the lead that has been stolen from the top of the toilets
which were on the side of the building but not on the oldest part of the building.
He has promised to get it fixed and repaired.

4. Consultation undertaken or proposed

None required for the purposes of this report

Page 387



www.merton.gov.uk

5 Timetable

N/A

6. Financial, resource and property implications

N/A

7. Legal and statutory implications

N/A

8. Human rights, equalities and community cohesion implications

N/A

9. Crime and disorder implications

N/A

10. Risk Management and Health and Safety implications.

N/A

11. Appendices – the following documents are to be published with this
report and form part of the report Background Papers

N/A

12. Background Papers

Page 388


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	4 Town Planning Applications - Covering Report
	5 Ground Floor, 149 Cannon Hill Lane, Raynes Park, SW20 9BZ (Ref. 13/P3021) (Cannon Hill Ward)
	6 Clock Tower -  Upper Green East,  Mitcham , CR4 3NH (Ref. (A) 13/P2657) & (B) 13/P2664) (Figges Marsh Ward)
	7 Garages to the rear of 44-49 Firstway, Raynes Park, SW20 0JB (Ref. 13/P2577) (West Barnes Ward)
	8 1a Leopold Terrace, Wimbledon, SW19 7EY (Ref. 13/P2197) (Wimbledon Park Ward)
	9 Cricketers PH, 340 London Road, Mitcham CR4 3ND (Ref. 13/P1077) (Cricket Green Ward)
	10 336 Lynmouth Avenue, Morden, SM4 4RS (Ref. 13/P1163) (Lower Morden Ward)
	11 Canons Leisure Centre, Madeira Road, Mitcham, CR4 4HD (Ref. 13/P1744) (Cricket Green Ward)
	12 Delatre Media Ltd, 3 Palmerston Road, Wimbledon, SW19 1PG (Ref. 13/P1028) (Abbey Ward)
	13 1a St Marys Road, Wimbledon, SW19 7DF (Ref. (1) 13/P2332 & (2) 13/P2334) (Hillside Ward)
	14 1 Wydell Close, Morden, SM4 4NS (Ref. 13/P2385) (Lower Morden Ward)
	15 Tree Preservation Order (No. 647) at 14 Cumberland Close & 27 The Downs, West Wimbledon, SW20 8AT (Raynes Park Ward)
	16 Tree Preservation Order (No. 646) at 10 Hillside, West Wimbledon, SW19 4NH (Hillside Ward)
	17 Tree Preservation Order (No. 644) at Land adjacent to 2 Thornton Hill, Wimbledon, SW19 4HP (Hillside Ward)
	18 Planning Appeal Decisions
	19 Planning Enforcement - Summary of Current Cases

